

Molecular Genetics of Paediatric *versus* Adult Brain Tumours Genética Molecular de Tumores Cerebrais Pediátricos *versus* Adulto.

JMinho | 2010



Marta Sofia Carvalho Ribeiro Viana Pereira

Molecular Genetics of Paediatric *versus* Adult Brain Tumours

Genética Molecular de Tumores Cerebrais Pediátricos *versus* Adultos

A tese de doutoramento aqui apresentada foi desenvolvida no âmbito de uma bolsa individual de doutoramento financiada pela Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia (FCT), com a referência SFRH/BD/29145/2006 (no âmbito do QREN – POPH – Tipologia 4.1 – Formação Avançada, comparticipado pelo Fundo Social Europeu (FSE) e por fundos nacionais do MCTES).





Universidade do Minho Escola de Ciências da Saúde

Marta Sofia Carvalho Ribeiro Viana Pereira

Molecular Genetics of Paediatric *versus* **Adult Brain Tumours**

Genética Molecular de Tumores Cerebrais Pediátricos *versus* Adultos

Tese de Doutoramento em Ciências da Saúde Especialidade de Ciências da Saúde

Trabalho efectuado sob a orientação do **Doutor Rui Manuel Vieira Reis** Professor Auxiliar da Escola de Ciências da Saúde, Universidade do Minho, Braga, Portugal

e coorientação do **Doutor Chris Jones** Leader of the Paediatric Molecular Pathology Team, Institute of Cancer Research, Sutton, UK Nome: Marta Sofia Carvalho Ribeiro Viana Pereira

Endereço electrónico: martapereira@ecsaude.uminho.pt

Telefone: (+351) 965879657

Número do Bilhete de Identidade: 12314379

Título da Tese de Doutoramento:

Molecular Genetics of Paediatric versus Adult Brain Tumours Genética Molecular de Tumores Cerebrais Pediátricos versus Adultos

Orientadores: Doutor Rui Manuel Vieira Reis Doutor Chris Jones

Ano de conclusão: 2010

Designação do Ramo do Conhecimento e Especialidade

Ciências da Saúde – Ciências da Saúde

É AUTORIZADA A REPRODUÇÃO INTEGRAL DESTA TESE/TRABALHO APENAS PARA EFEITOS DE INVESTIGAÇÃO, MEDIANTE DECLARAÇÃO ESCRITA DO INTERESSADO, QUE A TAL SE COMPROMETE

Universidade do Minho, ___/___/____

Assinatura:

Agradecimentos / Acknowledgements

Ao longo destes últimos quatro anos, muitos são aqueles que, de múltiplas formas, me acompanharam e contribuíram para que eu pudesse ultrapassar as dificuldades inerentes à dedicação e persistência que o trabalho científico exige. A vós, talvez tanto como a mim devo o facto de ter conseguido concluir com sucesso esta etapa. Qualquer listagem de agradecimentos pecará indubitavelmente por defeito, contudo fazê-la é inevitável.

During these last four years, many are those that in multiple ways stood by me and contributed to the overcome of the struggles inherent to the dedication and persistence that science demands. To you, maybe as much as to myself, I owe the success of this journey. Any acknowledgement list will be undoubtedly defaulted, however to make it is unavoidable.

Começo incontornavelmente pelo Prof. Rui Reis, orientador científico desta tese. Agradeço-lhe a oportunidade de entrar neste fascinante mundo da neuro-oncobiologia. Em cada palavra mais firme, abraço de conforto, estima ou amizade, na sua forma entusiasta de discutir ciência, esteve um contributo fundamental na minha formação científica. Agradeçolhe ainda a relação informal que sempre mantivemos e que me permitiu inúmeros desabafos, a disponibilidade, confiança e palavras de incentivo durante esta jornada.

À Professora Doutora Cecília Leão, presidente da Escola de Ciências da Saúde e directora do Instituto de Investigação em Ciências da Vida e Saúde, agradeço a oportunidade de fazer parte desta escola e deste instituto de excelência. Agradeço também a simpatia, carinho e mensagens de incentivo ao empenho e qualidade no trabalho de investigação.

Uma palavra de apreço à Prof. Fátima e ao Prof. Adhemar pela constante simpatia, amizade e boa disposição. Agradeço também o ambiente de discussão e crítica construtiva.

A special regard to Chris my co-supervisor at the ICR, who so nicely welcomed me in his lab. Being away from home is not always easy and you truly contributed to make of London my second home. Thank you for trusting my work, for the scientific support and advices, and for cheering me up, and helping me dealing with the disappointments so typical from science. It was a great opportunity to work and learn with you at the ICR. Aos meus colegas de laboratório no ICVS agradeço o companheirismo, amizade, apoio e o ambiente de trabalho único sustentado pela entreajuda constante. Ana Luísa, André, Bruno, Céline, Engenheiros, Fátima, Filipa, Filipe, Inês, Ísis, Joana, Márcia, Mónica, Olga, Sandra, Sara, Tatiana, Vera... enfim a todos os que passaram pelo grupo da "oncobiologia" ou que de algum modo contribuíram para um dia-a-dia mais alegre, entre almoços, lanches e "retiros". Uma palavra especial ao Bruno e à Inês, tantas vezes meus confidentes...

I must also thank Tas, Suzie, Sergey, Ryan, Richard, Reem, Raisa, Olga, Ola, Nathalie, Lynley, Lara, Katy, Jane, Dorine, Diana, Alicia and Alexa, my lab mates at the ICR who were always so nice to me, thank you for your friendship and support. It was such a great pleasure to have met and worked with you. Thank you for making my everyday life so much happier and easier in London. A special regard to Dorine for introducing me in the lab, Kat for the precious help with the sequencer and Ola for the help and patience in the lab. To Nathalie and Diana for the nice chats in Portuguese, thank you my friends!

Agradeço de um modo geral aos membros do ICVS, particularmente aos restantes membros dos domínios das Ciências Cirúrgicas e das Neurociências, que de um modo directo ou indirecto contribuíram para que este trabalho fosse possível. Uma palavra especial ao Luís pelo precioso contributo técnico. *I also acknowledge other people in the ICR that somehow contributed to this work.*

A todos os co-autores das publicações, agradeço as preciosas contribuições científicas, técnicas ou de recolha de amostras. *To the co-authors of the publications I recognise the precious scientific, technical and sample collection contributions.*

Porque estes quatro anos tiveram muito para além de trabalho, aos meus bons amigos de sempre agradeço o companheirismo, todos os momentos de descontracção, risos e paródias no Vianna ou Brasileira, as férias, *Vilela's parties* e tantas outras coisas... Ana, Deia, Carmy, Gonçalo, Jorge, Kate, Maria e Pikena, obrigada por estarem sempre presentes!

Às minhas ovelhinhas do coração, Banas, Deia e Inês agradeço os nossos momentos e a amizade incondicional. É tão bom poder contar convosco!

In London, I also have to acknowledge those that somehow helped me to have a social life outside the lab... the countless hours in the pHBar, the hickings and so many other things... To my dear friend Ola, there is so much to thank... I attempt to list the countless drinks, coffees, dinners, shopping programs... but most of all, the support, happiness and friendship... thank you so much for everything!

A very special word to my "London family", my dear girls, MF, MC, Gra and Elli... I can't imagine how much emptier my life would have been in London if you were not there. So many things I have learned with you, how much I have grown up... Thank you for making me feel special and for your timeless friendship...

Ao Pedro agradeço o carinho e amizade de irmão e o teu sentido sempre crítico que tantas vezes me faz "acordar para a vida". Obrigada por me apoiares e tanto teres contribuído para me ajudares a crecer.

Aos meus pais agradeço todas as palavras de incentivo e apoio incondicional. Os sacrifícios que por mim fizeram nunca esquecerei... Agradeço-vos também o que hoje sou em carácter e determinação... e por isso mesmo, o ter conseguido alcançar este momento... sem o vosso amor não teria sido possível... a vós devo tudo!

Valter, a ti agradeço o apoio incondicional nas muitas horas de desânimo, o amor que, tantas vezes, me faz seguir em frente sem balançar... Seria impossível expressar em poucas palavras a importância que tens na minha vida e agradecer-te por tudo o que já partilhámos. Não imagino a minha vida sem ti!

Finalmente, ao meu pai, com um profundo, embora estéril, desejo de partilhar este momento contigo... agradeço o teu exemplo de vida. Muito Obrigada!

۷

Este silêncio que a tua voz deixou

há-de renunciar ao vazio.

Um dia hei-de ouvi-lo em amor e saudade...

Para o meu papá, Paulino Pereira

(In memoriam)

Summary / Resumo

Summary

Brain tumours are the leading cause of cancer-related death in paediatric patients and are responsible for the greater part of the cancer-related years of life lost across all age groups. The more malignant histologies are the major contributors to the high-rates of mortality and morbidity of brain tumours. In the present thesis we focused our studies on high-grade gliomas and medulloblastomas, the most common malignant brain tumours of adults and childhood patients, respectively. Childhood and adult patients share most of the different brain tumours' histological types, despite a large variation in frequency across specific age groups. Nevertheless, there is increasing evidence that, despite being histologically similar, childhood and adult tumours have key clinical and molecular differences. The work summarized in this thesis aims to disclose molecular mechanisms particular to paediatric and adult high-grade gliomas and medulloblastomas, attempting to better understand the biology of age-specific, histologically identical, tumours.

Brain tumours are characterized by multiple genetic alterations affecting receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK) pathways. As the EGFR RTK pathway is one of the most important signalling networks in high-grade gliomas, we aimed to study EGFR molecular aberrations involved in protein activation, potentially relevant for tumour's response to EGFR-targeted therapy. The role of EGFR in adult high-grade gliomas is well-characterized, and in the present thesis we studied a unique series of Portuguese patients, aiming to understand whether the EGFR molecular alterations of these patients were in line with other populations in terms of potential biomarkers of EGFR-targeted therapy. On the other hand, EGFR is thought to be less significant in childhood tumours, although there is limited published data. Accordingly, we aimed to study the frequency and role of EGFR molecular alterations in paediatric high-grade gliomas, aiming to evaluate the presence of molecular signatures of response to existing drugs in these patients. We confirmed that EGFR represents one of the most frequently altered molecules in high-grade glioma, particularly in adult glioblastoma, and that it is also true for Portuguese patients. In addition some paediatric tumours, particularly anaplastic oligodendrogliomas, frequently presented EGFR aberrations and therefore are also potential candidates for EGFR-targeted therapy.

Microsatellite instability (MSI) frequency in brain tumours remains a controversial research topic, and there is a lack of clarity in the published literature. In this context, we aimed to study MSI in high-grade gliomas and medulloblastoma from adult and paediatric patients and identify MSI target genes potentially involved in MSI-related tumorigenesis. Our findings show the presence of MSI in a fraction of medulloblastoma and high-grade gliomas. Age-specific differences in MSI frequency were not present in medulloblastoma, however MSI was significantly more frequent in paediatric high-grade gliomas than in adults tumours. Moreover MSI-positivity was associated with a stable genomic profile. Overall, of the 18 MSI target-genes studied, only three were mutated, all in paediatric in MSI tumours, *MBD4* in one medulloblastoma, and *MSH6* and *DNAPKcs* in high-grade glioma As we failed to find the MMR alteration responsible for the MSI phenotype, further research is critical to clarify this topic. Nevertheless, our studies provided evidence for a potential novel molecular pathway in a proportion of medulloblastoma and paediatric high-grade gliomas, associated with the presence of MSI.

Overall, the work summarized in this thesis contributed to the knowledge of the molecular mechanisms involved in the development of childhood and adult brain tumours, and confirms that, despite being histologically indistinguishable, these tumours can be molecularly distinctive.

Resumo

Os tumores cerebrais são a principal causa de morte por cancro em crianças, sendo também os principais responsáveis na diminuição de anos de vida em doentes oncológicos de todas as faixas etárias. Os tumores de maior malignidade sãos que mais contribuem para as altas taxas de mortalidade e morbilidade características dos tumores cerebrais. Nesta tese, centramos os nossos estudos em gliomas de alto grau e meduloblastomas, os tumores cerebrais malignos mais frequentes em doentes adultos e pediátricos, respectivamente. Apesar dos diversos tipos histológicos de tumores cerebrais serem comuns a doentes de diferentes idades, existe uma significativa diferença na frequência com que ocorrem em adultos e crianças. Além disso, há cada vez mais indícios de que, tumores histologicamente semelhantes, apresentam diferenças fundamentais a nível clínico e molecular, dependendo da idade dos doentes.

Os tumores cerebrais são caracterizados por diversas alterações genéticas que afectam os receptores de tirosina cinase (RTK). Sendo a via de sinalização do RTK EGFR uma das mais importantes em gliomas de alto grau, estudámos alterações moleculares envolvidas na sua activação e potencialmente importantes na resposta tumoral à terapia dirigida. O papel desta molécula em gliomas de alto grau de doentes adultos tem sido amplamente descrito, pelo que avaliámos uma série de tumores de doentes Portugueses adultos. Neste trabalho pretendemos perceber se as alterações de EGFR nos tumores Portugueses se assemelham às descritas noutras populações, de forma a avaliar o seu potencial papel como biomarcador de terapia dirigida ao EGFR. Por outro lado, , apesar da escassez de dados publicados, pensa-se que a importância do EGFR em tumores pediátricos seja limitada. Para melhor esclarecer este assunto, estudámos a presença de alterações moleculares do EGFR em gliomas pediátricos de alto grau, com o objectivo de avaliar quais os potenciais biomarcadores na resposta a fármacos anti-EGFR. Confirmámos que o EGFR é uma das moléculas mais frequentemente alteradas em gliomas de alto grau, particularmente em tumores adultos, sendo isto também verdade para os doentes Portugueses. Igualmente os tumores pediátricos, em particular, os oligodendrogliomas anaplásicos, apresentam alterações nesta molécula e consequentemente, são também potenciais candidatos ao uso de fármacos anti-EGFR.

A ocorrência de instabilidade de microssatélites (MSI) em tumores cerebrais é um tópico de investigação controverso, sendo a literatura existente insuficiente para a esclarecer este assunto. Neste contexto, estudámos a presença de MSI em gliomas de alto grau e meduloblastomas de doentes adultos e pediátricos, assim como os genes-alvo potencialmente envolvidos na tumorigénese relacionada com MSI. Os nossos resultados demonstram a presença de MSI numa fracção de meduloblastomas e gliomas de alto grau. Em meduloblastomas não se observaram variações na presença de MSI em doentes de diferentes idades, no entanto em gliomas de alto grau, a frequência de MSI é estatisticamente mais elevada nos tumores pediátricos . Além disso, em gliomas, a presença de MSI foi associada a um perfil genómico estável. Dos mais de 18 genes-alvo analisados, foram encontradas mutações apenas em três e somente em tumores pediátricos: *MBD4* num meduloblastoma e *MSH6* e *DNAPKcs* em gliomas de alto grau. . O estudo das moléculas de *"mismatch repair"* não clarificou qual o seu papel no fenótipo de MSI, observado nestes doentes. No entanto, os nossos estudos evidenciam a presença de uma potencial nova via molecular em alguns meduloblastomas e gliomas de alto grau associada à presença de MSI.

Concluindo, o trabalho resumido nesta tese, contribuiu para o conhecimento das mecanismos molecular envolvidos no desenvolvimento de tumores cerebrais pediátricos e adultos, e confirma que apesar de histologicamente semelhantes, podem ser molecularmente distintos.

Contents

Contents

ABBREVIATIONS xxi
THESIS LAYOUT xxvii
1. GENERAL INTRODUCTION 1
1.1. Incidence and General Overview3
1.1.1. Brain Tumours in Adult and Paediatric Populations
1.1.2. Histological Classification and Clinical Features
1.1.2.1. High-Grade Gliomas 8
1.1.2.2. Medulloblastomas13
1.1.3. Late Effects and Quality of Life After the Treatment of a Brain Tumour
1.2. Molecular Biology of Brain Tumours16
1.2.1. Genetic Aetiological Factors of Brain Tumours
1.2.1.1. Familial Tumour Predisposition Syndromes
1.2.1.2. Genetic Polymorphisms 18
1.2.2. Patterns of Copy Number Change 20
1.2.3. Deregulated Molecular Pathways: Oncogenes and Tumour Suppressors 25
1.2.4. Microsatellite Instability
1.3. References
2. RATIONALE AND AIMS
3. EGFR MOLECULAR ALTERATIONS AS POTENTIAL THERAPEUTIC TARGETS FOR GLIOMAS IN ADULT AND
PAEDIATRIC POPULATIONS73
3.1. Analysis of EGFR Overexpression, EGFR Gene Amplification and the EGFRvIII
Mutation in Portuguese High-Grade Gliomas77
Introduction79
Materials and Methods 80
Results
Discussion

References
3.2. EGFRvIII Deletion Mutations in Pediatric High-Grade Glioma and Response to
Targeted Therapy in Pediatric Glioma Cell Lines
Introduction
Materials and Methods
Results
Discussion
References
Supplementary Figures 98
4. MICROSATELLITE INSTABILITY IN HIGH-GRADE GLIOMAS AND MEDULLOBLASTOMAS OF ADULT AND
PAEDIATRIC PATIENTS
4.1. Analysis of Microsatellite Instability in Medulloblastoma
Introduction
Material and Methods 108
Results 110
Discussion 111
References
4.2. Microsatellite Instability in Pediatric High Grade Glioma is Associated with Genomic
Profile and Differential Target Gene Inactivation 117
Introduction 120
Materials and Methods 121
Results
Discussion 130
References
Supporting Information 137
J. GEINERAL DISCUSSIUN
5.1. EGFR Molecular Alterations as Potential Therapeutic Targets for Gliomas in Adult and
Paediatric Populations 143

5.2. Microsatellite Instability in High-grade Gliomas and Medulloblastomas of Adul	t and
Paediatric Patients	148
5.3. References	155

PAPER I – Bax DA, Little SE, Gaspar N, Perryman L, Marshall L, **Viana-Pereira M**, Jones TA, Williams RD, Grigoriadis A, Vassal G, Workman P, Sheer D, Reis RM, Pearson AD, Hargrave D, Jones C. Molecular and phenotypic characterisation of paediatric glioma cell lines as models for preclinical drug development. **PLoS One**; 4(4): e5209, 2009.

PAPER II – Bax DA, Mackay A, Little SE, Carvalho D, **Viana-Pereira M**, Tamber N, Grigoriadis AE, Ashworth A, Reis RM, Ellison DW, Al-Sarraj S, Hargrave D, Jones C. A distinct spectrum of copy number aberrations in pediatric high-grade gliomas. **Clinical Cancer Research**; 16(13): 3368-77, 2010.

PAPER III – Gaspar N, Marshall L, Perryman L, Bax DA, Little SE, **Viana-Pereira M,** Sharp SY, Vassal G, Pearson A, Reis RM, Hargrave D, Workman P, Jones C. MGMT-independent temozolomide resistance in paediatric glioblastoma cells associated with a PI3-Kinase-mediated HOX / stem cell gene signature. **Cancer Research**; 70(22): 9243-52, 2010.

Abbreviations

- AA anaplastic astrocytoma
- aCGH array comparative genomic hybridization
- AKT protein kinase B (PKB)
- APC adenomatous polyposis coli gene
- AO anaplastic oligodendroglioma
- AOA anaplastic oligoastrocytoma
- BAX BCL2-associated X protein
- BRAF v-raf murine sarcoma viral oncogene homolog B1
- CDKN2A/CDKN2B/CDKN2C cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 2A, 2B or 2C
- cDNA complementary deoxyribonucleic acid
- **CIN** chromosomal instability
- CISH chromogenic in situ hybridization
- **CNS** central nervous system
- CTNNB1 catenin beta 1
- CpG adjacent cytosine and guanine dinucleotides
- CRC colorectal cancer
- DAB 3,3'-diaminobenzidine
- DNA deoxyribonucleic acid
- EGF epidermal growth factor

- EGFR epidermal growth factor receptor
- ERK extracellular signal-regulated kinase
- FFPE formaline-fixed, paraffin-embedded
- FISH fluorescent in situ hybridization
- FZD frizzled
- GWA genome-wide association
- HER human epidermal receptor
- HGF hepatocyte growth factor
- HGG high-grade glioma
- HNPCC hereditary non-polyposis colorectal cancer
- IDH1/IDH2 isocitrate dehydrogenase 1 or 2
- IGFR insulin-like growth factor receptor
- KRAS v-Ki-ras2 Kirsten rat sarcoma viral oncogene homolog
- mAbs monoclonal antibodies
- MAPK mitogen-activated protein kinase
- MBD4 methyl-CpG binding domain protein 4
- MET mesenchymal-epithelial transition factor receptor
- MGMT methyl guanine methyltransferase
- MLH1 mutL homolog 1, colon cancer, nonpolyposis type 2
- MLH3 mutL homolog 3
- MMR DNA mismatch repair

- MMR-D DNA mismatch repair deficiency
- MRE11 meiotic recombination 11 homolog A
- MSH2 mutS homolog 2, colon cancer, nonpolyposis type 1

MSH3/MSH4/MSH5/MSH6 - mutS homolog 3, 4, 5 or 6

- MSI microsatellite instability
- MSS microsatellite stable
- MS-PCR methylation-specific PCR
- **mTOR** mammalian target of rapamycin
- MYC v-myc myelocytomatosis viral oncogene homolog
- MYCN v-myc myelocytomatosis viral related oncogene, neuroblastoma derived
- NADPH nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
- NF1/NF2 Neurofibromatosis type 1/2
- *NF1/NF2* neurofibromin 1/2
- NSCLC non-small cell lung cancer
- O oligodendroglioma
- PCR polymerase chain reaction
- PCV procarbazine, CCNU (lomustine), and vincristine
- PDGFA/PDGFB platelet-derived growth factor (alpha or beta polypeptide)
- PDGFRA/PDGFRB platelet-derived growth factor receptor (alpha or beta polypeptide)
- PKCs protein kinase catalytic subunit
- **PI3K** phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase

PMS1/PMS2 – PMS2 postmeiotic segregation increased (1 or 2)

- PTCH patched
- PTPRD protein tyrosine phosphatase, receptor type, D
- PTEN protein tyrosine phosphatase and tensin homolog
- Ras rat sarcoma
- Raf rapidly accelerated fibrosarcoma
- RB retinoblastoma
- RNA ribonucleic acid
- RT room temperature
- **RT-PCR** reverse transcription-PCR
- RTK receptor tyrosine kinase
- SHH sonic hedgehog
- SMO smoothened homolog
- **SNP** Single-nucleotide polymorphism
- STAT signal transducers and activator of transcription
- SUFU suppressor of fused homolog
- TCGA the cancer genome atlas
- **TGF** transforming growth factor
- TKI tyrosine kinase inhibitor
- *TP53/TP73* tumour protein 53/73
- TSC tuberous sclerosis

UTR – untranslated region

- **VEGF** vascular endothelial growth factor
- WHO world health organization
- Wnt wingless type mmtv integration site family

Thesis Layout

Thesis Layout

Chapter 1 presents a general introduction of the state of the art of brain tumours and genetic instability, aiming to direct attention to the work developed in the present thesis. Specifically, we review the impact, epidemiology and histology of brain tumours, as well as differential genetic instability and molecular alterations present in cancer. In particular, it is reviewed their relevance in brain tumours, focusing on high-grade gliomas and medulloblastomas and emphasising the differentiation between adult and paediatric populations.

Chapter 2 presents the rationale and aims of the thesis.

Chapter 3 comprises two pieces of work reporting EGFR molecular characterization in adult gliomas (**Sub-Chapter 3.1**) or in paediatric patients (**Sub-Chapter 3.2**). In the latter paper, the role of this molecular aberration was further explored as a potential therapeutic target in paediatric glioma cell lines. Due to the well-established importance of EGFR in the development of gliomas in contrast to medulloblastoma, in this chapter we focused only on the study of these tumours.

Chapter 4 presents two studies of MSI in brain tumours, both in medulloblastoma (**Sub-Chapter 4.1**) and high-grade glioma (**Sub-Chapter 4.2**), comprising series of adult and childhood tumours. In this chapter both medulloblastomas and high-grade gliomas were explored as in medulloblastomas literature is extremely scarce and in high-grade gliomas the frequencies reported are highly heterogeneous.

The final chapter, **Chapter 5** aims to bring together and discuss, on the basis of previous relevant literature, the major findings of the work presented throughout the thesis.

1. General Introduction

1. General Introduction

1.1 – Incidence and General Overview

Cancer represents one of the biggest health challenges of the new century. In fact, it is estimated that in the developed world, cancer will affect one in three people during their lifetime, resulting in the second leading cause of death in the United States, only preceded by heart diseases, pooling all age groups among both genders (1). Survival rates vary widely between different types of cancer, and stage of the disease at diagnosis, with later stage diagnosis and metastatic disease invariably corresponding to poorer survival. Worldwide, excluding non-melanoma skin cancer, nearly 12.7 million new cancer cases and 7.6 million cancer related deaths occurred in 2008 (2). In the paediatric population, about 10,700 new tumours were diagnosed in the United States in the same year, with almost 1,500 deaths estimated to occur in children up to 14 years of age (3). The type and aetiology of cancers that affect children and adults are different. Almost all adult cancers derive from epithelial tissue whereas paediatric cancers mostly derive from non-ectodermal embryonal tissue (4).

1.1.1 – Brain Tumours in Adult and Paediatric Populations

Primary Central Nervous System (CNS) tumours are considered to be those that originally initiate in the CNS and usually remain there. These tumours occur in people of all ages, but are more frequent in childhood and in the elderly. Instead, secondary brain tumours, which are brain metastases derived from malignant tumours elsewhere in the body, are more common in adults than in children. Primary CNS tumours, despite not leading the cancer frequency rates, rank first among cancer types for the average years of life lost, with an average of 20.1 years (5). By contrast with other malignancies, where research has lead to the establishment of more successful treatment options, the diagnosis of a CNS tumour, particularly the more malignant histological types, still has devastating effects on the patients and their relatives, not only due to the dismal prognosis of these tumours with extremely high rates of mortality, but also to the great morbidity that actual treatment options cause (6-9).

The estimated annual worldwide age-standardized incidence of malignant primary CNS tumours is 3.5 per 100,000 people, which represents more than 200,000 cases. The rate is slightly higher in males (3.9 per 100,000 people per year) than in females (3.1 per 100,000 people per year) (2). Additionally, rates appear to be higher in more developed countries (5.2 per 100,000 people per year) than in less developed countries (3.0 per 100,000 people per year) and this is thought to be a consequence of progress in diagnostic technologies and ascertainment, as well as access to adequate health care in the developed countries (2, 10). Similarly, estimated annual global age-standardized mortality of malignant primary CNS tumours is higher in males (3.0 per 100,000 people) than in females (2.2 per 100,000 people), with higher rates also in more developed regions (3.2 per 100,000 people) than in less developed regions (2.3 per 100,000 people) (2). The median age of diagnosis for all primary CNS tumours is 57 years, however the histology-specific median age ranges from 9 to 70 years (3).

In children, CNS tumours are the second most frequent malignancy after leukaemia and are therefore the most common solid tumours in childhood (1). An estimated 3,750 new cases of childhood primary non-malignant and malignant CNS tumours are expected to be diagnosed in the United States each year. This number reflects an annual incidence rate of 4.5 cases per 100,000 people. As in adults, the rate is higher in males (4.7 cases per 100,000 people) than in females (4.3 cases per 100,000 people) (3). Importantly, malignant brain tumours are the leading cause of cancer-related death in the childhood (11).

In Portugal, the annual, age-standardized, incidence (6.4 per 100,000 people) and mortality (4.3 per 100,000 people) rates of primary CNS tumours are among the highest in the world (Figure 1). Overall, it is estimated that about a thousand new cases arise per year, with about 750 people dying annually as a consequence of the disease (2).


Figure 1 – Age-standardized, estimated, incidence (left map) and mortality (right map) of brain and CNS tumours in 2008. Adapted from refernce. (2).

1.1.2 – Histological Classification and Clinical Features

From many years now, CNS tumours have been mostly classified according to the World Health Organization (WHO) criteria (12). There are a wide range of CNS histological entities, classified according to the cell morphology and the degree of malignant behaviour. The WHO classification (12) includes a grading scheme that is a means of predicting the biological behaviour of the tumour: Grade I tumours generally have a low proliferative potential and the possibility of cure after surgical resection; Grade II tumours are generally infiltrative and, despite low level proliferative activity, often recur with some histologies tending to progress to higher grades of malignancy; Grade III tumours generally have histological evidence of malignancy, including nuclear atypia and sharp mitotic activity; Finally, grade IV tumours are histologically malignant, mitotically active and necrotic, often associated with rapid disease evolution and fatal outcome. Accordingly, CNS tumours span from benign to highly malignant, with the last mostly contributing to the high rates of mortality and morbidity among the patients. This thesis will focus only on malignant CNS tumours, more particularly high-grade gliomas (WHO grades III and IV) and medulloblastomas (grade IV), which are the most common malignant CNS tumours of adults and children, respectively.

The incidence of CNS tumours in general, but also of different histological types, varies across specific age groups (Figure 2) (13, 14).



Figure 2 - Age specific incidence of primary CNS tumours. A. Numbers of new cases and age specific incidence rates, by sex, on CNS tumours. (UK incidence, 2007, data from Cancer Research UK). *Adapted from reference* (13). **B.** Age-specific incidence of primary CNS tumors by histology. "All brain tumors" includes other specific histologies not individually shown (tumors of the cranial and spinal nerves, hemangioblastomas, CNS lymphomas, germ cell tumors, tumors of the sellar region). "Astrocytoma" includes diffuse astrocytomas, anaplastic astrocytomas, unique astrocytoma variants, and astrocytomas not otherwise specified (Data from Central Brain Tumor Registry of the United States: Statistical Report: Primary Brain Tumors in the United States 1992–1997). *Adapted from reference* (14)

Accordingly, the regions of the brain mostly affected by children and adult tumours are also different. In adults and older children, most CNS tumours are located supratentorially (cerebrum), whereas in young children they are more commonly infratentorial (arising in the cerebellum) (Figure 3) (15). Brain tumour aetiology is thought to be multifactorial and is likely to vary by tumour type. There is a likely connection between genetics and the environment, meaning that particular genetic susceptibilities lead to increased vulnerability to environmental factors. The only proven exogenous environmental cause of brain tumours, in children or adults, is ionizing radiation, often seen in the setting of previous radiation therapy for the treatment of a former malignancy (10, 16-19).



Figure 3 – Representation of brain different anatomical parts and their regulatory function. *Adapted from reference* (24).

Initial symptoms of a brain tumour vary according to the location and growth rate of the tumour (20, 21). Symptoms occur due to degradation of normal brain tissue, but mostly to the increase in intracranial pressure. Several symptoms are common among paediatric and adult patients, varying in demonstration according to the age of the patient. Infants may simply manifest distress with vague, nonspecific symptoms, such as vomiting, lack of coordination, lethargy and irritability. A peculiar symptom of babies and infants is the enlargement of the head circumference, due to the incompletely fused skull. Other common symptoms of adults and older children such as headaches, cognitive decline, personality alterations or speech changes are difficult to evaluate in infants. Eventually, symptoms are correlated with the area of the brain affected (Figure 3) (20-24). Tumours in the posterior fossa usually cause ataxia, diplopia, papilloma and nystagmus, hypotonia, gait disturbance and incoordination. Patients with supratentorial tumours develop signs and symptoms according to the area of the brain affected. Common symptoms are seizures, hemiparesia

and hemiplasia, memory loss, behaviour changes and visual field cuts. The sudden onset of symptoms is usually indicative of rapidly growing or aggressive tumours. A clinical history more likely indicates low-grade or benign neoplasias (20-23).

1.1.2.1 – High-Grade Gliomas

The brain is composed of two major cell types, neurons and glia. In the CNS, glial cells are further categorized into four specific cell types: astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, ependymal cells and microglia (25). For many years, it was believed that these normal and well-differentiated glial cells were the origin of gliomas, giving rise to the morphologically correspondent tumours, with astrocytomas, oligodendrogliomas and the mixed lineage, oligoastrocytomas, being the major subtypes. Recently, however, this theory has been called into question, as some evidence suggests that gliomas arise from stem cells or lineage-committed progenitor cells (25, 26). The majority of CNS tumours in all age groups are gliomas. The estimated annual incidence rate of gliomas in the United States is 6.0 per 100,000 people, being higher in males (7.2 per 100,000 people) than in females (5.0 per 100,000 people). Overall, the broad category of gliomas accounts for 36% of all CNS tumours and 81% of malignant ones. In young adults (20-34 years), gliomas represent 39% of all CNS tumours and 86% of the malignant tumours. In adolescents (15-19 years), 45% of all CNS tumours and 81% of the malignant ones are gliomas, whereas in children less than 15 years the frequency of gliomas is higher (56%), but they only account for 74% of malignant tumours (3). The incidence rates of gliomas by histology vary among age-specific groups; in children and adolescents grade I gliomas are the most common tumours, whereas in older patients grade IV gliomas have the highest incidence (3). The treatment of low-grade gliomas with surgical resection alone allows in most instances the possibility of cure. On the other hand, high-grade gliomas remain a difficult therapeutic challenge with a poor prognosis. Conventional treatment includes surgery, radiotherapy and chemotherapy, however despite being helpful, actual therapeutic regimens are still unable to cure highgrade gliomas. The fact that in the malignant histologies, tumour cells infiltrate into surrounding brain and are not completely removed by surgery, and that these remaining cells are often resistant to radio and chemotherapy, together with the fact that residual cells almost always allow tumour to restart growing, are the main reasons for the therapeutic failure of high-grade gliomas (22). Similarly in children, surgery plays a major role in the

treatment of gliomas, with the extent of tumour resection the most important prognostic factor in this age group. For the more malignant subtypes, focal radiation is used as first line adjuvant therapy, except in infants (22, 27). Both in adult and paediatric populations, histological type and grade of the tumour, anatomic location, extent of surgical resection, patient's age, whether radiotherapy is applied, and some chemotherapy protocols have been consistently considered prognostic factors (10, 28). As mentioned, the major subtypes of gliomas are astrocytomas, oligodendrogliomas and the mixed oligoastrocytomas, and therefore the most malignant forms of these histological types will be further discussed in this section.

Tumours arising from astrocytic lineage, **astrocytomas** represent a highly heterogeneous histological group of neoplasms. They represent about 75% of all gliomas and can occur in most parts of the brain, and are the most frequent gliomas of childhood (3). While malignant astrocytomas comprise only 2% of all adult tumours their malignant nature makes them the fourth greatest cancer-related death (29). According to the WHO classification of CNS tumours, there are several different histological types of astrocytic tumours divided into four categories based on their grade of malignancy: WHO grade I, pilocytic astrocytoma; WHO grade II, diffuse astrocytoma; WHO grade III, anaplastic astrocytoma; and WHO grade IV, glioblastoma (12). The different histological types vary in frequency, age and gender distribution, location within the brain and clinical features.

<u>WHO grade I Pilocytic astrocytoma</u> comprise about 6% of all gliomas (3), mostly developing without a clear gender predilection, is the most common glioma in children, in whom they mainly arise infratentorially. In the age groups 0-14 years and 15-19 years, this tumour represents about 21% and 15% of all CNS tumours, respectively. Histologically, pilocytic astrocytoma is a relatively circumscribed and slowly growing tumour having therefore, a good prognosis when treated, with surgical resection alone allowing many times the possibility of cure. These tumours, however cannot be considered benign, as when not treated they can undergo in malignant transformation and lead to patient's death (12).

<u>WHO grade II Diffuse astrocytoma</u> represents about 2% of all gliomas (3). There is a peak incidence for this tumour (about 60%) in young adults, between 30 and 40 years of age, with a predominance of affected males (M:F ratio, 1.18:1). It is characterized by a high

degree of cellular differentiation and slow growth occurring throughout the CNS, but being preferentially located supratentorially. Diffuse astrocytoma has an intrinsic predisposition for malignant progression to anaplastic astrocytoma and, eventually, glioblastoma (12).

Anaplastic astrocytoma (WHO grade III) accounts for about 8% of all gliomas (3, 30), there is a peak of incidence between 45 and 55 years of age, with a predominance of affected males (12, 30). Anaplastic astrocytoma is a high-grade, diffusely infiltrating glioma, preferentially located in the cerebral hemispheres. In children and young adults it can also appear in the brain stem and thalamus (30). This malignant tumour presents an increased cellularity, cytologic atypia and prominent mitotic activity, with elevated invasiveness (12, 30). Anaplastic astrocytoma may arise from diffuse astrocytoma or *de novo, i.e.*, without recognizable precursor lesion (12). Whereas the great majority of adults with diffuse astrocytoma (WHO grade II) experience malignant transformation, the long-term risk of malignant transformation in histologically identical neoplasms in children is less than 10% (31). In most cases, anaplastic astrocytoma will progress to the most malignant astrocytoma, glioblastoma (WHO grade IV), with an estimated mean time to progression of about 2 years. (12, 32)

<u>Glioblastoma (WHO grade IV)</u> is the most frequent primary brain tumour, accounting for about 51% of all gliomas and 80% of the malignant tumours (12, 22, 23). It may manifest at any age, but typically affects adults, with a peak incidence between 45 and 75 years of age, occur predominantly in males and is preferentially located in the cerebral hemispheres (12, 30). In children, it can also be found in the brain stem (30). Glioblastoma is histopathologically characterized by high cellularity, nuclear atypia, marked cellular pleomorphism, elevated mitotic activity, vascular thrombosis, microvascular proliferation and necrosis (12, 30). Similar to anaplastic astrocytoma, glioblastomas may arise *de novo*, and are designated primary glioblastomas, or can be secondary glioblastomas, slowly developing from diffuse astrocytoma (WHO grade II) or anaplastic astrocytoma (WHO grade III). The majority (about 95%) of glioblastomas are primary tumours, develop very rapidly in elderly patients (mean 62 years) after a short clinical history and present a poorer prognosis (12). Secondary glioblastoma mostly develop in younger patients below the age of 45 (12). Due to its invasive nature, glioblastoma cannot be completely resected and despite progress in radio- and chemotherapy, less than half of the patients survive more than a year, making glioblastoma the CNS tumour with worse prognosis, for both paediatric and adult patients (12, 30). Older age is the most significant adverse prognostic factor for glioblastoma in adults (12, 30, 33). Other prognostic factors for high-grade astrocytoma include Karnofsky Performance Scale score at diagnosis and other measures of mental and physical functionality (17, 33).

The standard therapy for adults with glioblastoma consists of concomitant radiotherapy and the chemotherapeutic agent, temozolomide, followed by adjuvant temozolomide as described by Stupp et al. (34). On the other hand, children with high-grade glioma do not seem to derive significant benefit from any single chemotherapeutic regimen (15, 21, 27). Preliminary results of studies in paediatric malignant gliomas using the Stupp protocol indicate similar PFS results in childhood glioblastoma to those in comparable adult patients, however this does not represent a significant advance when compared to paediatric historical controls (35-39). The Stupp protocol has nevertheless become a default regimen used frequently in childhood glioblastoma and will probably remain as the chemotherapy backbone for future studies, although most patients with anaplastic astrocytoma when treatment with the standard chemotherapy of nitrosurea and procarbazine is not effective.

Composed predominantly of cells morphologically resembling oligodendroglia, oligodendrogliomas account for a small subset of all gliomas (about 8%). Oligodendroglial tumours, regardless of the WHO grade, often are more sensitive to radio- and chemotherapeutic treatments than other glioma subtype (40-42). Other favourable prognostic factor includes younger age, frontal localization of the tumour and high Karnofsky performance status. Oligodendrogliomas are predominantly tumours of adulthood, with a peak incidence between the fourth and fifth decade of life, representing only 1-2% of all CNS tumours in children (3). Similar to most astrocytomas, oligodendrogliomas are slightly more frequent in males than females and arise preferentially in the cerebral hemispheres, mainly in the frontal lobe. Histologically, oligodendroglial tumours comprise a continuous spectrum ranging from well differentiated to highly malignant tumours; over time, oligodendrogliomas gradually become more anaplastic and evolve from low-grade into high-grade glioma with anaplastic features (12,

30, 42, 43). The WHO recognizes two grades of malignancy for oligodendrogliomas, oligodendroglioma (WHO grade II) and anaplastic oligodendrogliomas (WHO grade III), with grading a significant predictor of survival.

<u>Oligodendroglioma (WHO grade II)</u> is a well differentiated diffusely infiltrating tumor, characterized by uniformly round to oval cells with round nuclei and bland chromatin, with cell density usually low to moderate. Standard treatment consists of resecting the tumor as extensively as safely possible, radio or chemotherapy can also be applied (12).

<u>Anaplastic oligodendroglioma (WHO grade III)</u> presents high cell density, mitotic activity, nuclear atypia, microvascular proliferation and necrosis. About half of the oligodendroglial tumours are anaplastic oligodendrogliomas. Treatment includes surgery, followed by radiotherapy and/or chemotherapy, typically with PCV (procarbazine, CCNU, and vincristine) (12).

Patients with high-grade oligodendroglial or mixed gliomas harbour the best outcomes (12).

By definition, **oligoastrocytomas** have morphological characteristics of both astrocytic tumors and pure oligodendrogliomas, being frequently referred as mixed gliomas (12, 30, 42, 43). Precise data on the incidence these tumours are not available, but reported frequencies vary from 1-20% of all gliomas, with the higher percentage thought to be overestimated due to a consultation bias (12, 30, 42, 43). Oligoastrocytomas arise preferentially in the cerebral hemispheres, with males slightly more affected than females, and mainly occurring in the fifth decade of life (12, 30, 42, 43). Similar to oligodendrogliomas, these tumours can also be divided in two grades of malignancy: WHO grade II, oligodendrogliomas and WHO grade III, anaplastic oligodendrogliomas.

<u>Oligoastrocytoma (WHO grade II)</u> develops in middle-aged people, with median ages ranging between 35 and 45 years. Is a moderately cellular tumour with no or low mitotic activity (12).

<u>Anaplastic oligoastrocytoma (WHO grade III)</u> develops in individuals slightly older than the less malignant form, with age incidence peaks in the fifth decade of life. Presents histological features of malignancy, including nuclear atypia, cellular pleomorphism, high cellularity and high mitotic activity (12).

1.1.2.2 – Medulloblastomas

The histogenesis of medulloblastoma is a controversial issue. Overall, medulloblastoma is likely to be composed of biologically different subsets of tumours arising from immature neuronal precursor cells in the cerebellum (12, 44, 45). Medulloblastoma represents a highly malignant, invasive embryonic tumour, and is the most common malignant CNS tumour in children. Together with other embryonic tumours, medulloblastoma accounts for about 16% of all childhood primary CNS neoplasms (3). Globally, embryonic tumours including medulloblastoma represent 1.5% of all primary CNS tumours (3), accounting for 12-25% of all childhood brain tumours and only about 0,5-1% of all intracranial neoplasms in adults (22, 46, 47). The peak age incidence is 7 years, with 70% of medulloblastomas occurring in patients less than 16 years of age. In adulthood, 80% of medulloblastomas arise in the 21-40 years age group and rarely occur beyond the fifth decade of life. About 65% of patients are male (12, 30, 47). The annual incidence of medulloblastoma has been estimated at 0.5 per 100,000 children less than 15 years (3, 30). Medulloblastoma presents predominantly neuronal differentiation. It is composed of densely packed small round blue cells with carrot-shaped hyperchromatic nuclei, possibly presenting neuroblastic rosettes which are associated with marked nuclear pleomorphism and high mitotic activity (12, 22, 45, 47). The WHO classification of CNS tumours recognizes at least five different histological types of medulloblastoma: classic (70-85% of the cases); desmoplastic/nodular (15% in paediatric medulloblastoma compared to 30-40% in adults); anaplastic (about 10-22% of medulloblastomas); large cell (about 2-4% of cases) and medulloblastoma with extensive nodularity (about 3%) (12, 22, 47, 48). Large numbers of mitotic figures and apoptotic bodies are characteristics of the large cell and anaplastic medulloblastoma (12). Medulloblastoma histologic subtypes often are quite heterogeneous and exhibit highly variable clinical behaviour, with the anaplastic and large cell subtypes being associated with worse prognosis, whereas desmoplastic/nodular medulloblastomas portend a more favourable outcome (22, 45, 49). Medulloblastoma has an inherent tendency to metastasize via cerebrospinal fluid pathways (about 30% of patients at diagnosis), whereas spread outside the CNS is a rare event. This tendency for metastatic spread is higher in children than adults (30, 50, 51). Clinical prognostic factors include tumour size, presence of metastasis, age, and amount of tumour resected (22).

1. General Introduction

Stratification of medulloblastoma involves distinguishing high-risk and standard-risk patients, with high-risk patients those aged less than 3 years, with incomplete surgical resection of the tumour and/or with disseminated disease (12, 22, 52). Significant advances have been made in the treatment of childhood medulloblastoma, with the 5-year survival raised to 60% for high-risk disease and 80% for standard-risk tumours, however the longterm side effects of the treatment modalities applied can be severe. The amount of radiotherapy required for the disease control causes significant brain injury that may manifest as long-term neurocognitive sequelae in patients of all ages. Actual treatment includes maximal safe surgical resection and the use of combined radio- and chemotherapy for children older than 3 years. Most therapeutic approaches for high-risk patients include relatively high doses of craniospinal radiotherapy and aggressive chemotherapeutic regimens (22, 27). The treatment of infants with medulloblastoma remains highly problematic as radiation therapy is especially damaging for the developing brain of very young children. Therefore, most therapeutic approaches have focused on delaying, eliminating or reducing doses of radiotherapy by the use of increasingly aggressive chemotherapeutic approaches. A major hope for the future is that the incorporation of biological agents targeting specific signalling pathways will not only make treatment more effective, but also allow a reduction in neurotoxic therapy (12, 52).

1.1.3 – Late Effects and Quality of Life After the Treatment of a Brain Tumour

Patients of brain tumours frequently experience a combination of physical, neurocognitive and emotional deficits. The first trauma of facing a disease with a poor prognosis is potentiated by the fact that they must almost immediately make decisions about complex treatment options. After the treatment, survivors of CNS tumours generally present many complications related to the disease and treatment, summarized in Table 1. Therefore, CNS tumour patients are at increased risk of experiencing depression, perceived stress and anxiety, distress, sadness, anger and low self-esteem, which can adversely affect activity and life satisfaction (53-56).

Also for paediatric patients, brain tumours represent a difficult experience. Family of the patient have to face the reality of having a child with significant neurological, cognitive, and endocrinologic morbidity. Paediatric survivors of brain tumours face an uncertain

future. Late effects from treatment, mainly radiotherapy, may not fully manifest themselves for several years following the completion of treatment. In fact, there is a progressive deterioration until adulthood. The main factors that increase the risk for intellectual compromise are age of the child at the time of CNS radiotherapy and tumour location. Adult survivors of paediatric cancers, particularly brain tumours, have some particularities in their life when compared to normal population, such as a lower rate of employment, higher denial of insurance, less likelihood of getting married and greater difficulty in obtaining needed care (Table 1) (58).

Table 1 – Physical and Intellectual late-effects of brain tumours and their therapy, particularly radiation, onadult and paediatric survivors. Adapted from references (22, 57).

Effects	Adult Patients	Paediatric Patients
Physical	Second cancers	Second cancers
	Infertility	Disturbed endocrine function
	Cardiomyopathy	Cardiomyopathy
	Impaired immune system	Obesity
	Fatigue / loss of strengths	Reduction of bone mineral density
	Body image changes	Increased risk of death
	Increased risk of death	
Intellectual	Problems thinking clearly	Impaired cognition
	Problems managing easy tasks	Progressive deterioration of IQ
	Poor memory	Mental retardation
	Confusion	Learning / academic skills deficits
	Personality/behaviour changes	Problems in memory and attention
		Problems in language
		Diminished social skills
Social / economic	Loss of employment	Problems finding a job in adulthood
	Loss of insurance coverage	Denial of insurance
	Suspension driving license	Problems getting married
	Tensions in intimate relationships	

1.2 – Molecular Biology of Brain Tumours

Cancer cells usually harbour mutations in oncogenes and tumour suppressor genes. These may play a role in key cellular processes such as proliferation, apoptosis or angiogenesis. Oncogenes are genes whose deregulated activation through mutation, translocation, amplification or over-expression promotes tumorigenesis. Tumour suppressors, on the other hand, play an inhibitory role, and can be inactivated in cancer through mutation, deletion, methylation or transcriptional repression. Genomic instability present in cancer cells occurs mainly through chromosomal instability (CIN) or microsatellite instability (MSI), together with increased frequencies of molecular alterations in cancer regulatory genes (59, 60). CIN refers to the high rate by which chromosome structure and number (by gains or losses) changes over time in cancer cells compared with normal cells (61) and MSI is characterized by the expansion or contraction of the number of oligonucleotide repeats present in microsatellite sequences (61).

1.2.1 – Genetic Aetiological Factors of Brain Tumours

Brain tumours present a multifactorial aetiology, being the result of interactions between environmental exposure and genetic susceptibility. Genetic susceptibility of brain tumours comes from rare genetic syndromes and genetic polymorphisms, specifically in pathways thought to be involved in the process of brain tumour formation.

1.2.1.1 – Familial Tumour Predisposition Syndromes

A familial tumour predisposition syndrome is associated with germline mutations, typically in tumour suppressor genes, which confer an increased susceptibility of individuals to tumour formation from childhood until their adult life (62). Some of the major syndromes associated with high-grade gliomas or medulloblastomas (with genes affected by germline mutations) are neurofibromatosis type 1 (*NF1*), Li-Fraumeni syndrome (*TP53*) and Turcot syndrome (*APC* and *MLH1/PMS2/MSH2/MSH6*) (complete list in Table 2).

Neurofibromatosis Type 1

Neurofibromatosis type 1 (NF1) is an autosomal dominant disorder characterized by astrocytomas, among other tumours, together with multiple café-au-lait spots, axillary and 16

inguinal freckling, iris hemartomas and various osseous lesions (12). Glioblastomas are usually observed at an increased frequency in NF1 patients. *NF1* encodes neurofibromin, a protein expressed in many tissues, functioning as Ras inactivator and therefore, its loss stimulates Ras-mediated downstream signalling cascades (12, 62).

Li-Fraumeni syndrome

Li-Fraumeni syndrome is an autosomal dominant disorder characterized by several primary neoplasms in children and adults, including astrocytomas and medulloblastomas (12). About 70% of Li-Fraumeni cases present *TP53* germline mutations and approximately 50% of families with *TP53* germline mutations present Li-Fraumeni syndrome (12). Around 14% of the affected individuals' neoplasms are brain tumours, mainly astrocytomas (64%) but also medulloblastomas (12). The p53 protein is a multifunctional transcriptor factor involved in the control of cell cycle progression, DNA integrity and survival of cells exposed to DNA-damaging agents or non-genotoxic stimuli such as hypoxia (63).

Turcot syndrome

Turcot syndrome is also an autosomal dominant disorder characterized by colorectal and brain tumours, mainly glioblastomas or medulloblastomas (12). Turcot syndrome can be further divided in type 1 (glioma-polyposis) and type 2 patients (medulloblastomapolyposis). Turcot type 1 patients present glioblastoma and have hereditary non-polyposis colorectal cancer (HNPCC) as well as germline mutations in DNA mismatch repair (MMR) genes such as *MLH1*, *PMS2*, *MSH2* and *MSH6* (12). A small fraction of the patients have biallelic mutations in the MMR genes representing an enhanced disease penetrance (64, 65). The MMR proteins are involved in the recognition and repair of base-pair mismatches on the DNA and their loss results in high mutation rates and MSI (66, 67). Turcot type 2 patients typically develop medulloblastoma, presenting familial adenomatous polyposis, together with mutations in the *APC* gene (12), which is a multifunctional tumour suppressor (68). Nevertheless, studies have described patients presenting medulloblastoma in association with homozygous germline mutations of the MMR genes, namely MSH6 (69, 70), MLH1 (71) or PMS2 (72) usually in concomitance with HNPCC. Table 2 - Familial syndromes and genes involved causing increased risk of gliomas and medulloblastomas.Adapted from references (12).

Syndrome	Gene	Chromosome	CNS Tumour (e.g.)	Other Clinical Manifestations (e.g.)
Neurofibromatosis Type 1	NF1	17q11	Astrocytoma, neurofibroma, optic nerve glioma	Skin café-au-lait spots and axillary freckling; other tumours
Neurofibromatosis Type 2	NF2	22q12	Astrocytoma, schwannoma, meningioma	Posterior lens opacities, retinal hamartoma
Tuberous sclerosis	TSC1	9p34	Giant cell astrocytoma	Other tumours
	TSC2	16p13		
Li-Fraumeni syndrome	TP53	17p13	Astrocytoma, medulloblastoma	Other tumours
Turcot	APC	5q21	Glioblastoma, medulloblastoma	Skin café-au-lait spots, colorectal polyps
	MLH1	3p21		
	PMS2	7p22		
	MSH2	2p22-21		
	MSH6	2p16		
Gorlin	РТСН	9q31	Medulloblastoma	Other tumours

1.2.1.2 – Genetic Polymorphisms

Polymorphisms are genetic sequence variants that, by definition, occur in at least 1% of the general population. Compared to mutations, polymorphisms have been supposed functionally insignificant, yet a considerable number of polymorphisms affect intrinsic properties and function of the resultant protein (73-75).

Polymorphisms frequently studied in the context of brain tumours are in genes that might influence susceptibility to these tumours in concert with environmental exposures, such as genes involved in DNA repair, cell cycle regulation or inflammation. Table 3 presents a summary of representative studies reporting positive associations between polymorphisms and glioma risk (76-88).

Pathway	Gene	Polymorphism	Considerations/Effect
DNA Repair	XRCC1	W399R	Risk ⁽⁷⁶⁻⁷⁸⁾
	PRKDC	G6721T	Risk ^(76, 82)
	PARP1	A762V	Protective ^(76, 89)
	ERCC1	A8092C	Risk ^(79, 80)
	ERCC2	Q751K	Risk ^(76, 79)
	MGMT	F84L	Risk ⁽⁸¹⁾ or Protective ⁽⁷⁸⁾ ?
Cell cycle	MDM2	SNP309	G/G genotype associated with higher protein expression ⁽⁸³⁾ ; and protection in female glioblastoma ⁽⁸⁴⁾
Inflammation	IL4RA	478T/C; 551A/G	Risk (both <i>IL4RA</i> SNPs) ⁽⁸⁵⁾
	IL13	1112C/T	Protection ⁽⁸⁵⁾
Growth signalling	EGFR	-216G/T	Risk ⁽⁸⁶⁾
	EGF	+61A/G	Risk ^(87, 88)

Table 3 – Representative genetic polymorphisms associated with glioma risk. Adapted from references (10,89).

There are two glioma genome-wide association (GWA) studies reported. In one of them, five risk loci for glioma were identified at 5p15.33 (TERT rs2736100), 8q24.21 (CCDC26 rs4295627), 9p21.3 (CDKN2A-CDKN2B rs4977756), 11q23.3 (PHLDB1 rs498872), and 20q13.33 (RTEL1 rs6010620) (90). The second one, which was significantly smaller in number of samples, provided further evidence to implicate the 9p21 (CDKN2B rs1412829) and 20q13.3 (RTEL1 rs6010620) in glioma risk (91). Interestingly, the function of the five glioma susceptibility genes identified on the first GWA study (RTEL1, TERT, CCDC26, CDKN2A-CDKN2B, and PHLDB1), four (TERT, RTEL1, CCDC26, and CDKN2B) are related to telomerase. TERT is the telomerase catalytic subunit, and RTEL1 is directly involved in telomerase length, whereas the other two are related to telomerase activity. Taken together, these data provide strong evidence that common variation in telomerase-related genes might contribute to glioma predisposition (89).

1.2.2 – Patterns of Copy Number Change

CIN is characterised by an increased frequency of chromosomal alterations, resulting in gains, losses, deletions, insertions, translocations, amplifications, and rearrangements. The majority of human tumours display the CIN phenotype and the end result of CIN, aneuploidy, is observed in nearly all solid tumours (60). Tumours with the CIN phenotype usually harbour mutations in oncogenes and/or tumour suppressor genes, many of which are involved in the regulation of transcription (60). During the last decade, the use of genome-scale profiling techniques to identify the key genetic alterations underlying different tumour types allowed fundamental findings about the drivers of oncogenesis, providing the rationale for specific targeted therapies in these malignancies. The inclusion of brain tumours in such studies was delayed and it was not until 2008 that the first large-scale studies of adult glioblastoma were published (92, 93). Nevertheless, there have been an increased number of studies comprehensively mapping brain tumours genome, particularly high-grade gliomas, on the past few years, with the first studies in paediatric patients starting to emerge (94-98).

High-Grade Glioma

Array-based studies of adult glioblastoma identified common regions of chromosomal instability and gene expression signatures, allowing molecular classification of this malignancy (99-102). By comparison, paediatric high-grade glioma is an understudied disease, although several genomic studies specifically addressing childhood cancers are beginning to emerge. There is now increasing evidence that the paediatric high-grade glioma genome has certain key differences with that of histologically similar adult tumours (94, 95, 103, 104).

Paediatric glioblastomas were clearly distinguished from adult tumours by frequent gain of chromosome 1q and loss of 16q and the paucity of chromosome 7 gains and 10q losses. The most frequent focal amplifications differ, with *PDGFRA* and *EGFR* predominant in childhood and adult populations, respectively. Moreover, paediatric cases without *PDGFRA* amplification were frequently found to show overexpression of a specific *PDGFRA*associated gene signature, which was distinct from that observed in adult cases with the 4q12 amplification (Table 4). In adults, secondary glioblastomas show overexpression or amplification of *PDGFRA* but rarely contain *EGFR* amplification (105) suggesting that paediatric high-grade gliomas with *PDGFRA* amplification may be molecularly similar to these tumours (94). Together with *PDGFRA* amplification, deletion of *CDKN2A/CDKN2B*, associated with absent gene expression, is the most frequent focal event in the genome of paediatric high-grade gliomas, although this deletion event is more frequent in adult than in paediatric glioblastomas (Table 4) (92, 94, 95). In contrast, the frequencies of 13q and 14q loss are similar between paediatric and adult glioblastoma (92, 94, 95). *CDKN2A/CDKN2B* deletion is also frequently found in anaplastic oligodendrogliomas (106).

Table 4 – Summary of copy number changes in Paediatric and Adult Glioblastoma. *Adapted from references* (92, 94).

Region	Paediatric Glioblastoma (n=46)	Adult Glioblastoma (n=189)	Р
Gains			
1q	30%	9%	0.001
7	13%	74%	<0.001
Losses			
1p	9%	2%	0.05
4q	22%	2%	<0.001
9р	17%	33%	<0.05
10q	35%	80%	<0.001
16q	24%	7%	0.003
Focal amplifications			
PDGFRA	16%	11%*	0.2
EGFR	4%	43%*	<0.001
Focal deletions			
CDKN2A	20%	55%*	<0.001

* n = 206 tumours

Even if *PDGFRA* amplification, 1q+ and 16q- events are significantly more common in paediatric patients (107-109), they are also present in a proportion of adult tumours. Similarly there is a group of paediatric high-grade gliomas containing aberrations more

commonly associated with adult disease (*EGFR* amplification, 7+, 10q-), albeit at significantly reduced frequencies (94, 95). Amplification of the *EGFR* gene on chromosome 7p is also present in 20%–30% of anaplastic oligodendrogliomas, correlating with a poor prognosis (110-113).

Further amplified genes in the childhood setting included those encoding cell cycle progression proteins (*CCND2*, *CDK4*, *MYC*, and *MYCN*), receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs) and ligands (*EGFR*, *MET*, *IGF1R*, *PDGFB*, and *NRG1*), members of the PI3K/MAPK pathway (*PIK3C2B*, *PIK3C2G*, *PIK3R5*, *KRAS*, *AKT1*, and *S6K1*), and p53 pathway regulation (*MDM4*), some of them known oncogenes within the core signalling pathways described in adult glioblastoma (p.eg. *CDK6*, *MET* and *CCND2*) (94, 95). Additional homozygous deletions of tumour suppressor genes of known importance in glioma included *CDKN2C*, *PTEN*, *RB1*, *TP53*, and *TP73*, reflecting abrogation of common signalling pathways (92, 93) together with the deletion of *NF1* and the tyrosine phosphatase *PTPRD*, which were also deleted in adult glioblastomas (92, 114, 115). These numerous additional low-frequency amplifications and deletions identified in paediatric high-grade gliomas, such as *MYC/MYCN*, *CCND2*, *KRAS*, and *CDKN2C*, which seems to corroborate the hypothesis that paediatric high-grade gliomas and secondary adult glioblastomas genomes are similar (101, 116), still this premise is controversial.

IDH1 on chromosome 2q33, encodes isocitrate dehydrogenase 1 (IDH1), (117) which catalyses the oxidative carboxylation of isocitrate to α -ketoglutarate, resulting in the production of NADPH in the Krebs cycle (118). This protein forms an asymmetric homodimer (119) and is thought to play a significant role in cellular control of oxidative damage through generation of NADPH (120, 121). Recently, missense mutations in *IDH1* were found in a significant number of adult glioblastomas that tend to occur mostly in younger patients with more protracted clinical courses (93). These mutations were found exclusively on the R132 residue in the active site region of the protein (93, 122). Interestingly, a separate group of gliomas harbour mutations in the *IDH1* homologue *IDH2* at the analogous residue (R172). Further investigations have shown that mutations in *IDH1* and *IDH2* are present in high proportions of grade II and III astrocytic, oligodendroglial and mixed tumours (72 to 100%) along with secondary glioblastomas (up to 85%), but are largely absent in primary glioblastomas (5%) (93, 122-125). Additionally, *IDH* mutations are associated with other

genomic abnormalities that are typically seen in gliomas, such as *TP53* mutation low-grade astrocytoma and 1p/19q deletion in oligodendrogliomas; they are also mutually exclusive with *EGFR* amplification and chromosome 10 loss (122, 124, 126). These findings suggest that, although *IDH* mutations probably contribute to the early evolution of low-grade gliomas, remaining in the higher-grade lesions, they seem to have no role in the underlying biology of primary glioblastoma. In the childhood setting, *IDH1* hotspot mutations were not found (122, 127), distinguishing biologically paediatric high-grade gliomas from adult secondary glioblastoma. Nevertheless, *IDH1* mutations appear to be frequent (35%) in high-grade gliomas from older children (14-18 years), although less common than the reported frequency in secondary glioblastomas, these *IDH1*-mutated tumours were associated with a favourable prognosis, as observed in adults (128).

Oligodendrogliomas harbour specific copy number alterations related to response to therapy or prognosis, however a comparison between adult in paediatric populations is hard to trace, as paediatric oligodendrogliomas are extremely rare neoplasms. Still, adult tumours typically (up to 80%) show combined loss of chromosomes 1p and 19q, associated with increased chemosensitivity to treatment and favourable clinical outcome (129, 130), whereas deletions involving chromosomes 1p or 19q are rare in paediatric oligodendrogliomas and did not seem to foresee a survival advantage in paediatric highgrade gliomas (131, 132).

Another difference observed between childhood and adult high-grade gliomas is the presence of a proportion of tumours with very few, or even no detectable copy number alterations in paediatric tumours (94, 95), which is in direct contrast to data from adult glioblastoma (92, 93). This stable genomic profile is independent of histologic grade or type, and seems to convey an improved survival in patients with high-grade glioma, in contrast to those patients with an amplifier genomic profile, who do significantly worse (95).

Medulloblastoma

Similarly to glial tumours, studies of genomic copy number alterations analysing cohorts of paediatric and adult medulloblastomas are starting to emerge.

1. General Introduction

Historically, the most frequently and consistently genetic event reported in medulloblastoma is the partial or complete loss of the chromosome 17p, often in association with gain of chromosome 17q (resulting in the isochromosome 17q: i(17)q), occurring in approximately 30–50% of the medulloblastomas (133-139). Although the precise mechanism by which this genomic abnormality contributes to tumorigenesis and its prognostic importance remain unclear, the common deletion region of 17p13.2-13.3 includes several confirmed and putative tumour suppressor genes, including *TP53*, the loss of which could presumably facilitate neoplastic behaviour (45). Together with the deletion of 17p chromosomal region, *MYC* amplification is a molecular prognostic factor of medulloblastoma (22). Genomic amplifications of *MYCN* and *MYC* were described as characteristics of a subset of clinically aggressive medulloblastomas that tend to exhibit large cell/anaplastic histological features (140, 141). Additional alterations frequently fond in medulloblastomas are losses of chromosomes 1q and 10q present in approximately 20-40% of the cases (142-144).

Recently, Korshunov and colleagues (145) compared a large series of adult and paediatric subsets of tumours, using array-based comparative genomic hybridization (aCGH) (34 adult and 101 paediatric patients) and validating the results in an independent series (112 adult and 303 childhood patients) by fluorescent in situ hybridization (FISH) analysis. Despite frequencies of loss of 17p isolated or i(17)q formation were similar in both populations, isolated gains of 17q were significantly more frequent in children than adult patients, whereas monosomy of chromosome 17 was exclusively found in adults (Table 5) (145). Additionally, amplifications of MYC/MYCN prevailed in the paediatric cohort, whereas amplification of CDK6 (at 7q21.3), an alteration frequently present in adult medulloblastomas, was absent in paediatric samples (145). Of note is that both MYC/MYCN or CDK6 amplifications were associated with poor survival in paediatric and adult populations, respectively (145). Besides chromosome 17q, alterations on additional chromosome arms were shown to be significantly different between adult and paediatric medulloblastoma. Gains of chromosome 3q, 4 and 19 more frequently found in the adult tumours, while gains of chromosomes 1q, 2 and 7 and loss of 16q was more abundant in children (145). Frequency of chromosome 6 deletions was similar across adult and childhood medulloblastoma, however patterns of aberration were different, with complete

loss of the chromosome and absence of concomitant aberrations frequently more present in paediatric medulloblastoma (145). This may explain the reason why the prognostic value of chromosome 6 deletion, a well established marker for favourable outcome in medulloblastoma (146-148), was found not statistically significant for adult cases (145). A summary of the results from the validation cohort is presented on Table 5.

Paediatric Medulloblastoma Adult Medulloblastoma Ρ (n=303) (n=112) Region Gains < 0.001 1q 24% 9% 2 15% 6% 0.02 * 11% 3% 6q 7 33% 14% < 0.001 ** 17% 17q 2% Losses 6q 12% 15% ** 4% 4% 17p **Focal amplifications** CDK6 0.3% 8% < 0.001 MYC/MYCN 14% 3% < 0.001 **Other Alterations** ** i(17)q 39% 32%

Table 5 – Summary of copy number changes in Paediatric and Adult Medulloblastomas (validation set of adult tumours by FISH analysis). *Adapted from reference* (145).

* P = 0.02 for total Chromosome 6 aberrations; ** P < 0.001 for total Chromosome 17 aberrations

1.2.3 – Deregulated Molecular Pathways: Oncogenes and Tumour Suppressors

High-Grade Glioma

Comprehensive studies integrating copy number, gene expression, and mutation analyses reported that the retinoblastoma (RB), p53 and RTK/PI3K/MAPK pathways are

disrupted in adult and paediatric glioblastomas through various genetic mechanisms (92, 93).

The RB tumour suppressor pathway has been shown to be defective in a significant number of high-grade gliomas of both astrocytic and oligodendroglial lineage, either by inactivating mutations in *RB1* itself, amplification *CDK4* or *CDK6*, or deletion of the *CDKN2A* locus that encodes p16^{INK4A}, a positive regulator of RB (92, 93, 149-152). The study of primary adult glioblastomas showed that the overall frequency of genetic alterations in the RB signalling pathway was 78%, through p16^{INK4A} homozygous deletion or mutations (52%), p15^{INK4B} homozygous deletion (47%), p18^{INK4C} homozygous deletion (2%), *CDK4* amplification (18%), *CCND2* amplification (2%), *CDK6* amplification (1%), *RB1* mutation or homozygous deletion (11%) (92). Alterations of this pathway are also frequent (65%) in anaplastic oligodendrogliomas (152).

Inactivation of p53 pathway has also been found in subsets of adult glioblastomas, through amplification of the p53 negative regulators MDM2 and MDM4, inactivating mutations, deletions, and promoter methylation of $p14^{ARF}$, a positive regulator of p53 also encoded by the CDKN2A locus, together with mutations of TP53 itself (32, 92, 93, 153, 154). Also paediatric high-grade astrocytomas frequently present TP53 mutations, p53 protein overexpression and MDM2 overexpression (155, 156), these alterations being less frequent in younger children (<4 years) (157). The TCGA study of primary adult glioblastomas revealed that the overall frequency of genetic alterations in the p53 pathway in glioblastomas was 87%, through TP53 mutations or homozygous deletion (35%), MDM2 amplification (14%), MDM4 amplification (7%), or p14^{ARF} homozygous deletion or mutation (49%) (92). In previous studies, in addition to homozygous deletions, promoter methylation of p14^{ARF} was frequently found in glioblastomas (153). Additionally, more than 70% of secondary glioblastomas and approximately 50% of primary glioblastomas were described to harbour, at least, one alteration in the p53 pathway (84), with TP53 mutations found to be significantly more frequent in secondary than in primary glioblastomas (65% vs 28%) (32, 154). Approximately 50% of anaplastic oligodendrogliomas were reported to present alterations in the p53 pathway, mainly homozygous deletion or promoter methylation of the $p14^{ARF}$ gene (152).

The great majority of adult glioblastomas were found to present genetic alterations in the RTK/PI3K/MAPK pathway (92, 93). The involvement of RTKs in gliomagenesis has been repeatedly demonstrated. The presence of EGFR amplification and activating mutations together with protein expression has been widely associated mainly with primary glioblastomas, but also with other high-grade gliomas. EGFR amplification occurs in about 40% of adult primary glioblastomas, but rarely in secondary glioblastomas (32, 158, 159). EGFR amplification in adult primary glioblastomas is associated with protein overexpression and with deletion mutants, with EGFRvIII the most frequent type (160, 161). The EGFRvIII mutant lacks a portion of the extracellular ligand-binding domain as a result of a genomic deletion involving exons 2 to 7, leading to a mutant protein constitutively activated in a ligand-independent manner, and permanent activation of the PI3K/AKT pathway (162). About 50% of anaplastic oligodendrogliomas show EGFR overexpression, even if gene amplification is not frequent (163, 164). Besides EGFR, enhanced signalling through PDGFRA has been found to be a common feature of a significant subset of glioblastoma (165, 166). Although, in adult primary glioblastoma, activating mutations of PDGFRA are uncommon (167), with total gene aberrations reported in 13% of samples in TCGA (92), the frequent co-expression of both the receptor and its ligand indicates the potential for autocrine or paracrine loops boosting oncogenic signalling through the PDGF network (167). Similar findings regarding HGF and its RTK MET have also been reported for glioma (168), whereas KIT amplification is reported to be a common genetic mechanism underlying KIT expression in malignant gliomas (169). Therefore, enhanced RTK signalling seems to be an initial oncogenic event in the plurality of malignant gliomas, the effects of which are probably mediated in large part through oncogenic PI3K-AKT-mTOR and Ras-MAPK signalling downstream.

Underscoring this fact is the not infrequent deregulation in malignant gliomas of molecular components in these downstream networks (170, 171) the most common of which is functional loss of the tumour suppressor *PTEN*, the primary negative regulator of PI3K-AKT-mTOR signalling (40, 172). The *PTEN* gene is deleted and/or mutated in 15-40% of primary glioblastomas, but rarely altered in secondary glioblastomas (32, 92, 160, 173). In the context of core signalling pathways, Ras and AKT isoforms themselves are, respectively, mutated and amplified, in only 2% of adult glioblastomas (92), and *PIK3CA* mutations and

amplification are found in 5% and 13% of primary and secondary glioblastomas (174). Nevertheless, globally, components of the Ras-MAPK and PI3K-AKT-mTOR signalling pathways are affected in the great majority of analysed tumours (92) with about two-thirds (63%) of primary glioblastomas and one-third of secondary glioblastomas showing alterations in at least one of the *EGFR*, *PTEN*, or *PIK3CA* genes (174). Additional genetic alterations in this pathway are *NF1* mutations/homozygous deletions and *PIK3R1* mutations, present in 18% and 10% of primary glioblastomas, respectively, with an overall frequency of RTK/PI3K/MAPK pathway alterations of 88% in these tumours (92).

Specific genetic alterations underlying paediatric high-grade gliomas were defined primarily by directed analyses of genes that are mutated more commonly in adult tumours. Mutations in TP53, CDKN2A, and PIK3CA are frequent in both adult and paediatric highgrade gliomas (175-177). However, PTEN mutations and CDK4 amplifications, which are frequent in adult primary glioblastoma, are less common in primary paediatric high-grade gliomas (176, 178, 179). Up to 85% of paediatric high-grade gliomas present overexpression of EGFR, however even in the presence of overexpressed protein, EGFR amplification and EGFRvIII mutation, aberrations commonly present in adult glioblastomas are rarely found in paediatric tumours (155, 180, 181). Considering the copy number data, there is a significantly lower frequency of pathway deregulation in paediatric high-grade gliomas, compared with that reported in adults: 25% RTK/PI3K, 19% p53 and 22% RB versus 59%, 70% and 66%, for adult glioblastoma (92, 95) (Figure 4). It is apparent that paediatric tumours show targeting of these core pathways by copy number alterations in less than half the frequency of the adult tumours. Even though isolated cases presented clear genomic events linked to activation of the sonic hedgehog (SHH) and Notch pathways activation, there are no evidences of consistently targeted pathways in paediatric high-grade gliomas.

As previously discussed, concomitant temozolomide and radiotherapy is the first-line adjuvant therapy for glioblastoma (182, 183). The improved survival benefits of temozolomide in glioblastoma are largely restricted to the subset of patients lacking expression of the DNA repair gene, *MGMT* (184). Temozolomide induces cytotoxic O6-guanine methyl adducts which are removed directly by functional MGMT, thereby producing drug resistance. Downregulation of *MGMT* usually occurs in approximately 40-57% glioblastomas by gene promoter hypermethylation, in which greater than 50%



Figure 4 – Copy number alterations in core signalling Pathways in Adult and Paediatric Glioblastoma. RTK/PI3K/MAPK, p53 and RB pathways are more frequently deregulated in adult than in paediatric glioblastomas. *Adapted from references* (92, 95).

methylation has been shown to silence gene expression (184-186). Importantly, besides being associated with response to chemotherapy, *MGMT* hypermethylation has been connected with improved outcome for adult patients with glioblastoma receiving temozolomide (184, 187, 188). In the paediatric setting, *MGMT* promoter hypermethylation also predicts for response to alkylating agents (189); however, the survival of children treated with adjuvant temozolomide does not appear to be improved when compared with historical controls (35-39).

Medulloblastoma



Figure 5 - Molecular Pathways Implicated in the Pathogenesis of Medulloblastoma. *Adapted from reference* (45). The binding of SHH to its receptor PTCH1 releases inhibition of SMO, releasing the Gli transcription factors from inhibitory protein complexes that typically include SuFu.

Wnt ligand binds to its receptor FZD leading to the release of its downstream effector β -catenin from an inhibitory complex that includes the APC, GSK3 β and axin proteins, entering in the nucleous.

Numerous investigations have reported that components of the SHH and Wnt signalling cascades are disrupted in medulloblastomas through various genetic mechanisms (Figure 5) (190).

Genomic alterations in components of th SHH signalling pathway, specifically inactivating mutations of *PTCH1* and *SUFU* and/or activating mutations of *SMO*, have been found in approximately 15% of sporadic medulloblastomas (191-194). Additionally, allelic losses of 9q, where the *PTCH1* gene is located, have also been described in 10-18% of

medulloblastoma cases (195, 196). Overall, the SHH pathway is thought to harbour molecular alterations and play a role in the development of at least 25% of sporadic medulloblastomas (197, 198). SHH signalling is known to induce proliferation in the granule neuron precursors of the cerebellum, therefore the dysregulation of the pathway due to genomic alterations of its components probably drives medulloblastoma development through analogous downstream effects (199).

Likewise, the deregulation of the Wnt pathway has been connected to the development of medulloblastoma. Approximately 20% of sporadic medulloblastomas harbour mutations in *APC*, *AXIN1*, *AXIN2* or *CTNNB1* (β -catenin gene) (200-204), and a similarly sized fraction (18%) has separately been shown to exhibit nuclear β -catenin expression (205). However, when comparing paediatric and adult cohorts, it was found that *CTNNB1* mutations were more frequent in paediatric medulloblastomas, associated with monosomy of chromosome 6. Finally, medulloblastomas that are driven by increased Wnt signalling, as shown by nuclear β -catenin staining, may follow a relatively favourable clinical course (206). Overall, molecular disruption of this pathway is thought occur in approximately 13% of sporadic medulloblastomas (207).

Global transcriptional analyses of medulloblastoma have both emphasized and better conceptualized the molecular heterogeneity inherent to this cancer type. Initial efforts in this regard demonstrated gene expression patterns in medulloblastoma were distinct from other CNS tumours with similar histological features (208). Furthermore, transcriptional profiles were found to be predictive of clinical outcome (208, 209).

Different studies were able to classify medulloblastomas into distinct molecular subtypes (210, 211). The latest of these studies allowed the stratification of medulloblastomas into four distinct molecular sub-groups based on gene expression profiles and copy number data: WNT, SHH, Group C and Group D (211) (Figure 6A). Known targets of the Wnt pathway (*WIF1*, *DKK1* and *DKK2*) and Shh pathway (*HHIP*, *SFRP1* and *MYCN*) presented clear differential expression in their respective subgroups. Both group C and D tumours highly expressed the *OTX2* and *FOXG1B* oncogenes. Group C and WNT tumours presented high levels of *MYC* expression, while the SHH expressed *MYCN*, making group D, the only group without high levels of *MYC* family expression (Figure 6A).

Immunohistochemistry analysis of few highly expressed, sub-group specific, signature molecules (β -catenin and DKK1 for WNT; GLI1 and SFRP1 for SHH; NPR3 for Group C and KCNA1 for Group D) allowed the distinction of the four groups by this currently used technique of molecular diagnosis. SHH-driven tumours are most common in infants (\leq 3 y) and adults (\geq 16 y). Group C tumours peak in the childhood (between 3 and 10 y), and are largely absent in older patients. Group D and WNT tumours present a more distributed age, ranging from infancy to adulthood (Figure 6).



Figure 6 – A) Unsupervised hierarchical clustering from 103 primary medulloblastoma. Age groups include infants (< 3 years; blue), children (4 to 15 years; green), adults (> 16 years; red), and unknown (black). Sex includes males (blue) and females (pink). Histology includes classic (white), desmoplastic (gray), large-cell/anaplastic (orange), medulloblastoma with extensive nodularity (brown), and unknown (black). (*) *P* value determined by comparing sex prevalence in WNT/SHH versus group C/D tumours. (**) *P* value corresponds to over-representation of desmoplastic tumours in the SHH subgroup. Expression profiles for 10 genes well characterized in medulloblastoma, demonstrating their differential expression among the four subgroups in addition to common genomic aberrations known to occur in medulloblastoma are represented. Blue boxes indicate loss/deletion, red boxes indicate gain/amplification, and white boxes denote balanced copy number state for the specified genomic aberration. **B) Age at diagnosis distribution for each of the four medulloblastoma subgroups.** *Adapted from reference* (211).

1.2.4 – Microsatellite Instability (MSI)

Microsatellites are short DNA sequence repeats that are scattered throughout the human genome (212), and whose copy number varies steadily through evolution (213). Microsatellite instability (MSI) is the expansion or retraction of the number of repeats within the microsatellites and it is assumed to be generated by slippage of DNA polymerases during copying of repeats, representing a hot spot for mutagenesis (214-216).

The MMR system is the major pathway responsible for repairing base-base mispairs and short insertion/deletion loops that arise during DNA replication and as intermediates of homologous recombination (60, 217, 218). The need for such a mechanism derives from the fact that the fidelity of replicating DNA polymerases is insufficient to generate an error-free copy of genomic DNA. With single-base substitutions estimated to arise once in every 10⁴- 10^{6} nucleotides incorporated, MMR reduces the error rate to a range of 10^{-9} to 10^{-10} , which ensures that the human genome can be duplicated without mutations (217). Left unrepaired, these structures will give rise to base-substitution and frameshift mutations, respectively (60, 217, 218). Together with the understanding of the biochemical and structural aspects of MMR, the precise biological functions of the key factors of the human MMR system, the MutS homologues MSH2, MSH3 and MSH6, and the MutL homologues MLH1 and PMS2, have been elucidated (219-221). The roles of other proteins, such as MSH4, MSH5, PMS1 and MLH3, remain largely uncharacterized. MSH6 competes for binding to MSH2 with MSH3 (222). While MLH1 can form heterodimers with PMS2 (223), PMS1 (224) or MLH3 (225), MLH1/PMS2 is the only complex with an essential role in mismatch correction (60, 226).

It was discovered in 1993 that a causal link exists between inherited mutations in the *MMR* genes and the common colon cancer predisposition syndrome HNPCC (227, 228). Since then, hundreds of studies about the frequency and characterization of MSI-positive tumours in colorectal cancer and tumours of other organs have been published. Tumours with defects in *MLH1*, *MSH2* and *PMS2* generally present MSI, whereas defects in *MSH6* do not cause the same high frequency of MSI, probably due to the ability of cells to compensate for *MSH6* absence (222). In addition, it was found that also sporadic cancers could be MMR defective, mainly due to promoter hypermethylation of *MLH1* (229-231).

Due to the widespread presence of microsatellites in DNA, mutations are expected to accumulate in the genome of tumour cells due to MMR deficiency. Some of these alterations might contribute to tumorigenesis, reflecting whether the mutation is located in a coding sequence such that it causes a frameshift mutation in the respective protein product of the gene or in an intergenic non-regulatory region (232). Genes thought to harbour mutations in microsatellites due to the MSI phenotype are commonly designated MSI target genes. There are numerous MSI target genes described, however the relevance of several of them in cancer is not clear-cut (233, 234). Some of these genes such as *TGF* β *RII* and *BAX* are frequently mutated in MSI-positive colorectal cancer (235-237), while other genes like *IGFRII*, *TCF4* and *AXIN*, have been reported to be altered at lower frequencies (238-240). For the MSI target genes mutations to exert a maximal effect, both alleles should be affected, yet they are often found to be mono-allelic. This implies that inactivation of a single allele might result in the production of insufficient amounts of a particular gene product (haploid-insufficiency), which is sufficient to promote carcinogenesis (67).

MSI-positive colorectal cancer appears to be related to particular clinical and histopathological features distinct from their MSI-negative counterparts. Some examples include location in the proximal colon, poor differentiation of the tumours with mucinous and signet ring cells, high tumour lymphocyte infiltration, low frequency of distant metastasis, and a comparably good prognosis (241). It has been hypothesised that, in an advanced phase of transformation, the high frequency of mutations characteristic of these tumours might make tumour cells more immunogenic, since a conspicuous intraepithelial infiltration of T lymphocytes and nodular aggregates of B cells are usually detected in MSIpositive colorectal cancers (242). Therefore, a strong immune response against MMRdeficient cells might decrease their potential for invasiveness and metastasis, and possibly explain why MSI-positive colorectal cancers have a better prognosis (67, 243). Nevertheless, while MSI-positive tumours appear to have a better prognosis than other colorectal cancers, cells with MMR deficiency were found to be resistant to certain drugs currently used in the treatment these cancers, such as 5- fluorouracil, although the evidence is somewhat contradictory in this topic (244-246). On the other hand, MSI-positive colorectal cancers are tolerant to certain drugs, in particular alkylating agents and cisplatin (247).

Due to the particular clinical characteristics and the differential response of MSIpositive colorectal cancer to therapeutic agents, MSI screening of this malignancy is of ultimate interest, and guidelines for HNPCC and MSI diagnosis have been standardized (248). Tumours should be analysed using standard panels of five microsatellite markers, and considering the number of markers presenting alterations cancers would be classified as MSI-negative or (microsatellite stable (MSS)) or MSI-positive, that are further divided into MSI-high or MSI-Low, according to the number of markers (microsatellites) altered (248).

An alternative classification of MSI relies on the size of the gains or losses within the microsatellites, rather than the number of markers with alterations. In this classification, samples presenting small length allelic shifts (\leq 6 bp) are considered Type A, whilst those presenting more drastic alterations are described as Type B MSI, as reported for colorectal cancers (249).

The presence and frequency of MSI in brain tumours is a controversial and poorly studied issue. Previous studies have evaluated the presence of MSI in brain tumours, particularly in gliomas, while in medulloblastomas MSI status has not been properly addressed. Literature has reported absence or rare incidence of MSI in adult patients, while in children results were contradictory, with reported frequencies in paediatric gliomas varying between 0 and 44% (250-260). Moreover, in contrast to colorectal cancer, which presents Type B MSI, high-grade gliomas have been described as harbouring Type A MSI (261). This appears to be a consistent difference in MSI reported in brain tumours compared with the classic MSI positive epithelial tumours such as colorectal and gastric carcinomas.

1.3 – References

- Jemal A, Siegel R, Ward E, Hao YP, Xu JQ, Thun MJ. Cancer Statistics, 2009. Ca-A Cancer Journal for Clinicians 2009 Jul;59(4):225-49.
- (2) Ferlay J, Shin HR, Bray F, Forman D, Mathers C, Parkin DM. GLOBOCAN 2008. Cancer Incidence and Mortality Worldwide: IARC Cancer Base [Internet] ed. Lyon: International Agency of Cancer; 2008.

- (3) CBTRUS. Statistical Report: Primary Brain Tumors in the United States, 1998-2002.Central Brain Tumor Registry of the United States.; 2005.
- (4) Eiser C, Absolom K, Greenfield D, Snowden J, Coleman R, Hancock B, et al. Follow-up care for young adult survivors of cancer: lessons from pediatrics. J Cancer Surviv 2007 Mar;1(1):75-86.
- (5) Burnet NG, Jefferies SJ, Benson RJ, Hunt DP, Treasure FP. Years of life lost (YLL) from cancer is an important measure of population burden--and should be considered when allocating research funds. Br J Cancer 2005 Jan 31;92(2):241-5.
- (6) Hoppe-Hirsch E, Renier D, Lellouch Tubiana A, Sainte Rose C, Pierre Kahn A, Hirsch JF. Medulloblastoma in childhood: progressive intellectual deterioration. Childs Nerv Syst 1990 Mar;6(2):60-5.
- (7) Silber JH, Radcliffe J, Peckham V, Perilongo G, Kishnani P, Fridman M, et al. Wholebrain irradiation and decline in intelligence: the influence of dose and age on IQ score. J Clin Oncol 1992 Sep;10(9):1390-6.
- (8) Mulhern RK, Merchant TE, Gajjar A, Reddick WE, Kun LE. Late neurocognitive sequelae in survivors of brain tumours in childhood. Lancet Oncol 2004 Jul;5(7):399-408.
- (9) Laughton SJ, Merchant TE, Sklar CA, Kun LE, Fouladi M, Broniscer A, et al. Endocrine outcomes for children with embryonal brain tumors after risk-adapted craniospinal and conformal primary-site irradiation and high-dose chemotherapy with stem-cell rescue on the SJMB-96 trial. J Clin Oncol 2008 Mar 1;26(7):1112-8.
- (10) Wrensch M, Fisher JL, Schwartzbaum JA, Bondy M, Berger M, Aldape KD. The molecular epidemiology of gliomas in adults. Neurosurg Focus 2005 Nov 15;19(5):E5.

- (11) Rickert CH, Paulus W. Epidemiology of central nervous system tumors in childhood and adolescence based on the new WHO classification. Childs Nerv Syst 2001 Sep;17(9):503-11.
- (12) Louis DN, Ohgaki H, Wiestler OD, Cavenee WK, editors. WHO Classification of Tumours of the Central Nervous System. 4th ed. Lyon: IARC; 2007.
- (13) Brain and central nervous system tumours UK incidence statistics: CRUK [Internet].Cancer Research UK; 2007.
- Maity A, Pruitt AA, Judy KD, Phillips PC. Cancer of the Central Nervous System. In: Abeloff MD, Armitage JO, Niederhuber JE, Kastan MB, McKenzie WG, editors. Abeloff's Clinical Oncology. 3rd ed. Philadelphia: Elsevier Churchill Livingstone; 2004. p. 1357-62.
- (15) Gottardo NG, Gajjar A. Chemotherapy for Malignant Brain Tumors of Childhood. J Child Neurol 2008 Oct;23(10):1149-59.
- (16) Ohgaki H, Kleihues P. Epidemiology and etiology of gliomas. Acta Neuropathol (Berl) 2005 Jan;109(1):93-108.
- (17) Bondy ML, Scheurer ME, Malmer B, Barnholtz-Sloan JS, Davis FG, Il'Yasova D, et al. Brain tumor epidemiology: Consensus from the Brain Tumor Epidemiology Consortium. Cancer 2008 Oct 1;113(7):1953-68.
- (18) Pettorini BL, Park YS, Caldarelli M, Massimi L, Tamburrini G, Di Rocco C. Radiationinduced brain tumours after central nervous system irradiation in childhood: a review. Childs Nerv Syst 2008 Jul;24(7):793-805.
- Baldwin RT, Preston-Martin S. Epidemiology of brain tumors in childhood a review.
 Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 2004 Sep 1;199(2):118-31.

- (20) Alomar SA. Clinical manifestation of central nervous system tumor. Semin Diagn Pathol 2010 May;27(2):97-104.
- (21) Broniscer A, Gajjar A. Supratentorial high-grade astrocytoma and diffuse brainstem glioma: two challenges for the pediatric oncologist. Oncologist 2004;9(2):197-206.
- (22) Imbach P. Brain Tumours. In: Imbach P, Kuhne T, Arceci R, editors. Pediatric Oncology: A Comprehensive Guide.Berlin: Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg; 2006. p. 95-117.
- (23) Weingart JD, McGirt MJ, Brem H. High-Grade Astrocytoma/Glioblastoma. In: Tonn JC, Westphal M, Rutka JT, Grossman SA, editors. Neuro-Oncology of CNS Tumors.Berlin: Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg; 2006. p. 128-38.
- (24) Nolte J, Sundsten JW, editors. The Human Brain. An introduction to its functional anatomy. 5th ed. St. Louis: Mosby Inc.; 2002.
- (25) Fomchenko EI, Holland EC. Stem cells and brain cancer. Exp Cell Res 2005 Jun 10;306(2):323-9.
- (26) Singh SK, Clarke ID, Hide T, Dirks PB. Cancer stem cells in nervous system tumors. Oncogene 2004 Sep 20;23(43):7267-73.
- (27) Hargrave D. Paediatric high and low grade glioma: the impact of tumour biology on current and future therapy. Br J Neurosurg 2009 Aug;23(4):351-63.
- (28) Stewart ES, Cohen DG. Central nervous system tumors in children. Semin Oncol Nurs 1998 Feb;14(1):34-42.
- (29) Davis FG, Freels S, Grutsch J, Barlas S, Brem S. Survival rates in patients with primary malignant brain tumors stratified by patient age and tumor histological type: an analysis based on Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) data, 1973-1991. J Neurosurg 1998 Jan;88(1):1-10.

- (30) Reifenberger G, Blumcke I, Pietsch T, Paulus W. Pathology Classification of Tumors of the Nervous System. In: Tonn JC, Westphal M, Rutka JT, Grossman SA, editors. Neuro-Oncology of CNS Tumors.Berlin: Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg; 2006. p. 5-72.
- (31) Broniscer A, Baker SJ, West AN, Fraser MM, Proko E, Kocak M, et al. Clinical and molecular characteristics of malignant transformation of low-grade glioma in children. J Clin Oncol 2007 Feb 20;25(6):682-9.
- (32) Ohgaki H, Dessen P, Jourde B, Horstmann S, Nishikawa T, Di Patre PL, et al. Genetic pathways to glioblastoma: a population-based study. Cancer Res 2004 Oct 1;64(19):6892-9.
- (33) Lamborn KR, Chang SM, Prados MD. Prognostic factors for survival of patients with glioblastoma: Recursive partitioning analysis. Neuro Oncol 2004 Jul;6(3):227-35.
- (34) Stupp R, Mason WP, van den Bent MJ, Weller M, Fisher B, Taphoorn MJ, et al. Radiotherapy plus concomitant and adjuvant temozolomide for glioblastoma. N Engl J Med 2005 Mar 10;352(10):987-96.
- (35) Broniscer A, Chintagumpala M, Fouladi M, Krasin MJ, Kocak M, Bowers DC, et al. Temozolomide after radiotherapy for newly diagnosed high-grade glioma and unfavorable low-grade glioma in children. J Neurooncol 2006 Feb;76(3):313-9.
- (36) Nicholson HS, Kretschmar CS, Krailo M, Bernstein M, Kadota R, Fort D, et al. Phase 2 study of temozolomide in children and adolescents with recurrent central nervous system tumors: a report from the Children's Oncology Group. Cancer 2007 Oct 1;110(7):1542-50.
- (37) Ruggiero A, Cefalo G, Garre ML, Massimino M, Colosimo C, Attina G, et al. Phase II trial of temozolomide in children with recurrent high-grade glioma. J Neurooncol 2006 Mar;77(1):89-94.

- (38) Hargrave DR, Zacharoulis S. Pediatric CNS tumors: current treatment and future directions. Expert Rev Neurother 2007 Aug;7(8):1029-42.
- (39) Lashford LS, Thiesse P, Jouvet A, Jaspan T, Couanet D, Griffiths PD, et al. Temozolomide in malignant gliomas of childhood: a United Kingdom Children's Cancer Study Group and French Society for Pediatric Oncology Intergroup Study. J Clin Oncol 2002 Dec 15;20(24):4684-91.
- (40) Cairncross JG, Ueki K, Zlatescu MC, Lisle DK, Finkelstein DM, Hammond RR, et al. Specific genetic predictors of chemotherapeutic response and survival in patients with anaplastic oligodendrogliomas. J Natl Cancer Inst 1998 Oct 7;90(19):1473-9.
- (41) Weller M. Oligodendroglioma. In: Tonn JC, Westphal M, Rutka JT, Grossman SA, editors. Neuro-Oncology of CNS Tumors.Berlin: Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg; 2006. p. 140-4.
- (42) Bromberg JEC, van den Bent MJ. Oligodendrogliomas: Molecular Biology and Treatment. Oncologist 2009 Feb;14(2):155-63.
- (43) van den Bent MJ, Reni M, Gatta G, Vecht C. Oligodendroglioma. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2008 Jun;66(3):262-72.
- (44) de Bont JM, Packer RJ, Michiels EM, den Boer ML, Pieters R. Biological background of pediatric medulloblastoma and ependymoma: A review from a translational research perspective. Neuro Oncol 2008 Dec;10(6):1040-60.
- (45) Huse JT, Holland EC. Targeting brain cancer: advances in the molecular pathology of malignant glioma and medulloblastoma. Nat Rev Cancer 2010 May;10(5):319-31.
- (46) Sarkar C, Deb P, Sharma MC. Recent advances in embryonal tumours of the central nervous system. Childs Nerv Syst 2005 Apr;21(4):272-93.
- (47) Taylor MD. Medulloblastoma. In: Tonn JC, Westphal M, Rutka JT, Grossman SA, editors. Neuro-Oncology of CNS Tumors.Berlin: Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg; 2006. p. 462-9.
- (48) Brandes AA, Franceschi E, Tosoni A, Reni M, Gatta G, Vecht C, et al. Adult neuroectodermal tumors of posterior fossa (medulloblastoma) and of supratentorial sites (stPNET). Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2009 Aug;71(2):165-79.
- (49) Gilbertson RJ, Ellison DW. The origins of medulloblastoma subtypes. Annu Rev Pathol 2008;3:341-65.
- (50) Frost PJ, Laperriere NJ, Wong CS, Milosevic MF, Simpson WJ, Pintilie M. Medulloblastoma in adults. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1995;32(4):951-7.
- (51) Carrie C, Lasset C, Alapetite C, Haie Meder C, Hoffstetter S, Demaille MC, et al. Multivariate analysis of prognostic factors in adult patients with medulloblastoma. Retrospective study of 156 patients. Cancer 1994;74:2352-60.
- (52) Dubuc AM, Northcott PA, Mack S, Witt H, Pfister S, Taylor MD. The Genetics of Pediatric Brain Tumors. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep 2010 May;10(3):215-23.
- (53) Keir ST, Guill AB, Carter KE, Friedman HS. Stress and intervention preferences of patients with brain tumors. Support Care Cancer 2006 Dec;14(12):1213-9.
- (54) Edvardsson T, Ahlstrom G. Illness-related problems and coping among persons with low-grade glioma. Psychooncology 2005 Sep;14(9):728-37.
- (55) Mainio A, Hakko H, Timonen M, Niemela A, Koivukangas J, Rasanen P. Depression in relation to survival among neurosurgical patients with a primary brain tumor: a 5year follow-up study. Neurosurgery 2005 Jun;56(6):1234-41.

- (56) Keir ST, Calhoun-Eagan RD, Swartz JJ, Saleh OA, Friedman HS. Screening for distress in patients with brain cancer using the NCCN's rapid screening measure. Psychooncology 2008 Jun;17(6):621-5.
- (57) Keir ST, Farland MM, Lipp ES, Friedman HS. Distress persists in long-term brain tumor survivors with glioblastoma multiforme. J Cancer Surviv 2008 Dec;2(4):269-74.
- (58) Crom DB, Lensing SY, Rai SN, Snider MA, Cash DK, Hudson MM. Marriage, employment, and health insurance in adult survivors of childhood cancer. J Cancer Surviv 2007;1:237-45.
- (59) Negrini S, Gorgoulis VG, Halazonetis TD. Genomic instability an evolving hallmark of cancer. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2010 Mar;11(3):220-8.
- (60) Nigg EA, editor. Genome Instability in Cancer Development. NY: Springer Science + Business Media; 2005.
- (61) Venkatesan RN, Loeb LA. The Multiplicity of Mutations in Human Cancers. In: Nigg EA, editor. Genome Instability in Cancer Development.New York: Springer Science + Business Media, Inc.; 2005. p. 3-17.
- (62) Ullrich NJ. Inherited Disorders As A Risk Factor and Predictor of Neurodevelopmental Outcome in Pediatric Cancer. Dev Disabil Res Rev 2008;14(3):229-37.
- (63) Hainaut P. The tumor suppressor protein p53: a receptor to genotoxic stress that controls cell growth and survival. Curr Opin Oncol 1995 Jan;7(1):76-82.
- (64) Bandipalliam P. Syndrome of early onset colon cancers, hematologic malignancies & features of neurofibromatosis in HNPCC families with homozygous mismatch repair gene mutations. Fam Cancer 2005;4(4):323-33.

- (65) Ostergaard JR, Sunde L, Okkels H. Neurofibromatosis von Recklinghausen type I phenotype and early onset of cancers in siblings compound heterozygous for mutations in MSH6. Am J Med Genet A 2005 Dec 1;139A(2):96-105.
- (66) Arnheim N, Shibata D. DNA mismatch repair in mammals: role in disease and meiosis. Curr Opin Genet Dev 1997 Jun;7(3):364-70.
- (67) Marra G, Jiricny J. DNA Mismatch Repair and Colon Cancer. In: Nigg EA, editor. Genome Instability in Cancer Development.New York: Springer Science + Business Media, Inc.; 2005. p. 85-123.
- (68) Aoki K, Taketo MM. Adenomatous polyposis coli (APC): a multi-functional tumor suppressor gene. J Cell Sci 2007 Oct 1;120(19):3327-35.
- (69) Scott RH, Mansour S, Pritchard-Jones K, Kumar D, MacSweeney F, Rahman N. Medulloblastoma, acute myelocytic leukemia and colonic carcinomas in a child with biallelic MSH6 mutations. Nat Clin Pract Oncol 2007 Feb;4(2):130-4.
- (70) Poley JW, Wagner A, Hoogmans MM, Menko FH, Tops C, Kros JM, et al. Biallelic germline mutations of mismatch-repair genes: a possible cause for multiple pediatric malignancies. Cancer 2007 Jun 1;109(11):2349-56.
- (71) Wang Q, Lasset C, Desseigne F, Frappaz D, Bergeron C, Navarro C, et al. Neurofibromatosis and early onset of cancers in hMLH1-deficient children. Cancer Res 1999 Jan 15;59(2):294-7.
- (72) Roy S, Raskin L, Raymond VA, Thibodeau SN, Mody RJ, Gruber SB. Pediatric Duodenal Cancer and Biallelic Mismatch Repair Gene Mutations. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2009 Jul 15;53(1):116-20.
- (73) Schwartzbaum JA, Fisher JL, Aldape KD, Wrensch M. Epidemiology and molecular pathology of glioma. Nat Clin Pract Neurol 2006 Sep;2(9):494-503.

- (74) Chakravarti A. It's raining SNPs, hallelujah? Nat Genet 1998 Jul;19(3):216-7.
- (75) Collins FS, Guyer MS, Chakravarti A. Variations on a theme: Cataloging human DNA sequence variation. Science 1997 Nov 28;278(5343):1580-1.
- (76) Kean-Cowdin R, Barnholtz-Sloan J, Inskip PD, Ruder AM, Butler M, Rajaraman P, et al. Associations between polymorphisms in DNA repair genes and glioblastoma. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2009 Apr;18(4):1118-26.
- (77) Kiuru A, Lindholm C, Heinavaara S, Ilus T, Jokinen P, Haapasalo H, et al. XRCC1 and XRCC3 variants and risk of glioma and meningioma. J Neurooncol 2008 Jun;88(2):135-42.
- (78) Liu Y, Scheurer ME, El-Zein R, Cao Y, Do KA, Gilbert M, et al. Association and interactions between DNA repair gene polymorphisms and adult glioma. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2009 Jan;18(1):204-14.
- (79) Wrensch M, Kelsey KT, Liu M, Miike R, Moghadassi M, Sison JD, et al. ERCC1 and ERCC2 polymorphisms and adult glioma. Neuro Oncol 2005 Oct;7(4):495-507.
- (80) Chen P, Wiencke J, Aldape K, Kesler-Diaz A, Miike R, Kelsey K, et al. Association of an ERCC1 polymorphism with adult-onset glioma. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2000 Aug;9(8):843-7.
- (81) Felini MJ, Olshan AF, Schroeder JC, North KE, Carozza SE, Kelsey KT, et al. DNA repair polymorphisms XRCC1 and MGMT and risk of adult gliomas. Neuroepidemiology 2007;29(1-2):55-8.
- (82) Wang LE, Bondy ML, Shen H, el Zein R, Aldape K, Cao Y, et al. Polymorphisms of DNA repair genes and risk of glioma. Cancer Res 2004 Aug 15;64(16):5560-3.
- (83) Bond GL, Hu W, Bond EE, Robins H, Lutzker SG, Arva NC, et al. A single nucleotide polymorphism in the MDM2 promoter attenuates the p53 tumor suppressor

pathway and accelerates tumor formation in humans. Cell 2004 Nov 24;119(5):591-602.

- (84) Zawlik I, Kita D, Vaccarella S, Mittelbronn M, Franceschi S, Ohgaki H. Common Polymorphisms in the MDM2 and TP53 Genes and the Relationship between TP53 Mutations and Patient Outcomes in Glioblastomas. Brain Pathol 2009 Apr;19(2):188-94.
- (85) Schwartzbaum J, Ahlbom A, Malmer B, Lonn S, Brookes AJ, Doss H, et al. Polymorphisms associated with asthma are inversely related to glioblastoma multiforme. Cancer Res 2005 Jul 15;65(14):6459-65.
- (86) Carpentier C, Laigle-Donadey F, Marie Y, Auger N, ouaich-Amiel A, Lejeune J, et al. Polymorphism in Sp1 recognition site of the EGF receptor gene promoter and risk of glioblastoma. Neurology 2006 Sep 12;67(5):872-4.
- (87) Bhowmick DA, Zhuang Z, Wait SD, Weil RJ. A functional polymorphism in the EGF gene is found with increased frequency in glioblastoma multiforme patients and is associated with more aggressive disease. Cancer Res 2004 Feb 15;64(4):1220-3.
- (88) Costa BM, Ferreira P, Costa S, Canedo P, Oliveira P, Silva A, et al. Association between Functional EGF+61 Polymorphism and Glioma Risk. Clin Cancer Res 2007 May 1;13(9):2621-6.
- (89) Liu Y, Shete S, Hosking F, Robertson L, Houlston R, Bondy M. Genetic advances in glioma: susceptibility genes and networks. Curr Opin Genet Dev 2010 Jun;20(3):239-44.
- (90) Shete S, Hosking FJ, Robertson LB, Dobbins SE, Sanson M, Malmer B, et al. Genomewide association study identifies five susceptibility loci for glioma. Nat Genet 2009 Aug;41(8):899-904.

- (91) Wrensch M, Jenkins RB, Chang JS, Yeh RF, Xiao Y, Decker PA, et al. Variants in the CDKN2B and RTEL1 regions are associated with high-grade glioma susceptibility. Nat Genet 2009 Aug;41(8):905-8.
- (92) Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network. Comprehensive genomic characterization defines human glioblastoma genes and core pathways. Nature 2008 Oct 23;455(7216):1061-8.
- (93) Parsons DW, Jones S, Zhang X, Lin JC, Leary RJ, Angenendt P, et al. An integrated genomic analysis of human glioblastoma multiforme. Science 2008 Sep 26;321(5897):1807-12.
- (94) Paugh BS, Qu C, Jones C, Liu Z, Adamowicz-Brice M, Zhang J, et al. Integrated molecular genetic profiling of pediatric high-grade gliomas reveals key differences with the adult disease. J Clin Oncol 2010;28(18):3061-8.
- (95) Bax DA, Mackay A, Little SE, Carvalho D, Viana-Pereira M, Tamber N, et al. A distinct spectrum of copy number aberrations in pediatric high grade gliomas. Clin Cancer Res 2010;16(13):3368-77.
- (96) Rao SK, Edwards J, Joshi AD, Siu IM, Riggins GJ. A survey of glioblastoma genomic amplifications and deletions. J Neurooncol 2010 Jan;96(2):169-79.
- (97) Gardina PJ, Lo KC, Lee W, Cowell JK, Turpaz Y. Ploidy status and copy number aberrations in primary glioblastomas defined by integrated analysis of allelic ratios, signal ratios and loss of heterozygosity using 500K SNP Mapping Arrays. Bmc Genomics 2008 Oct 17;9.
- (98) de Tayrac M, Etcheverry A, Aurbry M, Saikali S, Hamlat A, Quillien V, et al. Integrative Genome-Wide Analysis Reveals a Robust Genomic Glioblastoma Signature Associated with Copy Number Driving Changes in Gene Expression. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 2009 Jan;48(1):55-68.

- (99) Bredel M, Bredel C, Juric D, Harsh GR, Vogel H, Recht LD, et al. High-resolution genome-wide mapping of genetic alterations in human glial brain tumors. Cancer Res 2005 May 15;65(10):4088-96.
- (100) Kotliarov Y, Steed ME, Christopher N, Walling J, Su Q, Center A, et al. High-resolution global genomic survey of 178 gliomas reveals novel regions of copy number alteration and allelic imbalances. Cancer Res 2006 Oct 1;66(19):9428-36.
- (101) Maher EA, Brennan C, Wen PY, Durso L, Ligon KL, Richardson A, et al. Marked genomic differences characterize primary and secondary glioblastoma subtypes and identify two distinct molecular and clinical secondary glioblastoma entities. Cancer Res 2006 Dec 1;66(23):11502-13.
- (102) Nigro JM, Misra A, Zhang L, Smirnov I, Colman H, Griffin C, et al. Integrated arraycomparative genomic hybridization and expression array profiles identify clinically relevant molecular subtypes of glioblastoma. Cancer Res 2005 Mar 1;65(5):1678-86.
- (103) Wong KK, Tsang YTM, Chang YM, Su J, Di Franeesco AM, Meco D, et al. Genomewide allelic imbalance analysis of pediatric gliomas by single nucleotide polymorphic allele array. Cancer Res 2006 Dec 1;66(23):11172-8.
- (104) Rickert CH, Strater R, Kaatsch P, Wassmann H, Jurgens H, Dockhorn-Dworniczak B, et al. Pediatric high-grade astrocytomas show chromosomal imbalances distinct from adult cases. Am J Pathol 2001 Apr;158(4):1525-32.
- (105) Furnari FB, Fenton T, Bachoo RM, Mukasa A, Stommel JM, Stegh A, et al. Malignant astrocytic glioma: genetics, biology, and paths to treatment. Genes Dev 2007 Nov 1;21(21):2683-710.
- (106) Bigner SH, Matthews MR, Rasheed BK, Wiltshire RN, Friedman HS, Friedman AH, et al. Molecular genetic aspects of oligodendrogliomas including analysis by comparative genomic hybridization. Am J Pathol 1999 Aug;155(2):375-86.

- (107) Qu HQ, Jacob K, Fatet S, Ge B, Barnett D, Delattre O, et al. Genome-wide profiling using single-nucleotide polymorphism arrays identifies novel chromosomal imbalances in pediatric glioblastomas. Neuro Oncol 2010 Feb;12(2):153-63.
- (108) Schiffman JD, Hodgson JG, VandenBerg SR, Flaherty P, Polley MY, Yu M, et al. Oncogenic BRAF mutation with CDKN2A inactivation is characteristic of a subset of pediatric malignant astrocytomas. Cancer Res 2010 Jan 15;70(2):512-9.
- (109) Zarghooni M, Bartels U, Lee E, Buczkowicz P, Morrison A, Huang A, et al. Wholegenome profiling of pediatric diffuse intrinsic pontine gliomas highlights plateletderived growth factor receptor alpha and poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase as potential therapeutic targets. J Clin Oncol 2010 Mar 10;28(8):1337-44.
- (110) Dehais C, Laigle-Donadey F, Marie Y, Kujas M, Lejeune J, ouaich-Amiel A, et al. Prognostic stratification of patients with anaplastic gliomas according to genetic profile. Cancer 2006 Oct 15;107(8):1891-7.
- (111) Fallon KB, Palmer CA, Roth KA, Nabors LB, Wang W, Carpenter M, et al. Prognostic value of 1p, 19q, 9p, 10q, and EGFR-FISH analyses in recurrent oligodendrogliomas. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 2004 Apr;63(4):314-22.
- (112) Idbaih A, Criniere E, Marie Y, Rousseau A, Mokhtari K, Kujas M, et al. Gene amplification is a poor prognostic factor in anaplastic oligodendrogliomas. Neuro Oncol 2008 Aug;10(4):540-7.
- (113) Idbaih A, Marie Y, Lucchesi C, Pierron G, Manie E, Raynal V, et al. BAC array CGH distinguishes mutually exclusive alterations that define clinicogenetic subtypes of gliomas. Int J Cancer 2008 Apr 15;122(8):1778-86.
- (114) Solomon DA, Kim JS, Cronin JC, Sibenaller Z, Ryken T, Rosenberg SA, et al. Mutational inactivation of PTPRD in glioblastoma multiforme and malignant melanoma. Cancer Res 2008 Dec 15;68(24):10300-6.

- (115) Veeriah S, Brennan C, Meng S, Singh B, Fagin JA, Solit DB, et al. The tyrosine phosphatase PTPRD is a tumor suppressor that is frequently inactivated and mutated in glioblastoma and other human cancers. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2009 Jun 9;106(23):9435-40.
- (116) Beroukhim R, Getz G, Nghiemphu L, Barretina J, Hsueh T, Linhart D, et al. Assessing the significance of chromosomal aberrations in cancer: methodology and application to glioma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2007 Dec 11;104(50):20007-12.
- (117) Narahara K, Kimura S, Kikkawa K, Takahashi Y, Wakita Y, Kasai R, et al. Probable assignment of soluble isocitrate dehydrogenase (IDH1) to 2q33.3. Hum Genet 1985;71(1):37-40.
- (118) Geisbrecht BV, Gould SJ. The human PICD gene encodes a cytoplasmic and peroxisomal NADP(+)-dependent isocitrate dehydrogenase. J Biol Chem 1999 Oct 22;274(43):30527-33.
- (119) Xu X, Zhao J, Xu Z, Peng B, Huang Q, Arnold E, et al. Structures of human cytosolic NADP-dependent isocitrate dehydrogenase reveal a novel self-regulatory mechanism of activity. J Biol Chem 2004 Aug 6;279(32):33946-57.
- (120) Lee SM, Koh HJ, Park DC, Song BJ, Huh TL, Park JW. Cytosolic NADP(+)-dependent isocitrate dehydrogenase status modulates oxidative damage to cells. Free Radic Biol Med 2002 Jun 1;32(11):1185-96.
- (121) Kim SY, Lee SM, Tak JK, Choi KS, Kwon TK, Park JW. Regulation of singlet oxygeninduced apoptosis by cytosolic NADP+-dependent isocitrate dehydrogenase. Mol Cell Biochem 2007 Aug;302(1-2):27-34.
- (122) Yan H, Parsons DW, Jin G, McLendon R, Rasheed BA, Yuan W, et al. IDH1 and IDH2 mutations in gliomas. N Engl J Med 2009 Feb 19;360(8):765-73.

- (123) Hartmann C, Meyer J, Balss J, Capper D, Mueller W, Christians A, et al. Type and frequency of IDH1 and IDH2 mutations are related to astrocytic and oligodendroglial differentiation and age: a study of 1,010 diffuse gliomas. Acta Neuropathol 2009 Oct;118(4):469-74.
- (124) Watanabe T, Nobusawa S, Kleihues P, Ohgaki H. IDH1 mutations are early events in the development of astrocytomas and oligodendrogliomas. Am J Pathol 2009 Apr;174(4):1149-53.
- (125) Ichimura K, Pearson DM, Kocialkowski S, Backlund LM, Chan R, Jones DT, et al. IDH1 mutations are present in the majority of common adult gliomas but rare in primary glioblastomas. Neuro Oncol 2009 Aug;11(4):341-7.
- (126) Sanson M, Marie Y, Paris S, Idbaih A, Laffaire J, Ducray F, et al. Isocitrate dehydrogenase 1 codon 132 mutation is an important prognostic biomarker in gliomas. J Clin Oncol 2009 Sep 1;27(25):4150-4.
- (127) Balss J, Meyer J, Mueller W, Korshunov A, Hartmann C, von DA. Analysis of the IDH1 codon 132 mutation in brain tumors. Acta Neuropathol 2008 Dec;116(6):597-602.
- (128) Pollack IF, Hamilton RL, Sobol RW, Nikiforova MN, Lyons-Weiler MA, Laframboise WA, et al. IDH1 mutations are common in malignant gliomas arising in adolescents: a report from the Children's Oncology Group. Childs Nerv Syst 2010 Aug 20; epub ahead of print.
- (129) Smith JS, Alderete B, Minn Y, Borell TJ, Perry A, Mohapatra G, et al. Localization of common deletion regions on 1p and 19q in human gliomas and their association with histological subtype. Oncogene 1999 Jul 15;18(28):4144-52.
- (130) Smith JS, Perry A, Borell TJ, Lee HK, O'Fallon J, Hosek SM, et al. Alterations of chromosome arms 1p and 19q as predictors of survival in oligodendrogliomas, astrocytomas, and mixed oligoastrocytomas. J Clin Oncol 2000 Feb;18(3):636-45.

- (131) Kreiger PA, Okada Y, Simon S, Rorke LB, Louis DN, Golden JA. Losses of chromosomes
 1p and 19q are rare in pediatric oligodendrogliomas. Acta Neuropathol 2005
 Apr;109(4):387-92.
- (132) Pollack IF, Finkelstein SD, Burnham J, Hamilton RL, Yates AJ, Holmes EJ, et al. Association between chromosome 1p and 19q loss and outcome in pediatric malignant gliomas: results from the CCG-945 cohort. Pediatr Neurosurg 2003 Sep;39(3):114-21.
- (133) Biegel JA, Janss AJ, Raffel C, Sutton L, Rorke LB, Harper JM, et al. Prognostic significance of chromosome 17p deletions in childhood primitive neuroectodermal tumors (medulloblastomas) of the central nervous system. Clin Cancer Res 1997 Mar;3(3):473-8.
- (134) Bigner SH, Mark J, Friedman HS, Biegel JA, Bigner DD. Structural chromosomal abnormalities in human medulloblastoma. Cancer Genet Cytogenet 1988 Jan;30(1):91-101.
- (135) Cogen PH, McDonald JD. Tumor suppressor genes and medulloblastoma. J Neurooncol 1996 Jul;29(1):103-12.
- (136) Lamont JM, McManamy CS, Pearson AD, Clifford SC, Ellison DW. Combined histopathological and molecular cytogenetic stratification of medulloblastoma patients. Clin Cancer Res 2004 Aug 15;10(16):5482-93.
- (137) Nicholson J, Wickramasinghe C, Ross F, Crolla J, Ellison D. Imbalances of chromosome 17 in medulloblastomas determined by comparative genomic hybridisation and fluorescence in situ hybridisation. Mol Pathol 2000 Dec;53(6):313-9.
- (138) Steichen-Gersdorf E, Baumgartner M, Kreczy A, Maier H, Fink FM. Deletion mapping on chromosome 17p in medulloblastoma. Br J Cancer 1997;76(10):1284-7.

51

- (139) Vagner Capodano AM, Zattara Cannoni H, Gambarelli D, Gentet JC, Genitori L, Lena G, et al. Detection of i(17q) chromosome by fluorescent in situ hybridization (FISH) with interphase nuclei in medulloblastoma. Cancer Genet Cytogenet 1994 Nov;78(1):1-6.
- (140) Tomlinson FH, Jenkins RB, Scheithauer BW, Keelan PA, Ritland S, Parisi JE, et al. Aggressive medulloblastoma with high-level N-*myc* amplification. Mayo Clin Proc 1994 Apr;69(4):359-65.
- (141) Aldosari N, Bigner SH, Burger PC, Becker L, Kepner JL, Friedman HS, et al. MYCC and MYCN oncogene amplification in medulloblastoma. A fluorescence in situ hybridization study on paraffin sections from the Children's Oncology Group. Arch Pathol Lab Med 2002 May;126(5):540-4.
- (142) Blaeker H, Rasheed BK, McLendon RE, Friedman HS, Batra SK, Fuchs HE, et al. Microsatellite analysis of childhood brain tumors. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 1996;15(1):54-63.
- (143) Kraus JA, Koch A, Albrecht S, von Deimling A, Wiestler OD, Pietsch T. Loss of heterozygosity at locus F13B on chromosome 1q in human medulloblastoma. Int J Cancer 1996;67(1):11-5.
- (144) Reddy AT, Janss AJ, Phillips PC, Weiss HL, Packer RJ. Outcome for children with supratentorial primitive neuroectodermal tumors treated with surgery, radiation, and chemotherapy. Cancer 2000 May 1;88(9):2189-93.
- (145) Korshunov A, Remke M, Werft W, Benner A, Ryzhova M, Witt H, et al. Adult and pediatric medulloblastomas are genetically distinct and require different algorithms for molecular risk stratification. J Clin Oncol 2010 Jun 20;28(18):3054-60.
- (146) Pfister S, Remke M, Benner A, Mendrzyk F, Toedt G, Felsberg J, et al. Outcome prediction in pediatric medulloblastoma based on DNA copy-number aberrations of

chromosomes 6q and 17q and the MYC and MYCN loci. J Clin Oncol 2009 Apr 1;27(10):1627-36.

- (147) Thompson MC, Fuller C, Hogg TL, Dalton J, Finkelstein D, Lau CC, et al. Genomics identifies medulloblastoma subgroups that are enriched for specific genetic alterations. J Clin Oncol 2006 Apr 20;24(12):1924-31.
- (148) Clifford SC, Lusher ME, Lindsey JC, Langdon JA, Gilbertson RJ, Straughton D, et al. Wnt/Wingless pathway activation and chromosome 6 loss characterize a distinct molecular sub-group of medulloblastomas associated with a favorable prognosis. Cell Cycle 2006 Nov;5(22):2666-70.
- (149) Costello JF, Plass C, Arap W, Chapman VM, Held WA, Berger MS, et al. Cyclindependent kinase 6 (CDK6) amplification in human gliomas identified using twodimensional separation of genomic DNA. Cancer Res 1997 Apr 1;57(7):1250-4.
- (150) Henson JW, Schnitker BL, Correa KM, von Deimling A, Fassbender F, Xu HJ, et al. The retinoblastoma gene is involved in malignant progression of astrocytomas. Ann Neurol 1994 Nov;36(5):714-21.
- (151) Reifenberger G, Reifenberger J, Ichimura K, Meltzer PS, Collins VP. Amplification of multiple genes from chromosomal region 12q13-14 in human malignant gliomas: preliminary mapping of the amplicons shows preferential involvement of CDK4, SAS, and MDM2. Cancer Res 1994 Aug;54(16):4299-303.
- (152) Watanabe T, Yokoo H, Yokoo M, Yonekawa Y, Kleihues P, Ohgaki H. Concurrent inactivation of RB1 and TP53 pathways in anaplastic oligodendrogliomas. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 2001 Dec;60(12):1181-9.
- (153) Nakamura M, Watanabe T, Klangby U, Asker CE, Wiman KG, Yonekawa Y, et al. p14^{Art} deletion and methylation in genetic pathways to glioblastomas. Brain Pathol 2001 Apr;11(2):159-68.

- (154) Ohgaki H, Kleihues P. Population-based studies on incidence, survival rates, and genetic alterations in astrocytic and oligodendroglial gliomas. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 2005 Jun;64(6):479-89.
- (155) Sung T, Miller DC, Hayes RL, Alonso M, Yee H, Newcomb EW. Preferential inactivation of the p53 tumor suppressor pathway and lack of EGFR amplification distinguish *de novo* high grade pediatric astrocytomas from *de novo* adult astrocytomas. Brain Pathol 2000 Apr;10(2):249-59.
- (156) Pollack IF, Finkelstein SD, Woods J, Burnham J, Holmes EJ, Hamilton RL, et al. Expression of p53 and prognosis in children with malignant gliomas. N Engl J Med 2002 Feb 7;346(6):420-7.
- (157) Pollack IF, Finkelstein SD, Burnham J, Holmes EJ, Hamilton RL, Yates AJ, et al. Age and TP53 mutation frequency in childhood malignant gliomas: results in a multiinstitutional cohort. Cancer Res 2001 Oct 15;61(20):7404-7.
- (158) Watanabe K, Tachibana O, Sato K, Yonekawa Y, Kleihues P, Ohgaki H. Overexpression of the EGF receptor and *p53* mutations are mutually exclusive in the evolution of primary and secondary glioblastomas. Brain Pathol 1996 Jul;6(3):217-24.
- (159) Ekstrand AJ, Sugawa N, James CD, Collins VP. Amplified and rearranged epidermal growth factor receptor genes in human glioblastomas reveal deletions of sequences encoding portions of the N- and/or C-terminal tails. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1992 May 15;89(10):4309-13.
- (160) Tohma Y, Gratas C, Biernat W, Peraud A, Fukuda M, Yonekawa Y, et al. PTEN (MMAC1) mutations are frequent in primary glioblastomas (de novo) but not in secondary glioblastomas. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 1998 Jul;57(7):684-9.
- (161) Biernat W, Huang H, Yokoo H, Kleihues P, Ohgaki H. Predominant expression of mutant EGFR (EGFRvIII) is rare in primary glioblastomas. Brain Pathol 2004 Apr;14(2):131-6.

- (162) Huang HS, Nagane M, Klingbeil CK, Lin H, Nishikawa R, Ji XD, et al. The enhanced tumorigenic activity of a mutant epidermal growth factor receptor common in human cancers is mediated by threshold levels of constitutive tyrosine phosphorylation and unattenuated signaling. J Biol Chem 1997 Jan 31;272(5):2927-35.
- (163) Miquel C, Jacob S, Grandjouan S, Aime A, Viguier J, Sabourin JC, et al. Frequent alteration of DNA damage signalling and repair pathways in human colorectal cancers with microsatellite instability. Oncogene 2007 Aug 30;26(40):5919-26.
- (164) Reifenberger J, Reifenberger G, Ichimura K, Schmidt EE, Wechsler W, Collins VP. Epidermal growth factor receptor expression in oligodendroglial tumors. Am J Pathol 1996 Jul;149(1):29-35.
- (165) Di RF, Carroll RS, Zhang J, Black PM. Platelet-derived growth factor and its receptor expression in human oligodendrogliomas. Neurosurgery 1998 Feb;42(2):341-6.
- (166) Westermark B, Heldin CH, Nister M. Platelet-derived growth factor in human glioma.Glia 1995 Nov;15(3):257-63.
- (167) Martinho O, Longatto-Filho A, Lambros MB, Martins A, Pinheiro C, Silva A, et al. Expression, mutation and copy number analysis of platelet-derived growth factor receptor A (PDGFRA) and its ligand PDGFA in gliomas. Br J Cancer 2009 Sep 15;101(6):973-82.
- (168) Abounader R, Laterra J. Scatter factor/hepatocyte growth factor in brain tumor growth and angiogenesis. Neuro Oncol 2005 Oct;7(4):436-51.
- (169) Gomes AL, Reis-Filho JS, Lopes JM, Martinho O, Lambros MB, Martins A, et al. Molecular alterations of KIT oncogene in gliomas. Cell Oncol 2007;29(5):399-408.
- (170) Guha A, Feldkamp MM, Lau N, Boss G, Pawson A. Proliferation of human malignant astrocytomas is dependent on Ras activation. Oncogene 1997 Dec 4;15(23):2755-65.

- (171) Wang H, Wang H, Zhang W, Huang HJ, Liao WS, Fuller GN. Analysis of the activation status of Akt, NFkappaB, and Stat3 in human diffuse gliomas. Lab Invest 2004 Aug;84(8):941-51.
- (172) James CD, Carlbom E, Dumanski JP, Hausen M, Nordenskjold MD, Collins VP, et al. Clonal genomic alterations in glioma malignancy stages. Cancer Res 1988 Oct 1;48(19):5546-51.
- (173) Knobbe CB, Merlo A, Reifenberger G. Pten signaling in gliomas. Neuro Oncol 2002 Jul;4(3):196-211.
- (174) Kita D, Yonekawa Y, Weller M, Ohgaki H. PIK3CA alterations in primary (de novo) and secondary glioblastomas. Acta Neuropathol 2007 Mar;113(3):295-302.
- (175) Pollack IF, Finkelstein SD, Burnham J, Holmes EJ, Hamilton RL, Yates AJ, et al. Age and TP53 mutation frequency in childhood malignant gliomas: results in a multiinstitutional cohort. Cancer Res 2001 Oct 15;61(20):7404-7.
- (176) Newcomb EW, Alonso M, Sung T, Miller DC. Incidence of p14^{ARF} gene deletion in high-grade adult and pediatric astrocytomas. Hum Pathol 2000 Jan;31(1):115-9.
- (177) Gallia GL, Rand V, Siu IM, Eberhart CG, James CD, Marie SK, et al. PIK3CA gene mutations in pediatric and adult glioblastoma multiforme. Mol Cancer Res 2006 Oct;4(10):709-14.
- (178) Raffel C, Frederick L, O'Fallon JR, Atherton-Skaff P, Perry A, Jenkins RB, et al. Analysis of oncogene and tumor suppressor gene alterations in pediatric malignant astrocytomas reveals reduced survival for patients with PTEN mutations. Clin Cancer Res 1999 Dec;5(12):4085-90.
- (179) Pollack IF, Hamilton RL, James CD, Finkelstein SD, Burnham J, Yates AJ, et al. Rarity of PTEN deletions and EGFR amplification in malignant gliomas of childhood: results

from the Children's Cancer Group 945 cohort. J Neurosurg 2006 Nov;105(5 Suppl):418-24.

- (180) Bredel M, Pollack IF, Hamilton RL, James CD. Epidermal growth factor receptor expression and gene amplification in high-grade non-brainstem gliomas of childhood. Clin Cancer Res 1999 Jul;5(7):1786-92.
- (181) Liang ML, Ma J, Ho M, Solomon L, Bouffet E, Rutka JT, et al. Tyrosine kinase expression in pediatric high grade astrocytoma. J Neurooncol 2008 May;87(3):247-53.
- (182) Hunter C, Smith R, Cahill DP, Stephens P, Stevens C, Teague J, et al. A hypermutation phenotype and somatic MSH6 mutations in recurrent human malignant gliomas after alkylator chemotherapy. Cancer Res 2006 Apr 15;66(8):3987-91.
- (183) Stupp R, Hegi ME, Gilbert MR, Chakravarti A. Chemoradiotherapy in malignant glioma: standard of care and future directions. J Clin Oncol 2007 Sep 10;25(26):4127-36.
- (184) Hegi ME, Diserens AC, Gorlia T, Hamou MF, de TN, Weller M, et al. MGMT gene silencing and benefit from temozolomide in glioblastoma. N Engl J Med 2005 Mar 10;352(10):997-1003.
- (185) Zawlik I, Vaccarella S, Kita D, Mittelbronn M, Franceschi S, Ohgaki H. Promoter methylation and polymorphisms of the MGMT gene in glioblastomas: a population-based study. Neuroepidemiology 2009;32(1):21-9.
- (186) Esteller M, Garcia-Foncillas J, Andion E, Goodman SN, Hidalgo OF, Vanaclocha V, et al. Inactivation of the DNA-Repair Gene *MGMT* and the Clinical Response of Gliomas to Alkylating Agents. N Engl J Med 2000 Nov 9;343(19):1350-4.
- (187) Paz MF, Yaya-Tur R, Rojas-Marcos I, Reynes G, Pollan M, guirre-Cruz L, et al. CpG island hypermethylation of the DNA repair enzyme methyltransferase predicts

response to temozolomide in primary gliomas. Clin Cancer Res 2004 Aug 1;10(15):4933-8.

- (188) Criniere E, Kaloshi G, Laigle-Donadey F, Lejeune J, Auger N, ouaich-Amiel A, et al. MGMT prognostic impact on glioblastoma is dependent on therapeutic modalities. J Neurooncol 2007 Jun;83(2):173-9.
- (189) Pollack IF, Hamilton RL, Sobol RW, Burnham J, Yates AJ, Holmes EJ, et al. O6methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase expression strongly correlates with outcome in childhood malignant gliomas: results from the CCG-945 Cohort. J Clin Oncol 2006 Jul 20;24(21):3431-7.
- (190) Entz-Werle N, Carli ED, Ducassou S, Legrain M, Grill J, Dufour C. Medulloblastoma: what is the role of molecular genetics? Expert Rev Anticancer Ther 2008 Jul;8(7):1169-81.
- (191) Pietsch T, Waha A, Koch A, Kraus J, Albrecht S, Tonn J, et al. Medulloblastomas of the desmoplastic variant carry mutations of the human homologue of *Drosophila patched*. Cancer Res 1997 Jun 1;57(11):2085-8.
- (192) Raffel C, Jenkins RB, Frederick L, Hebrink D, Alderete BE, Fults DW, et al. Sporadic medulloblastomas contain *PTCH* mutations. Cancer Res 1997 Mr 1;57(5):842-5.
- (193) Reifenberger J, Wolter M, Weber RG, Megahed M, Ruzicka T, Lichter P, et al. Missense mutations in SMOH in sporadic basal cell carcinomas of the skin and primitive neuroectodermal tumors of the central nervous system. Cancer Res 1998 May 1;58(9):1798-803.
- (194) Taylor MD, Liu L, Raffel C, Hui CC, Mainprize TG, Zhang X, et al. Mutations in SUFU predispose to medulloblastoma. Nat Genet 2002 Jul;31(3):306-10.

- (195) Scheurlen WG, Schwabe GC, Joos S, Mollenhauer J, Sorensen N, Kuhl J. Molecular analysis of childhood primitive neuroectodermal tumors defines markers associated with poor outcome. J Clin Oncol 1998 Jul;16(7):2478-85.
- (196) Schofield D, West DC, Anthony DC, Marshal R, Sklar J. Correlation of loss of heterozygosity at chromosome 9q with histological subtype in medulloblastomas. Am J Pathol 1995 Feb;146(2):472-80.
- (197) Ellison D. Classifying the medulloblastoma: insights from morphology and molecular genetics. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol 2002 Aug;28(4):257-82.
- (198) Ellison DW, Clifford SC, Gajjar A, Gilbertson RJ. What's new in neuro-oncology? Recent advances in medulloblastoma. Eur J Paediatr Neurol 2003;7(2):53-66.
- (199) Pomeroy SL, Sturla LM. Molecular biology of medulloblastoma therapy. Pediatr Neurosurg 2003 Dec;39(6):299-304.
- (200) Baeza N, Masuoka J, Kleihues P, Ohgaki H. AXIN1 mutations but not deletions in cerebellar medulloblastomas. Oncogene 2003 Jan 30;22(4):632-6.
- (201) Huang H, Mahler-Araujo BM, Sankila A, Chimelli L, Yonekawa Y, Kleihues P, et al. APC mutations in sporadic medulloblastomas. Am J Pathol 2000 Feb;156(2):433-7.
- (202) Koch A, Hrychyk A, Hartmann W, Waha A, Mikeska T, Waha A, et al. Mutations of the Wnt antagonist AXIN2 (Conductin) result in TCF-dependent transcription in medulloblastomas. Int J Cancer 2007 Jul 15;121(2):284-91.
- (203) Koch A, Waha A, Tonn JC, Sorensen N, Berthold F, Wolter M, et al. Somatic mutations of WNT/wingless signaling pathway components in primitive neuroectodermal tumors. Int J Cancer 2001 Aug 1;93(3):445-9.
- (204) Zurawel RH, Chiappa SA, Allen C, Raffel C. Sporadic medulloblastomas contain oncogenic beta-catenin mutations. Cancer Res 1998 Mar 1;58(5):896-9.

59

- (205) Eberhart CG, Tihan T, Burger PC. Nuclear localization and mutation of beta-catenin in medulloblastomas. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 2000 Apr;59(4):333-7.
- (206) Ellison DW, Onilude OE, Lindsey JC, Lusher ME, Weston CL, Taylor RE, et al. beta-Catenin status predicts a favorable outcome in childhood medulloblastoma: the United Kingdom Children's Cancer Study Group Brain Tumour Committee. J Clin Oncol 2005 Nov 1;23(31):7951-7.
- (207) Giangaspero F, Bigner SH, Kleihues P, Pietsch T, Trojanowski JQ. Medulloblastoma. In: Kleihues P, Cavenee WK, editors. Pathology and Genetics of Tumours of the Nervous System.Lyon: IARC Press; 2000. p. 129-37.
- (208) Pomeroy SL, Tamayo P, Gaasenbeek M, Sturla LM, Angelo M, McLaughlin ME, et al. Prediction of central nervous system embryonal tumour outcome based on gene expression. Nature 2002 Jan 24;415(6870):436-42.
- (209) MacDonald TJ, Brown KM, LaFleur B, Peterson K, Lawlor C, Chen Y, et al. Expression profiling of medulloblastoma: PDGFRA and the RAS/MAPK pathway as therapeutic targets for metastatic disease. Nat Genet 2001 Oct;29(2):143-52.
- (210) Kool M, Koster J, Bunt J, Hasselt NE, Lakeman A, van SP, et al. Integrated genomics identifies five medulloblastoma subtypes with distinct genetic profiles, pathway signatures and clinicopathological features. PLoS One 2008 Aug 28;3(8):e3088.
- (211) Northcott PA, Korshunov A, Witt H, Hielscher T, Eberhart CG, Mack S, et al.
 Medulloblastoma Comprises Four Distinct Molecular Variants. J Clin Oncol 2010 Dec
 6; epub ahead of print.
- (212) Lander ES, Linton LM, Birren B, Nusbaum C, Zody MC, Baldwin J, et al. Initial sequencing and analysis of the human genome. Nature 2001 Feb 15;409(6822):860-921.

- (213) Ellegren H. Microsatellites: simple sequences with complex evolution. Nat Rev Genet 2004 Jun;5(6):435-45.
- (214) Aaltonen LA, Peltomaki P, Mecklin JP, Jarvinen H, Jass JR, Green JS, et al. Replication errors in benign and malignant tumors from hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer patients. Cancer Res 1994 Apr 1;54(7):1645-8.
- (215) Ionov Y, Peinado MA, Malkhosyan S, Shibata D, Perucho M. Ubiquitous Somatic Mutations in Simple Repeated Sequences Reveal A New Mechanism for Colonic Carcinogenesis. Nature 1993 Jun 10;363(6429):558-61.
- (216) Cahill DP, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B, Lengauer C. Genetic instability and darwinian selection in tumours. Trends Cell Biol 1999 Dec;9(12):M57-M60.
- (217) Kunkel TA, Bebenek K. DNA replication fidelity. Annu Rev Biochem 2000;69:497-529.
- (218) Arana ME, Kunkel TA. Mutator phenotypes due to DNA replication infidelity. Semin Cancer Biol 2010; 20(5):304-11.
- (219) Schofield MJ, Hsieh P. DNA mismatch repair: molecular mechanisms and biological function. Annu Rev Microbiol 2003;57:579-608.
- (220) Jiricny J. The multifaceted mismatch-repair system. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2006 May;7(5):335-46.
- (221) Li GM. Mechanisms and functions of DNA mismatch repair. Cell Res 2008 Jan;18(1):85-98.
- (222) Boland CR, Koi M, Chang DK, Carethers JM. The biochemical basis of microsatellite instability and abnormal immunohistochemistry and clinical behavior in Lynch syndrome: from bench to bedside. Fam Cancer 2008;7(1):41-52.

- (223) Li GM, Modrich P. Restoration of mismatch repair to nuclear extracts of H6 colorectal tumor cells by a heterodimer of human MutL homologs. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1995 Mar 14;92(6):1950-4.
- (224) Raschle M, Marra G, Nystrom-Lahti M, Schar P, Jiricny J. Identification of hMutLbeta, a heterodimer of hMLH1 and hPMS1. J Biol Chem 1999 Nov 5;274(45):32368-75.
- (225) Lipkin SM, Wang V, Jacoby R, Banerjee-Basu S, Baxevanis AD, Lynch HT, et al. MLH3:
 a DNA mismatch repair gene associated with mammalian microsatellite instability.
 Nat Genet 2000 Jan;24(1):27-35.
- (226) Shah SN, Hile SE, Eckert KA. Defective mismatch repair, microsatellite mutation bias, and variability in clinical cancer phenotypes. Cancer Res 2010 Jan 15;70(2):431-5.
- (227) Thibodeau SN, Bren G, Schaid D. Microsatellite instability in cancer of the proximal colon. Science 1993 May 7;260(5109):816-9.
- (228) Aaltonen LA, Peltomaki P, Leach FS, Sistonen P, Pylkkanen L, Mecklin JP, et al. Clues to the pathogenesis of familial colorectal cancer. Science 1993 May 7;260(5109):812-6.
- (229) Kane MF, Loda M, Gaida GM, Lipman J, Mishra R, Goldman H, et al. Methylation of the hMLH1 promoter correlates with lack of expression of hMLH1 in sporadic colon tumors and mismatch repair-defective human tumor cell lines. Cancer Res 1997 Mar 1;57(5):808-11.
- (230) Simpkins SB, Bocker T, Swisher EM, Mutch DG, Gersell DJ, Kovatich AJ, et al. MLH1 promoter methylation and gene silencing is the primary cause of microsatellite instability in sporadic endometrial cancers. Hum Mol Genet 1999 Apr;8(4):661-6.
- (231) Veigl ML, Kasturi L, Olechnowicz J, Ma AH, Lutterbaugh JD, Periyasamy S, et al. Biallelic inactivation of *hMLH1* by epigenetic gene silencing, a novel mechanism causing human MSI cancers. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998 Jul 21;95(15):8698-702.

- (232) Duval A, Hamelin R. Genetic instability in human mismatch repair deficient cancers.Ann Genet 2002 Apr;45(2):71-5.
- (233) Mori Y, Yin J, Rashid A, Leggett BA, Young J, Simms L, et al. Instabilotyping: comprehensive identification of frameshift mutations caused by coding region microsatellite instability. Cancer Res 2001 Aug 15;61(16):6046-9.
- (234) Woerner SM, Benner A, Sutter C, Schiller M, Yuan YP, Keller G, et al. Pathogenesis of DNA repair-deficient cancers: a statistical meta-analysis of putative Real Common Target genes. Oncogene 2003 Apr 17;22(15):2226-35.
- (235) Markowitz S, Wang J, Myeroff L, Parsons R, Sun L, Lutterbaugh J, et al. Inactivation of the type II TGF-á receptor in colon cancer cells with microsatellite instability. Science 1995 Jun 2;268(5215):1336-8.
- (236) Wang J, Sun L, Myeroff L, Wang X, Gentry LE, Yang J, et al. Demonstration that mutation of the type II transforming growth factor beta receptor inactivates its tumor suppressor activity in replication error-positive colon carcinoma cells. J Biol Chem 1995 Sep 15;270(37):22044-9.
- (237) Rampino N, Yamamoto H, Ionov Y, Li Y, Sawai H, Reed JC, et al. Somatic frameshift mutations in the BAX gene in colon cancers of the microsatellite mutator phenotype. Science 1997 Feb 14;275(5302):967-9.
- (238) Souza RF, Wang S, Thakar M, Smolinski KN, Yin J, Zou TT, et al. Expression of the wild-type insulin-like growth factor II receptor gene suppresses growth and causes death in colorectal carcinoma cells. Oncogene 1999 Jul 15;18(28):4063-8.
- (239) Duval A, Gayet J, Zhou XP, Iacopetta B, Thomas G, Hamelin R. Frequent frameshift mutations of the TCF-4 gene in colorectal cancers with microsatellite instability. Cancer Res 1999 Sep 1;59(17):4213-5.

- (240) Liu W, Dong X, Mai M, Seelan RS, Taniguchi K, Krishnadath KK, et al. Mutations in AXIN2 cause colorectal cancer with defective mismatch repair by activating betacatenin/TCF signalling. Nat Genet 2000 Oct;26(2):146-7.
- (241) Young J, Simms LA, Biden KG, Wynter C, Whitehall V, Karamatic R, et al. Features of colorectal cancers with high-level microsatellite instability occurring in familial and sporadic settings: parallel pathways of tumorigenesis. Am J Pathol 2001 Dec;159(6):2107-16.
- (242) Jass JR. Pathology of hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2000 Jun;910:62-73.
- (243) Gryfe R, Kim H, Hsieh ET, Aronson MD, Holowaty EJ, Bull SB, et al. Tumor microsatellite instability and clinical outcome in young patients with colorectal cancer. N Engl J Med 2000 Jan 13;342(2):69-77.
- (244) Carethers JM, Chauhan DP, Fink D, Nebel S, Bresalier RS, Howell SB, et al. Mismatch repair proficiency and in vitro response to 5-fluorouracil. Gastroenterology 1999 Jul;117(1):123-31.
- (245) Carethers JM, Smith EJ, Behling CA, Nguyen L, Tajima A, Doctolero RT, et al. Use of 5fluorouracil and survival in patients with microsatellite-unstable colorectal cancer. Gastroenterology 2004 Feb;126(2):394-401.
- (246) Guastadisegni C, Colafranceschi M, Ottini L, Dogliotti E. Microsatellite instability as a marker of prognosis and response to therapy: a meta-analysis of colorectal cancer survival data. Eur J Cancer 2010 Oct;46(15):2788-98.
- (247) Stojic L, Brun R, Jiricny J. Mismatch repair and DNA damage signalling. DNA Repair (Amst) 2004 Aug;3(8-9):1091-101.

- (248) Umar A, Boland CR, Terdiman JP, Syngal S, De La Chapelle A, Ruschoff J, et al. Revised Bethesda Guidelines for hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer (Lynch syndrome) and microsatellite instability. J Natl Cancer Inst 2004 Feb 18;96(4):261-8.
- (249) Oda S, Maehara Y, Ikeda Y, Oki E, Egashira A, Okamura Y, et al. Two modes of microsatellite instability in human cancer: differential connection of defective DNA mismatch repair to dinucleotide repeat instability. Nucleic Acids Res 2005 Mar;33(5):1628-36.
- (250) Leung SY, Chan TL, Chung LP, Chan AS, Fan YW, Hung KN, et al. Microsatellite instability and mutation of DNA mismatch repair genes in gliomas. Am J Pathol 1998 Oct;153(4):1181-8.
- (251) Cheng Y, Ng HK, Zhang SF, Ding M, Pang JC, Zheng J, et al. Genetic alterations in pediatric high-grade astrocytomas. Hum Pathol 1999 Nov;30(11):1284-90.
- (252) Kanamori M, Kon H, Nobukuni T, Nomura S, Sugano K, Mashiyama S, et al. Microsatellite instability and the PTEN1 gene mutation in a subset of early onset gliomas carrying germline mutation or promoter methylation of the hMLH1 gene. Oncogene 2000 Mar 16;19(12):1564-71.
- (253) Martinez R, Schackert HK, Appelt H, Plaschke J, Baretton G, Schackert G. Low-level microsatellite instability phenotype in sporadic glioblastoma multiforme. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 2005 Feb;131(2):87-93.
- (254) Alonso M, Hamelin R, Kim M, Porwancher K, Sung T, Parhar P, et al. Microsatellite instability occurs in distinct subtypes of pediatric but not adult central nervous system tumors. Cancer Res 2001 Mar 1;61(5):2124-8.
- (255) Dams E, Van de Kelft EJ, Martin JJ, Verlooy J, Willems PJ. Instability of microsatellites in human gliomas. Cancer Res 1995;55(7):1547-9.

- (256) Amariglio N, Friedman E, Mor O, Stiebel H, Phelan C, Collins P, et al. Analysis of microsatellite repeats in pediatric brain tumors. Cancer Genet Cytogenet 1995 Oct 1;84(1):56-9.
- (257) Izumoto S, Arita N, Ohnishi T, Hiraga S, Taki T, Tomita N, et al. Microsatellite instability and mutated type II transforming growth factor-beta receptor gene in gliomas. Cancer Lett 1997 Jan 30;112(2):251-6.
- (258) Sobrido MJ, Pereira CR, Barros F, Forteza J, Carracedo A, Lema M. Low frequency of replication errors in primary nervous system tumours. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2000 Sep;69(3):369-75.
- (259) Eckert A, Kloor M, Giersch A, Ahmadi R, Herold-Mende C, Hampl JA, et al. Microsatellite instability in pediatric and adult high-grade gliomas. Brain Pathol 2007 Apr;17(2):146-50.
- (260) Vladimirova V, Denkhaus D, Soerensen N, Wagner S, Wolff JE, Pietsch T. Low level of microsatellite instability in paediatric malignant astrocytomas. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol 2007 Dec 5;34(5):547-54.
- (261) Giunti L, Cetica V, Ricci U, Giglio S, Sardi I, Paglierani M, et al. Type A microsatellite instability in pediatric gliomas as an indicator of Turcot syndrome. Eur J Hum Genet 2009 Jul;17(7):919-27.

2. Rationale and Aims

2. Rationale and Aims

General Aim

The general aim of this thesis was to contribute to the understanding of molecular mechanisms differentiating paediatric and adult brain tumours, with particular regard to the most common and malignant types, medulloblastoma and high-grade gliomas. The understanding of molecular alterations underlying the genesis and development of tumours is of major importance because it may allow a more reliable and objective classification of the malignancies and a selection of patients that will potentially respond to therapy. Accordingly, we intended to explore the role of receptor tyrosine kinase pathways and microsatellite instability in paediatric and adult high-grade gliomas and medulloblastomas, evaluating the presence of molecular signatures of response to existing drugs in order to identify the subsets of patients that would benefit most from different therapeutic modalities.

In view of this, the following **specific aims** were addressed:

 Characterize the presence and frequency of EGFR molecular alterations in adult and paediatric high-grade gliomas.

EGFR is known to play an important role in adult high-grade gliomas, being frequently amplified and overexpressed in these tumours. Mutation by deletion of exons 2 to 7, EGFRvIII, results in a constitutively activated molecule and is thought to confer enhanced tumorigenicity in glioma models. In the paediatric setting, the role of EGFR has been less explored and the data available is limited. Nevertheless, in childhood gliomas, the receptor is known to be frequently overexpressed. Due to the well-established importance of EGFR in the development of gliomas, we focused on the study of these tumours and to address this objective we performed two independent studies, respectively, of series of adult and paediatric high-grade gliomas. In the first study, we aimed to characterize EGFR overexpression, amplification and EGFRvIII mutation in a cohort of Portuguese adult high-grade glioma, correlating the presence of these molecular aberrations with the different histological types of tumours and survival of patients. To pursue this aim, we analysed by immunohistochemistry the expression of EGFR and the presence of the mutant EGFRvIII, and used chromogenic *in situ* hybridization (CISH) to evaluate gene amplification.

In the second study, we aimed to clarify the role of EGFR in paediatric highgrade gliomas and to assess the *in vitro* sensitivity of paediatric glioma cell line models to a selective EGFR inhibitor, erlotinib, that had shown activity in adult highgrade glioma patients. To achieve this aim, we used immunohistochemistry and CISH to evaluate expression and amplification of EGFR, RT-PCR to identify the presence of EGFRvIII and sequencing to study extracellular domain (exons 2 to 8) and tyrosine kinase domain (exons 18 to 21) mutations. We transduced glioblastoma cell lines with wild-type or mutant EGFRvIII, assessed the constitutive activation of the receptor through electrochemiluminescent immunoassay, and treated the cells with erlotinib, evaluating the effects on the expression of PI3K/MAPK pathways and on the cell cycle. Mechanisms of resistance of these cells to the inhibitor were addressed by studying up-regulation of additional phosphorylated receptor tyrosine kinases using phosphorylated RTK analysis. Based on the results, cells were submitted to combination treatment.

Microsatellite instability (MSI) in high-grade gliomas and medulloblastomas of adult and paediatric patients

The presence and frequency of MSI in brain tumours is a controversial issue, with literature providing conflicting results. More specifically, in paediatric gliomas the frequencies reported are highly heterogeneous, whereas the literature in medulloblastomas is extremely scarce. In two different studies we have attempted to clarify the presence, frequency and possible relevance of MSI as a potential novel molecular pathway in series of medulloblastoma or high-grade glioma, comparing paediatric and adult tumours.

To address this objective, firstly we used a series of adult and paediatric medulloblastoma and evaluated the presence of MSI using a panel of

quasimonomorphic markers, recommended by the revised Bethesda guidelines, by multiplex PCR and genotyping. Molecular status of the mismatch repair genes (MMR) was studied by methylation specific-MLPA and immunohistochemistry. Mutation profiles of MSI-target genes were also determined by multiplex PCR followed by genotyping. Mutations of *BRAF* and *CTNNB1* were analysed by PCR single-strand conformation polymorphism.

Secondly, high-grade gliomas from adult and paediatric patients were also analysed. In this study we used the abovementioned techniques to evaluate presence and frequency of MSI and mutation profiles of MSI-target genes. MMR protein expression was determined by immunohistochemistry and *MLH1* was screened for mutations and promoter methylation by direct sequencing and MS-PCR. Mutations in MSI target genes were explored by immunohistochemistry and functional studies were performed in a mutation with unknown relevance.

3. EGFR Molecular Alterations as Potential Therapeutic Targets for Gliomas in Adult and Paediatric Populations

The results presented throughout this chapter were:

(i) Published as original articles in international peer reviewed journals:

Sub-Chapter 3.1: <u>Marta Viana-Pereira</u>, José Manuel Lopes, Suzie Little, Fernanda Milanezi, Diana Basto, Fernando Pardal, Chris Jones, and Rui M. Reis. Analysis of EGFR Overexpression, *EGFR* Gene Amplification and the *EGFRvIII* Mutation in Portuguese High-Grade Gliomas. *Anti-Cancer Research* 28(2A): 913-20, 2008.

Sub-Chapter 3.2: Dorine A. Bax, Nathalie Gaspar, Suzanne E. Little, Lynley Marshall, Lara Perryman, Marie Regairaz, <u>Marta Viana-Pereira</u>, Raisa Vuononvirta, Swee Y. Sharp, Jorge S. Reis-Filho, João N. Stávale, Safa Al-Sarraj, Rui M. Reis, Gilles Vassal, Andrew D.J. Pearson, Darren Hargrave, David W. Ellison, Paul Workman, and Chris Jones. *EGFRvIII* Deletion Mutations in Pediatric High-Grade Glioma and Response to Targeted Therapy in Pediatric Glioma Cell Lines. *Clinical Cancer Research* 15(18): 5753-61, 2009.
3.1 Analysis of EGFR Overexpression, EGFR Gene Amplification and

the EGFRvIII Mutation in Portuguese High-Grade Gliomas

ANTICANCER RESEARCH 28: 913-920 (2008)

Analysis of EGFR Overexpression, *EGFR* Gene Amplification and the EGFRvIII Mutation in Portuguese High-grade Gliomas

MARTA VIANA-PEREIRA¹, JOSÉ MANUEL LOPES^{2,3}, SUZIE LITTLE⁴, FERNANDA MILANEZI^{1,2}, DIANA BASTO¹, FERNANDO PARDAL⁵, CHRIS JONES⁴ and RUI MANUEL REIS¹

¹Life and Health Sciences Research Institute (ICVS), School of Health Sciences, University of Minho, Braga; ²IPATIMUP, Porto;

³Department of Pathology, S. João Hospital, Faculty of Medicine, University of Porto, Porto; ⁵Department of Pathology, S. Marcos Hospital, Braga, Portugal; ⁴Paediatric Oncology, Institute of Cancer Research, Sutton, U.K.

Abstract. Background: Patients with malignant gliomas do not respond to any current therapy. Epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) controls several oncogenic processes, being frequently up-regulated in gliomas due to overexpression, gene amplification and gene mutation. EGFR inhibitors are being tried in gliomas, yet the molecular determinants of therapeutic response are unclear. Materials and Methods: EGFR overexpression, EGFRvIII mutation and EGFR amplification were determined by immunohistochemistry and chromogenic in situ hybridization (CISH) in 27 primary glioblastomas (GBM), 24 anaplastic oligodendrogliomas (AO) and four anaplastic oligoastrocytomas (AOA). Results: EGFR overexpression was associated with EGFR amplification, being found in 48% and 53% GBM, 33% and 40% AO and 75% and 67% AOA, respectively. EGFRvIII was found in 22% GBM, 8% AO and was absent in AOA. No association was observed between EGFR alterations and patient survival. Conclusion: We characterized, for the first time, EGFR molecular alterations in Portuguese patients with malignant glioma and identified a subpopulation of patients presenting putative biomarkers for EGFR-based therapies.

Gliomas are the most frequent primary central nervous system (CNS) tumors (1). According to the World Health Organization (WHO), gliomas are histologically divided into astrocytic, oligodendroglial and mixed oligoastrocytic tumors, and are classified into four grades of malignancy (1,

Key Words: Amplification, EGFR, EGFRvIII, glioblastoma, glioma, oligodendroglioma.

2). Oligodendrogliomas and oligoastrocytomas are stratified into grade II and grade III (anaplastic) tumors; on the other hand astrocytomas can be subdivided into grade II, grade III and grade IV (2). The most malignant form (WHO grade IV), glioblastoma (GBM), is also the most frequent glioma subtype (1, 2). GBMs can be divided into primary glioblastomas, which arise de novo and are molecularly characterized by epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) overexpression/amplification, and secondary glioblastomas, which are derived from lower-grade astrocytomas and are characterized by TP53 mutations (3). The prognosis of patients with GBM is very poor, with survival usually less than twelve months (1, 4). Recently, the introduction of temozolomide-based chemotherapy in concomitancy with radiotherapy, led to increased GBM patient survival (15 months) (4). However, these results are far from being satisfactory and there are still patients that do not respond favorably to any described therapy. Therefore, it is necessary to understand the molecular features of gliomas in order to identify novel and effective therapeutic targets.

Receptor protein tyrosine kinases (RTKs) are major regulators of cell growth signaling and their importance in tumorigenesis and progression has been extensively investigated (5). Epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR)/HER1 is a member of the class I epidermal growth factor family, which also includes HER2, HER3 and HER4. EGFR is a transmembrane glycoprotein that is stimulated by growth factors, namely the transforming growth factor-a (TGF- α) and EGF ligands, which bind to the extracellular domain of the receptor (6). Ligand binding to EGFR activates the receptor through dimerization leading to signal transduction and activation of downstream intracellular pathways, mainly RAS/RAF/MAPK, PI3K/AKT and STATs, that regulate cellular proliferation, differentiation, migration and survival (5). Several mechanisms of aberrant EGFR activation have been reported in cancer cells, namely

0250-7005/2008 \$2.00+.40

Correspondence to: Rui Manuel Reis, Life and Health Sciences Research Institute (ICVS), School of Health Sciences, University of Minho, Campus de Gualtar, 4710-057 Braga, Portugal. Tel: +351 253604825, Fax: +351 253604820, e-mail: rreis@ecsaude.uminho.pt

Portuguese High-Grade Gliomas

ANTICANCER RESEARCH 28: 913-920 (2008)

overexpression of the ligand EGF and of the receptor, EGFR gene amplification and activating mutations. Moreover, dysregulated EGFR activation is known to act oncogenically, stimulating the growth and spread of cancer cells (5). Therefore, due to the paramount role of EGFR in tumorigenesis, several therapeutic strategies are being developed to target and inhibit signalling via the receptor (7-9). Monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) bind to the extracellular domain of EGFR inhibiting this region and blocking ligand binding. Cetuximab (IMC-C225, Erbitux) and Panitumumab (ABX-EGF, Vectibix) are EGFRbinding mAbs currently approved for the treatment of colorectal cancer (10). Alternatively, EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) bind to the intracellular tyrosine kinase domain, blocking kinase activity as well as the downstream signaling. Gefitinib (ZD1839, Iressa) and erlotinib (OSI-774, Tarceva), are EGFR TKIs already approved for nonsmall cell lung cancer (NSCLC) patients (11).

In high-grade gliomas, EGFR is the most frequently amplified oncogene, being present in 40% of primary GBM and poorly characterized in anaplastic astrocytomas and anaplastic oligodendrogliomas (AO) (12-14). Importantly, EGFR gene amplification is known to be associated with protein overexpression in gliomas (2). Additionally, in about half of GBM cases with EGFR amplification, the event is coupled with EGFR gene mutations, with EGFRvIII (also known as AEGFR and del2-7EGFR) the most common in GBM (2, 15, 16). This EGFR mutant oncoprotein lacks a portion of the extracellular ligand-binding domain as a result of a genomic deletion involving exons 2 to 7, resulting in a mutant protein unable to bind EGFR ligands, yet constitutively activated in a ligand-independent manner leading to overproliferation of cancer cells (6, 17). EGFR represents an attractive therapeutic target in malignant gliomas and even though there are no anti-EGFR agents approved for glioma treatment at present, there are several ongoing clinical trials evaluating the efficacy of mAbs and TKIs in gliomas (7, 18, 19).

In the present study, we aimed to characterize the most common mechanisms (*EGFR* overexpression, gene amplification and EGFRvIII mutation) involved in EGFR activation in a Portuguese cohort of high-grade (astrocytic, oligodendroglial and mixed) gliomas and to identify the subset of patients that would potentially benefit from EGFR-targeted therapies.

Materials and Methods

Patients and tumor samples. Sixty-two formalin-fixed, paraffinembedded samples of sporadic gliomas from 55 patients were retrieved from the Department of Pathology of the S. João Hospital, Porto and S. Marcos Hospital, Braga, Portugal, as well as the available patients' clinical data, as described elsewhere (20). Tumor samples were classified according to the WHO classification of CNS tumors (2): as 31 primary GBM (WHO grade IV), 26 AO (WHO grade III), one oligodendroglioma (O) (WHO grade II) and four anaplastic oligoastrocytomas (AOA) (WHO grade III) (Tables I and II). Twenty-seven (49.1%) patients were male and 28 (50.9%) were female; the mean age was 56.1 years (range 27-79 years) (Tables I and II).

EGFR and EGFRvIII immunohistochemistry. Formalin-fixed, paraffinembedded tissue sections were used in the immunohistochemical analysis. Previously documented mouse monoclonal anti-EGFR (clone 31G7, 1:100; Zymed[®] Laboratories Inc., South San Francisco, CA, USA) and mouse monoclonal anti-EGFRvIII antibody (clone G100, 1:100; Zymed[®] Laboratories Inc.) were used as primary antibodies (18, 21). Anti-EGFRvIII antibody specifically recognizes EGFRvIII and does not cross-react with the wild-type form (18).

Immunohistochemistry for EGFR was performed as described elsewhere (22). Briefly, after deparaffinization, sections were rehydrated and washed. Antigen retrieval was achieved by 20 min incubation at 37iC with a bacterial protease extracted from *Streptomyces griseus* (Sigma-Aldrich Co., St. Louis, MO, USA). Endogenous peroxidase activity was blocked using 3% H₂O₂ in methanol for 10 min and samples were then incubated with Ultra V block (Lab Vision Corporation, Fremont, CA, USA) for 10 min at room temperature (RT). After incubation with primary antibody, overnight at RT, the secondary biotinylated goat anti-polyvalent antibody (Lab Vision Corporation) was applied for 10 min followed by 10 min incubation with Streptavidine Peroxidase (Lab Vision Corporation) at RT.

For the EGFRvIII reaction, sections were deparaffinized, incubated in 0.3% H2O2 in methanol for 30 min to block endogenous peroxidase activity and rehydrated. Antigen retrieval was achieved by microwaving sections in 10 mM citrate buffer (pH 6.0) three times for 5 min at 700 W. Sections were then incubated with Ultra V block (Lab Vision Corporation) for 20 min at RT. After incubation with primary antibody overnight at 4ïC, the biotinylated "universal" secondary antibody (Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA, USA) was applied for 30 min followed by R.T.U. Vectastain®Elite ABC reagent (Vector Laboratories) incubation for 45 min at 37iC. Both EGFR and EGFRvIII sections were incubated with the chromogen 3,3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB) (Ultravision Detection System Anti-polyvalent, HRP/DAB; DAKO Corporation, Carpentaria, CA, USA), for 10 min at RT. Haematoxylin counterstaining was performed in a Leica Auto Stainer XL (Meyer Instruments Inc., Houston, TX, USA).

A specimen of human skin and a human glioblastoma with documented expression of EGFRvIII were used as positive controls for EGFR and EGFRvIII, respectively (22,23). Neoplastic cells with membranous and/or cytoplasmic intense immunoreactivity were considered positively stained. Both the distribution and intensity of the immunoreactivity were semi-quantitatively scored as follows: – (0%), + (<10%), + + (10-50%), and +++ (>50%). Samples with scores (++) and (+++) were considered positive as described elsewhere (22,23).

Chromogenic in situ hybridization (CISH). The presence of EGFR gene amplification was assessed with CISH using Spot-Light amplification probes for EGFR (Zymed®Laboratories Inc.). CISH was performed using Spot-Light CISH Polymer Detection Kit (Zymed®Laboratories Inc.) in accordance with the manufacturer's protocol, and as described elsewhere (22). Amplification was defined

Table	Table II.				
Case No.	Age (years)/ gender	IHC - EGFR	CISH - EGFR amplification	IHC - EGFRvIII	Case A No.
12	27/F	+	Not Ampl	-	<u></u>
13	54/F	+ + +	Ampl	-	Anaplastic
14	41/M	-	Not Ampl	-	60
19	61/F	_	Not Ampl	_	62
20	77/M	+ + +	Ampl	-	64
21	67/F		Not Ampl	-	66
22	50/F	+	Ampl	++	68
23	73/M	+	Not Ampl	-	70
24	57/M	+ + +	Ampl	-	71
24†	57/M	+ + +	Ampl	++	72
26	28/M	+ + +	NC		73
29	51/F	+++	Ampl	-	76
30	69/M		NC	-	81
30†	69/M	<u> </u>	ND	-	83
32	53/M	+ + +	NC	++	110
32†	53/M	++	ND	+	110 [†]
33	59/F	+++	Ampl	+	112
36	56/F	+++	Ampl	+++	115
37	66/M	-	NC	-	116
38	68/F	-	ND	-	118
40	60/F		NC		119
41	58/F	-	Not Ampl	-	163
42	60/M	+++	Ampl	-	168‡
43	73/M	+++	Ampl	-	168†
45	66/F	++	Not Ampl	+ + +	170
48	54/M	+ + +	Not Ampl	-	172
48†	54/M	+	Not Ampl	-	172†
94	66/F	+	NC	-	202
96	79/M	+	Ampl	-	259
97	72/M	-	Not Ampl	-	
231	62/F	++	NC	+++	Anaplastic

Viana-Pereira et al: EGFR Molecular Alterations in Gliomas

Table II. Results of EGFR analysis in anaplastic oligodendrogliomas and oligoastrocytomas.

Case	Age (years)/	IHC -	CISH -	IHC -	
No.	gender	EGFR	EGFR	EGFRvIII	
			amplification		
Anapla	stic oligodendro	gliomas			
60	65/M	++	Not Ampl	-	
62	47/F	+	Not Ampl	-	
64	65/F	+	NC	-	
66	50/M	+	Not Ampl	-	
68	36/F	-	Not Ampl	-	
70	60/F	-	NC	-	
71	53/M	++	Not Ampl	-	
72	65/M	+++	Ampl	++	
73	47/M	-	Not Ampl	-	
76	70/F	-	Not Ampl	-	
81	64/F	+	NC	-	
83	54/M	+	Not Ampl	-	
110	44/M	-	Not Ampl	-	
110†	44/M	-	Not Ampl	1.00	
112	42/F	+	Ampl	-	
115	40/M	++	Not Ampl	-	
116	51/M	-	Ampl	+ + +	
118	64/F	++	Ampl	-	
119	68/F	+	Ampl		
163	51/M	+++	Ampl	_	
168‡	36/M	+	ND	ND	
168†	36/M	-	Not Ampl	+	
170	73/M	-	Not Ampl	-	
172	45/M	+ + +	ND	ND	
172†	45/M	+++	Ampl	-	
202	65/F	+++	Ampl	-	
259	52/F	-	NC	-	
Anapla	stic oligoastrocy	tomas			
63	46/F	+	Not Ampl	_	
203	36/F	++	NC	-	
205	33/M	++	Ampl	-	
206	55/F	+++	Ampl	+	

ND, not determined; NC, not conclusive; Ampl, amplified; Not Ampl, not amplified; †, recurrence.

ND, not determined; NC, not conclusive; Ampl, amplified; Not Ampl, not amplified; $^{\uparrow}$, recurrence; ‡ , oligodendroglioma grade II.

Results

EGFR protein overexpression. EGFR immunohistochemical analysis was performed on 62 glioma samples from 55 patients. Results are summarized on Table I and Table II. The EGFR neoplastic staining was membranous and/or cytoplasmic, without immunoreactivity of endothelial tumor cells (Figure 1 A and B). EGFR overexpression (2+/3+) was detected in 24 of 55 tumors (44%). A high percentage of positive cases was found in all histological types of gliomas analyzed, namely, 48% (13/27) of GBM (Table I, Figure 1A), 33% (8/24) of AO and 75% (3/4) of AOA (Table II, Figure 1B).

915

at x400 and x600 and at least 60 morphologically unequivocal neoplastic cells were counted for the presence of the gene probe signals. CISH hybridizations were evaluated in a blinded manner, by two independent observers, on a multi-headed microscope. *Statistical analysis.* Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS

as more than 5 signals per nucleus in more than 50% of cancer cells, or when large gene copy clusters were seen. Signals were evaluated

for Windows (version 14.0; SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). The correlation between categorical variables was calculated for statistical significance using Pearson's chi-square test and the threshold for significance was $p \leq 0.05$.

Follow-up information was available for 40 out of 55 patients, with follow-up periods ranging from 1 to 93 months (median 11 months, mean 16 months). Survival duration was defined as the time between diagnosis and death. Associations among EGFR expression, amplification, EGFRvIII expression and patients' age with patients' survival were assessed using Cox proportional hazards regression analyses. 3.1 Analysis of EGFR Overexpression, EGFR Gene Amplification and the EGFRvIII Mutation in

Portuguese High-Grade Gliomas

ANTICANCER RESEARCH 28: 913-920 (2008)



Figure 1. EGFR cytoplasmic/membranous immunohistochemistry expression in GBM (A, x200) and AO (B, x400). EGFR amplification revealed by high nuclear signaling in GBM (C, x100) and AO (D, x100; inset, x600). EGFRvIII cytoplasmic/membranous immunohistochemistry expression in GBM (E, x200) and AO (F, x400).

Viana-Pereira et al: EGFR Molecular Alterations in Gliomas

EGFR amplification. CISH analysis was possible in 54 tumors and was conclusive in 42 (78%) of the cases (Tables I and II). The pattern of EGFR signals observed using CISH was compatible with double minute amplification (Figure 1C and D). Overall, EGFR gene amplification was detected in 20 (48%) high-grade gliomas. Specifically, EGFR gene amplification was observed in 53% of GBM (10/19) (Table I, Figure 1C), 40% of AO (8/20) (Table II, Figure 1D) and 67% of AOA (2/3) (Table II). Of the 20 gliomas with EGFR amplification, 15 (75%) exhibited EGFR overexpression (p=0.001). All recurrent cases with available CISH analysis for both primary and recurrent samples, namely two GBM (cases 24 and 48) and one AO (case 110), showed the same EGFR amplification status.

EGFRvIII protein overexpression. EGFRvIII expression analysis was performed in 60 samples of 55 gliomas and results are summarized in Table I and Table II. EGFRvIII staining was predominantly cytoplasmic and was observed only in neoplastic cells, not in endothelial tumor cells (Figure 1E and F).

EGFRvIII overexpression was observed in 22% of GBM (6/27) (Table I, Figure 1E), 8% of AO (2/24) (Table II, Figure 1F) and was absent in AOA (0/4) (Table II). In GBM, all but one sample with EGFRvIII overexpression also exhibited EGFR overexpression (Table I, p=0.114). Similarly, with the exception of one case, all informative samples with EGFRvIII overexpression also showed *EGFR* gene amplification (Table I, p=0.596). Both AO cases with EGFRvIII overexpression depicted *EGFR* gene amplification, (Table II, p=0.068) one of them also with EGFR overexpression (Table II, p=0.602).

Clinical significance of EGFR overexpression, EGFR amplification and EGFRvIII overexpression. Association between patient age and EGFR overexpression was assessed for glioma, GBM and AO patients (data not shown). EGFR overexpression in GBM patients tended (p=0.082) to occur in younger patients. Multivariate analysis (Cox proportional hazards) was used to determine the association between patient age, EGFR overexpression, EGFR amplification or EGFRvIII overexpression and overall survival for GBM and AO. The median age of patients was calculated for GBM (60 years) and AO (51 years) and these values were used to split patients into younger and older groups. Survival time was calculated after one year for GBM patients and after five years for AO patients. No correlation was found between EGFR overexpression, EGFR amplification, or EGFRvIII overexpression and overall survival of GBM and AO patients (Table III). EGFR overexpression showed a tendency (p=0.054, Table III) for being associated with shorter survival in AO patients. There was a significant correlation (p=0.014, Table III) between being older and better survival in AO patients.

Table III. Multivariate analysis for the effect of EGFR overexpression, EGFR amplification, EGFRvIII overexpression and age on survival of GBM and AO patients.

Variable	Hazard ratio (95% confidence interval)	<i>p</i> -value
GBM (1-year survival)		
EGFR overexpression	3.655 (0.731-18.277)	0.114
EGFR amplification	1.073 (0.167-6.885)	0.941
EGFRvIII overexpression	0.732 (0.131-4.095)	0.723
Median age (<60 or ≥60 years)	1.222 (0.204-7.333)	0.826
AO (5-year survival)		
EGFR overexpression	36.927 (0.942-1447.576)	0.054
EGFR amplification	0.112 (0.007-1.710)	0.116
EGFRvIII overexpression	NS	
Median age (<51 or ≥51 years)	0.065 (0.007-0.570)	0.014

NS: Insufficient data for statistical evaluation.

Discussion

In this study, we characterized, for the first time, the presence of EGFR alterations in a series of high grade gliomas from Portuguese patients. We studied a total of 31 GBM and observed that the frequency of GBM presenting EGFR overexpression (48%), EGFR amplification (53%) and EGFRvIII overexpression (22%) were in line with the published literature (24-26). Similarly to several studies a positive correlation (p=0.012) was found between EGFR overexpression and gene amplification in GBM (14, 18, 24, 27). Additionally, all but one GBM with EGFRvIII overexpression presented gene amplification, which is also in agreement with previous studies (24, 25). It was previously reported that older patients with GBM have higher rates of EGFR overexpression and amplification (24, 28). We found no statistical differences between patient age and EGFR overexpression, EGFR gene amplification, or EGFRvIII overexpression in the same cases.

EGFR activation status in anaplastic oligodendrogliomas has been less frequently reported (13, 27, 29, 30). We analyzed 24 cases and observed EGFR overexpression in 33%, EGFR amplification in 40% and EGFRvIII mutation in 8% of anaplastic oligodendrogliomas. EGFR overexpression tended to correlate with gene amplification (p=0.094). Other authors described EGFR amplification in anaplastic oligodendrogliomas and frequencies varied from 0-42.5% (13, 27, 31). A possible reason for this discrepancy is the distinct methodologies used. Regarding EGFRvIII expression, results are few and contradictory. Wikstrand and colleagues analyzed 5 anaplastic oligodendrogliomas and described a frequency of 20% of EGFRvIII expression (30); however, in another study from the same group EGFRvIII was not found to be expressed in 25 anaplastic oligodendrogliomas (29). Portuguese High-Grade Gliomas

ANTICANCER RESEARCH 28: 913-920 (2008)

The influence of EGFR overexpression, *EGFR* gene amplification and EGFRvIII overexpression in patient prognosis has been highly controversial for gliomas (24, 25, 28, 32-37). To clarify this issue, we performed a multivariate analysis and found no association between these EGFR alterations and patients' overall survival in our cohort.

EGFR is becoming an important therapeutic target, with some anti-EGFR drugs already being used in clinical practice and several novel EGFR inhibitors under development (38). Among the two major approaches, using EGFR-TKIs and mAbs, the former seems to be more suitable for gliomas due to their low molecular weight potentially being better at overcoming the blood-brain barrier (39). In NSCLC, the presence of activating mutations in the EGFR kinase domain was associated with selective EGFR-TKI sensitivity, allowing the selection of patients with a higher probability of clinical response to gefitinib and erlotinib (11). However, these mutations have never been found in glioma cell lines (11), or in glioma patients (11, 40, 41). Recently, Lee and colleagues reported EGFR activation in GBM due to missense mutations in the EGFR extracellular domain (42). They reported that transformed cells with the EGFR ectodomain mutations had increased sensitivity to erlotinib; however studying DNA samples from a previous clinical trial, these authors were unable to associate EGFR ectodomain mutations with clinical responses to EGFR TKI inhibitors (42).

The few clinical trials with gefitinib and erlotinib in gliomas included a small number of patients and variable molecular markers, insufficient for conclusive results regarding patients' response and EGFR molecular status. Rich and colleagues, in a phase II trial, described a monotherapy study with gefitinib in GBM patients and found neither objective tumor response nor association between EGFR expression, EGFR amplification, or EGFRvIII expression and gefitinib response (43). Franceschi and colleagues' recent phase II trial investigated the role of gefitinib in patients with high-grade gliomas and reported an 18% stable disease rate without any correlation of EGFR expression or gene status and tumor response (44). Vogelbaum et al. described a monotherapy with erlotinib in patients with recurrent GBM and found 25% with stable disease and 25% with partial response rates; although EGFR amplification was observed in about 50% of tumors, it was not associated with erlotinib response (45). In a phase II study with erlotinib in recurrent GBM, Cloughesy et al. described a 33% stable disease rate and EGFR expression associated with a slight tendency for better patient outcome (46). Haas-Kogan et al. reported that the presence of EGFR overexpression and gene amplification, associated with low levels of activated Akt, were associated with response to erlotinib, suggesting that these molecular alterations could be predictive markers for

EGFR-TKI sensitivity in gliomas (18). Mellinghoff *et al.* described that coexpression of EGFRvIII and phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN) (RTK downstream negative regulator) was associated with a better response to gefitinib and erlotinib in recurrent GBM (19). In general, results with erlotinib seem to be more promising than with gefitinib, possibly due to its targeting of both EGFRvIII mutant and wild-type EGFR (39).

There have also been clinical trials involving EGFRtargeted mAbs in gliomas (9, 47). A phase I/II clinical trial using the EGFR mAb h-R3 in malignant glioma enrolled 29 patients with an objective response in 37.9% and stable disease in 41.4% of the cases (47). Another phase I/II trial using cetuximab in GBM is ongoing (9). There are several in vitro and in vivo studies reporting EGFR-targeted mAbs effects in glioma. Recently, Johns et al. studied the efficacy of two EGFR-specific mAbs (mAbs 806 and 528) against glioma cell line-derived xenografts expressing EGFR and EGFRvIII and reported that their efficacy was dependent on EGFR overexpression and receptor activation status (48). Currently, considerable efforts are being made to design anti-EGFRvIII strategies, such as mAbs and vaccines, since this mutated form constitutes a tumorspecific target that is not present in normal cells.

In conclusion, in the present study, we found that a high percentage of GBM and AO exhibited EGFR overexpression and amplification, as did a significant proportion of GBM and a small proportion of AO expressing EGFRvIII. Our results represent the first step for the identification of Portuguese glioma patients who could respond to specific therapies targeting EGFR.

References

- Behin A, Hoang-Xuan K, Carpentier AF and Delattre JY: Primary brain tumours in adults. Lancet 361: 323-331, 2003.
- 2 Louis DN, Ohgaki H, Wiestler OD, Cavenee WK, Burger PC, Jouvet A, Scheithauer BW and Kleihues P: The 2007 WHO classification of tumours of the central nervous system. Acta Neuropathol 114: 97-109, 2007.
- 3 Benjamin R, Capparella J and Brown A: Classification of glioblastoma multiforme in adults by molecular genetics. Cancer J 9: 82-90, 2003.
- 4 Stupp R, Mason WP, van den Bent MJ, Weller M, Fisher B, Taphoorn MJ, Belanger K, Brandes AA, Marosi C, Bogdahn U, Curschmann J, Janzer RC, Ludwin SK, Gorlia T, Allgeier A, Lacombe D, Cairncross JG, Eisenhauer E and Mirimanoff RO: Radiotherapy plus concomitant and adjuvant temozolomide for glioblastoma. N Engl J Med 352: 987-996, 2005.
- 5 Scaltriti M and Baselga J: The epidermal growth factor receptor pathway: A model for targeted therapy. Clin Cancer Res 12: 5268-5272, 2006.
- 6 Kuan CT, Wikstrand CJ and Bigner DD: EGF mutant receptor vIII as a molecular target in cancer therapy. Endocr Relat Cancer 8: 83-96, 2001.

Viana-Pereira et al: EGFR Molecular Alterations in Gliomas

- 7 Nicholas MK, Lukas RV, Jafri NF, Faoro L and Salgia R: Epidermal growth factor receptor-mediated signal transduction in the development and therapy of gliomas. Clin Cancer Res 12: 7261-7270, 2006.
- 8 Mendelsohn J and Baselga J: Epidermal growth factor receptor targeting in cancer. Semin Oncol 33: 369-385, 2006.
- 9 Combs SE, Heeger S, Haselmann R, Edler L, Debus J and Schulz-Ertner D: Treatment of primary glioblastoma multiforme with cetuximab, radiotherapy and temozolomide (GERT) – phase I/II trial: study protocol. BMC Cancer 6: 133, 2006.
- 10 Diasio RB and Fourie J: Targeting the epidermal growth factor receptor in the treatment of colorectal cancer – state of the art. Drugs 66: 1441-1463, 2006.
- 11 Lynch TJ, Bell DW, Sordella R, Gurubhagavatula S, Okimoto RA, Brannigan BW, Harris PL, Haserlat SM, Supko JG, Haluska FG, Louis DN, Christiani DC, Settleman J and Haber DA: Activating mutations in the epidermal growth factor receptor underlying responsiveness of nonsmall cell lung cancer to gefitinib. N Engl J Med 350: 2129-2139, 2004.
- 12 Nieder C, Schlegel J, Andratschke N, Thamm R, Grosu AL and Molls M: The role of growth factors in central nervous system tumours. Anticancer Res 23: 1681-1686, 2003.
- 13 Reifenberger J, Reifenberger G, Ichimura K, Schmidt EE, Wechsler W and Collins VP: Epidermal growth factor receptor expression in oligodendroglial tumors. Am J Pathol 149: 29-35, 1996.
- 14 Schober R, Bilzer T, Waha A, Reifenberger G, Wechsler W, von Deimling A, Wiestler OD, Westphal M, Kemshead JT and Vega F: The epidermal growth factor receptor in glioblastoma: genomic amplification, protein expression, and patient survival data in a therapeutic trial. Clin Neuropathol 14: 169-174, 1995.
- 15 Schwechheimer K, Huang S and Cavenee WK: EGFR gene amplification – rearrangement in human glioblastomas. Int J Cancer 62: 145-148, 1995.
- 16 Rao RD, Uhm JH, Krishnan S and James CD: Genetic and signaling pathway alterations in glioblastoma: relevance to novel targeted therapies. Front Biosci 8: e270-e280, 2003.
- 17 Wikstrand CJ, Reist CJ, Archer GE, Zalutsky MR and Bigner DD: The class III variant of the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFRvIII): characterization and utilization as an immunotherapeutic target. J Neurovirol 4: 148-158, 1998.
- 18 Haas-Kogan DA, Prados MD, Tihan T, Eberhard DA, Jelluma N, Arvold ND, Baumber R, Lamborn KR, Kapadia A, Malec M, Berger MS and Stokoe D: Epidermal growth factor receptor, protein kinase B/Akt, and glioma response to erlotinib. J Natl Cancer Inst 97: 880-887, 2005.
- 19 Mellinghoff IK, Wang MY, Vivanco I, Haas-Kogan DA, Zhu S, Dia EQ, Lu KV, Yoshimoto K, Huang JH, Chute DJ, Riggs BL, Horvath S, Liau LM, Cavenee WK, Rao PN, Beroukhim R, Peck TC, Lee JC, Sellers WR, Stokoe D, Prados M, Cloughesy TF, Sawyers CL and Mischel PS: Molecular determinants of the response of glioblastomas to EGFR kinase inhibitors. N Engl J Med 353: 2012-2024, 2005.
- 20 Costa BM, Ferreira P, Costa S, Canedo P, Oliveira P, Silva A, Pardal F, Suriano G, Machado JC, Lopes JM and Reis RM: Association between functional EGF+61 polymorphism and glioma risk. Clin Cancer Res *13*: 2621-2626, 2007.

- 21 Penault-Llorca F, Cayre A, Arnould L, Bibeau F, Bralet MP, Rochaix P, Savary J and Sabourin JC: Is there an immunohistochemical technique definitively valid in epidermal growth factor receptor assessment? Oncol Rep 16: 1173-1179, 2006.
- 22 Reis-Filho JS, Pinheiro C, Lambros MB, Milanezi F, Carvalho S, Savage K, Simpson PT, Jones C, Swift S, Mackay A, Reis RM, Hornick JL, Pereira EM, Baltazar F, Fletcher CD, Ashworth A, Lakhani SR and Schmitt FC: EGFR amplification and lack of activating mutations in metaplastic breast carcinomas. J Pathol 209: 445-453, 2006.
- 23 Biernat W, Huang H, Yokoo H, Kleihues P and Ohgaki H: Predominant expression of mutant EGFR (EGFRvIII) is rare in primary glioblastomas. Brain Pathol 14: 131-136, 2004.
- 24 Shinojima N, Tada K, Shiraishi S, Kamiryo T, Kochi M, Nakamura H, Makino K, Saya H, Hirano H, Kuratsu J, Oka K, Ishimaru Y and Ushio Y: Prognostic value of epidermal growth factor receptor in patients with glioblastoma multiforme. Cancer Res 63: 6962-6970, 2003.
- 25 Aldape KD, Ballman K, Furth A, Buckner JC, Giannini C, Burger PC, Scheithauer BW, Jenkins RB and James CD: Immunohistochemical detection of EGFRvIII in high malignancy grade astrocytomas and evaluation of prognostic significance. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 63: 700-707, 2004.
- 26 Marquez A, Wu R, Zhao J, Tao J and Shi Z: Evaluation of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) by chromogenic *in situ* hybridization (CISH) and immunohistochemistry (IHC) in archival gliomas using bright-field microscopy. Diagn Mol Pathol 13: 1-8, 2004.
- 27 Ekstrand AJ, James CD, Cavenee WK, Seliger B, Pettersson RF and Collins VP: Genes for epidermal growth factor receptor, transforming growth factor alpha, and epidermal growth factor and their expression in human gliomas *in vivo*. Cancer Res 51: 2164-2172, 1991.
- 28 Simmons ML, Lamborn KR, Takahashi M, Chen P, Israel MA, Berger MS, Godfrey T, Nigro J, Prados M, Chang S, Barker FG and Aldape K: Analysis of complex relationships between age, p53, epidermal growth factor receptor, and survival in glioblastoma patients. Cancer Res 61: 1122-1128, 2001.
- 29 McLendon RE, Wikstrand CJ, Matthews MR, Al-Baradei R, Bigner SH and Bigner DD: Glioma-associated antigen expression in oligodendroglial neoplasms. Tenascin and epidermal growth factor receptor. J Histochem Cytochem 48: 1103-1110, 2000.
- 30 Wikstrand CJ, McLendon RE, Friedman AH and Bigner DD: Cell surface localization and density of the tumor-associated variant of the epidermal growth factor receptor, EGFRvIII. Cancer Res 57: 4130-4140, 1997.
- 31 Franco-Hernandez C, Martinez-Glez V, Alonso ME, de Campos JM, Isla A, Vaquero J, Gutierrez M and Rey JA: Gene dosage and mutational analyses of EGFR in oligodendrogliomas. Int J Oncol 30: 209-215, 2007.
- 32 Bigner SH, Burger PC, Wong AJ, Werner MH, Hamilton SR, Muhlbaier LH, Vogelstein B and Bigner DD: Gene amplification in malignant human gliomas: clinical and histopathologic aspects. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 47: 191-205, 1988.
- 33 Ohgaki H and Kleihues P: Population-based studies on incidence, survival rates, and genetic alterations in astrocytic and oligodendroglial gliomas. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 64: 479-489, 2005.

3.1 Analysis of EGFR Overexpression, EGFR Gene Amplification and the EGFRvIII Mutation in

Portuguese High-Grade Gliomas

ANTICANCER RESEARCH 28: 913-920 (2008)

- 34 Mizoguchi M, Betensky RA, Batchelor TT, Bernay DC, Louis DN and Nutt CL: Activation of STAT3, MAPK, and AKT in malignant astrocytic gliomas: correlation with EGFR status, tumor grade, and survival. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 65: 1181-1188, 2006.
- 35 Dirks PB and Rutka JT: Current concepts in neuro-oncology: the cell cycle – a review. Neurosurgery 40: 1000-1013, 1997.
- 36 Heimberger AB, Hlatky R, Suki D, Yang D, Weinberg J, Gilbert M, Sawaya R and Aldape K: Prognostic effect of epidermal growth factor receptor and EGFRvIII in glioblastoma multiforme patients. Clin Cancer Res 11: 1462-1466, 2005.
- 37 Pelloski CE, Ballman KV, Furth AF, Zhang L, Lin E, Sulman EP, Bhat K, McDonald JM, Yung WK, Colman H, Woo SY, Heimberger AB, Suki D, Prados MD, Chang SM, Barker FG 2nd, Buckner JC, James CD and Aldape K: Epidermal growth factor receptor variant III status defines clinically distinct subtypes of glioblastoma. J Clin Oncol 25: 2288-2294, 2007.
- 38 Roberts PJ and Der CJ: Targeting the Raf-MEK-ERK mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade for the treatment of cancer. Oncogene 26: 3291-3310, 2007.
- 39 Halatsch ME, Schmidt U, Behnke-Mursch J, Unterberg A and Wirtz CR: Epidermal growth factor receptor inhibition for the treatment of glioblastoma multiforme and other malignant brain tumours. Cancer Treat Rev 32: 74-89, 2006.
- 40 Barber TD, Vogelstein B, Kinzler KW and Velculescu VE: Somatic mutations of EGFR in colorectal cancers and glioblastomas. N Engl J Med 351: 2883, 2004.
- 41 Marie Y, Carpentier AF, Omuro AM, Sanson M, Thillet J, Hoang-Xuan K and Delattre JY: EGFR tyrosine kinase domain mutations in human gliomas. Neurology 64: 1444-1445, 2005.
- 42 Lee JC, Vivanco I, Beroukhim R, Huang JHY, Feng WL, DeBiasi RM, Yoshimoto K, King JC, Nghiemphu P, Yuza Y, Xu Q, Greulich H, Thomas RK, Paez JG, Peck TC, Linhart DJ, Glatt KA, Getz G, Onofrio R, Ziaugra L, Levine RL, Gabriel S, Kawaguchi T, O'Neill K, Khan H, Liau LM, Nelson SF, Rao PN, Mischel P, Pieper RO, Cloughesy T, Leahy DJ, Sellers WR, Sawyers CL, Meyerson M and Mellinghoff IK: Epidermal growth factor receptor activation in glioblastoma through novel missense mutations in the extracellular domain. Plos Medicine 3: 2264-2273, 2006.

- 43 Rich JN, Reardon DA, Peery T, Dowell JM, Quinn JA, Penne KL, Wikstrand CJ, Van Duyn LB, Dancey JE, McLendon RE, Kao JC, Stenzel TT, Rasheed BKA, Tourt-Uhlig SE, Herndon JE, Vredenburgh JJ, Sampson JH, Friedman AH, Bigner DD and Friedman HS: Phase II trial of gefitinib in recurrent glioblastoma. J Clin Oncol 22: 133-142, 2004.
- 44 Franceschi E, Cavallo G, Lonardi S, Magrini E, Tosoni A, Grosso D, Scopece L, Blatt V, Urbini B, Pession A, Tallini G, Crino L and Brandes AA: Gefitinib in patients with progressive high-grade gliomas: a multicentre phase II study by Gruppo Italiano Cooperativo di Neuro-Oncologia (GICNO). Br J Cancer 96: 1047-1051, 2007.
- 45 Vogelbaum MA, Peereboom D, Stevens G, Barnett G and Brewer C: Phase II trial of the EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitor erlotinib for single agent therapy of recurrent glioblastoma multiforme: Interim results. J Clin Oncol 22: 121 (suppl.) (abstract), 2004.
- 46 Cloughesy T, Yung A, Vrendenberg J, Aldape K, Eberhard D, Prados M, Vandenberg S, Klencke B and Mischel P: Phase II study of erlotinib in recurrent GBM: molecular predictors of outcome. J Clin Oncol 23: 115 (suppl.) (abstract), 2005.
- 47 Ramos TC, Figueredo J, Catala M, Gonzalez S, Selva JC, Cruz TM, Toledo C, Silva S, Pestano Y, Ramos M, Leonard L, Torres O, Marinello P, Perez R and Lage A: Treatment of highgrade glioma patients with the humanized anti-epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) antibody h-R3 - Report from a phase I/II trial. Cancer Biol Ther 5: 375-379, 2006.
- 48 Johns TG, Perera RM, Vernes SC, Vitali AA, Cao DX, Cavenee WK, Scott AM and Furnari FB: The efficacy of epidermal growth factor receptor-specific antibodies against glioma xenografts is influenced by receptor levels, activation status, and heterodimerization. Clin Cancer Res 13: 1911-1925, 2007.

Received November 9, 2007 Revised December 21, 2007 Accepted January 8, 2008

3.2 EGFRvIII deletion mutations in paediatric HGG and response to

targeted therapy in paediatric glioma cell line

EGFRvIII Deletion Mutations in Pediatric High-Grade Glioma and Response to Targeted Therapy in Pediatric Glioma Cell Lines

Dorine A. Bax,¹ Nathalie Gaspar,^{1,2,4} Suzanne E. Little,¹ Lynley Marshall,^{1,2,3} Lara Perryman,¹ Marie Regairaz,⁴ Marta Viana-Pereira,^{1,5} Raisa Vuononvirta,¹ Swee Y. Sharp,² Jorge S. Reis-Filho,⁶ João N. Stávale,⁸ Safa Al-Sarraj,⁷ Rui M. Reis,⁵ Gilles Vassal,⁴ Andrew D.J. Pearson,^{1,3} Darren Hargrave,³ David W. Ellison,⁹ Paul Workman,² and Chris Jones¹

Abstract Purpose: The epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) is amplified and overexpressed in adult glioblastoma, with response to targeted inhibition dependent on the underlying biology of the disease. EGFR has thus far been considered to play a less important role in pediatric glioma, although extensive data are lacking. We have sought to clarify the role of EGFR in pediatric high-grade glioma (HGG).

Experimental Design: We retrospectively studied a total of 90 archival pediatric HGG specimens for EGFR protein overexpression, gene amplification, and mutation and assessed the *in vitro* sensitivity of pediatric glioma cell line models to the small-molecule EGFR inhibitor erlotinib.

Results: Amplification was detected in 11% of cases, with corresponding overexpression of the receptor. No kinase or extracellular domain mutations were observed; however, 6 of 35 (17%) cases harbored the EGFRvIII deletion, including two anaplastic oligodendrogliomas and a gliosarcoma overexpressing EGFRvIII in the absence of gene amplification and coexpressing platelet-derived growth factor receptor α . Pediatric glioblastoma cells transduced with wild-type or deletion mutant EGFRvIII were not rendered more sensitive to erlotinib despite expressing wild-type PTEN. Phosphorylated receptor tyrosine kinase profiling showed a specific activation of platelet-derived growth factor receptor α/β in EGFRvIII-transduced pediatric glioblastoma cells, and targeted coinhibition with erlotinib and imatinib leads to enhanced efficacy in this model.

Conclusions: These data identify an elevated frequency of *EGFR* gene amplification and *EGFRvIII* mutation in pediatric HGG than previously recognized and show the likely necessity of targeting multiple genetic alterations in the tumors of these children. (Clin Cancer Res 2009;15(18):5753–61)

5753

Amplification, overexpression, and/or mutation of the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) represent a compelling set of molecular genetic indicators for targeted therapy in adult glioblastoma. About 40% of glioblastomas show amplification of the *EGFR* gene locus, and about half of these tumors express a mutant receptor (EGFRvIII) that is constitutively active due to an in-frame truncation within the extracellular ligand-binding domain (1). In addition, novel missense mutations have been

Received 12/10/08; revised 6/4/09; accepted 6/17/09; published OnlineFirst 9/8/09. Grant support: Cancer Research UK grants C1178/A10294, C309/A2187, and C309/A8274; Oak Foundation (L. Marshall); La Fondation de France (N. Gaspar); reported in the extracellular domain of tumors and cell lines (2), and recently, additional mutations have been described outside of these regions (e.g., in the transmembrane domains), although the significance of these is not yet clear (3).

EGFRvIII is caused by deletion of exons 2 to 7, resulting in a protein that lacks a ligand-binding domain and is constitutively activated and is further resistant to down-regulation due to a low rate of receptor endocytosis (4). EGFRvIII has been shown

Research Online (http://clincancerres.aacrjournals.org/). D.A. Bax and N. Gaspar contributed equally to this work.

doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-3210

Clin Cancer Res 2009;15(18) September 15, 2009

Authors' Affiliations: ¹Paediatric Oncology and ²Cancer Research UK Centre for Cancer Therapeutics, The Institute of Cancer Research; ³Paediatric Oncology, The Royal Marsden NHS Foundation Trust, Sutton, United Kingdom; ⁴Pharamacology and New Treatments of Cancer, Institut de Cancérologie, Gustave Roussy, Villejuif, France; ⁵Life and Health Science Research Institute, Universidade do Minho, Braga, Portugal; ⁶Breakthrough Breast Cancer, The Institute of Cancer Research; ⁷Neuropathology, Kings College Hospital, London, United Kingdom; ⁸Department of Pathology, Universidade Federal de Sao Paulo, Sao Paulo, Brazil; and ⁹Neuropathology, St Jude Children's Research Hospital, Memphis, Tennessee

and Breakthrough Breast Cancer (J.S. Reis-Filho). We acknowledge NHS funding to the National Institute for Health Research Biomedical Research Centre. P. Workman is a Cancer Research UK Life Fellow.

The costs of publication of this article were defrayed in part by the payment of page charges. This article must therefore be hereby marked *advertisement* in accordance with 18 U.S.C. Section 1734 solely to indicate this fact. **Note:** Supplementary data for this article are available at Clinical Cancer

Requests for reprints: Chris Jones, Paediatric Oncology, The Institute of Cancer Research, 15 Cotswold Road, Sutton, Surrey SM2 5NG, United Kingdom. Phone: 44-20-8722-4416; Fax: 44-20-8722-4321; E-mail. chris.jones@icr.ac.uk. © 2009 American Association for Cancer Research.

Therapy in Paediatric Glioma Cell Lines

Human Cancer Biology

Translational Relevance

Dysregulation of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) is common in adult glioblastoma but has been considered less so in the pediatric setting, although unequivocal data have been lacking. This article details the largest and most comprehensive study of EGFR gene alterations in high-grade glioma of childhood yet undertaken. In addition to an elevated frequency of gene amplification in comparison with previous smaller series, we have identified for the first time the presence of EGFRvIII deletions in pediatric cases. By generating stably EGFRvIII-overexpressing pediatric glioblastoma cell lines, we show that the deletion is not sufficient to confer increased sensitivity to the EGFR inhibitor erlotinib due to the specific coactivation of platelet-derived growth factor receptor α/β in these cells. Thus, we provide evidence for a novel, pediatric-specific mechanism for erlotinib resistance in glioblastoma.

to confer enhanced tumorigenicity both in human glioma cells *in vitro* and in xenografts in immunodeprived mice (5, 6), and in a xenograft model, tumorigenicity is directly proportional to EGFRvIII receptor load (7). EGFRvIII has also been shown to confer resistance to both radiotherapy and chemotherapy (8, 9). Constitutive activation by EGFRvIII stimulates proliferation and inhibits apoptosis predominantly through stimulation of the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K)/Akt pathway but also via the Ras/mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signal transduction pathway (10, 11). These data may explain the observation that patients with EGFRvIII-expressing tumors have a shorter interval to clinical relapse and poorer survival than patients with EGFRvIII-negative tumors (12).

Erlotinib (Tarceva, OSI-774) is a selective inhibitor of the EGFR tyrosine kinase and has shown activity in adult highgrade glioma (HGG) patients (13). A differential therapeutic response has been reported in these cases, with a variety of factors reported to be predictive for treatment efficacy, including activating mutations of EGFR and a wild-type PTEN (14, 15). Published preclinical data show equivocal results in adult glioblastoma model systems engineered to overexpress the deletion mutant. Erlotinib has been shown to inhibit EGFRvIII, blocking constitutive EGFRvIII kinase activity and the growth of EGFRvIIItransformed cells (15, 16). Furthermore, long-term exposure to erlotinib decreased EGFRvIII expression in transformed cells and selectively down-regulated the EGFRvIII-mediated induction of oncogenes that drive invasion in transformed glioblastoma cells (17). By contrast, other reports have shown that EGFR amplification/mutation even in the presence of functional PTEN did not render sensitivity to EGFR inhibitors (18, 19). This combination of alterations may therefore be necessary but not sufficient for conferring glioblastoma sensitivity to EGFR kinase inhibition (20). Consequently, one could infer the existence of additional determinants of glioblastoma sensitivity to EGFR kinase inhibition yet to be identified. For instance, activating mutations of PIK3CA, as recently shown in adult and pediatric glioblastomas, could account for tumor insensitivity to EGFR inhibition.

HGGs in children seem to be clinically and biologically distinct from their adult counterparts. Glioblastomas in adults are classified as primary or secondary based on progression from preexisting low-grade lesions and on distinct patterns of molecular abnormalities (21). Although some molecular abnormalities encountered in pediatric cases are reminiscent of secondary adult glioblastoma [*TP53* mutation (22) and platelet-derived growth factor receptor α (PDGFR α) overexpression (23)], these neoplasms rarely originate from preexisting low-grade lesions (24). Unfortunately, our understanding of these differences is restricted by the relative paucity of molecular data derived from pediatric tumors.

EGFR has been considered to play a less important role in pediatric HGG, although this issue is compounded by the limited available data. The receptor seems to be frequently over-expressed, usually in the absence of gene amplification, with reports varying from 10% to 80% of pediatric nonbrain stem HGGs (25–29). Interestingly, the primary site of the tumor may affect the type of genetic changes involved, with data indicating that *TP53* mutation and *EGFR* overexpression are more frequent in diffuse intrinsic pontine glioma than in supratentorial sites in children (25).

We have sought to clarify the role of EGFR in pediatric HGG and to assess the *in vitro* sensitivity of pediatric glioma cell line models to erlotinib. These data identify a higher prevalence of *EGFR* gene amplification and *EGFRvIII* mutation in pediatric HGG than previously recognized. We further investigated the potential of treatments targeting the receptor in deletion mutantpositive cases.

Materials and Methods

Tumor samples. HGG samples from 90 patients were obtained after approval by Local and Multicenter Ethical Review Committees. The collection consisted of 53 glioblastoma multiforme, 16 anaplastic astrocytomas, 3 anaplastic oligodendrogliomas, 3 brainstem gliomas, and 25 other WHO grade 3 or 4 lesions. All cases were archival formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded (FFPE) tissues. The presence of tumor tissue in these samples and the tumor type was verified on a H&E-stained section independently by two neuropathologists (D.W.E. and S.A-S.).

Immunohistochemistry and chromogenic in situ hybridization. Immunohistochemistry was done on representative 4- or 5-µm FFPE sections. EGFR overexpression was assessed using the mouse monoclonal antibody 31G7 (Zymed) at a dilution of 1:50 using the Envision-HRP system (K4006, Dako) as previously described (30). EGFRvIII was assessed using a 1:100 dilution of the mouse monoclonal antibody G100 (Zymed) as a primary and antigen retrieval by microwaving in 10 mmol/L citrate buffer (pH 6.0) for 3 \times 5 min (31). PDGFR α was assessed using the polyclonal rabbit primary antibody RB-1691 (LabVision) at 1:150 dilution with 15 min antigen retrieval in 10 mmol/L citrate buffer (pH 6.0; ref. 32). Chromogenic in situ hybridization (CISH) was done using Spot-Light amplification probes for EGFR (Zymed) according to the manufacturer's protocol and as reported earlier (30). Cases were considered to be amplified for EGFR when >50% of the neoplastic cells harbored (a) more than five signals per nuclei or (b) large gene copy clusters. Immunohistochemical and CISH analyses were done with observers blinded to the results of EGFR and sequencing data.

Mutation analysis. Genomic DNA was isolated from representative 10-µm-thick unstained tissue sections containing >85% tumor cells, as determined from a serial H&E-stained section, using the QIAamp DNA Mini kit (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Exons 2 to 8, coding for the extracellular domain of EGFR, and exons 18 to 21, coding for the receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK) domain of EGFR, were

amplified by PCR (33). Products were purified using the QIAquick PCR Purification kit and subjected to bidirectional sequencing using BigDye Terminator Mix 3.1 (Applied Biosystems) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Capillary sequencing was done in duplicate on an ABI 3100 genetic analyzer (Applied Biosystems), and sequences were evaluated for the presence of mutations using Mutation Surveyor Software (SoftGenetics LLC). A reverse transcription-PCR (RT-PCR) was developed for detection of the EGFRvIII mutation from FFPE sections. RNA was extracted from representative 10-µm-thick unstained tissue sections containing >85% tumor cells, as determined from a serial H&Estained section, using the Recover-All kit (Ambion). cDNA was synthesized from 200 ng RNA using SuperScript II reverse transcriptase (Invitrogen Ltd.). The deletion region was amplified with primers in exon 1 (5'-GGGCTCTGGAGGAAAAGAAA-3') and exon 9 (5'-CCTCCATCTCA-TAGCTGTCG-3') amplifying a region of 91 bp when the deletion is present and 892 bp in the wild-type. The presence of the EGFRvIII fragment was confirmed in duplicate by direct sequencing.

Cell culture and generation of isogenic cell lines. Glioblastoma cell lines U87MG and KNS42 were obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (LGC Promochem) and Japan Cancer Research Resources !s] cell banks, respectively. SF188 was kindly provided by Dr. Daphne Haas-Kogan (University of California at San Francisco, San Francisco, CA), whereas UW479, Res259, and Res186 were kindly provided by Dr. Michael Bobola (University of Washington, Seattle, WA). Cells were grown as monolayers in DMEM/F12 Ham's medium + 10% FCS in 5% CO2. EGFR constructs for isogenic cell lines were created by PCRs done using Phusion DNA polymerase enzyme (Finnzymes) to minimize the risk of error. Full-length wild-type EGFR was amplified from A431 cell line cDNA using the forward primer 5'-TCTTCGGCTAGCAAC-GATGCGACCCTC-3' and the reverse primer 5'-ATGCGGCCGCTCA-TACTATCCTCCGTGGT-3', which contained NheI and NotI enzyme restriction sites, respectively. The EGFRvIII mutant was created using splice overlapping extension PCR. Two PCRs were done to generate two fragments with overlapping ends surrounding the deleted region (exon 1: forward, 5'-TCTTCGGCTAGCAACGATGCGACCCTC-3'; reverse, 5'-TGTCACCACATAATTACCTTTCTTTTCCTCCAGAGCC-3'; exon 8: forward, 5'-GGAAAAGAAAGGTAATTATGTGGTGACAGAT-CACGGC-3'; reverse, 5'-GCCGCGTATGATTTCTAGATTCTCAAAGGC-3'). These fragments were then combined in a subsequent "fusion" PCR in which the overlapping ends annealed, allowing 3' overlap of each strand to serve as a primer for the 3' extension of the complementary strand. The result was a fragment of 499 bp with EGFRvIII deletion and NheI and XbaI restriction sites at the 3' and 5' ends. The remaining EGFR cDNA sequence was amplified using forward primer 5'-GAATCTAGAAAT-CATACGCGGCAGGACC-3' and reverse primer 5'-ATGCGGCCGCTCA-TACTATCCTCCGTGGT-3', which contained XbaI and NotI enzyme restriction sites. The vector F527 (34) was digested by NheI and NotI and the PCR fragments by the enzyme corresponding to their restriction sites. The cDNA fragment was then extracted from an agarose gel and purified using the QIAquick Gel Extraction kit (Qiagen). The ligation of inserts and vector F527 was done using T4 DNA ligase (Invitrogen). Electrocompetent XL1 blue Escherichia coli (kindly provided by Betsy Julienne, Institut de Cancérologie Gustave Roussy, Villejuif, France) was transformed by electroporation in the presence of the ligation products, and selection was done by bacterial culture on ampicillin LB agar Petri dishes. Colonies showing the correct orientation by restriction digestion were further designated to sequencing. The DNA from plasmid with the correct sequence was then efficiently isolated from E. coli using Maxiprep using the PureLink HiPure Plasmid Filter Purification kit (Invitrogen). U87MG and SF188 were then transfected with either the F527 empty vector, or F527-EGFR wild-type or F527-EGFRvIII plasmids using Lipofectamine (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Stable clones were obtained after 4 wk of antibiotic selection by 1 µg/mL puromvcin.

Western blot analysis. Cells at 80% confluence were trypsinized, washed with PBS, and lysed for 1 h at 4 °C in lysis buffer (Cell Signaling) and a complete mini protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche Diagnostics).

EGFR Mutations in Pediatric High-Grade Glioma

Cells were then centrifuged at 11,000 rpm at 4° C for 15 min, and protein concentration was determined (bicinchoninic acid assay, Pierce). Total protein extracts (30 µg/lane) were separated electrophoretically in 4% to 20% SDS-polyacrylamide gel and transferred to nitrocellulose membranes (Invitrogen). Immunodetection was done using antibodies directed against EGFR, phosphorylated and total extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2, phosphorylated/total Akt, and PTEN (all 1:1,000; Cell Signaling) as well as glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (1:2,000; Chemicon). Blots were revealed with peroxidase-conjugated secondary anti-rabbit or anti-mouse antibodies (GE Healthcare) followed by enhanced chemiluminescence solution (GE Healthcare).

Detection of phosphorylated RTKs. The levels of phosphorylated and total wild-type EGFR were determined from 2.5 µg of protein lysate by an electrochemiluminescent immunoassay (MesoScale Discovery) according to the manufacturer's instructions. A phosphorylated RTK assay (R&D Systems) was used to screen multiple RTKs. Cells were lysed in radioimmunoprecipitation assay lysis buffer (Cell Signaling) and a complete mini protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche Diagnostics), as described for Western blot analysis. Phosphorylated PDGFR α/β was measured in a sandwich ELISA assay (Cell Signaling) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Growth inhibition studies. Erlotinib (Euroasian Chemicals PVT Ltd.), imatinib (LC Laboratories), the dual PI3K and mammalian target of rapamycin inhibitor PI-103 (provided by Piramed Ltd.), and the MAPK/extracellular signal-regulated kinase kinase (MEK) inhibitor PD325901 (provided by Dundee University, Dundee, United Kingdom) were obtained in powder form and diluted in either DMSO or water at 10 mmol/L stock solutions. Growth inhibition was determined using the sulforhodamine B (SRB) assay as described previously (35). Briefly, 10³ cells were seeded into 96-well microtiter plates and allowed to attach for 36 h. Compounds at a range of concentrations were added in quadruplicate wells for 6 d (at least three doubling times) in a volume of 200 μ L/ well. Cells were then fixed with ice-cold 10% trichloroacetic acid for 30 min, then washed with tap water, and dried. The plates were subsequently stained with 0.4% SRB in 1% acetic acid for 15 min, and excess stain was washed off with 1% acetic acid. After the plates were dried, the stain was solubilized with 10 mmol/L Tris base, and the absorbance was determined at 570 nm. The IC50 was calculated as the drug concentration that inhibits cell growth by 50% compared with control growth using GraphPad Prism 4 program (GraphPad Software). All values are given as mean ± SD of at least three independent experiments.

Statistical analysis. All statistical tests were done in R2.6.1.¹⁰ Correlations between categorical values were done using the χ^2 and Fisher's exact tests. Correlations between continuous variables were done using Student's *t* test or the Mann-Whitney *U* test. Cumulative survival probabilities were calculated using the Kaplan-Meier method, with differences between survival rates analyzed with the log-rank test. All tests were two tailed, with a confidence interval of 95%. *P* values of <0.05 were considered statistically significant.

Results

EGFR is amplified and overexpressed in pediatric HGGs. We collected a series of 90 HGGs from patients under the age of 19 years (median, 11.3 years) for molecular analysis. All samples were archival FFPE pathology specimens, with variable quantity and quality of material available as sections for immunohistochemistry or DNA/RNA extraction. To evaluate gene dosage and receptor expression of EGFR, we used CISH and immunohistochemistry on tissue sections.

We observed gene amplification in 8 of 74 (11%) evaluable cases. These consisted of 6 glioblastomas (6 of 43, 14%) and 2 anaplastic astrocytomas (2 of 11, 18%). No amplifications were

Clin Cancer Res 2009;15(18) September 15, 2009

¹⁰ http://www.r-project.org/

3.2 EGFRvIII Deletion Mutations in Paediatric High-Grade Glioma and Response to Targeted

Therapy in Paediatric Glioma Cell Lines



Fig. 1. EGFR expression and amplification in pediatric HGG. H&E-stained sections, immunohistochemistry for wild-type EGFR, and EGFR CISH for three representative cases of pediatric HGG. Amplifications were present either as discrete signals at a copy number of 9 to 10 per nucleus (RMH2480), in scattered cells throughout the tumor (RMH2449), or in dense clusters in the vast majority of the tumor cells (RMH2457).

seen in any other high-grade lesion. Polysomy of chromosome 7 was noted in an additional 14 of 74 (19%) cases and included 10 cases of glioblastoma, 3 anaplastic astrocytoma, and a gliosarcoma.

These amplifications were mostly present as dense clusters of nuclear signals representing a high-level DNA copy number gain in the vast majority of the tumor cells (Fig. 1, RMH2457); however, additional patterns were also observed. These included discrete signals at a copy number of 9 to 10 per nucleus, observed in a case of anaplastic astrocytoma (Fig. 1, RMH2480), or highdensity clusters, present only in scattered cells throughout the tumor, in a glioblastoma (Fig. 1, RMH2449).

All cases of pediatric HGG harboring *EGFR* amplification were found to express the protein at high levels (Fig. 1). There was no association between *EGFR* amplification and clinical outcome (P = 0.457, log-rank test for overall survival) or age at diagnosis (P = 0.591, Mann-Whitney *U* test).

Pediatric HGGs harbor vIII deletions but no activating mutations in the extracellular or kinase domains. We further screened our pediatric HGG cases for mutations in the *EGFR* gene. Previously reported activating mutations in the kinase domain (in non-small cell lung cancer and others) and the extracellular domain (adult glioblastoma) were screened by PCR amplification of exonic sequences and direct sequencing. We observed no mutations in 60 (kinase domain) and 66 (extracellular domain) pediatric cases. Although the lack of kinase domain mutations is consistent with data from adult glioblastoma, the absence of extracellular domain mutations in our pediatric series is significantly discordant with the published frequency of 18 of 132 (13.6%; ref. 2) in adult glioblastoma (P = 0.0019, Fisher's exact test). In addition, we developed a RT-PCR assay applicable to FFPE samples to screen for the presence of the EGFRvIII deletion mutation. A product of 91 bp spanning exons 1 and 8 was generated from extracted mRNA in cases harboring deletion of exons 2 to 7, which was verified by direct sequencing (Fig. 2). We detected six cases of EGFRvIII in 35 assessable cases (17%). These included 1 of 20 (5%) glioblastoma, a single case of gliosarcoma, and an increased frequency in anaplastic astrocytoma (2 of 6, 33%) and anaplastic oligodendroglioma (2 of 3, 67%). Despite the small numbers, these latter cases had a statistically significant increased frequency compared with other pediatric HGG (P = 0.036, Fisher's exact test). Interestingly, the glioblastoma and anaplastic oligodendroglioma and gliosarcomas were not. A summary of mutation data is given in Table 1.

Pediatric glioma cell lines and response to erlotinib. In addition to the primary tumors, we also screened our panel of pediatric glioma cell lines for *EGFR* mutations as described above. None of five lines harbored any point mutations, deletions, or amplifications nor significant levels of protein or mRNA expression of the receptor (data not shown). Treatment with the smallmolecule EGFR inhibitor erlotinib revealed a general lack of sensitivity, with an IC₅₀ of >50 µmol/L for most of the pediatric cell lines. The most sensitive cell line was the glioblastoma SF188 line (IC₅₀ = 8.3 ± 0.7 µmol/L) derived from an 8-year-old male patient, which is *PTEN* wild-type and harbors mutant *TP53*.¹¹

Clin Cancer Res 2009;15(18) September 15, 2009

¹¹ Bax DA*, Little SE*, Gaspar N, et al. Molecular and phenotypic characterisation of paediatric high grade glioma cell lines as models for preclinical drug development PLoS ONE 4: e5209.

3. EGFR Molecular Alterations as Potential Therapeutic Targets for Gliomas in Adult and

Paediatric Populations



Fig. 2. Detection of EGFRvIII deletions in pediatric HGG. A, lane 3, RT-PCR amplifying a product of 91 bp in EGFRvIII-positive cases. B, sequencing of the RT-PCR product established the presence of sequence spanning exons 1 and 8 of the EGFR gene.

Therefore, to study the effects of EGFR overexpression and vIII deletion on pediatric glioma cells, we constructed isogenic cell line models using the PTEN wild-type pediatric glioblastoma cell line SF188 as well as the PTEN-deleted adult glioblastoma line U87MG. We successfully transduced either EGFR wild-type or vIII into both cell lines, resulting in stable protein overexpression (Fig. 3A). Treatment of these cell line models with erlotinib inhibited both PI3K and MAPK pathways and induced a G1 arrest in all cells (Supplementary Fig. S1) but revealed no statistically significant differences in efficacy between EGFR-transduced (wild-type and vIII) and parental/ empty vector for both U87MG and SF188 (Fig. 3B). Isolated clones showed a modest (2-fold) increase in sensitivity when overexpressing the vIII deletion in both cell lines; however, this was not generalizable. This was despite showing that vIII-transduced cells harbored constitutive activation of the receptor, as determined by an electrochemiluminescent immunoassay (detecting transactivation of the endogenous EGFR rather than the mutant) and also phosphorylated RTK array analysis (detecting both wild-type and deletion mutant phosphorylation directly).

Mechanisms of resistance to erlotinib in SF188 cells. As EGFR signals through both PI3K and MAPK, we sought to determine whether the presence of either wild-type or mutant *EGFR* would render glioblastoma cells more sensitive to agents inhibiting these pathways. Regardless of *PTEN* status, there was no consistent change in efficacy of EGFR-transduced U87MG or SF188 cells with the dual PI3K/mammalian target of rapamycin inhibitor PI-103 (Fig. 4A; refs. 36, 37) or the MEK inhibitor PD325901 (Fig. 4B).

We next focused on the pediatric SF188 line to investigate the possible biological basis for the lack of increased efficacy of erlotinib in EGFR-overexpressing clones despite these cells harboring wild-type *PTEN*. Selecting the most erlotinib-sensitive clones transduced by EGFR, we first showed that there was no difference in response to small-molecule inhibition due to either mutant or wild-type EGFR expression over a period of 72 hours despite a modest diminution of downstream signaling in the EGFR mutant SF188 cells (data not shown).

In U87MG cells, there is coactivation of EGFR and MET, which allows for continued oncogenic RTK signaling in the presence of small-molecule inhibition of EGFR (38, 39). To look for similar association in our pediatric glioma cells, we assayed the SF188 clones with phosphorylated RTK antibody arrays (Fig. 5). There was only very low levels of constitutive EGFR activation in the control cells, reflecting the data from the electrochemiluminescent immunoassay (Fig. 3C and D), and no additional RTK activation. There was an increase in phosphorylated EGFR on transduction with the wild-type receptor and a further significant increase on constitutive activation by the EGFRvIII deletion mutant. In concert with this, we observed a significant up-regulation of phosphorylated PDGFR α and PDGFR β as well as a modest increase in activated MER, Tie-2, and Flt-3 (Fig. 5A). The increased levels of phosphorylated PDGFRAa/B were confirmed by a sandwich ELISA assay in our SF188 model (Supplementary Fig. S2) and were not seen in U87MG:EGFR wild-type or vIII mutant-overexpressing cells (data not shown). Four of the six (50%) pediatric HGG samples positive for EGFRvIII also showed strong expression of

	WHO grade	Amplification (CISH)	vIII deletion (RT-PCR)	Extracellular domain	Kinase domai
All pediatric HGG	- 124 	8/74 (11%)	6/35 (17%)	0/66	0/60
Glioblastoma multiforme	IV	6/43 (14%)	1/20 (5%)	0/34	0/30
Brain stem glioma	IV	0/3	0/1	0/3	0/2
Anaplastic astrocytoma	III	2/11 (18%)	2/6 (33%)	0/12	0/12
Anaplastic oligodendroglioma	III	0/4	2/3 (67%)*	0/4	0/4
Other pediatric HGG	_	0/13	1/5 (Gliosarcoma)	0/13	0/12

5757

www.aacrjournals.org

Clin Cancer Res 2009;15(18) September 15, 2009

3.2 EGFRvIII Deletion Mutations in Paediatric High-Grade Glioma and Response to Targeted

Therapy in Paediatric Glioma Cell Lines



Human Cancer Biology

Fig. 3. Glioblastoma cell lines stably overexpressing the EGFRvIII deletion mutant have constitutive activation but not increased sensitivity to erlotinib. *A*, expression of EGFR and PTEN by Western blot in adult (U87MG) and pediatric (SF188) glioblastoma cell lines stably expressing EGFR wild-type (185 kDa) and ylll deletion mutation (145 kDa). U87MG cells are *PTEN* deleted, and SF188 cells express the wild-type protein. *B*, sensitivity of the isogenic cell lines to erlotinib, as determined by the SRB assay. There were no statistically significant differences in the IC₅₀ values of any of the cell lines. *C*, constitutive activation of the receptor, in EGFRVIII-overxpressing cell lines. Absolute counts for total and phosphorylated EGFR are plotted on a log₁₀ scale. *D*, percentage of phosphorylated EGFR to total protein, as determined by an electrochemiluminescent immunoassay, in the isogenic cell line models.

PDGFR α protein by immunohistochemistry (Fig. 5B), a greater frequency than the population as a whole (36%). Intriguingly, these four cases included all those EGFRvIII-positive cases in the absence of gene amplification (both anaplastic oligodendrogliomas and a gliosarcoma) as well as an anaplastic astrocytoma. The number of positive cases was too small to assign a statistical association (P = 0.14, Fisher's exact test) but shows the cosegregation of these abnormalities in the clinical setting.

Finally, we tested whether inhibition of PDGFR would enhance the sensitivity of these cells to erlotinib treatment. We measured cell viability of the SF188:EGFRvIII cells treated with a fixed dose of 10 μ mol/L erlotinib alone and in combination with 10 μ mol/L imatinib. Treatment with a combination of both small molecules showed a significant decrease in cell viability compared with either compound alone (*P* < 0.01, *t* test; Fig. 5C).

Discussion

Although the oncogenic significance of activated EGFR signaling is well established in primary adult glioblastoma, in the pediatric setting the picture is less clear. We have carried out the largest molecular analysis to date of EGFR in the HGGs of childhood and identified the presence of the EGFRvIII deletion mutation in pediatric cases.

EGFRvIII was noted in WHO grade 4 glioblastoma and WHO grade 3 anaplastic astrocytoma cases in association with gene amplification and receptor overexpression. The few previous reports on EGFR in pediatric gliomas suggested that amplification was less common in pediatric glioblastomas than in adults, although the frequency in these small series ranged from 0% to 25%, measured using a variety of different assays on differing collections of tumor histologies (25-29). We observed an overall frequency of 11% amplification, with up to 14% in glioblastoma and 18% in anaplastic astrocytoma. Of particular interest was the observation that in some cases the high-density clusters of amplified probe signal were seen only in scattered cells throughout the tumor. This may explain the underestimation reported in earlier studies and highlights the benefit of using a technique such as CISH to determine gene amplification, as it allows histologic evaluation concurrent with the molecular analysis.

Clin Cancer Res 2009;15(18) September 15, 2009

3. EGFR Molecular Alterations as Potential Therapeutic Targets for Gliomas in Adult and

Paediatric Populations



Fig. 4. Pediatric glioblastoma cell lines transduced with wild-type or vIII deletion mutant EGFR were not rendered more sensitive to inhibitors of the PI3K or MAPK pathways. Response of transduced U87MG and SF188 cells to inhibitors of PI3K/mammalian target of rapamycin (PI-103; A) and MEK (PD325901; B), as determined by the SRB assay. There were no statistically significant differences in the IC₅₀ values of any of the cell lines.

We further observed EGFRvIII expression, in the absence of gene amplification, in two of three WHO grade 3 anaplastic oligodendrogliomas and a single case of WHO grade 4 gliosarcoma. Although there are no reports to our knowledge on the presence

of EGFRvIII in pediatric anaplastic oligodendrogliomas, the deletion has previously been identified in an adult case (40), and more recently, we have observed 2 of 24 adult cases to harbor the deletion (31). Both of these studies further reported that



Fig. 5. Coactivation of PDGFRα/β in SF188 cells stably expressing EGFRvIII. *A*, phosphorylated RTK array analysis of isogenic SF188 cells shows low levels of constitutive EGFR activation in the control cells, and no additional RTK activation, in contrast to a large increase on constitutive activation by the EGFRvIII deletion mutant in association with a significant up-regulation of phosphorylated PDGFRa and PDGFRB (also seen to a lesser extent with the wild-type receptor) as well as MER, Tie-2, and Flt-3. *B*, immunohistochemistry for EGFRvIII and PDGFRa in a case of pediatric gliosarcoma (RMH2473) showing coexpression of the receptors in the clinical setting. *C*, coinhibition of EGFR and PDGFR by erlotinib and imatinib showed a significant decrease in SF188: EGFRvIII cell viability than either compound alone (*P* < 0.01, *t* test).

www.aacrjournals.org

5759

Clin Cancer Res 2009;15(18) September 15, 2009

Therapy in Paediatric Glioma Cell Lines

Human Cancer Biology

the mutant receptor was amplified, and the significance of our findings of EGFRvIII expression in the absence of amplification is not clear; however, it may be significant that these anaplastic oligodendroglioma cases also had strong PDGFRa expression, as genomic alterations in EGFR and PDGFRA tend to be mutually exclusive in pediatric glioblastomas (41). Intriguingly, in a mouse model genetically engineered to express both EGFRvIII and Ras under a GFAP promoter, GFAP-V(12)Ha-ras;GFAP-EGFRvIII, but not GFAP-V(12)Ha-ras;GFAP-EGFR(wt) double transgenic mice, had decreased survival and developed oligodendrogliomas and mixed oligoastrocytoma tumors, instead of the fibrillary astrocytomas observed in GFAP-V(12)Ha-ras mice (6). The role of EGFR, and specifically the vIII deletion mutant, remains to be clarified in anaplastic oligodendroglioma, and assessing the translational significance in children is hampered by a lack of cell line models.

Activating mutations in the kinase domain of *EGFR* predict for sensitivity to small molecular inhibitors in tumors such as non-small cell lung cancer; however, these have not been reported in adult glioblastomas, and their absence from our pediatric series was not unexpected. By contrast, the identification of oncogenic point mutations in the extracellular domains in adult glioblastoma, and the resultant efficacy of receptor-targeting strategies, led to the expectation that we may also observe these base changes in childhood cases. The lack of such mutations once again serves to highlight the potential biological differences between gliomas arising at different ages.

Expression of the EGFRvIII mutant in association with wildtype PTEN has been reported to predict for sensitivity to smallmolecule EGFR inhibitors, such as erlotinib, in the clinic (15), although in some model systems constitutive EGFR activation did not render the glioblastoma cells sensitive. We sought to clarify the situation in the childhood disease by screening a series of well-characterised¹¹ glioma cell lines derived from pediatric patients for *in vitro* sensitivity to erlotinib. These lines, consisting of both *PTEN* null and wild-type, all expressed EGFR at only low levels and were relatively insensitive to small-molecule inhibition by erlotinib. Transduction of the *PTEN*-expressing pediatric glioblastoma cell line SF188 with EGFRVIII did not greatly enhance the effects of erlotinib on cell viability nor downstream signaling.

EGFRvIII and the wild-type receptor have recently been shown to differentially activate downstream pathways, suggesting that therapeutic approaches toward tumors expressing these two distinct receptors should be fundamentally different (38). The expectation that targeting the MAPK pathway in wild-type EGFR, and the PI3K pathway in EGFRvIII-expressing cells, was not borne out by our data with engineered SF188 or U87MG cells, although in part this may be explained by the significant transactivation of the wild-type receptor in cells transduced with the mutant.

Previous reports have shown that coexpression of EGFRvIII and PTEN in U87MG cells rendered them highly susceptible to growth arrest by erlotinib compared with controls and U87 cells transfected with *EGFR* wild-type and *EGFRvIII* alone (15). In common with a recent study using a panel of serially propagated glioblastoma xenografts (20), it seems from our experiments with pediatric SF188 cells that the combination of PTEN expression with *EGFRvIII* mutation may be insufficient to confer obligate sensitivity to the small-molecule inhibitor.

The above data strongly suggest the presence of additional determinants of sensitivity to EGFR inhibitors in SF188 cells and possibly to pediatric HGGs in the clinic. The recent discovery of activating mutations in PI3K family member genes, such as PIK3CA and PIK3R1, in malignant glioma reiterates the importance of multiple mechanisms to increase signaling through this pathway (3, 42). SF188 harbors amplification at chromosome 12q14 of several genes, including CDK4 and CENTG1, also known as the PI3K enhancer PIKE-A (43), a ubiquitously expressed GTPase, which binds to and enhances Akt kinase activity in a guanine nucleotide-dependent manner (44). Additional genomic aberrations in SF188 include amplification of MYC at 8q24,11 which can be stabilized by PI3K (45) and provides an additional attenuation of this pathway in SF188 cells. Both amplification events have been reported in pediatric glioblastoma patient samples (43, 46).

Coactivation of RTKs, and the concept of "kinase switching," is an emerging concept that may additionally explain the lack of efficacy of agents targeting activated RTKs, such as EGFR. In adult glioblastoma, EGFR and MET seem frequently to be coactivated, with in vitro data supporting cotargeting both receptors (39). Furthermore, in adult glioblastoma models, the MET receptor seems strongly phosphorylated as a function of EGFRvIII levels. This has been hypothesized to be a result of an intermediary signaling component such as Src, as has been postulated for human bladder carcinoma (38). In the pediatric SF188 cells, we observed a significant activation of the closely related PDGFRs PDGFRa and PDGFRB on transduction with EGFRvIII (and to a lesser extent with the wild-type receptor). We have previously reported high levels of Src family kinase expression in pediatric glioma cell lines, and SF188 in particular,¹¹ and the role of these key regulators of signal transduction in the transactivation and/or switching between constitutively activated EGFRvIII and PDGFRa/B warrants further investigation.

The identification of *EGFR/III* deletions in pediatric HGGs and the possible resistance mechanisms to EGFR inhibitors conferred by known oncogenic amplifications have significant translational potential. In particular, PDGFRs are overexpressed at high frequency in pediatric glioblastomas, and specifically with three of six EGFRvIII-positive cases in this study, and this may be due to a differential, amplification-independent mechanism of action in anaplastic oligodendrogliomas. Coupled with evidence of enhanced efficacy from our *in vitro* model systems, these data provide a strong rationale for cotargeting with small-molecule inhibitors of both RTKs, potentially overcoming resistance to single agents in appropriate patient cohorts (47).

Disclosure of Potential Conflicts of Interest

P. Workman is employed by, has received a commercial research grant from, has an ownership interest in, and is a consultant for Piramed Pharma.

Acknowledgments

We thank Drs. Daphne Haas-Kogan and Michael Bobola for provision of the pediatric glioma cell lines, Steve Hobbs for assistance with the F527 vector, Alice Smith (The Institute of Cancer Research) for assistance with sequencing, and Sharon Gowan for assistance with the electrochemiluminescent assay.

Clin Cancer Res 2009;15(18) September 15, 2009

3. EGFR Molecular Alterations as Potential Therapeutic Targets for Gliomas in Adult and

Paediatric Populations

References

- Chu CT, Everiss KD, Wikstrand CJ, Batra SK, Kung HJ, Bigner DD. Receptor dimerization is not a factor in the signalling activity of a transforming variant epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFRvIII). Biochem J 1997;324:855–61.
- Lee JC, Vivanco I, Beroukhim R, et al. Epidermal growth factor receptor activation in glioblastoma through novel missense mutations in the extracellular domain. PLoS Med 2006;3:e485.
- McLendon R, Friedman A, Bigner D, et al. Comprehensive genomic characterization defines human glioblastoma genes and core pathways. Nature 2008.
- Grandal MV, Zandi R, Pedersen MW, Willumsen BM, van Deurs B, Poulsen HS. EGFRvIII escapes down-regulation due to impaired internalization and sorting to lysosomes. Carcinogenesis 2007; 28:1408–17.
- Cavenee WK. Genetics and new approaches to cancer therapy. Carcinogenesis 2002;23:683–6.
- Ding H, Shannon P, Lau N, et al. Oligodendrogliomas result from the expression of an activated mutant epidermal growth factor receptor in a RAS transgenic mouse astrocytoma model. Cancer Res 2003;63:1106–13.
- Johns TG, Perera RM, Vernes SC, et al. The efficacy of epidermal growth factor receptor-specific antibodies against glioma xenografts is influenced by receptor levels, activation status, and heterodimerization. Clin Cancer Res 2007;13:1911–25.
- Lammering G, Valerie K, Lin PS, Hewit TH, Schmidt-Ullrich RK. Radiation-induced activation of a common variant of EGFR confers enhanced radioresistance. Radiother Oncol 2004;72:267–73.
- Nagane M, Levitzki A, Gazit A, Cavenee WK, Huang HJ. Drug resistance of human glioblastoma cells conferred by a tumor-specific mutant epidermal growth factor receptor through modulation of Bcl-XL and caspase-3-like proteases. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1998;95:5724–9.
- Moscatello DK, Holgado-Madruga M, Emlet DR, Montgomery RB, Wong AJ. Constitutive activation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase by a naturally occurring mutant epidermal growth factor receptor. J Biol Chem 1998;273:200-6.
- Klingler-Hoffmann M, Fodero-Tavoletti MT, Mishima K, et al. The protein tyrosine phosphatase TCPTP suppresses the tumorigenicity of glioblastoma cells expressing a mutant epidermal growth factor receptor. J Biol Chem 2001; 276:46313–8.
- Feldkamp MM, Lala P, Lau N, Roncari L, Guha A. Expression of activated epidermal growth factor receptors, Ras-guanosine triphosphate, and mitogen-activated protein kinase in human glioblastoma multiforme specimens. Neurosurgery 1999;45:1442–53.
- Halatsch ME, Schmidt U, Behnke-Mursch J, Unterberg A, Wirtz CR. Epidermal growth factor receptor inhibition for the treatment of glioblastoma multiforme and other malignant brain tumours. Cancer Treat Rev 2006;32:74–89.
- 14. Haas-Kogan DA, Prados MD, Tihan T, et al. Epidermal growth factor receptor, protein kinase B/Akt, and glioma response to erlotinib. J Natl Cancer Inst 2005;97:880–7.

- Mellinghoff IK, Wang MY, Vivanco I, et al. Molecular determinants of the response of glioblastomas to EGFR kinase inhibitors. N Engl J Med 2005;353:2012–24.
- Mellinghoff IK, Cloughesy TF, Mischel PS. PTEN-mediated resistance to epidermal growth factor receptor kinase inhibitors. Clin Cancer Res 2007;13:378–81.
- Lal A, Glazer CA, Martinson HM, et al. Mutant epidermal growth factor receptor up-regulates molecular effectors of tumor invasion. Cancer Res 2002;62:3335–9.
- Learn CA, Hartzell TL, Wikstrand CJ, et al. Resistance to tyrosine kinase inhibition by mutant epidermal growth factor receptor variant III contributes to the neoplastic phenotype of glioblastoma multiforme. Clin Cancer Res 2004;10:3216–24.
- ma multiforme. Clin Cancer Res 2004;10:3216-24.
 19. Fan QW, Knight ZA, Goldenberg DD, et al. A dual PI3 kinase/mTOR inhibitor reveals emergent efficacy in glioma. Cancer Cell 2006;9:341–9.
- 20. Sarkaria JN, Carlson BL, Schroeder MA, et al. Use of an orthotopic xenograft model for assessing the effect of epidermal growth factor receptor amplification on glioblastoma radiation response. Clin Cancer Res 2006;12:2264–71.
- Xleihues P, Cavenee WK. Pathology and genetics of tumors of the nervous system. Lyon: IARC Press; 2000.
- Pollack IF, Finkelstein SD, Woods J, et al. Expression of p53 and prognosis in children with malignant gliomas. N Engl J Med 2002;346:420–7.
 Nakamura M, Shimada K, Ishida E, et al. Molec-
- Nakamura M, Shimada K, Ishida E, et al. Molecular pathogenesis of pediatric astrocytic tumors. Neuro Oncol 2007;9:113–23.
- Broniscer A, Baker SJ, West AN, et al. Clinical and molecular characteristics of malignant transformation of low-grade glioma in children. J Clin Oncol 2007;25:682–9.
- 25. Gilbertson RJ, Hill DA, Hernan R, et al. ERBB1 is amplified and overexpressed in high-grade diffusely infiltrative pediatric brain stem glioma. Clin Cancer Res 2003;9:3620–4.
- 26. Bredel M, Pollack IF, Hamilton RL, James CD. Epidermal growth factor receptor expression and gene amplification in high-grade non-brainstem gliomas of childhood. Clin Cancer Res 1999;5:1786–92.
- Pollack IF, Hamilton RL, James CD, et al. Rarity of PTEN deletions and EGFR amplification in malignant gliomas of childhood: results from the Children's Cancer Group 945 cohort. J Neurosurg 2006;105:418–24.
- Liang ML, Ma J, Ho M, et al. Tyrosine kinase expression in pediatric high grade astrocytoma. J Neurooncol 2008;87:247–53.
- Korshunov A, Sycheva R, Gorelyshev S, Golanov A. Clinical utility of fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) in nonbrainstem glioblastomas of childhood. Mod Pathol 2005;18:1258–63.
- 30. Little SE, Bax DA, Rodriguez-Pinilla M, et al. Multifaceted dysregulation of the epidermal growth factor receptor pathway in clear cell sarcoma of the kidney. Clin Cancer Res 2007;13:4360–4.
- Viana-Pereira M, Lopes JM, Little S, et al. Analysis of EGFR overexpression, EGFR gene amplification and the EGFRvIII mutation in Portuguese

5761

high-grade gliomas. Anticancer Res 2008;28: 913-20.

- Puputti M, Tynninen O, Sihto H, et al. Amplification of KIT, PDGFRA, VEGFR2, and EGFR in gliomas. Mol Cancer Res 2006;4:927–34.
- 33. Reis-Filho JS, Milanezi F, Carvalho S, et al. Metaplastic breast carcinomas exhibit EGFR, but not HER2, gene amplification and overexpression: immunohistochemical and chromogenic in situ hybridization analysis. Breast Cancer Res 2005;7:R1028–35.
- 34. Hobbs S, Jitrapakdee S, Wallace JC. Development of a bicistronic vector driven by the human polypeptide chain elongation factor 1a promoter for creation of stable mammalian cell lines that express very high levels of recombinant proteins. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1998;252:368–72.
- 35. Skehan P, Storeng R, Scudiero D, et al. New colorimetric cytotoxicity assay for anticancer-drug screening. J Natl Cancer Inst 1990;82:1107–12.
- Hayakawa M, Kaizawa H, Moritomo H, et al. Synthesis and biological evaluation of pyrido [3',2':4,5]furo[3,2-d]pyrimidine derivatives as novel Pl3 kinase p110α inhibitors. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 2007;17:2438–42.
 Raynaud FI, Eccles S, Clarke PA, et al. Pharma-
- Raynaud FI, Eccles S, Clarke PA, et al. Pharmacologic characterization of a potent inhibitor of class I phosphatidylinositide 3-kinases. Cancer Res 2007;67:5840–50.
- Huang PH, Cavenee WK, Furnari FB, White FM. Uncovering therapeutic targets for glioblastoma: a systems biology approach. Cell Cycle 2007;6: 2750–4.
- Stommel JM, Kimmelman AC, Ying H, et al. Coactivation of receptor tyrosine kinases affects the response of tumor cells to targeted therapies. Science 2007.
- Reifenberger J, Reifenberger G, Ichimura K, Schmidt EE, Wechsler W, Collins VP. Epidermal growth factor receptor expression in oligodendroglial tumors. Am J Pathol 1996;149:29–35.
- 41. Wong KK, Tsang YT, Chang YM, et al. Genome-wide allelic imbalance analysis of pediatric gliomas by single nucleotide polymorphic allele array. Cancer Res 2006;66:11172–8.
- Parsons DW, Jones S, Zhang X, et al. An integrated genomic analysis of human glioblastoma multiforme. Science 2008;321:1807–12.
- 43. Knobbe CB, Trampe-Kieslich A, Reifenberger G. Genetic alteration and expression of the phosphoinositol-3-kinase/Akt pathway genes PIK3CA and PIKE in human glioblastomas. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol 2005;31:486–90.
- Liu X, Hu Y, Hao C, Rempel SA, Ye K. PIKE-A is a proto-oncogene promoting cell growth, transformation and invasion. Oncogene 2007;26:4918–27.
- 45. Kumar A, Marques M, Carrera AC. Phosphoinositide 3-kinase activation in late G₁ is required for c-Myc stabilization and S phase entry. Mol Cell Biol 2006;26:9116–25.
- 46. Kucerova H, Stejskalova E, Vicha A, et al. Gene aberrations in childhood brain tumors. Folia Biol (Praha) 2000;46:187–90.
- Workman P. Drugging the cancer genome: new challenges of infrequent and combinatorial targets. Curr Opin Investig Drugs 2007;8:445–6.

3.2 EGFRvIII Deletion Mutations in Paediatric High-Grade Glioma and Response to Targeted Therapy in Paediatric Glioma Cell Lines

Supplementary Figure S1



3. EGFR Molecular Alterations as Potential Therapeutic Targets for Gliomas in Adult and Paediatric Populations

Supplementary Figure S2



ELISA for phospho-PDGFRa/ß

4. Microsatellite Instability in High-grade Gliomas and Medulloblastomas of Adult and Paediatric Patients

The results presented throughout this chapter were:

(i) Published as original articles in international peer reviewed journals:

Sub-Chapter 4.1: <u>Marta Viana-Pereira</u>, Inês Almeida, Sónia Sousa, Bethânia Mahler-Araújo, Raquel Seruca, José Pimentel and Rui M Reis. Analysis of Microsatellite Instability in Medulloblastoma. *Neuro-oncology* **11**(5):458-67, 2009.

(ii) Submitted for publication as an original article to an international peer reviewed journal:

Sub-Chapter 4.2: <u>Marta Viana-Pereira</u>, Alicia Lee, Sergey Popov, Dorine A Bax, Safa Al-Sarraj, Leslie R Bridges, João N Stávale, Darren Hargrave, Chris Jones and Rui M Reis. Microsatellite Instability in Pediatric High Grade Glioma is Associated with Genomic Profile and Differential Target Gene Inactivation, 2010.

4.1 Analysis of Microsatellite Instability in Medulloblastoma

NEURO-ONCOLOGY

Analysis of microsatellite instability in medulloblastoma

Marta Viana-Pereira, Inês Almeida, Sónia Sousa, Bethânia Mahler-Araújo, Raquel Seruca, José Pimentel, and Rui Manuel Reis

Life and Health Sciences Research Institute (ICVS), School of Health Sciences, University of Minho, Braga, Portugal (M.V.-P., I.A., R.M.R.); Institute of Molecular Pathology and Immunology, University of Porto, Porto, Portugal (S.S., R.S.); Histopathology Department, Addenbrooke's Hospital, University of Cambridge, Cambridge, United Kingdom (B.M.-A.); Laboratory of Neuropathology, Hospital de Santa Maria, Institute of Molecular Medicine, Lisbon, Portugal (J.P.)

Medulloblastoma is the most common malignant brain tumor in children. The presence of microsatellite instability (MSI) in brain tumors, particularly medulloblastomas, has not been properly addressed. The aim of the present study was to evaluate the role of MSI in medulloblastoma carcinogenesis. MSI status was determined in 36 patients using a pentaplex PCR of quasimonomorphic markers (NR27, NR21, NR24, BAT25, and BAT26). Methylation status of mismatch repair (MMR) genes was achieved by methylation-specific multiplex ligationdependent probe amplification (MLPA). In addition, MutS homolog 6 (MSH6) expression was determined by immunohistochemistry. Mutations of 10 MSI target genes (TCF4, XRCC2, MBD4, MRE11, ATR, MSH3, TGFBR2, RAD50, MSH6, and BAX) were studied by pentaplex PCR followed by analysis with GeneScan 3.7 software. Mutation analysis of hotspot regions of β-catenin (CTNNB1) and BRAF (v-raf murine sarcoma viral oncogene homolog B1) oncogenes was performed by PCR single-strand conformation polymorphism analysis followed by direct sequencing. Among the 36 tumors, we found four (11%) cases with instability, one with high MSI and three with low MSI. Methylation analysis of MMR genes in cases presenting shifts on the MSI markers revealed mild hypermethylation of

Received July 23, 2008; accepted December 8, 2008.

Address correspondence to Rui Manuel Reis, Life and Health Sciences Research Institute, School of Health Sciences, University of Minho, Campus de Gualtar, 4710-057 Braga, Portugal (rreis@ecsaude .uminho.pt).

Copyright 2009 by the Society for Neuro-Oncology

MSH6 in 75% of cases, yet MSH6 was expressed in all the tumors. The MSI target genes MBD4 (methyl-CpG binding domain protein 4) and MRE11 (meiotic recombination 11 homolog A) were mutated in two different tumors. No CTNNB1 or BRAF mutations were found. This study is the most comprehensive analysis of MSI in medulloblastomas to date. We observed the presence of MSI together with mutations of MSI target genes in a small fraction of cases, suggesting a new genetic pathway for a role in medulloblastoma development. Neuro-Oncology 11, 458–467, 2009 (Posted to Neuro-Oncology [serial online], Doc. D08-00196, January 29, 2009. URL http://neuro-oncology.dukejournals.org; DOI: 10.1215/15228517-2008-115)

Keywords: medulloblastoma, microsatellite instability, mismatch repair, target genes

Brain tumors are the second most common malignancy among children and the leading cause of cancer-related death in pediatric patients. The overall incidence rate for pediatric brain tumors (occurring from birth through 19 years) is 4.3 per 100,000 person-years.¹ Among the different histological entities, medulloblastoma is the most common childhood malignant brain tumor, accounting for approximately 20% of all pediatric intracranial tumors, with a peak incidence between 3 and 4 years of age.¹ Medulloblastomas are less common in adults, with a peak incidence between 20 and 35 years.² Current therapy for this malignancy is very aggressive, including maximum surgical resection, craniospinal radiotherapy, and adjuvant chemotherapy, yet the medulloblastoma 5-year survival rate is only 50%–60%,^{3,4} and these aggressive procedures frequently have serious neurocognitive and endocrine sequelae in survivors, particularly in younger patients.⁵

Genetic instability is a paramount feature of cancer, which leads to accumulation of genetic alterations that varies from subtle changes in DNA sequence to chromosomal abnormalities.6 Microsatellite instability (MSI) is a particular type of genetic instability affecting short sequences of DNA repeats (microsatellites) found throughout the genome.⁶ MSI was first described in hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer (HNPCC) and is present in the majority of these patients; currently, MSI analysis of this malignancy is standardized by the Bethesda guidelines.⁷ In colorectal cancer (CRC), the MSI phenotype appears to be related to particular clinical and histopathological features, including location in the proximal colon, tumors poorly differentiated with mucinous and signet ring cells, high tumor lymphocyte infiltration, low frequency of distant metastasis, and a comparably good prognosis.8 The MSI phenotype is a consequence of deficient DNA mismatch repair (MMR), which fails to recognize errors introduced in microsatellite regions during DNA replication. The loss of function of MMR family genes (MLH1, MLH3, MSH2, MSH3, MSH6, PMS1, and PMS2) is caused by germline mutations in hereditary malignancies, whereas in sporadic cancers, MLH1 (mutL homolog 1, colon cancer, nonpolyposis type 2) promoter methylation has been shown to be the main cause of gene silencing.9 As naturally occurring replication errors are not efficiently repaired, tumors with MMR deficiencies have a higher number of nucleotide insertions/deletions in genes harboring microsatellites.^{6,9} The accumulation of activating or inactivating frameshift mutations in genes that regulate cell functioning, such as TGFBR2 (transforming growth factor B type II receptor) and BAX (BCL2-associated X protein), is thought to be responsible for the tumorigenic process of MSI in MMR-deficient cells.9 Particularly important to oncological research is the evidence that many of these mutated genes, already identified in different tumors, also appear to have a role in the therapeutic response of different anticancer drugs.¹⁰⁻¹²

Previous studies have evaluated the presence of MSI in brain tumors, mainly gliomas. An absence or a rare incidence of MSI in adults and contradictory results in pediatric patients have been reported.^{13–21} In medulloblastoma, MSI status has not been properly characterized.

The aim of the present study was to evaluate the presence of MSI in medulloblastomas, using a panel of markers recommended by the revised Bethesda guidelines.⁷ In addition, in tumors presenting MSI, we assessed the molecular status of MMR genes and the mutation profiles of 10 potential MSI target genes (*TCF4*, *XRCC2*, *MBD4*, *MRE11*, *ATR*, *MSH3*, *TGFBR2*, *RAD50*, *MSH6*, and *BAX*). Furthermore, we analyzed mutations of *BRAF* (*v*-raf murine sarcoma viral oncogene homolog B1) and β-catenin (*CTNNB1*).

108

Viana-Pereira et al.: Microsatellite instability in medulloblastoma

Material and Methods

Patients and Tumor Samples

Formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded samples from 36 cases of medulloblastoma were retrieved from the Pathology Department of Santa Maria Hospital, Lisbon, Portugal. Tumor samples were classified according to WHO criteria.²² Thirty-four of the 36 cases were classified as desmoplastic medulloblastomas. Of the patients, 22 (61.1%) were male and 14 (38.9%) were female; the mean age was 19.5 years (range, 1.5–70 years; Table 1).

DNA Extraction

DNA was extracted from 10-µm-thick formalinfixed, paraffin-embedded tumor samples as previously described.²³ Briefly, tissues were deparaffinized by a serial extraction with xylene and ethanol (100%/70%/50%), and separately selected areas of tumor and normal tissue, when available, were microdissected using a sterile needle and carefully collected into a 0.2-mL PCR tube. DNA was extracted using QIAamp DNA Micro Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany), following the manufacturer's instructions.

MSI Analysis

The MSI evaluation was performed using a multiplex PCR comprising five quasimonomorphic mononucleotide repeat markers (NR27, NR21, NR24, BAT25, and BAT26).²⁴ Primer sequences were described previously.²⁴ Each antisense primer was end-labeled with 6-carboxyfluorescein (FAM), hexachloro-6-carboxyfluorescein (HEX), or tetrachloro-6-carboxyfluorescein (TET) fluorescent marker. PCR was performed using the Qiagen Multiplex PCR Kit, and then products were separated using an ABI Prism 310 single capillary genetic analyzer (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA). The MSI status of the tumor was analyzed using GeneScan analysis software (version 3.7; Applied Biosystems). Cases exhibiting instability at two or more markers were considered to have high MSI (MSI-H), those with instability at one marker were defined as having low MSI (MSI-L), and those showing no instability were defined as microsatellite stable (MSS), as previously described.²⁵ DNA from the cell lines HCT15 (MSI) and DAOY (MSS) were used as positive and negative controls, respectively. The quasimonomorphic variation range of each marker (described by Buhard et al.26) was established in our analysis using a series of DNA from six healthy people.

Mutation Analysis of MSI Target Genes

Selected genes containing repeated sequences previously described as frequent targets for instability were chosen for frameshift mutation study by fragment analysis and further genomic sequencing confirmation. The selected

Paediatric Patients

Viana-Pereira et al.: Microsatellite instability in medulloblastoma

		Histological	MSI Detection					
Case	Gender/Age (Years)	Туре	NR27	NR21	NR24	BAT25	BAT26	MSI State
M1	M/11	Classic	86	106	123	148	179	MSS
M2	F/16	Classic	86	107	123	148	180	MSS
MЗ	M/35	Classic	87	107	122	148	180	MSS
M4	M/33	Classic	86	107	123	148	180	MSS
M5	M/1.5	Classic	86	102-107	122	148	179	MSS
M6	M/10	Classic	86	107	123	147	180	MSS
M7	F/70	Classic	86	102-106	123	147	180	MSS
M8	M/20	Classic	87	106	122	148	180	MSS
M9	F/26	Classic	86	102-107	123	147	180	MSS
M10	F/10	Classic	86	106	123	147	180	MSS
M11	F/1.5	Classic	87	106	123	148	180	MSS
M12	F/1.5	Classic	87	106	123	148	180	MSS
M13	M/21	Desmoplastic	84	105	122	146	168	MSI-H
M14	M/11	Classic	86	107	122	148	179	MSS
M15	M/28	Classic	87	107	123	146	179	MSS
M16	M/34	Classic	86	107	122	148	179	MSS
M17	M/6	Classic	86	106	123	148	180	MSS
M18	F/24	Classic	86	106	122	147	180	MSS
M19	F/34	Classic	87	106	123	148	179	MSS
M20	M/12	Classic	86	106	123	147	180	MSS
M21	M/10	Classic	86	105	122	147–150	179	MSI-L
M22	F/16	Classic	86	106	123	148	180	MSS
M23	M/8	Classic	86	107	123	148	NA	MSS
M24	M/7	Classic	87	106	123	148	180	MSS
M25	M/35	Classic	87	107	123	144-148	179	MSI-L
M26	M/2	Classic	86	106	123	147	180	MSS
M27	M/65	Classic	86	107	122	148	180	MSS
M28	M/39	Classic	86	107	123	147	180	MSS
M29	F/8	Classic	87	107	122	147	179	MSS
M30	F/26	Classic	86	106	122	148	179	MSS
M31	F/2	Classic	86	107	122	146	180	MSS
M32	M/33	Classic	86	106	122	147	180	MSS
M33	M/4	Classic	86	107	123	148	180	MSS
M34	F/9	Classic	86	107	123	147	180	MSS
M35	M/13	Classic	84	106	122	146	179	MSI-L
M36	F/18	Desmoplastic	86	106	123	148	180	MSS

Table 1. Detection of microsatellite instability (MSI) in medulloblastomas using five mononucleotide repeat markers

Abbreviations: M, male; MSS, microsatellite stability; F, female; MSI-H, high microsatellite instability; MSI-L, low microsatellite instability; NA, not amplified. Boldface indicates MSI markers presenting alterations.

genes were transcription factor-4 (TCF4; poly[A]9), X-ray repair cross-complementing protein 2 (XRCC2; T8), methyl-CpG binding domain protein 4 (MBD4; A10), meiotic recombination 11 homolog A (MRE11; T11), ataxia telangiectasia and Rad3 related checkpoint kinase 1 (ATR; A10), MSH3 (A8), TGFBR2 (A10), RAD50 homolog (RAD50; A9), MSH6 (C8), and BAX (G8).^{27,28} PCR was performed with primers, endlabeled with FAM, HEX, or TET fluorescent markers, specific for each selected candidate gene, as previously described.^{27,28} PCR products were separated using an ABI Prism 310 single capillary genetic analyzer (Applied Biosystems), and the PCR products profiles were analyzed using GeneScan 3.7 software (Applied Biosystems). Several normal DNA samples were used to establish profile patterns for each gene, and mutation analysis was performed comparing the peak pattern alterations with the reference peak size and pattern.^{27,28} Analyses of samples presenting abnormal profiles were repeated three times by multiplex and monoplex PCR. In addition, PCR followed by direct sequencing was performed to confirm the presence of a frameshift mutation.

460 **NEURO-ONCOLOGY** • OCTOBER 2009

Mutation Analysis of CTNNB1 and BRAF Oncogenes

Screening of hotspot mutations on *CTNNB1* exon 3 and *BRAF* exon 15 was carried out by PCR single-strand conformation polymorphism as previously described.^{29–31}

Methylation Analysis of the MMR System Genes

The study of MLH1, MLH3, MSH2, MSH3, MSH6, and PMS2 (PMS1 postmeiotic segregation increased 2) MMR gene methylation was performed by methylationspecific MLPA kit ME011 according to the manufacturer's instructions (MRC-Holland, Amsterdam, The Netherlands).³² Briefly, 100 ng tumoral DNA was denaturated in 5 µl ultrapure water at 98°C for 5 min and then incubated with the probe mix for 20 h at 60°C. After probe hybridization, each sample was divided into two tubes. Half of the sample was ligated using a ligase enzyme, and in the other half ligation was combined with HhaI digestion, resulting in ligation of the methylated sequences only. The resulting products were amplified by PCR using a FAM-labeled primer following manufacturer's instructions. PCR products were analyzed on an ABI Prism 310 single capillary genetic analyzer (Applied Biosystems) using GeneScan 3.7 software (Applied Biosystems). Duplicate experiments were performed for methylation analysis, and average ratios were calculated. Additionally, the overall average of the different probes of the same gene was calculated. Data analysis was performed as described by the manufacturer. We interpreted (average) ratios as absence of hypermethylation (0.00-0.24), mild hypermethylation (0.25-0.49), moderate hypermethylation (0.50-0.74), and extensive hypermethylation (≥ 0.75), as previously described.33

Immunohistochemistry to the MSH6 MMR System Protein

Immunohistochemistry analysis of MSH6 protein was performed using 3-µm paraffin-embedded tissue sections. Tissue sections were deparaffined, rehydrated in graded ethanol, and washed. Antigen retrieval was achieved by microwave treatment in 1 mM EDTA (pH 8.0) for 15 min. Endogenous peroxidase activity was blocked by incubation with 3% H₂O₂. To block nonspecific protein binding, sections were incubated with R.T.U. normal horse serum (R.T.U. vectastain Elite ABC kit; Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA, USA). A primary antibody to MSH6 (clone 44, purified mouse anti-MSH6; BD Transduction Laboratories, BD Biosciences, Erembodegem, Belgium) was applied at a concentration of 1:100 and incubated overnight at room temperature. Antigen-antibody complexes were revealed by a 10-min incubation with R.T.U. biotinylated universal antibody antirabbit/mouse IgG (H + L) (R.T.U. vectastain Elite ABC kit; Vector Laboratories) followed by incubation with R.T.U. vectastain Elite ABC reagent (R.T.U. vectastain Elite ABC kit; Vector Laboratories) for 10 min 3,3/-Diaminobenzidine (Dako Liquid DAB, DakoCytomation, VitaReal, Carpinteria, CA, USA) was Viana-Pereira et al.: Microsatellite instability in medulloblastoma

used as a chromogen. Slides were counterstained with hematoxylin. Normal colon tissue was used as a positive control. A negative control was also used (DakoCytomation N-Universal Negative Control Mouse, DakoCytomation).

Results

MSI Analysis

MSI analysis was performed for 36 tumors using a pentaplex PCR of quasimonomorphic markers recommended by the revised Bethesda guidelines.⁷ Among all samples, we found four (11.1%) cases with instability-one with MSI-H and three with MSI-L-and 32 MSS (88.9%) (Table 1, Fig. 1). Regarding adult and pediatric patients, we found 13% (2 of 15) MSI tumors (M13, M25) in the adult set, one of which was MSI-H (M13). In pediatric samples, two cases (9.5%) were MSI-L (M21, M35). Case M13 presented mutations in NR27 and BAT26 markers, cases M21 and M25 presented alterations in BAT25, and M35 presented alterations in NR27. Three cases (M5, M7, and M9) presented allele variants in NR21. Case M13 had adjacent normal DNA available, which did not exhibit the alterations present in the tumor DNA (Fig. 1). In addition, the MSI status of both tumor and normal DNA was confirmed by direct sequencing.

MMR Gene Methylation

Promoter abnormal methylation of MMR genes is the main mechanism underlying MSI phenotype in sporadic tumors. Therefore, we analyzed methylation of the main



Fig. 1. Altered markers in the microsatellite instability cases: pentaplex PCR with the microsatellite quasimonomorphic markers (NR27, NR21, NR24, BAT25, and BAT26). Case M13 presented mutation in NR27 and BAT26 microsatellite markers, cases M21 and M25 were mutated in the BAT25 marker, and M35 in NR27 (altered markers indicated with arrows).

NEURO-ONCOLOGY · OCTOBER 2009 461

Viana-Pereira et al.: Microsatellite instability in medulloblastoma

Table 2. Methylation status of mismatch repair (MMR) genes in medulloblastomas

		MMR Gene Methylation (Average)						
Case	MSI Status	MLH1	MLH3	MSH2	MSH3	MSH6	PMS2	
M5	MSS	U (0.15)	U (0.05)	U (0.08)	U (0.17)	U (0.19)	U (0.10)	
M7	MSS	U (0.05)	U (0.02)	U (0.07)	U (0.19)	U (0.16)	U (0.11)	
M9	MSS	U (0.11)	U (0.00)	U (0.05)	U (0.17)	M (0.27)	U (0.09)	
M13	MSI	U (0.15)	U (0.06)	U (0.11)	U (0.20)	M (0.29)	U (0.13)	
M21	MSI	U (0.11)	U (0.18)	U (0.06)	U (0.23)	M (0.26)	U (0.11)	
M25	MSI	U (0.10)	U (0.00)	U (0.05)	U (0.15)	U (0.23)	U (0.07)	
M35	MSI	U (0.02)	U (0.08)	U (0.08)	U (0.00)	U (0.12)	U (0.07)	

Abbreviations: MSI, microsatellite instability; MLH1 and MLH3, mutL homolog 1, colon cancer, nonpolyposis, types 2 and 3; MSH2, MSH3, and MSH6, MutS homologs 2, 3, and 6; PMS2, PMS1 postmeiotic segregation increased 2; MSS, microsatellite stability; U, unmethylated; M, methylated. Boldface indicates the presence of gene methylation.

MMR genes (*MLH1*, *MLH3*, *MSH2*, *MSH3*, *MSH6*, and *PMS2*) in the MSI-H tumor (M13), in three tumors presenting MSI-L (M21, M25, and M35), and in the three additional cases presenting an allele variant in the NR21 marker (Table 2). Except for *MSH6*, none of the other MMR genes showed promoter gene hypermethylation. *MSH6* presented mild hypermethylation in 43% (three of seven) of the cases analyzed: in two MSI (M13 and M21) and one MSS (M9).

Immunohistochemistry of the MSH6 MMR System Protein

The immunohistochemical assay was performed to complement the methylation study of *MSH6* and to understand the effects of mild gene hypermethylation on protein expression levels. All cases exhibited MSH6 positivity, but cases M5 and M25 showed weaker staining (Fig. 2).

Mutation Analysis of MSI Target Genes

Selected MSI target genes (*TCF4*, *XRCC2*, *MBD4*, *MRE11*, *ATR*, *MSH3*, *TGFBR2*, *RAD50*, *MSH6*, and *BAX*) were analyzed for frameshift mutations in the MSI tumors and in the cases presenting an allele variant in the NR21 marker (Table 3). Among the genes studied, *MBD4* and *MRE11* have been shown to be mutated in one MSI sample each (1 of 4 = 25%) in M13 (MSI-H) and M21 (MSI-L). Both *MBD4* and *MRE11* had a heterozygous insertion of one base pair. Therefore, two of the four tumors with instability presented mutation in one MSI target gene. The presence of frameshift mutations was confirmed by direct sequencing and demonstrated to be heterozygous by both techniques (Figs. 3 and 4).

Mutation Analysis of CTNNB1 and BRAF Oncogenes

Because the Wingless/Wnt signal transduction pathway is involved in medulloblastoma development, we searched for mutations in its critical downstream effector *CTNNB1*. All cases were analyzed for mutations in exon 3. No medulloblastoma showed any *CTNNB1* genetic alteration.

462 NEURO-ONCOLOGY · OCTOBER 2009

BRAF mutations, particularly the V600E hotspot mutation, have been described to be involved in colorectal carcinomas exhibiting MSI. None of the MSI medulloblastomas exhibited *BRAF* exon 15 mutations.

Discussion

MSI was first identified in and is present in about 90% of HNPCC cases.³⁴ This phenotype has also been described in many sporadic human malignancies and is present in approximately 10%-15% of colorectal, endometrial, and gastric cancers.34 The few studies reporting MSI status in brain tumors showed that this phenotype is a rare event (0%-8%) in adult sporadic CNS tumors.^{13–17,19} Regarding pediatric data, the results are contradictory: MSI was found in 0%-27% of CNS tumors studied.^{13-16,18-21} In the present study, we screened 21 pediatric and 15 adult medulloblastomas for MSI. The overall incidence of instability was 11% (4 of 36 cases), with three cases showing MSI-L and a single case with MSI-H, from two adults and two pediatric patients. According to these results, the presence of MSI in medulloblastomas appears not to be age-related, in contrast to data from other CNS tumors. The few studies that analyzed MSI status in medulloblastomas reported the absence of genetic instability.15,21,35 However, these studies evaluated a very small number of cases, some not differentiating medulloblastomas from other primitive neuroectodermal tumors,15,21 using panels of microsatellite markers that were limited for MSI status assessment.16,17,21 In this work, we used a gold standard panel of microsatellite markers recommended by the revised Bethesda guidelines for CRC.7 This panel of mononucleotide markers provides high specificity and sensitivity for MSI detection, and their quasimonomorphic nature allows the analysis of MSI status without the need to evaluate corresponding normal tissue.24

The main mechanism driving MSI in sporadic tumors has been shown to be methylation of MMR genes. We analyzed the methylation of the *MLH1*, *MLH3*, *MSH2*, *MSH3*, *MSH6*, and *PMS2* MMR genes in tumors with MSI and in those presenting an allelic variant of the NR21 marker but considered MSS, and found mild



Viana-Pereira et al.: Microsatellite instability in medulloblastoma

Fig. 2. Representative histology and immunohistochemistry results: hematoxylin and eosin (A, C, E, and G) and MutS homolog 6 (MSH6) immunohistochemistry (B, D, F, and H) for the microsatellite-instability–positive medulloblastomas M13 (A and B), M21 (C and D), M25 (E and F), and M35 (G and H). Original magnification: \times 100.

hypermethylation levels of the *MSH6* gene in two cases of MSI (M13 and M21) and one case of MSS (M9). Nevertheless, the presence of mild hypermethylation was not transduced in a lack of protein expression and might not be the cause of the MSI phenotype. It remains to be determined in MSI-positive medulloblastomas which MMR protein is affected and by which mechanism. The presence of MMR deficiencies is well correlated with the MSI status in several tumors, such as CRC,³⁶ ovarian carcinoma,^{37,38} and endometrial carcinoma,^{38,39} where MSI-H tumors present inactivation of MMR proteins whereas the genes leading to MSI-L are unclear.^{7,40} However, in other tumor entities such as Ewing tumors, such associations were not reported.⁴¹ This suggests that MMR protein deficiencies in MSI-positive tumors depend not only on MSI levels but also on the tumor

NEURO-ONCOLOGY · OCTOBER 2009 463
Paediatric Patients

Case	TCF4 (A9)	XRCC2 (T8)	MBD4 (A10)	MRE11 (T11)	ATR (A10)	MSH3 (A8)	TGFBR2 (A10)	RAD50 (A9)	MSH6 (C8)	BAX (G8)	Mutation Frequency
M5	А	А	A	А	А	A	А	А	А	A	0 of 10
M7	А	А	А	А	А	А	А	А	А	А	0 of 10
M9	А	А	А	А	А	А	А	А	А	A	0 of 10
M13	А	А	A	P (T11–12)	А	А	А	А	A	A	1 of 10
M21	A	А	P (A10–11)	A	А	A	А	А	A	A	1 of 10
M25	A	А	A	A	А	А	А	А	A	A	0 of 10
M35	A	А	А	А	А	А	А	А	А	A	0 of 10
Tumors with mutation	0 of 7	0 of 7	1 of 7	1 of 7	0 of 7	0 of 7	0 of 7	0 of 7	0 of 7	0 of 7	

Viana-Pereira et al.: Microsatellite instability in medulloblastoma

Table 3. Candidate microsatellite instability target gene frameshift mutations detected in medulloblastomas

Abbreviations: TCF4, transcription factor-4; XRCC2, x-ray repair cross-complementing protein 2; MBD4, methyl-CpG binding domain protein 4; MRE11, meiotic recombination 11 homolog A; ATR, ataxia telangiectasia and Rad3 related checkpoint kinase 1; MSH3, MutS homolog 3; TGFBR2, transforming growth factor β type II receptor; RAD50, RAD50 homolog; MSH6, MutS homolog 6; BAX, BCL2-associated X protein; A, absent; P, present.

type. Data on MMR gene alterations are scarce in CNS tumors. In medulloblastoma, only one study has examined MMR protein expression.⁴² The authors reported the absence of any deficiency in MLH1, MSH2, and PMS2 proteins in a series of 22 medulloblastomas.⁴²

In order to evaluate the mutagenic effect of the MSI phenotype in medulloblastomas, we performed a mutation analysis of candidate MSI target genes. We studied 10 candidate genes—*TCF4*, *XRCC2*, *MBD4*, *MRE11*, *ATR*, *MSH3*, *TGFBR2*, *RAD50*, *MSH6*, and *BAX* previously described to be frequently mutated in MSI tumors such as colorectal, urothelial, or endometrium cancers.^{27,28,43} Most of the candidate target gene mutations were primarily found and mainly analyzed in MSI-H CRC. Although several of these mutations have already been reported in different MSI-H tumors, this is not true for all different MSI cancers. We found alterations in *MBD4* and *MRE11* genes in two of the four MSI



Fig. 3. Microsatellite instability target gene mutations: fragment analysis of *methyl-CpG binding domain protein 4 (MBD4)* and *meiotic recombination 11 homolog A (MRE11)* for normal DNA from a healthy person, and mutated fragments by insertion of one nucleotide in MRE11 in case M13 and in MBD4 in case M21.

464 NEURO-ONCOLOGY · OCTOBER 2009

medulloblastomas, one with MSI-H and one with MSI-L. Overall, among the 10 candidate target genes studied, this represents 20% of genes mutated. This rate of mutation in candidate target genes, although smaller than what is regularly stated for CRC, is comparable to frequencies reported for other tumor entities such as pancreatic ductal adenocarcinomas, which presents 25% mutated genes,44 and it is higher than the incidence reported in other studies,45 indicating that different tumors can present mutations in different targets for instability.46,47 In addition, as mentioned above, mutations in candidate target genes were mainly reported only in MSI-H tumors, in different tumor entities.44,48 Among these different cancers, MSI-L malignancies generally do not present mutations in the candidate target genes frequently mutated in MSI-H tumors, but our results raise the question of whether this is true for all MSI-L tumors.

MBD4 is a member of the methyl-CpG binding protein family, which possesses a methyl-CpG binding domain (MBD) and a glycosylase repair domain, repairing mismatched G-T residues at methylated CpG sites.49 Previous studies in colorectal, endometrial, and gastric tumors reported that truncating mutations of MBD4, due to the deletion of one nucleotide in the A10 tract of exon 3, result in proteins without the glycosylase repair domain and therefore with defective glycosylase activity.49-51 In addition, MBD4 truncated protein had the capacity to compete with wild-type protein in a dominant negative manner, causing the accumulation of errors in the DNA.⁵¹ In our study we observed not a deletion but a nucleotide insertion at the A10 tract of the MBD4 gene. Similar to deletion, insertion of a nucleotide in the A10 microsatellite region is also suggested to result in a truncated and defective protein.50

MRE11 is a member of the MRE11/NBS1/RAD50 (MNR) complex, which is essential for the maintenance of DNA integrity. This complex plays a central role in recognizing and repairing double-strand breaks through homologous recombination or nonhomologous end-joining repair pathways. It was previously suggested that homo- or heterozygous deletions in the poly(T)11 within *MRE11* intron 4 cause aberrant splicing, with skipping of exon 5, leading to a premature stop codon and generation of a truncated protein.⁵² In this study,



Viana-Pereira et al.: Microsatellite instability in medulloblastoma

Fig. 4. DNA sequencing of the microsatellite instability target genes *meiotic recombination 11 homolog A (MRE11*; T11) and *methyl-CpG binding domain protein 4 (MBD4*; A10): normal DNA from a healthy person for the *MRE11* and *MBD4* genes (left) and the mutated cases M13 for *MRE11* and M21 for *MBD4* (right). Arrows indicate the insertion of one nucleotide.

we observed a heterozygous insertion in MRE11 T11 in case M13. This allele expansion was also identified in a CRC tumor sample of a Lynch syndrome patient, and can also result in aberrant splicing signals and premature stop codons of MRE11.⁵² Nevertheless, the exact functional role of the poly(T)11–12 MRE11 mutation is not clear, and the same mutation was also reported in a lymphoma cell line.⁵³

Although the majority of medulloblastomas occur sporadically, they can occur associated with Turcot syndrome type 2,²² and it also has been reported in young members of families with Lynch syndrome.54-56 Interestingly, biallelic germline mutations in MSH654,55 or MLH156 were described in three different patients that developed medulloblastoma. Tumors presenting MSH6 mutations were also found to lack protein expression, 54,55 whereas in medulloblastoma with MLH1 mutation, protein expression was not reported.56 Despite due diligence, it was not possible to obtain the family history of the four patients with MSI medulloblastoma to assess their potential inherited nature. Therefore, we cannot exclude the possibility that these MSI-presenting tumors arose in a familial cancer context. Aiming to unravel this question, somatic BRAF mutations associated with sporadic CRC MSI were screened, and no mutation was detected. However, at variance with CRC, BRAF mutations have never been detected in medulloblastomas, which thus does not exclude the sporadic nature of our MSI-positive medulloblastomas.

 β -Catenin is a key player in the Wingless/Wnt signal transduction pathway that is involved in medulloblastomas, and mutations were reported previously in only 5%–9% of the cases.^{57,58} Aiming to better characterize our samples and to determine if *CTNNB1* could be related to MSI status in medulloblastomas, we searched for mutations in its hotspot region but found no evidence. Although no *BRAF* or *CTNNB1* mutations were found in the hotspot region screens in these medulloblastomas, we cannot exclude the potential existence of mutations in other regions of the genes.

In conclusion, this study is the most comprehensive analysis of MSI in medulloblastomas to date. We found a total of four cases (11%) with instability, three with MSI-L, and one with MSI-H, two of which presented mutations in *MBD4* and *MRE11* MSI target genes, which have never before been reported in medulloblastomas. While further studies analyzing a larger series of both pediatric and adult medulloblastomas are warranted to assess the frequency of MSI, the present work suggests the existence of a potential novel molecular pathway in a fraction of medulloblastomas associated with the presence of MSI.

Acknowledgments

We thank Dr. Paula Sampaio and Dr. Magda Graça from the Biology Department, University of Minho, for technical help with the ABI Prism 310 genetic analyzer, and MRC-Holland for technical assistance regarding the MLPA assay. M.V.-P. is the recipient of a Ph.D. fellowship (SFRH/BD/29145/2006), and I.A. is the recipient of a research fellowship (SFRH/BI/33160/2007) from Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia, Portugal. This study was partially supported by a grant from Clinical de Radioterapia do Porto, Portugal.

NEURO-ONCOLOGY · OCTOBER 2009 465

4. Microsatellite Instability in High-grade Gliomas and Medulloblastomas of Adult and

Viana-Pereira et al.: Microsatellite instability in medulloblastoma

References

- Central Brain Tumor Registry of the United States. Statistical Report: Primary Brain Tumors in the United States, 1998–2002. Hinsdale, IL: Central Brain Tumor Registry of the United States; 2005.
- Chan AW, Tarbell NJ, Black PM, et al. Adult medulloblastoma: prognostic factors and patterns of relapse. *Neurosurgery*. 2000;47:623– 631.
- Gilbertson RJ. Medulloblastoma: signalling a change in treatment. Lancet Oncol. 2004;5:209–218.
- Rossi A, Caracciolo V, Russo G, Reiss K, Giordano A. Medulloblastoma: from molecular pathology to therapy. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2008;14:971– 976.
- Bloom HJG. Medulloblastoma in children: increasing survival rates and further prospects. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1982;8:2023–2027.
- Cahill DP, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B, Lengauer C. Genetic instability and Darwinian selection in tumours. *Trends Cell Biol.* 1999;9:M57– M60.
- Umar A, Boland CR, Terdiman JP, et al. Revised Bethesda guidelines for hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer (Lynch syndrome) and microsatellite instability. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2004;96:261–268.
- Joanne Young, Simms LA, Biden KG, et al. Features of colorectal cancers with high-level microsatellite instability occurring in familial and sporadic settings. Am J Pathol. 2008;159:2107–2116.
- Woerner SM, Kloor M, von Knebel DM, Gebert JF. Microsatellite instability in the development of DNA mismatch repair deficient tumors. *Cancer Biomark*. 2006;2:69–86.
- Fallik D, Borrini F, Boige V, et al. Microsatellite instability is a predictive factor of the tumor response to irinotecan in patients with advanced colorectal cancer. *Cancer Res.* 2003;63:5738–5744.
- Lewis KA, Bakkum-Gamez J, Loewen R, French AJ, Thibodeau SN, Cliby WA. Mutations in the *ataxia telangiectasia and rad3-related-checkpoint kinase 1* DNA damage response axis in colon cancers. *Genes Chromosomes Cancer.* 2007;46:1061–1068.
- Abdel-Rahman WM, Knuutila S, Peltomaki P, Harrison DJ, Bader SA. Truncation of MBD4 predisposes to reciprocal chromosomal translocations and alters the response to therapeutic agents in colon cancer cells. DNA Repair (Amst). 2008;7:321–328.
- Martinez R, Schackert HK, Appelt H, Plaschke J, Baretton G, Schackert G. Low-level microsatellite instability phenotype in sporadic glioblastoma multiforme. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2005;131:87–93.
- Szybka M, Bartkowiak J, Zakrzewski K, Polis L, Liberski P, Kordek R. Microsatellite instability and expression of DNA mismatch repair genes in malignant astrocytic tumors from adult and pediatric patients. *Clin Neuropathol.* 2003;22:180–186.
- Alonso M, Hamelin R, Kim M, et al. Microsatellite instability occurs in distinct subtypes of pediatric but not adult central nervous system tumors. *Cancer Res.* 2001;61:2124–2128.
- Kanamori M, Kon H, Nobukuni T, et al. Microsatellite instability and the *PTEN1* gene mutation in a subset of early onset gliomas carrying germline mutation or promoter methylation of the *hMLH1* gene. *Oncogene*. 2000;19:1564–1571.
- Lundin DA, Blank A, Berger MS, Silber JR. Microsatellite instability is infrequent in sporadic adult gliomas. Oncol Res. 1998;10:421–428.
- Vladimirova V, Denkhaus D, Soerensen N, Wagner S, Wolff JE, Pietsch T. Low level of microsatellite instability in paediatric malignant astrocytomas. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol.* 2008;34(5):547–554.
- Eckert A, Kloor M, Giersch A, et al. Microsatellite instability in pediatric and adult high-grade gliomas. *Brain Pathol*. 2007;17:146–150.



- Cheng Y, Ng HK, Zhang SF, et al. Genetic alterations in pediatric highgrade astrocytomas. *Hum Pathol.* 1999;30:1284–1290.
- Amariglio N, Friedman E, Mor O, et al. Analysis of microsatellite repeats in pediatric brain tumors. *Cancer Genet Cytogenet*. 1995;84:56–59.
- 22. Kleihues P, Cavenee WK. *Pathology and Genetics of Tumours of the Nervous System*, 2nd ed. Lyon, France: IARC Press; 2000.
- Gomes AL, Gouveia A, Capelinha AF, et al. Molecular alterations of KIT and PDGFRA in GISTs: evaluation of a Portuguese series. J Clin Pathol. 2008;61:203–208.
- Buhard O, Suraweera N, Lectard A, Duval A, Hamelin R. Quasimonomorphic mononucleotide repeats for high-level microsatellite instability analysis. *Dis Markers*. 2004;20:251–257.
- Wong YF, Cheung TH, Lo KW, et al. Detection of microsatellite instability in endometrial cancer: advantages of a panel of five mononucleotide repeats over the National Cancer Institute panel of markers. *Carcinogenesis*. 2006;27:951–955.
- Buhard O, Cattaneo F, Wong YF, et al. Multipopulation analysis of polymorphisms in five mononucleotide repeats used to determine the microsatellite instability status of human tumors. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24:241–251.
- Miquel C, Jacob S, Grandjouan S, et al. Frequent alteration of DNA damage signalling and repair pathways in human colorectal cancers with microsatellite instability. *Oncogene*. 2007;26:5919–5926.
- Mongiat-Artus P, Miquel C, Van der Aa M, et al. Microsatellite instability and mutation analysis of candidate genes in urothelial cell carcinomas of upper urinary tract. Oncogene. 2006;25:2113–2118.
- Mirabelli-Primdahl L, Gryfe R, Kim H, et al. Beta-catenin mutations are specific for colorectal carcinomas with microsatellite instability but occur in endometrial carcinomas irrespective of mutator pathway. *Cancer Res.* 1999;59:3346–3351.
- Taniguchi K, Roberts LR, Aderca IN, et al. Mutational spectrum of beta-catenin, AXIN1, and AXIN2 in hepatocellular carcinomas and hepatoblastomas. Oncogene. 2002;21:4863–4871.
- Basto D, Trovisco V, Lopes JM, et al. Mutation analysis of B-RAF gene in human gliomas. Acta Neuropathol (Berl). 2005;109:207–210.
- Nygren AOH, Ameziane N, Duarte HMB, et al. Methylation-specific MLPA (MS-MLPA): simultaneous detection of CpG methylation and copy number changes of up to 40 sequences. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2005;33:e128.
- Jeuken JW, Cornelissen SJB, Vriezen M, et al. MS-MLPA: an attractive alternative laboratory assay for robust, reliable, and semiquantitative detection of MGMT promoter hypermethylation in gliomas. *Lab Invest.* 2007;87:1055–1065.
- Boland CR, Thibodeau SN, Hamilton SR, et al. A National Cancer Institute workshop on microsatellite instability for cancer detection and familial predisposition: development of international criteria for the determination of microsatellite instability in colorectal cancer. *Cancer Res.* 1998;58:5248–5257.
- Wooster R, Cleton-Jansen AM, Collins N, et al. Instability of short tandem repeats (microsatellites) in human cancers. *Nat Genet*. 1994;6: 152–156.
- Duval A, Hamelin R. Genetic instability in human mismatch repair deficient cancers. Ann Genet. 2002;45:71–75.
- Geisler JP, Goodheart MJ, Sood AK, Holmes RJ, Hatterman-Zogg MA, Buller RE. Mismatch repair gene expression defects contribute to microsatellite instability in ovarian carcinoma. *Cancer.* 2003;98:2199– 2206.

- Chiaravalli AM, Furlan D, Facco C, et al. Immunohistochemical pattern of hMSH2/hMLH1 in familial and sporadic colorectal, gastric, endometrial and ovarian carcinomas with instability in microsatellite sequences. *Virchows Arch.* 2001;438:39–48.
- Stefansson I, Akslen LA, MacDonald N, et al. Loss of hMSH2 and hMSH6 expression is frequent in sporadic endometrial carcinomas with microsatellite instability: a population-based study. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2002;8:138–143.
- Dietmaier W, Wallinger S, Bocker T, Kullmann F, Fishel R, Ruschoff J. Diagnostic microsatellite instability: definition and correlation with mismatch repair protein expression. *Cancer Res.* 1997;57:4749– 4756.
- Alldinger I, Schaefer KL, Goedde D, et al. Microsatellite instability in Ewing tumor is not associated with loss of mismatch repair protein expression. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2007;133:749–759.
- Lee SE, Johnson SP, Hale LP, et al. Analysis of DNA mismatch repair proteins in human medulloblastoma. *Clin Cancer Res.* 1998;4:1415– 1419.
- Mongiat-Artus P, Miquel C, Flejou JF, et al. Spectrum of molecular alterations in colorectal, upper urinary tract, endocervical, and renal carcinomas arising in a patient with hereditary non-polyposis colorectal cancer. Virchows Arch. 2006;449:238–243.
- Yamamoto H, Itoh F, Nakamura H, et al. Genetic and clinical features of human pancreatic ductal adenocarcinomas with widespread microsatellite instability. *Cancer Res.* 2001;61:3139–3144.
- Nomdedeu JF, Perea G, Estivill C, et al. Microsatellite instability is not an uncommon finding in adult de novo acute myeloid leukemia. Ann Hematol. 2005;84:368–375.
- Myeroff LL, Parsons R, Kim SJ, et al. A transforming growth factor beta receptor type II gene mutation common in colon and gastric but rare in endometrial cancers with microsatellite instability. *Cancer Res.* 1995;55:5545–5547.
- Duval A, Gayet J, Zhou XP, Iacopetta B, Thomas G, Hamelin R. Frequent frameshift mutations of the TCF-4 gene in colorectal cancers with microsatellite instability. *Cancer Res.* 1999;59:4213–4215.

Viana-Pereira et al.: Microsatellite instability in medulloblastoma

- Schwartz S Jr, Yamamoto H, Navarro M, Maestro M, Reventós J, Perucho M. Frameshift mutations at mononucleotide repeats in *caspase-5* and other target genes in endometrial and gastrointestinal cancer of the microsatellite mutator phenotype. *Cancer Res.* 1999;59:2995– 3002.
- Bellacosa A. Role of MED1 (MBD4) gene in DNA repair and human cancer. J Cell Physiol. 2001;187:137–144.
- Riccio A, Aaltonen LA, Godwin AK, et al. The DNA repair gene MBD4 (MED1) is mutated in human carcinomas with microsatellite instability [letter]. Nat Genet. 1999;23:266–268.
- Bader SA, Walker M, Harrison DJ. A human cancer-associated truncation of MBD4 causes dominant negative impairment of DNA repair in colon cancer cells. *Br J Cancer*. 2007;96:660–666.
- Alemayehu A, Fridrichova I. The MRE11/RAD50/NBS1 complex destabilization in Lynch-syndrome patients. Eur J Hum Genet. 2007;15:922–929.
- Ham MF, Takakuwa T, Luo WJ, Liu A, Horii A, Aozasa K. Impairment of double-strand breaks repair and aberrant splicing of ATM and MRE11 in leukemia-lymphoma cell lines with microsatellite instability. *Cancer Sci.* 2006;97:226–234.
- Scott RH, Mansour S, Pritchard-Jones K, Kumar D, MacSweeney F, Rahman N. Medulloblastoma, acute myelocytic leukemia and colonic carcinomas in a child with biallelic MSH6 mutations. *Nat Clin Pract Oncol.* 2007;4:130–134.
- Poley JW, Wagner A, Hoogmans MM, et al. Biallelic germline mutations of mismatch-repair genes: a possible cause for multiple pediatric malignancies. *Cancer.* 2007;109:2349–2356.
- Wang Q, Lasset C, Desseigne F, et al. Neurofibromatosis and early onset of cancers in hMLH1-deficient children. *Cancer Res.* 1999; 59:294–297.
- Zurawel RH, Chiappa SA, Allen C, Raffel C. Sporadic medulloblastomas contain oncogenic β-catenin mutations. Cancer Res. 1998; 58:896–899.
- Huang H, Mahler-Araujo BM, Sankila A, et al. APC mutations in sporadic medulloblastomas. Am J Pathol. 2000;156:433–437.

4.2 Microsatellite Instability in Paediatric High Grade Glioma is Associated with Genomic Profile and Differential Target Gene Inactivation

Paediatric Patients

Microsatellite Instability in Pediatric High Grade Glioma is Associated with Genomic Profile and Differential Target Gene Inactivation

Marta Viana-Pereira^{1,2}, Alicia Lee², Sergey Popov^{2,3}, Dorine A Bax², Safa Al-Sarraj⁴, Leslie R Bridges⁵, João N Stávale⁶, Darren Hargrave³, Chris Jones^{2,3*} and Rui M Reis^{1*}

¹Life and Health Sciences Research Institute (ICVS), School of Health Sciences, University of Minho, Braga, Portugal; ²Section of Paediatric Oncology, Institute of Cancer Research, Sutton, UK; ³Paediatric Oncology, Royal Marsden Hospital, Sutton, UK; ⁴Department of Clinical Neuropathology, Kings College Hospital, London, UK; ⁵Neuropathology, St George's Hospital, London, UK; ⁶Department of Pathology, Federal University of São Paulo, S. Paulo, Brazil

ABSTRACT

High grade gliomas (HGG) are one of the leading causes of cancer-related deaths in children, and there is increasing evidence that pediatric HGG may harbor distinct molecular characteristics compared to adult tumors. We have sought to clarify the role of microsatellite instability (MSI) in pediatric versus adult HGG. MSI status was determined in 144 patients (71 pediatric and 73 adults) using a well established panel of five quasimonomorphic mononucleotide repeat markers. Expression of MLH1, MSH2, MSH6 and PMS2 was determined by immunohistochemistry, MLH1 was assessed for mutations by direct sequencing and promoter methylation using MS-PCR. DNA copy number profiles were derived using array CGH, and mutations in eighteen MSI target genes studied by multiplex PCR and genotyping. MSI was found in 14/71 (19.7%) pediatric cases, significantly more than observed in adults (5/73, 6.8%; p=0.02, Chi-square test). MLH1 expression was downregulated in 10/13 cases, however no mutations or promoter methylation were found. MSH6 was absent in one pediatric MSI-High tumor, consistent with an inherited mismatch repair deficiency associated with germline MSH6 mutation. MSI was classed as Type A, and associated with a remarkably stable genomic profile. Of the eighteen classic MSI target genes, we identified mutations only in MSH6 and DNAPKcs and described a polymorphism in *MRE11* without apparent functional consequences in DNA double strand break detection and repair. This study thus provides evidence for a potential novel molecular pathway in a proportion of gliomas associated with the presence of MSI.

Keywords: glioblastoma; microsatellite instability; mismatch repair; MRE11; MLH1

*Corresponding authors: Rui M Reis, School of Health Sciences, University of Minho, Campus de Gualtar, 4710-029, Braga, Portugal; Email: rreis@ecsaude.uminho.pt; Tel: (+351)253604825; Fax: (+351)253604820 Chris Jones, Section of Paediatric Oncology, Institute of Cancer Research, 15 Cotswold Road, Sutton, Surrey, SM2 5NG, UK; Email: chris.jones@icr.ac.uk; Tel: (+44)(0)2087224416; Fax: (+44)(0)2087224321

INTRODUCTION

Pediatric gliomas comprise a diverse group of lesions which account for more than half of all childhood CNS tumors. In contrast to adults, where WHO grade IV glioblastomas predominate, in children the most common form are WHO grade I pilocytic astrocytomas [1]. Despite the rarity of high grade gliomas (HGG) in children, they are one of the leading causes of cancer-related deaths in this age group, with a current two year survival rate of 10-15% [2]. Although histologically similar to those which arise in adults, HGG in children may have distinct clinical features, including anatomical site of presentation [2] and response to chemotherapy [3].

New evidence also demonstrates that pediatric HGG harbor distinct genetic characteristics compared to adult tumors. Recent large-scale genomic studies on adult glioblastomas defined the key genetic aberrations, and proposed the 'core signaling pathways' driving gliomagenesis [4,5]. Similar studies on pediatric tumors demonstrated fewer genomic events targeting these pathways, and identified alterations in PDGFdriven signaling to be prevalent in the majority of pediatric tumors, in contrast to adults, where EGFR is the predominant target [6]. The finding of a significant proportion of childhood HGG to harbor few chromosomal imbalances is one key difference to those seen in adults [6], and

raises questions regarding the underlying biological basis for these highly aggressive tumors.

The presence of microsatellite instability (MSI), is another feature that has been described to be more frequent in pediatric than in adult brain tumors [7-11]. Nevertheless, the results are conflicting, with reported frequencies in pediatric gliomas varying between 0-44%, possibly due to different sensitivities of the methods used to detect MSI status [7-17]. MSI was first described and is better characterized in hereditary non-polyposis colorectal cancer (HNPCC, Lynch syndrome) [18], where it is thought to arise due to germline mutations in mismatch repair (MMR) genes, mainly in MLH1, MSH2, MSH6 and PMS2 [19]. Germline mutations in these genes have also been described in Turcot's syndrome, which predispose to gliomas [1].

Both in familial and sporadic colorectal cancer (CRC), the presence of MSI is associated with mutations in genes harboring microsatellites in their coding or regulatory regions. Genes involved in DNA repair, cell growth inhibition and apoptosis are targeted, although the frequency varies between cancers [20], and an extensive analysis has not been previously performed in MSI gliomas. We have sought to clarify the role of MSI in pediatric versus adult HGG, and report a higher prevalence of MSI in childhood cases. We have further investigated the role

120

of MMR system proteins, genomic instability and 18 known target genes in pediatric MSI HGG.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Cases and DNA isolation

Formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded (FFPE) HGG samples from 71 children and young people (<23 years) and 73 adults (32-79 years) were obtained after approval by Local and Multicenter Ethical Review Committees from King's College Hospital and St George's Hospital, UK and Federal University of São Paulo, Brazil (Supporting Information 1). All the samples enrolled in the present study were unlinked and unidentified from their donors. Due the retrospective nature of the study, no informed consent from participants was obtained. DNA was isolated using the QIAamp DNAMini kit (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

MSI analysis

MSI was assessed using a multiplex PCR comprising five quasimonomorphic mononucleotide repeat markers (NR27, NR21, NR24, BAT25 and BAT26), as previously described [21]. Products were separated using an ABI Prism 3100 genetic analyzer (Applied Biosystems) and results analyzed with GeneScan Analysis software, version 3.7 (Applied Biosystems). In the absence of matched normal DNA, MSI was defined as MSI-High (MSI-H, instability at three or more markers) MSI-Low (MSI-L, instability at one or two markers) or microsatellite stable (MSS, absence of instability) [22]. The quasimonomorphic variation range (QMVR) of each marker, previously described [23] was established in our analysis using a series of DNA samples from 30 controls which were randomly selected from cancer-free blood donors at the ICR, UK and São Marcos Hospital, Portugal.

Mutation analysis of MSI-targeted genes

Selected genes containing repeat sequences, previously described as frequent targets for MSI in other cancers [24,25,26], were chosen for mutation screening (primers available upon request): ATM (poly(T)13), ATR (poly(A)10), AXIN2 (poly(G)7; poly(C)5; poly(C)6), BAX (poly(G)8), BLM (poly(A)9), BRCA1 (poly(A)8), BRCA2 (poly(A)8), DNAPKcs (poly(A)10), MBD4 (poly(A)10), MRE11 (poly(T)11), MSH3 (poly(A)8), MSH6 (poly(C)8), PTEN exon 7 (poly(A)6), PTEN exon 8 (poly(A)6), RAD50 (poly(A)9), TCF4 (poly(A)9), *TGFβRII* (poly(A)10), WISP3 (poly(A)9) and XRCC2 (poly(T)8). PCR and genotype analysis were performed as previously described [21], except AXIN2, which was directly sequenced after PCR [25]. Samples presenting abnormal profiles were direct sequenced to confirm the presence of frameshift mutations.

Immunohistochemistry

Immunohistochemistry for MLH1, MSH2, MSH6, PMS2 and MRE11 was performed using the Vectastain ABC system (Vector), according to the manufacturer's instructions. Antigen retrieval was achieved in boiling waterbath in Tris-EDTA pH 9.0 for 20 min and primary antibodies MLH1 (G168-15, 1:25, BD Biosciences), MSH2 (FE11, 1:150, MSH6 (44, Calbiochem), 1:100, ΒD Biosciences), PMS2 (A16-4, 1:200, BD Biosciences) and MRE11 (12D7, 1:500, Abcam) were incubated overnight at 4ºC.

For DNAPKcs staining, the Ultravision Plus Detection System (LabVision) was used according to the manufacturer's instructions. Antigen retrieval was performed with microwave treatment in citrate buffer pH 6.0 for 15 min and primary antibody (Ab-4 cocktail, 1:100, NeoMarkers) incubated 2h at RT.

Microscopic analysis was done by a blinded pathologist (S. P.). Sections without staining in the tumor cells were considered to have a lost expression (-). Samples without nuclear staining but positivity in the cytoplasm or with < 5% tumor cells with nuclear staining were considered with diminished expression (+). Samples with the scores ++ (5-50% nuclear staining in tumor cells) or +++ (> 50% nuclear staining in tumor cells) were considered positive.

Mutation analysis and methylation-specific (MS) - PCR of *MLH1*

Mutation analysis of *MLH1*, exons 1 to 19, was performed by PCR, using primers previously described [27], followed by direct sequencing.

For *MLH1* promoter methylation detection, DNA was treated with sodium bisulphite using the Epitect kit (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. MS-PCR was performed using primers previously described [28].

Cell culture and ionizing irradiation

The cell lines Daudi, Raji and Jurkat were kindly provided by Dr Sue Colman / Prof Mel Greaves (ICR, UK). Cells were grown in RPMI 1640 medium suspension in supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum at 37°C in 5% CO₂. Cells were seeded in 35 mm Petri dishes and treated with 1.5 Gy ionizing irradiation (IR) using an X-ray source irradiator (HS-MP1, AGO) operating at 250 kv and 10 mA. Cells were allowed to recover for 1h, 4h or 24h and then processed for immunofluorescence staining or westernblot analysis.

Immunofluorescence

Cells were spun at 200 rpm for 5 min on a Shandon Cytospin 3 centrifuge (Thermo

122

4. Microsatellite Instability in High-grade Gliomas and Medulloblastomas of Adult and Paediatric Patients

Fisher Scientific), fixed according to a modified Strecks pre-extraction protocol, permeabilized and blocked, as described [29]. Primary antibodies directed against MRE11 (Sheep polyclonal, 1:500, previously described [30]), 53BP1 (NB100-304, rabbit polyclonal, 1:100, Novus Biologicals) and phospho-Histone H2A.X (Ser139) (JBW301, mouse monoclonal, 1:2000, Millipore) were applied overnight at 4°C and secondary antibodies, Alexa Fluor 594 donkey anti-goat IgG, Alexa Fluor 488 donkey anti-rabbit IgG and Alexa Fluor 488 donkey anti-mouse IgG (Invitrogen) 1h at RT. Cell nuclei were stained with DAPI (Invitrogen). Images were taken using a Zeiss Axioplan 2 microscope and Smartcapture 2 software (Digital Scientific).

Western blot analysis

Protein extracts were separated in a 3-8% Tris-Acetate gel (Invitrogen) and transferred to PVDF membranes (GE Healthcare). Immunodetection was performed using antibodies directed against phospho-ATM (Ser1981) (10H11.E12, 1:500, Cell Signaling), ATM (MAT3-4G10/8, 1:1000, Sigma-Aldrich), and MRE11 (12D7, 3µg/mL, Abcam).

Quantitative Real-Time PCR

cDNA was prepared from 1 µg of RNA by random primed reverse transcription using Superscript III (Invitrogen). qRT-PCR was performed using SYBR green master mix (Applied Biosystems) on an ABI 7900HT loaded with the SDS2.1 software. Primers used were as follows: total MRE11 mRNA (exons 2-4), forward: CCAGGGGTTCTTGGAGAAG and reverse: TTTCCTTGAGGGCTTATTTTCA; MRE11 distinguishing the aberrant and wild-type transcript (exons 2-6) included the same forward primer and reverse: CCAGCACAACTTAAAATGTC; GAPDH, forward: GCCACCCAGAAGACTGTGGATGGC and CATGATGGCCATGAGGTCCACCAC. reverse: GAPDH mRNA levels were measured as an internal control. The number of amplification cycles to half maximal saturation of the PCR product was determined by measuring the integration of the fluorescent dye into the PCR products. The ratio of the level of MRE11 expression relative to the GAPDH control was calculated. Samples were analyzed on a 4% agarose gel loaded after saturation of the PCR reaction.

Statistical Analysis

All statistical tests were done in SPSSv16.0 (SPSS Inc.). Correlations between categorical values were done using the twotailed Chi-square and Fisher's exact tests. A p value of < 0.05 was considered significant.

RESULTS

MSI is more common in pediatric HGG than in adults

MSI analysis was performed in 144 HGG, 71 pediatric and 73 adults, using a pentaplex PCR of quasimonomorphic markers as recommended by the revised Bethesda guidelines [18]. A total of 19 samples (13.2%) presented instability, 1 MSI-H (<1%) and 18 MSI-L (12.5%) cases, with the remaining 125 tumors stable (86.8%). The MSI-H case, RMH2452, was a three years old girl with glioblastoma, presenting instability at four markers (NR27, NR21, BAT25 and BAT26) (Figure 1).

Overall, there were 14/71 (19.7%) MSIpositive pediatric cases, significantly more than observed in adults (5/73, 6.8%; p=0.02, Chi-square test). The pediatric MSI cases comprised 11 glioblastomas, two anaplastic astrocytomas and one anaplastic oligodendroglioma, with an age range of between 4 months and 20 years. The adult MSI-L cases were glioblastomas of ages 62-75 years (Table1). Individual microsatellite data for each case is provided in full in Supporting Information 1.

Inactivation of mismatch repair proteins in familial and sporadic MSI pediatric HGG

Aiming to determine the underlying nature of the MSI observed we sought to investigate whether key components of the MMR system were intact, screening the MSIpositive samples for expression of MLH1, MSH2, MSH6 and PMS2 by immunohistochemistry (Table 1, Supporting Information 2). 10/13 (76.9%) pediatric samples with MSI showed an absent or diminished expression of MLH1 in the tumor cells, often in concert with reduced MSH2

80			120		160		
	NR27	NR21 _ል ስስ	NR24	BAT25		BAT26	
Normal	M		M	m		MM	
RMH 2452	Mh	man	M	m	Δ	-m	,
RMH 2458	Mh	Mun	M	m	^		,
RMH 4816	MM	Anth	Mhm	Mm	٨	~~M~_	j

Figure 1 - **Microsatellite instability in pediatric HGG.** Representative electropherogram traces for three MSI-positive pediatric HGG, presenting sequence alterations in more than one quasimonomorphic marker. Case RMH2452 (MSI-H) presented alterations in NR27, NR21, BAT25 and BAT26; RMH2458 (MSI-L) in NR21 and BAT25; and RMH4816 (MSI-L) in NR21 and NR24. Alterations in relation to a control trace are indicated with arrows.

Paediatric Patients

			-							-
Case	Gender / Age	WHO grade	Diagnosis	MSI status	In	Immunohistochemistry		MLH1 mutation screening	MLH1 methylation status	
					MLH1	MSH2	MSH6	PMS2		
Pediat	ric									
2452	F/3	IV	GBM	MSI-H	+++	+++	-	++	ND	ND
2458	F/9	IV	GBM	MSI-L	+++	+++	+++	++	А	А
4816	M / 14	IV	GBM	MSI-L	+	++	++	++	А	NA
2444	M / 19	IV	GBM	MSI-L	-/+	+++	+/++	++	А	А
2457	F/13	IV	GBM	MSI-L	-/+	++	+++	-/+	А	А
2470	F/14	IV	GBM	MSI-L	MC	MC	+/++	MC	А	А
3952	F/14	IV	GBM	MSI-L	-	NS	NA	++	NA	NA
3954	M / 20	IV	GBM	MSI-L	+++	++	+++	+++	А	А
3962	F/0.3	Ш	AA	MSI-L	+	-	++/+++	-/+	А	А
3967	F/8	Ш	AO	MSI-L	+	++	++/+++	NS	А	А
3969	F/14	IV	GBM	MSI-L	MC	MC	+/++	MC	А	А
4820	M/16	IV	GBM	MSI-L	+	+	+	++	NA	NA
4823	M / 15	IV	GBM	MSI-L	+	++	-	++	NA	NA
4839	M / 16	IV	GBM	MSI-L	NS	++	++	++	NA	NA
Adult										
3248	M / 67	IV	GBM	MSI-L	+++	+++	+++	++	А	NA
3283	M / 63	IV	GBM	MSI-L	+++	++	++/+++	+++	А	NA
3415	M / 70	IV	GBM	MSI-L	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
3416	F / 75	IV	GBM	MSI-L	-	+++	+++	+++	А	NA
3465	F/62	IV	GBM	MSI-L	NS	+++	+++	+++	А	NA

Table 1 - Clinical characterization and MMR status of MSI cases

Abbreviations: M, male; F, female; GBM, glioblastoma; AA, anaplastic astrocytoma; AO, anaplastic oligodendroglioma; MSI-H, microsatellite instability-High; MSI-L, microsatellite instability-Low; MC, mostly cytoplasmatic; NS, non-specific; A, absent; ND, not done; NA, not available

(4/10, 40%) or PMS2 expression (4/10, 40%). There was, however, no evidence of mutation (assessed by direct sequencing) or hypermethylation (by MS-PCR) of *MLH1* in these cases. Due to the FFPE nature of the samples, it was not possible to screen for *MLH1* mutations and promoter methylation in all MSI samples (Table 1). Moreover, on samples screened for *MLH1* mutations, the rate of successful exons sequenced ranged from 58% (11/19 exons) to 100% (19/19 exons), according sample DNA quality. In contrast to pediatric, the four adult MSI-L cases presented positive immunoreactivity for MMR proteins. A single case was negative only for MSH6. This patient (RMH2452, MSI-H) presented multiple café-au-lait spots in the absence of other clinical features of neurofibromatosis-1 (NF1). There was no family history of NF1, although the maternal great grandmother had endometrial cancer in her early forties. Although constitutional DNA was not available for testing, this patient's clinical history is consistent with an inherited MMR deficiency such as Turcot's syndrome, associated with germline *MSH6* mutation.

MSI-positive pediatric HGG have distinct genomic profiles and differential target genes compared with other tumor types

As the presence of MSI reflects a nucleotide-level form of genetic instability, work in CRC suggests that large scale chromosomal instability is reduced or absent in MSI-positive cases [31,32]. In order to determine whether this may also be true for pediatric HGG, we examined copy number profiles on 9/14 MSI-positive cases for which sufficient quantity and quality of DNA was available, and compared this to a similarly profiled cohort of 26 pediatric MSS cases (Array Express accession number E-TABM-857) [33]. A total of four MSI-positive cases harbored a 'flat' or 'stable' profile, with minimal or no copy number alterations detectable on the 32K tiling-path BAC array platform used (Figure 2, Table 2).

This is a pattern of genomic stability present in approximately 20% of pediatric HGG, but almost entirely absent from similar adult tumors [6,34]. Four MSI-L cases harbored a small number of whole chromosome arm gains or losses, and fell into the 'aneuploid' category of genomic profile. There was a single, MSI-L, case (RMH3954) that had a highly rearranged genome, with 19 distinct alterations. No MSIpositive cases contained any high-level amplifications or homozygous deletions.

Case	MSI status	Genomic subtype	Copy number changes	Altered MSI Target Genes
Pediatric				
2452	MSI-H	Stable	5q31+, 21q21-	MSH6 (C)9
2458	MSI-L	Stable	None	-
4816	MSI-L	NA	NA	-
2444	MSI-L	Aneuploid	1q+, 9q+	MRE11 (T)11/12
2457	MSI-L	Aneuploid	4q-, 5q-,7p12+, 9p21-, 13q-, 19+	-
2470	MSI-L	Aneuploid	5q-, 10q-, 14q-, 15q-, 19+, 20p-, Xp-	-
3952	MSI-L	Aneuploid	1p-, 6p-, 12q- 13q-, 19-, 22q-	-
3954	MSI-L	Rearranged	1p-, 1q+, 2q+, 3q-, 4p+, 4q+, 4q-, 5q-, 6p-,	-
			6q+, 7+, 8p+, 8q-, 11p-, 11q+, 12q-, 13q-, 18-	
			, 19q-	
3962	MSI-L	Stable	None	-
3967	MSI-L	Stable	None	-
3969	MSI-L	NA	NA	DNAPKcs (A)9/10
4820	MSI-L	NA	NA	-
4823	MSI-L	NA	NA	-
4839	MSI-L	NA	NA	MRE11 (T)11/12
Adult				
3248	MSI-L	NA	NA	MRE11 (T)11/12
3283	MSI-L	NA	NA	-
3415	MSI-L	NA	NA	-
3416	MSI-L	NA	NA	-
3465	MSI-L	NA	NA	-

 Table 2 – Genomic alterations and Candidate MSI target genes frameshift mutations in MSI samples

Abbreviations: MSI-H, microsatellite instability-High; MSI-L, microsatellite instability-Low; NA, not available

4. Microsatellite Instability in High-grade Gliomas and Medulloblastomas of Adult and Paediatric Patients



Figure 2 - **Genomic stability in MSI pediatric HGG.** Array CGH genome plots are shown for two MSIpositive pediatric HGG, the MSI-H RMH2452 (A) and the MSI-L RMH2458 (B), demonstrating lack of large scale alterations detectable on the 32K BAC platform. Log₂ ratios for each clone (y axis) are plotted according to chromosomal location (x axis). The centromeres are represented by vertical lines.

Overall there were less copy number changes in MSI (mean 5.78, range 0-19) than MSS cases (mean 8.35, range 0-25), although there was no statistical difference in the groups (p=0.37, t test), reflecting the highly rearranged MSI-L case, and the presence of 4/26 (15.4%) genomically stable cases by array CGH that were also MSS.

The presence of MSI confers an increased susceptibility for acquiring mutations in various target genes containing single nucleotide repeat sequences [20]. Selected CRC target genes involved in apoptosis (*BAX*), tumor growth (*TGFBRII*), WNT pathway (*AXIN2*, *TCF4*, *WISP3*), DNA repair (*ATM*, *ATR*, *BLM*, *BRCA1*, *BRCA2*,

DNAPKcs, MBD4, MRE11, MSH3, MSH6, RAD50, XRCC2) and PI3-kinase signaling (PTEN) were analyzed for mutations in MSIpositive HGG samples (Table 2).

The pediatric MSI-H sample was found to contain a homozygous single base insertion in the poly(C)8 tract of *MSH6* poly(C)9, a frameshift which results in a truncated protein, confirmed in duplicate by genotyping and direct sequencing (Figure 3A). Somatic mutations on the poly(C)8 sequence of *MSH6*, are strongly associated with initiating *MSH6* germline mutations [35], adding further evidence to this patient having an inherited MMR deficiency syndrome.

A further MSI-L sample (RMH3969) presented a heterozygous single base deletion in the poly(A)10 sequence on the exon 5 of DNAPKcs (poly(A)9/10), however this mutation did not influence protein expression, as observed by immunohistochemistry (Figure 3B). Two other MSI-L cases, RMH2444 (Figure 3C) and RMH3952 harbored a heterozygous single base insertion in the poly(T)11 tract on the of MRE11 intron 4 (poly(T)11/12). Immunohistochemistry again revealed positivity of the protein (Figure 3C). This insertion was also observed in 1/5 adult cases with MSI-L (RMH3248). No additional target gene mutations were observed in our series (Table 2).

127

4.2 Microsatellite Instability in Paediatric High Grade Glioma is Associated with Genomic Profile and Differential Target Gene Inactivation



MRE11 poly(T)11/12 is a previously unrecognized polymorphism with no apparent functional consequence in DNA double strand break detection and repair

As MRE11 represented a potentially unknown contributor to the pathogenesis of HGG associated with MSI, we determined whether the specific MRE11 poly(T)11/12 mutation affects the normal function of the protein, a member of the MRE11-RAD50-NBS1 (MRN) complex involved in DNA repair. models As we used three leukemia/lymphoma cell lines (Figure 4A): Daudi, MRE11 poly(T)11/12; Raji, MRE11 poly(T)11/11, wild type, and DNA repair proficient; and Jurkat, MRE11 poly(T)10/11 known to generate alternative splicing in

Figure 3 - Target gene screening in MSI pediatric HGG. Electropherogram traces, direct sequencing, and immunohistochemistry for MSI target genes presenting frameshift mutations in pediatric HGG (DNA alterations indicated with arrows). (A) RMH2452 (MSI-H) presenting a homozygous insertion of one bp in the MSH6 poly(C)8 tract and loss of protein expression. (B) RMH3969 (MSI-L) presenting a heterozygous deletion of one bp in the DNAPKcs poly(A)10 tract, and retention of protein expression. (C) RMH2444 (MSI-L) presenting а heterozygous insertion of one bp in the MRE11 poly(T)11 tract and retention of protein expression.

exon 5 of *MRE11* (Figure 4B) and DNA repair deficient [26]. The presence of an aberrant transcript was detected by RT-PCR of exons 2 to 6 with a truncated product detected in Jurkat cells (Figure 4C). Levels of total MRE11 mRNA were quantified by qRT-PCR amplification of exons 2 to 4 which generates a single size product, for both wild-type and the aberrant transcript. The ratios of the mRNA expression levels of MRE11, relative to GAPDH, were similar across all cell lines (Figure 4B) while protein levels were lower in Jurkat (Figure 4C).

To assess the proficiency of MRE11associated DNA repair in *MRE11* poly(T)11/12 Daudi, we monitored the 4. Microsatellite Instability in High-grade Gliomas and Medulloblastomas of Adult and

Paediatric Patients



Figure 4 - MRE11 poly(T)11/12 sequence variant has no apparent functional consequence on DNA damage detection and repair (A) Electropherograms and sequencing traces of the MRE11 poly(T)11 tract in leukemia/lymphoma cells: Daudi (heterozygous insertion of one bp, poly(T)11/12); Jurkat (heterozygous deletion of one bp, poly(T)10/11); and Raji (wild-type, poly(T)11). (B) MRE11 expression in Daudi, Jurkat and Raji cells. gRT-PCR was used to calculate the ratio of MRE11 expression (amplification of exons 2 to 4) relative to the GAPDH control, independently of the presence of the aberrant transcript observed in Jurkat. PCR products were loaded on the gel at saturation of the reaction, being not quantitative. MRE11 protein levels were assessed by Western blot, and were considerably lower in Jurkat. (C) ATM-pS1981 levels were assessed by Western blot in Daudi, Jurkat and Raji after 1.5Gy irradiation of cells and 1h, 4h or 24h recovery. There was an increase of ATM phosphorylation 1h after irradiation in Daudi and Raji cells that decreased at the later time points. Jurkat showed no ATM phosphorylation after exposure to irradiation. (D) DNA repair foci was observed by immunofluorescence after 1.5Gy IR followed by 1h and 4h recovery. Irradiation resulted in the formation of both MRE11 and 53BP1 foci in Daudi and Raji cells, whereas Jurkat failed to form MRE11 foci. Nuclei were counterstained with DAPI. Merged figure presents colocalization of MRE11 and 53BP1 foci visualized in yellow.

repair response following DNA damage induced by ionizing radiation. After exposure to irradiation, auto-phosphorylation of ATM on serine-1981 takes place in response to the formation of DNA double stranded breaks (DSB) [36]. 1.5 Gy IR resulted in no ATM phosphorylation in Jurkat, while Raji and Daudi, presented an increase of ATM phosphorylation 1h after IR followed by a slight decrease in longer time points (Figure 4C). Another response to ionizing radiation is the accumulation of DNA repair proteins after exposure to irradiation that can be visualized in the form of foci associated with recruitment of essential repair complexes to the sites of DNA damage [37]. After 1.5 Gy IR, 53BP1 foci formation after IR was proficient in all cell lines as these can form even in the absence of a functional MRN complex (Figure 4D). In Daudi and Raji, the co-localization between MRE11 and 53BP1 foci observed was suggestive of the formation of functional repair complexes, in contrast to Jurkat, where no MRE11 foci were present. Compared to Jurkat and Daudi, Raji nonirradiated cells showed higher background levels of DNA damage as detected by formation of gH2AX foci (Supporting Information 3). In summary, these results suggest that the MRE11 poly(T)11/12 mutation does not result in a compromised DNA damage repair response in Daudi cells.

Although *MRE11* poly(T)11/12 alteration could not be found in the dbSNP database, this specific base change was recently identified in the germline of a Caucasian male [38]. We subsequently screened a series of 72 control DNA samples, and discovered *MRE11* poly(T)11/12 to be present in 5/72 (6.9%) healthy volunteers. Although this frequency is less than that observed in the MSI-positive cases (3/19, 15.8%), the difference is not statistically significant (p=0.23, Chi-square test). Thus we conclude that *MRE11* poly(T)11/12 is a previously unrecognized polymorphism with no functional consequences on the DNA repair response.

DISCUSSION

Published studies on MSI in HGG have produced contradictory results. These differences have variously been attributed to the number of samples studied, the heterogeneity and accuracy of methods used to determine MSI status. We sought to address this by carrying out a large study of HGG using the most robust and sensitive screens available, and report a significantly elevated frequency of MSI in pediatric (19.7%) *versus* adult (6.8%) tumors.

One of the key considerations in the assessment of MSI is in the use of mononucleotides *versus* polynucleotides in the panel of markers used. The quasimonomorphic nature of the mononucleotides we used makes these most

4. Microsatellite Instability in High-grade Gliomas and Medulloblastomas of Adult and Paediatric Patients

suitable for MSI detection, particularly when matching germline DNA is not available, and display a higher sensitivity [23,39]. Many of the early studies used polynucleotide markers only and found a frequency of MSI ranging from of 0 to 37% in series of 7 to 56 gliomas from pediatric or age not discriminated series [12-15]. Including both mononucleotide and polynucleotides did little to improve consistency, with contrasting results of 0 to 44% in series of 1 to 9 pediatric gliomas [8-10]. Recent studies using mononucleotides only were also contradictory. Alonso et al. 2001 [11] reported a frequency of 27% MSI in 45 pediatric HGG using BAT25 and BAT26 as markers, while Eckert et al. 2007 [16] found no evidence of MSI in 41 cases using CAT25, BAT25 and BAT26. Vladimirova et al. 2007 [17] used the same panel of five mononucleotides as in the present study, and yet found a reduced frequency of 3.2% MSI in 126 pediatric HGG in comparison to our 19.7%. One key difference between our studies that possibly accounts for the diversity of frequencies is the use of 30 controls to establish the QMVR in our work. This approach allowed us to assess smaller allelic shifts of the markers as any variation outside the QMVR was considered as instability. Although the data presented by previous studies do not allow for re-analysis using this technique, we speculate that our

increased frequency of MSI may be related to enhanced detection sensitivity [39].

Another important analytical difference may be found in the use of an alternative classification of MSI, which takes into account the size of the allelic shifts in the markers, rather than the number of markers with alterations. In this classification, samples presenting small length change (≤ 6 bp) are considered Type A, whilst those presenting more drastic alterations are described as Type B MSI, as reported for CRC [40]. Pediatric HGG with constitutive MMR deficiency have been previously described as possessing Type A MSI [41] and we also observed Type A MSI in our sporadic, and likely syndromic cases. This is also consistent previous with our observations in medulloblastoma [21], and appears to be a consistent difference in MSI reported in CNS tumors compared with the classic MSI positive epithelial tumors such as colorectal and gastric carcinomas. The observation that brain tumors present smaller changes in the MSI markers may represent a cause of the inconsistency found on MSI frequencies reported in literature.

Having established that a proportion of our pediatric HGG cases harbored MSI, we were keen to determine how this related to other genomic abnormalities. Microsatellite and chromosomal instability have been considered to be mutually exclusive [31], and although recent reports have demonstrated that a minority of tumors can present both MSI-H and chromosomal instability, the frequency and degree of chromosomal alterations in colorectal and gastric MSS cancers is much higher than in the MSI-H cases [32]. Pediatric HGG differ from those found in adults by comprising a proportion of tumors with few or no detectable copy number changes by microarray analysis [6]. The MSI-H sample in our current cohort fell into that category. The MSI-L cases also had relatively fewer alterations than the population as a whole, while the presence of MSI and chromosomal instability were not mutually exclusive. In particular, there were several cases with 'stable' genomes which did not present MSI, suggesting that although this phenotype was associated with a proportion of cases with no gross alterations, it was not a general explanation for this key difference between the childhood and adult disease.

MSI is a molecular feature resulting mainly from inactivating alterations of the MMR system [19]. We studied MMR inactivation by immunohistochemistry on the 11 MSI tumors and observed that MLH1 expression was absent or reduced in 10 samples, 5 of which also presented reduced PMS2 and/or MSH2 expression. Considering the high percentage of pediatric HGG lacking MLH1 expression, molecular deficiencies in this gene appear to be the origin of the MSI phenotype in most of the cases, although we did not observe point mutations or hypermethylation in these samples.

MSH6 expression was absent in a single sample that also presented a homozygous insertion of a single nucleotide in the poly(C)8 track of MSH6, which is a target of MSI. This is the first report of this mutation in brain tumors. MSH6 poly(C)9 leads to a truncated protein and is probably the cause of the total absence of protein assessed by immunohistochemistry. MSH6 mutations in the poly(C)8 microsatellite are thought to arise due to germline mutations of the MMR genes, making of MSH6 a target for somatic mutations in the presence of MMR germline mutations [35]. These germline mutations usually occur in the context of familial tumors and accordingly this patient had a clinical history consistent with a MMR deficiency syndrome such as Turcot, in which Type A MSI has been reported in affected children with glioblastoma [42]. Recently, MSH6 mutations have been demonstrated to arise in gliomas as a consequence of treatment with temozolomide, and have been implicated in drug resistance and the presence of a hypermutated phenotype [4,43]. Apart from the sample RMH2458, which did not harbor any MSH6 mutation, the tumors analyzed in this study, including the MSH6 mutated RMH2452, were primary tumors, and have not been previously exposed to radio or chemotherapy treatment. Therefore MSH6 findings are not

related with a previous exposure to temozolomide.

A major consequence of MSI is the accumulation of additional mutations in key oncogenic target genes. To our knowledge, only five known MSI target genes have been screened, with mutations reported in a single case each of IGFIIR [7] and PTEN [9], and of TGF6RII in 71% cases [14], although this latter observation was not seen elsewhere [7,9]. We investigated the mutational status of 18 classical target genes in MSI HGG and, apart from MSH6, found alterations only in two other target genes, DNAPKcs and MRE11, which are involved in DNA DSB repair. The DNAPKcs poly(A)9/10 sequence variant has been described in samples of gastric and endometrial tumors [44,45], but has not been previously reported in gliomas. In subclones of the CRC cell line HCT-8 it failed to confer additional deficiency to DNA DSB repair compared to the parental line [46], and we found no alterations in protein expression in the MSI glioma sample this mutation. MRE11 presenting poly(T)11/12 has previously been reported in a single case of MSI CRC [47], a single case of MSI medulloblastoma [21], and in the Daudi lymphoma cells [26]. Our findings here demonstrate that it appears to be an undocumented polymorphism with no functional consequences on DNA damage detection and repair. Thus it seems that the classical target genes for MSI in other tumor

types are not frequently mutated in gliomas, and the field would benefit from a bioinformatic approach focusing on specific repeat sequences in coding regions for identifying novel, possibly glioma-specific MSI target genes as has been carried out in other tumor types [48].

The presence of MSI in pediatric HGG important may have translational implications. Specifically, in CRC, MSI-positive patients appear to show a differential response to 5-fluorouracil alone [49] as well as adjuvant therapy with irinotecan, fluorouracil, and leucovorin [50]. Furthermore, the majority of MSI-positive tumor cell lines of different tissue origins (endometrial, ovarian, prostate, and colorectal carcinomas) appear hypersensitive to drugs that produce DNA DSBs such as bleomycin [46]. Given the considerable impact of abrogated DNA repair capacity on gliomagenesis, identification of even a subset of cases with a differential response to existing chemotherapeutics would be of immense clinical benefit in these extraordinarily treatment refractory tumors.

In conclusion, we identified a subset of glioma patients presenting MSI with molecular alterations distinctive of this phenotype suggesting an association of MSI with the development of gliomas.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to thank Dr. Steve Jackson's Laboratory at the University of Cambridge for the MRE11 antibody and Dr. Sandra Costa from ICVS, University of Minho, for the disease-free controls DNA. M. Viana-Pereira is funded by a PhD fellowship [SFRH/BD/29145/2006] of Fundação para a Tecnologia, Portugal. Ciência e We acknowledge the British Council and the Portuguese Council of Rectors, Treaty of Windsor Anglo-Portuguese Joint Research Programme (R.M. Reis, C. Jones, M. Viana-Pereira and D.A. Bax).

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.Clinicopathologicalcharacteristicsandmicrosatellite screening data of all HGG samples.FullQMVR range is provided.

2. Immunohistochemistry of MMR proteins in MSIpositive samples. H&E staining as well as expression of MLH1, MSH2, MSH6 and PMS2 are shown for cases RMH2452, RMH2458 and RMH4816. Original magnification x200 (inset x600).

3. Immunofluorescence for yH2AX foci in Daudi, Jurkat and Raji cells. Cells were treated with 1.5Gy IR and allowed to recover for 1h and 4h. Higher background levels of DNA damage were observed in Raji cells as seen by the formation of foci in the non-irradiated cells.

REFERENCES

- Louis DN, Ohgaki H, Wiestler OD, Cavenee WK (2007) WHO Classification of Tumours of the Central Nervous System. Lyon: IARC.
- Broniscer A and Gajjar A (2004) Supratentorial high-grade astrocytoma and diffuse brainstem glioma: two challenges for the pediatric oncologist. Oncologist 9: 197-206.
- 3. Furnari FB, Fenton T, Bachoo RM, Mukasa A, Stommel JM et al. (2007) Malignant astrocytic glioma: genetics, biology, and paths to treatment. Genes Dev 21: 2683-2710.
- Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network (2008) Comprehensive genomic characterization defines human glioblastoma genes and core pathways. Nature 455: 1061-1068.
- Parsons DW, Jones S, Zhang X, Lin JC, Leary RJ et al. (2008) An integrated genomic analysis of human glioblastoma multiforme. Science 321: 1807-1812.
- Paugh BS, Qu C, Jones C, Liu Z, Adamowicz-Brice M et al. (2010) Integrated molecular genetic profiling of pediatric high-grade gliomas

reveals key differences with the adult disease. J Clin Oncol 20: 3061-3068.

- Leung SY, Chan TL, Chung LP, Chan AS, Fan YW et al. (1998) Microsatellite instability and mutation of DNA mismatch repair genes in gliomas. Am J Pathol 153: 1181-1188.
- Cheng Y, Ng HK, Zhang SF, Ding M, Pang JC et al. (1999) Genetic alterations in pediatric highgrade astrocytomas. Hum Pathol 30: 1284-1290.
- Kanamori M, Kon H, Nobukuni T, Nomura S, Sugano K et al. (2000) Microsatellite instability and the PTEN1 gene mutation in a subset of early onset gliomas carrying germline mutation or promoter methylation of the hMLH1 gene. Oncogene 19: 1564-1571.
- Martinez R, Schackert HK, Appelt H, Plaschke J, Baretton G et al. (2005) Low-level microsatellite instability phenotype in sporadic glioblastoma multiforme. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 131: 87-93.

Paediatric Patients

- 11. Alonso M, Hamelin R, Kim M, Porwancher K, Sung T et al. (2001) Microsatellite instability occurs in distinct subtypes of pediatric but not adult central nervous system tumors. Cancer Res 61: 2124-2128.
- Dams E, Van de Kelft EJ, Martin JJ, Verlooy J, Willems PJ (1995) Instability of microsatellites in human gliomas. Cancer Res 55: 1547-1549.
- Amariglio N, Friedman E, Mor O, Stiebel H, Phelan C et al. (1995) Analysis of microsatellite repeats in pediatric brain tumors. Cancer Genet Cytogenet 84: 56-59.
- Izumoto S, Arita N, Ohnishi T, Hiraga S, Taki T et al. (1997) Microsatellite instability and mutated type II transforming growth factorbeta receptor gene in gliomas. Cancer Lett 112: 251-256.
- Sobrido MJ, Pereira CR, Barros F, Forteza J, Carracedo A et al. (2000) Low frequency of replication errors in primary nervous system tumours. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 69: 369-375.
- Eckert A, Kloor M, Giersch A, Ahmadi R, Herold-Mende C et al. (2007) Microsatellite instability in pediatric and adult high-grade gliomas. Brain Pathol 17: 146-150.
- Vladimirova V, Denkhaus D, Soerensen N, Wagner S, Wolff JE et al. (2007) Low level of microsatellite instability in paediatric malignant astrocytomas. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol 34: 547-554.
- Umar A, Boland CR, Terdiman JP, Syngal S, De La Chapelle A et al. (2004) Revised Bethesda Guidelines for hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer (Lynch syndrome) and microsatellite instability. J Natl Cancer Inst 96: 261-268.
- Karran P (1996) Microsatellite instability and DNA mismatch repair in human cancer. Semin Cancer Biol 7: 15-24.
- Duval A and Hamelin R (2002) Mutations at coding repeat sequences in mismatch repairdeficient human cancers: toward a new concept of target genes for instability. Cancer Res 62: 2447-2454.
- 21. Viana-Pereira M, Almeida I, Sousa S, Mahler-Araujo B, Seruca R et al. (2009) Analysis of

microsatellite instability in medulloblastoma. Neuro Oncol 11: 458-467.

- 22. Wong YF, Cheung TH, Lo KW, Yim SF, Chan LK et al. (2006) Detection of microsatellite instability in endometrial cancer: advantages of a panel of five mononucleotide repeats over the National Cancer Institute panel of markers. Carcinogenesis 27: 951-955.
- 23. Buhard O, Cattaneo F, Wong YF, Yim SF, Friedman E et al. (2006) Multipopulation analysis of polymorphisms in five mononucleotide repeats used to determine the microsatellite instability status of human tumors. J Clin Oncol 24: 241-251.
- 24. Miquel C, Jacob S, Grandjouan S, Aime A, Viguier J et al. (2007) Frequent alteration of DNA damage signalling and repair pathways in human colorectal cancers with microsatellite instability. Oncogene 26: 5919-5926.
- 25. Thorstensen L, Lind GE, Lovig T, Diep CB, Meling GI et al. (2005) Genetic and epigenetic changes of components affecting the WNT pathway in colorectal carcinomas stratified by microsatellite instability. Neoplasia 7: 99-108.
- 26. Ham MF, Takakuwa T, Luo WJ, Liu A, Horii A et al. (2006) Impairment of double-strand breaks repair and aberrant splicing of ATM and MRE11 in leukemia-lymphoma cell lines with microsatellite instability. Cancer Sci 97: 226-234.
- Hegde M, Blazo M, Chong B, Prior T, Richards C (2005) Assay validation for identification of hereditary nonpolyposis colon cancer-causing mutations in mismatch repair genes MLH1, MSH2, and MSH6. J Mol Diagn 7: 525-534.
- Park SJ, Rashid A, Lee JH, Kim SG, Hamilton SR et al. (2003) Frequent CpG island methylation in serrated adenomas of the colorectum. Am J Pathol 162: 815-822.
- 29. Mirzoeva OK and Petrini JH (2001) DNA damage-dependent nuclear dynamics of the Mre11 complex. Mol Cell Biol 21: 281-288.
- 30. Goldberg M, Stucki M, Falck J, D'Amours D, Rahman D et al. (2003) MDC1 is required for the intra-S-phase DNA damage checkpoint. Nature 421: 952-956.
- 31. Remvikos Y, Vogt N, Muleris M, Salmon RJ, Malfoy B et al. (1995) DNA-repeat instability is

Genomic Profile and Differential Target Gene Inactivation

associated with colorectal cancers presenting minimal chromosome rearrangements. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 12: 272-276.

- 32. Jones AM, Douglas EJ, Halford SE, Fiegler H, Gorman PA et al. (2005) Array-CGH analysis of microsatellite-stable, near-diploid bowel cancers and comparison with other types of colorectal carcinoma. Oncogene 24: 118-129.
- Bax DA, Mackay A, Little SE, Carvalho D, Viana-Pereira M et al. (2010) A distinct spectrum of copy number aberrations in pediatric high grade gliomas. Clin Cancer Res 16: 3368-3377.
- Bredel M, Bredel C, Juric D, Harsh GR, Vogel H et al. (2005) High-resolution genome-wide mapping of genetic alterations in human glial brain tumors. Cancer Res 65: 4088-4096.
- 35. De Leeuw WJ, van PM, Merx R, Wijnen JT, Brocker-Vriends AH et al. (2001) Bias in detection of instability of the (C)8 mononucleotide repeat of MSH6 in tumours from HNPCC patients. Oncogene 20: 6241-6244.
- 36. Uziel T, Lerenthal Y, Moyal L, Andegeko Y, Mittelman L et al. (2003) Requirement of the MRN complex for ATM activation by DNA damage. EMBO J 22: 5612-5621.
- 37. Haaf T, Golub EI, Reddy G, Radding CM, Ward DC (1995) Nuclear foci of mammalian Rad51 recombination protein in somatic cells after DNA damage and its localization in synaptonemal complexes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92: 2298-2302.
- Levy S, Sutton G, Ng PC, Feuk L, Halpern AL et al. (2007) The diploid genome sequence of an individual human. PLoS Biol 5: e254.
- 39. Goel A, Nagasaka T, Hamelin R, Boland CR (2010) An optimized pentaplex PCR for detecting DNA mismatch repair-deficient colorectal cancers. PLoS ONE 5: e9393.
- 40. Oda S, Maehara Y, Ikeda Y, Oki E, Egashira A et al. (2005) Two modes of microsatellite instability in human cancer: differential connection of defective DNA mismatch repair to dinucleotide repeat instability. Nucleic Acids Res 33: 1628-1636.
- Giunti L, Cetica V, Ricci U, Giglio S, Sardi I et al. (2009) Type A microsatellite instability in

pediatric gliomas as an indicator of Turcot syndrome. Eur J Hum Genet 17: 919-927.

- Hegde MR, Chong B, Blazo ME, Chin LH, Ward PA et al. (2005) A homozygous mutation in MSH6 causes Turcot syndrome. Clin Cancer Res 11: 4689-4693.
- 43. Yip S, Miao J, Cahill DP, Iafrate AJ, Aldape K et al. (2009) MSH6 mutations arise in glioblastomas during temozolomide therapy and mediate temozolomide resistance. Clin Cancer Res 15: 4622-4629.
- 44. Lee HS, Choe G, Park KU, Park dJ, Yang HK et al. (2007) Altered expression of DNAdependent protein kinase catalytic subunit (DNA-PKcs) during gastric carcinogenesis and its clinical implications on gastric cancer. Int J Oncol 31: 859-866.
- 45. Duval A, Reperant M, Compoint A, Seruca R, Ranzani GN et al. (2002) Target gene mutation profile differs between gastrointestinal and endometrial tumors with mismatch repair deficiency. Cancer Res 62: 1609-1612.
- 46. Li HR, Shagisultanova EI, Yamashita K, Piao Z, Perucho M et al. (2004) Hypersensitivity of tumor cell lines with microsatellite instability to DNA double strand break producing chemotherapeutic agent bleomycin. Cancer Res 64: 4760-4767.
- 47. Alemayehu A and Fridrichova I (2007) The MRE11/RAD50/NBS1 complex destabilization in Lynch-syndrome patients. Eur J Hum Genet 15: 922-929.
- 48. Mori Y, Sato F, Selaru FM, Olaru A, Perry K et al. (2002) Instabilotyping reveals unique mutational spectra in microsatellite-unstable gastric cancers. Cancer Res 62: 3641-3645.
- 49. Fallik D, Borrini F, Boige V, Viguier J, Jacob S et al. (2003) Microsatellite instability is a predictive factor of the tumor response to irinotecan in patients with advanced colorectal cancer. Cancer Res 63: 5738-5744.
- 50. Bertagnolli MM, Niedzwiecki D, Compton CC, Hahn HP, Hall M et al. (2009) Microsatellite instability predicts improved response to adjuvant therapy with irinotecan, fluorouracil, and leucovorin in stage III colon cancer: Cancer and Leukemia Group B Protocol 89803. J Clin Oncol 27: 1814-1821.

4.2 Microsatellite Instability in Paediatric High Grade Glioma is Associated with Genomic

Profile and Differential Target Gene Inactivation

Su	pp	C	ort	ting	Information 1
-				-	

Pediatric S	amples							
Pediatric	Gender /	Histological type			MS	SI detection		
case	Age (y)	histological type	NR27	NR21	NR24	BAT25	BAT26	MSI status
OMVR	NA / 10	04 (2)	85-86	105-106	122-123	145-148	177-179	MCL
RMH2444 RMH2446	F / 17	GBM	85 85	105	122-124	146	178	MSS
RMH2447	F / 13	AO	85	105	123	145	178	MSS
RMH2448	F/5	GBM	85	105	123	147	178	MSS
RMH2449	F/11	GBM	85	106	123	146	178	MSS
RMH2450	M / 0.5	GBM	85	106	123	146	178	MSS
RMH2452	F / 3	GBM	84	104-106	123	144	176	MSI-H
RMH2457	F/13	GBM	85	105	123	146-149	178	MSI-L
RMH2458	F/9	GBM (Secondary)	85	104-106	123	145-147	178	MSI-L
RMH2460	M / 16	AA	86	106	122	147	177	MSS
	F/12 M/12	GBM	86	106	122	147	177	IVISS
RMH2465	M/Q	GBM	85 85	106	123	140	176	MSS
RMH2460	F/10	GBM	85	105	123	140	178	MSS
RMH2469	F/4	Gliomatosis cerebri	85	105	123	146	178	MSS
RMH2470	F/14	GBM	85	105	123	143-148	178	MSI-L
RMH2472	F / 12	GBM	85	106	122	146	178	MSS
RMH2474	M / 11	Gliosarcoma	85	106	123	146	178	MSS
RMH2475	M / 11	GBM	86	106	122	148	178	MSS
RMH2476	M / 8	AA	85	106	123	146	178	MSS
RMH2478	F/11	GBM	86	106	123	146	178	MSS
RMH2480	M / 11	AA	85	106	122	146	178	MSS
RMH3547	M / 12	AA	85	106	123	147	178	MSS
RIVIH3548	F/9	AA	85	105	122	147	178	IVISS MSS
RIVIE3549	IVI / 0 E / 10	GBIVI	85	106	122	147	178	IVISS
RMH3551	M / 20	GBM	85	105	122	146	178	MSS
RMH3552	F/5	AA	85	105	122	146	178	MSS
RMH3554	F/8	GBM	85	106	122	146	NA	MSS
RMH3555	F/9	GBM	85	106	122	147	177	MSS
RMH3556	M / 0.8	GBM	86	105	123	147	179	MSS
RMH3557	F / 5	Giant cell GBM	85	106	123	146	177	MSS
RMH3558	F/10	AA	85	106	122	147	177	MSS
RMH3559	F / 16	GBM	85	106	123	147	177	MSS
RMH3561	F/10	GBM	85	106	122	146	177	MSS
RIVIH3564	M / 12	GBIM	85	105	122	147	178	IVISS MSS
RIVIH3505	IVI / 8 E / 10		85	106	122	146	179	IVISS
RMH3567	F / 10		80	105	122	140	178	MSS
RMH3568	M / 17	ΔΔ	85	105	122	140	178	MSS
RMH3942	M / 11	AO	85	104	122	145	177	MSS
RMH3945	F/4	AA	85	105	122	147	178	MSS
RMH3947	M / 6	GBM	85	106	123	148	178	MSS
RMH3952	F/14	GBM	85	101-106	122	146	178	MSI-L
RMH3954	M / 20	GBM	85	106	122	146-148	178	MSI-L
RMH3955	F / 19	GBM	86	106	122	146	178	MSS
RMH3957	M / 4	GBM	85	106	123	146	178	MSS
KIMH3959	IVI / 22	AA	85	106	123	146	1/8	MISS
RMH3067	E \ U 3	GRIM	85 87	105	122	147 175	170 170	IVISS
RMH3965	M / 12	GRM	85	105	122	145	179	MSS
RMH3966	M / 11	GBM	85	106	123	146	177	MSS
RMH3967	F/8	AA	84	105	122	147	178	MSI-L
RMH3968	F/21	AA	85	106	122	147	178	MSS
RMH3969	F/14	GBM	84	105	122	146	177	MSI-L
RMH3490	M / 11	GBM	85	105	122	147	178	MSS
RMH3492	M / 21	AO	85	106	122	146	178	MSS
RMH4811	M / 17	GBM	85	105	122	146	178	MSS
RMH4816	M / 14	GBM	85	101-104	121-130	146	179	MSI-L
	IVI / 18	GRIM	85 85	101 104	122	147	170	IVISS
KIVIT482U RMH/1977	IVI / 10 F / 16	GBM	85 85	101-104	122	145 146	177	IVISI-L MSS
RMH4822	M / 11	GBM	85	105	121-124	146	179	MSI-I
RMH4825	F/1	GBM	85	105	122	145	NA	MSS
RMH4826	M / 18	GBM	85	106	123	146	NA	MSS
RMH4831	F / 13	GBM	85	105	123	147	178	MSS
RMH4833	F / 18	GBM	85	106	122	146	177	MSS
RMH4835	F/6	GBM	85	105	123	146	178	MSS
RMH4836	M / 14	GBM	85	106	122	146	177	MSS
RMH4839	F / 16	GBM	85	101-105	122	146	178	MSI-L
KMH4840	M / 7	GBM	85	104	123	147	1/7	MSS

4.2 Microsatellite Instability in Paediatric High Grade Glioma is Associated with Genomic

Profile and Differential Target Gene Inactivation

Adults

Adult									
case	Gender/Age(y)	Histological type	NR27	NR21	NR24	BAT25	BAT26	MSI status	
RMH3243	M / 60	GBM	85	106	123	147	179	MSS	
	M / 68	GBM	86 85	106	122	146	178	MSS	
RMH3240	M / 63	GBM	85	106	123	147	178	MSS	
RMH3248	M / 67	GBM	82-86	105	123	145	178	MSI-L	
RMH3249	M / 48	GBM	85	105	123	147	179	MSS	
RMH3250	M / 48	GBM	86	106	122	146	178	MSS	
RMH3251	M / 65	GBM	NA	106	122	146	177	MSS	
RMH3252	M / 66	GBM	85	105	122	145	178	MSS	
RMH3253	F/63	GBM	86	106	122	147	178	MSS	
RIVIT3255	M / 65	GBM	85 85	106	123	140	178	MSS	
RMH3257	F / 35	GBM	85	100	123	146	178	MSS	
RMH3258	M / 44	Gliosarcoma	85	106	123	146	178	MSS	
RMH3260	M / 69	GBM	85	106	123	146	179	MSS	
RMH3262	M / 70	GBM	85	106	123	146	178	MSS	
RMH3263	F / 60	GBM	86	106	123	146	177	MSS	
RMH3265	F / 59	GBM	85	106	123	146	1//	MSS	
RIVIH3266 RMH3267	F / 50 M / 61	GBIVI	85 85	105	122	146	178	IVISS MSS	
RMH3269	M / 58	GBM	85	100	122	140	178	MSS	
RMH3273	M / 71	GBM	85	105	123	147	178	MSS	
RMH3274	F/61	GBM	85	106	122	146	178	MSS	
RMH3279	F / 69	GBM	85	106	123	145	178	MSS	
RMH3281	M / 53	GBM	85	105	123	146	178	MSS	
RMH3282	F / 62	GBM	85	106	123	146	178	MSS	
RMH3283	M / 63	GBM	85	106	123	147	176-179	MSI-L	
	F/61	Gliosarcoma	85	106	123	146	178	MSS	
	E / 65	GBM	85	105	123	147	177	IVI33	
RMH3292	F / 68	GBM	86	105	123	147	178	MSS	
RMH3293	M / 65	GBM	86	105	122	147	179	MSS	
RMH3294	M / 69	GBM	86	106	122	147	177	MSS	
RMH3295	M / 55	GBM	85	105	123	147	178	MSS	
RMH3296	M / 55	GBM	85	105	122	146	179	MSS	
RMH3297	F / 46	GBM	85	105	123	146	178	MSS	
RMH3300	F / 66	GBM	85	107	123	147	178	MSS	
	IVI / 54 M / 45	GBIVI	85	105	123	146	178	IVISS	
RMH3332	M / 56	GBM	85	105	123	147	178	MSS	
RMH3362	F / 56	GBM	85	105	123	146	177	MSS	
RMH3363	F / 70	GBM	85	106	122	146	178	MSS	
RMH3364	M / 70	GBM	85	106	123	146	178	MSS	
RMH3366	M / 32	AA	85	106	123	146	178	MSS	
RMH3368	M / 65	GBM	86	106	123	147	179	MSS	
RMH3379	F / 55	GBM	85	105	123	147	179	MSS	
	NI / 51	GBIN	85	106	123	147	178	IVISS MSS	
RMH3307	M / 73	GBM	85	105	122	140	178	MSS	
RMH3405	M / 56	GBM	85	100	122	140	177	MSS	
RMH3409	M / 68	GBM	85	105	123	145	177	MSS	
RMH3410	F / 68	GBM	85	105	123	146	178	MSS	
RMH3411	F / 59	GBM	85	105	123	147	178	MSS	
RMH3412	M / 52	GBM	85	106	122	146	177	MSS	
RMH3414	M / 49	GBM	85	105	123	146	177	MSS	
RMH3415	M / 70	GBM	85	101-106	122	146	178	MSI-L	
	F//5 M/56	GBIVI	85	106	123	146-148	178	IVISI-L MSS	
RMH3441	F / 68	GBM	85	105	123	147	178	MSS	
RMH3444	F / 76	GBM	86	106	123	146	178	MSS	
RMH3445	M / 62	GBM	85	105	123	146	178	MSS	
RMH3446	M / 79	GBM	85	105	123	146	178	MSS	
RMH3447	M / 66	GBM	86	106	123	146	178	MSS	
RMH3449	F / 76	GBM	86	105	123	146	178	MSS	
RMH3451	F / 56	GBM	85	106	123	146	178	MSS	
	M / 31	GBM	85	106	123	146	178	MSS	
	F/49 M/40	GRIM	85 95	106	123	146 176	179 170	IVISS	
RMH3459	IVI / 40 F / 55	GBIVI	50 25	105	123	140 146	178	NISS	
RMH3465	F / 62	GBM	85	105	122	140	179	MSI-I	
RMH3466	F / 69	GBM	85	106	123	147	178	MSS	
RMH3467	M / 79	GBM	86	106	123	147	178	MSS	
RMH3471	M / 69	GBM	85	106	122	147	178	MSS	

4. Microsatellite Instability in High-grade Gliomas and Medulloblastomas of Adult and

Paediatric Patients



Supporting Information 2

Supporting Information 3



5. General Discussion

5. General Discussion

A growing body of evidence has started to bring to light genetic differences between paediatric and adult brain tumours. The work described throughout this thesis aimed to give a further input on this major topic in neuro-oncobiology research. Hence, we highlight the relevance of EGFR and the presence and frequency of MSI in paediatric and adult malignant brain tumours.

5.1 – EGFR Molecular Alterations as Potential Therapeutic Targets for Gliomas in Adult and Paediatric Populations

The tyrosine kinase receptor EGFR induces proliferation and differentiation of multiple cell types, particularly of epithelial origin (1). Both overexpression and structural alterations of EGFR are frequent in various types of cancer, suggesting a role in the pathogenesis of multiple malignancies (2). Likewise, in high-grade gliomas, there are multiple mechanisms through which EGFR mediates tumour initiation and progression (Figure 1). EGFR gene amplification and overexpression are striking features of adult primary glioblastoma but are rare in low-grade gliomas or secondary glioblastoma (Figure 1B) (3-5). The most common and best-studied EGFR mutant in gliomas, the EGFRvIII (also known as EGFR type III, del2-7 or *DEGFR*), is generated from a deletion of exons 2 to 7 of *EGFR*, resulting in an in-frame deletion of 267 amino acids from the extracellular domain of the receptor (6, 7). Despite being unable to bind any ligand, this mutant signals constitutively, and is usually coexpressed with the wild type receptor in glioblastoma and present when EGFR is amplified (Figure 1D) (6, 8-10). EGFRvIII phosphorylation levels are only 10% of the activated EGFR wild type, yet it is thought to play a key role in gliomagenesis (11). Co-expression of EGFR ligands has also been detected, suggesting that autocrine loops contribute to malignant progression (Figure 1C) (12, 13). In our first study (summarized in Sub-Chapter 3.1) we evaluated these well-known EGFR molecular alterations in a series of adult Portuguese highgrade glioma patients, a population which had not previously been studied. The results were in agreement with earlier reports for adult high-grade gliomas from other countries (6, 14-19), yet added further contribution to the characterization of EGFR status, particularly



Figure 1 – Mechanisms of EGFR activation in high-grade gliomas. A) Normal EGFR and EGF signalling. B) EGFR overexpression (protein level)/amplification (DNA level) resulting in an increase of competent receptor signalling complexes at cell surface and enhanced oncogenic signalling. C) Increased matrix protease activity or the EGFRvIII mutant stimulates the secretion of EGF-family ligands, activating autocrine loops and leading to stimulation of wild-type EGFR and oncogenic signalling. D) EGFRvIII mutant results in constitutive receptor activation and diminished turnover, enhancing oncogenic signalling. *Adapted from reference* (9).

regarding the *EGFRvIII* mutation in anaplastic oligodendrogliomas, which was poorly described in literature (6, 20-23). In the paediatric group, the relevance of the EGFR signalling pathway is less well understood. In this context we aimed to clarify the role of EGFR in a large series of paediatric high-grade glioma (summarized in Sub-Chapter 3.2). A summary of the directly comparable main results of our adult and paediatric works is presented in Table 1.

The small amount of previous studies on EGFR in paediatric high-grade gliomas suggested that gene amplification is less common in paediatric than in adult primary glioblastomas, however the reported frequencies were highly heterogeneous (24-28). The variety of techniques used is postulated as the main cause of the heterogeneity of the results. Of note, in both works (Sub-Chapters 3.1 and 3.2), we used CISH for evaluation of *EGFR* amplification, which allows a histological evaluation and consideration of focal high-density clusters of amplification, unlike other molecular techniques, such as quantitative PCR. Comparing adult and childhood tumours, *EGFR* amplification was found at significantly 144

higher frequencies in glioblastomas or when pooling all high-grade gliomas of adult patients (*P*<0.01, Two tailed Fisher's exact test). Statistical significance was not achieved in oligodendroglial tumours, probably due to the reduced number of paediatric samples and homogeneity of results (0/4, 0% amplification).

	Overexpression (IHC)	Amplificati	on (CISH)	EGFRvIII (IHC or RT-PCR)		
All high-grade gliom	<i>as</i> *					
Adult (n=55)	24/55 (44%)	20/42 (48%)	D. 0.0001**	9/55 (16%)		
Paediatric (n=74)	- 15/32 (47%)	8/74 (11%)	P<0.0001	6/35 (17%)	-	
Glioblastoma						
Adult (n=27)	13/27 (48%)	10/19 (53%)	D . 0 01**	6/27 (22%)		
Paediatric (n=53)	- 7/18 (39%)	6/43 (14%)	P<0.01	1/20 (5%)	-	
Anaplastic oligodendroglioma						
Adult (n=24)	8/24 (33%)	8/20 (40%)		2/24 (8%)	۵-۵ ۵۲**	
Paediatric (n=3)	- 1/1 (100%)	0/3 (0%)	-	2/3 (67%)	<i>P</i> <0.05	

*Includes 27 primary glioblastomas, 24 anaplastic oligodendrogliomas and 4 anaplastic oligoastrocytomas in the adult setting and 53 glioblastomas, 16 anaplastic astrocytomas, 3 anaplastic oligodendrogliomas, 3 brainstem gliomas and 25 other WHO grade 3 or 4 lesions in the paediatric series. ** Two tailed Fisher's exact test.

Two different approaches were used to assess *EGFRvIII* presence in our works and both proved to be reliable. In the first article, we performed immunohistochemistry with a described EGFRvIII specific antibody (15). In the second study, it was developed an RT-PCR assay suitable for use in FFPE samples and the consistency of the technique was confirmed by direct sequencing. The presence of *EGFRvIII* in high-grade astrocytomas was associated with gene amplification and wild-type receptor overexpression, either in adult or in paediatric tumours, and overall frequencies were in line with the literature (27).

Frequencies of EGFRvIII were only significantly different among anaplastic oligodendroglioma (Table 1), with a higher incidence reported in paediatric tumours, yet the numbers of paediatric cases were very small. In the adult anaplastic oligodendroglioma,

EGFRVIII expression was accompanied by amplification of the receptor, whereas in paediatric tumours the absence of *EGFR* amplification in the presence of the mutant makes the significance of the mutation less clear. As the transforming ability of EGFRVIII has shown to only manifest itself in the context of other genetic alterations (29-32), it may be of note that these paediatric EGFRVIII-positive cases without gene amplification, presented strong PDGFRA expression, even if genomic alterations in *EGFR* and *PDGFRA* tend to be mutually exclusive in paediatric glioblastomas (33). Importantly, it has been described for adult glioblastomas, that EGFRVIII expression results in the cross-activation of other RTKs, such as MET, AXL or EphA2 (34). The PDGFRA co-expression with EGFRVIII, was not observed in our adult anaplastic oligodendrogliomas cases (35).

Anti-EGFR treatment seems to be effective in patients with EGFR tyrosine kinase mutations in lung cancer (36-39), however these mutations have not been found in glioma cell lines (37) or in tumour tissue from adult patients (37, 40, 41). By contrast, mutations in the EGFR extracellular domain were identified in glioblastoma samples, yet not associated with better responses to EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors (42). Recently, TCGA data have confirmed the presence of C-terminal deletions (5) and extracellular domain point mutations in a significant percentage of glioblastoma tumours (43). Biological material limitations in the adult high-grade glioma series, together with the scientific knowledge at that time, did not allow us to perform mutation studies on these tumours. Nevertheless such analysis was done in the paediatric samples, though we have not found mutations either in the tyrosine kinase or in the extracellular domains of *EGFR*, emphasising the potential biological differences between high-grade gliomas of different age-groups.

Initial studies have demonstrated that a subset of patients with co-expression of EGFRvIII and PTEN appeared to be more sensitive to anti-EGFR therapy with erlotinib (Tarceva), a selective EGFR and EGFRvIII tyrosine kinase inhibitor (TKI), in glioblastoma, enhancing this drug as a promising EGFR TKI for clinical use (44, 45). Also, it has been shown that erlotinib was more efficient in the adult glioblastoma U87MG cells co-expressing PTEN and EGFRvIII, compared to controls or cells transfected with EGFR wild-type or EGFRvIII alone (44). Nevertheless, a subsequent study reported that the concomitant expression of EGFRvIII with PTEN was not predictive of improved survival in patients treated with erlotinib (46). In the paediatric study, this topic was further explored, using paediatric glioma cell

lines as models to study the *in vitro* sensitivity of these cells to erlotinib. The rationale for using these cells for preclinical and mechanistic studies has been provided in a previous study (see appendix, paper I). Our data shows that co-expression of PTEN and EGFRVIII does not confer enhanced sensitivity to the inhibitor, comparing the paediatric glioblastoma, PTEN wild-type, cell line SF188 and the adult glioblastoma, PTEN deleted, cell line U87MG. In addition, the presence of wild type or mutant EGFR did not alter the efficiency of PI3K or MAPK pathways inhibitors in these cells. These findings suggest that more complex molecular signatures associated with individual tumours may need to be identified for clinically effective targeting of the EGFR in high-grade gliomas. As it was previously referred, EGFRvIII seems to activate MET and combined treatment of MET and EGFR kinase inhibitors conferred higher efficacy than single treatment of either compound (34). In agreement with the observations in high-grade glioma tumours, the presence of EGFRvIII in the paediatric glioblastoma cell line induced activation of PDGF receptors, whereas this was not observed in the adult cell line. Treating the paediatric cells with erlotinib in combination with imatinib, a TKI of PDGFR, revealed an enhanced efficacy of the combined treatment compared with the use of either compound alone.

Overall, the fact that EGFR represents one of the most frequently altered molecules in high-grade glioma renders it an outstanding therapeutic target. This is particularly true for adult patients, mainly those with glioblastoma, and was confirmed during the work developed in this thesis that it is also true for Portuguese high-grade glioma patients. Likewise, paediatric tumours, particularly anaplastic oligodendrogliomas, seem to frequently harbour *EGFRvIII* deletions and therefore are also potential candidates for EGFR targeted therapy. In spite of this, it has been shown in preclinical and clinical studies that the presence of EGFR molecular alterations is, *per se*, not sufficient to assure a response to treatment with EGFR TKI in high-grade gliomas (44, 47-49). Instead, a multifactorial molecular predisposition might dictate the susceptibility of individual tumours to targeted therapies. In this context, it is important to further study and understand the underlying molecular mechanisms responsible for resistance or sensitivity to targeted therapies and define subgroups of resistant / responsive tumours. So far, the combined therapy of different drugs targeting EGFR signalling pathway at different levels or the combined

inhibition of multiple RTKs co-activated in high-grade gliomas seem to be most promising to overcome resistance toward EGFR-targeted monotherapy (50-52).

5.2 – Microsatellite Instability in High-grade Gliomas and Medulloblastomas of Adult and Paediatric Patients

DNA is continuously exposed to numerous different insults, endogenous and exogenous, that can ultimately result in DNA mutation and alteration of cell behaviour. DNA repair mechanisms are therefore essential for keeping DNA integrity and prevent tumourigenesis (53, 54). Consequences of failure of these molecular pathways are well illustrated in colorectal cancer, mainly HNPCC where it is present in about 90% of the tumours. In these cancers, MMR-deficient cells adopt a mutator phenotype in which there is a significant increase in cellular mutation rates (55, 56). The most obvious molecular signature of this mutator phenotype is the presence of MSI (57).

The classification of MSI more commonly adopted takes into account the number of markers presenting frameshift alterations. MSI tumours are therefore classified as MSI-H when, comparing to germline DNA, two or more markers present allelic shifts or, in the absence of constitutive DNA, at least three markers are altered; when, respectively, one or two markers present alterations, tumours are classified as MSI-L; and when all markers are normal tumours are MSS (58-60). Accordingly, in Sub-Chapter 4.1 the presence of normal adjacent tissue allowed the comparison between tumour and germline DNA and so MSI-H was considered when two or more markers were mutated. In the high-grade glioma study, Sub-Chapter 4.2, germline DNA was not available and so MSI-H was defined when 3 or more markers presented alterations. In parallel with this classification, an alternative qualitative distinction of MSI, which considers the size of the allelic shifts in the markers, has been proposed (61, 62). Samples presenting small length changes (≤6 bp) are designed Type A MSI whereas those with more extreme variations are defined as Type B MSI. We consistently observed type A MSI in the brain tumours studied. Both MSI-positive medulloblastoma and high-grade glioma presented small length alterations within the microsatellites and we hypothesise that this might be one of the primary reasons for the high variation frequency of MSI in brain tumours reported in the literature (63-73).
In our series of high-grade gliomas, the frequency of MSI was significantly higher in paediatric than adult tumours. Even if it is not clear-cut, taking into account data previously published, this could be anticipated (63-67). Our data represents a step forward into this controversial topic of discussion and contributes to the identification of a further molecular distinction between paediatric and adult high-grade gliomas. Moreover, the MSI-positive paediatric tumours mostly presented a stable genomic profile at the chromosomal level, even if microsatellite and chromosomal instability were not found to be mutually exclusive. Importantly, the presence of a proportion of tumours with few or absent copy number alterations distinguishes paediatric high-grade gliomas from their adult counterparts (see appendix, paper II) and therefore we hypothesise that MSI might represent an alternative form of genetic instability, at least in a proportion of these paediatric tumours with no gross chromosome number alterations. In medulloblastoma, we found no difference in MSI frequency between adult and paediatric tumours, suggesting that the presence of MSI in these tumours is not age-related. Overall, reviewing literature (see Chapter 1), it seems that there are less molecular differences between adult and paediatric medulloblastomas than those reported in high-grade gliomas, in concordance with our data.

Mismatch repair deficiencies have been associated with paediatric brain tumours in a hereditary context. Case reports have described MMR germline mutations combined with NF1-like clinical features in children presenting medulloblastoma or high-grade glioma, described as a "mismatch repair-deficiency (MMR-D) syndrome" (62, 74-85). A summary of these cases is presented in Table 2. In the medulloblastoma series (Sub-Chapter 4.1), only after the publication of the study was it possible to retrieve clinical data from some of the MSI-positive patients, and therefore this issue was not further explored therein. Data was available for two MSI-L cases (M21 and M25) and it was possible to conclude that M21 presented a familial history of cancer (Figure 2A). There is specific clinical and molecular information missing, such as presence or otherwise of NF1-like clinical features or which MMR molecule is abnormal, however it is likely that patient M21 presents a MMR-D syndrome. In our series of high-grade glioma (Sub-Chapter 4.2), the paediatric patient presenting MSI-H had clinical characteristics of NF1 (multiple *café-au-lait* spots), with a family history unremarkable, except for a maternal great grandmother, who had endometrial cancer in her early forties (Figure 2B). The clinical history of the paternal family

is largely unknown. Even though there was no constitutional DNA available for evaluation of MMR germline mutations, data imply that this patient probably has a *MSH6* germline mutation, again presenting a MMR-D syndrome.



Figure 2 – Pedigree trees from likely MMR-D syndrome cases of our series. A) Pedigree tree of medulloblastoma sample M21, showing a cancer-family history. B) Pedigree tree of glioblastoma sample RMH2452 and clinical features. Mother had no evidence of skin pigmentation, whereas father presented brown patches, possible *café-au-lait* spots. Clinical history form the remaining paternal family is scarce. Family members to whom cancer was diagnosed are presented in green.

Independently of the hereditary or sporadic nature of the MSI-positive brain tumours, we were not able to identify the MMR molecular alteration underlying the MSI phenotype. In the medulloblastoma study we analysed only methylation of the MMR genes (MLH1, *MLH3, MSH2, MSH3, MSH6* and *PMS2*) on the assumption that the majority of our samples were sporadic. MSH6 immunohistochemistry was performed on the basis of the methylation results and expression was found in all MSI-positive samples and therefore it is unlikely that MSH6 is responsible for the MSI phenotype observed. The inclusion of the other MMR proteins in the analysis possibly could have been helpful in identifying the causes of MSI in medulloblastoma. On the other hand, in the high-grade glioma study, we analysed the core MMR protein (MLH1, MSH2, MSH6 and PMS2) inactivation by immunohistochemistry and observed a frequent absence of MLH1 expression. Nevertheless, mutations or promoter methylation of the gene were not observed. It is important to mention that due to the poor quality of the FFPE samples and the limited amount of tissue, successful sequencing of the entire coding region of the gene was not possible for the majority of the samples, and an absence of hotspot mutations in MLH1 related to MSIpositivity means that we cannot completely rule out this mechanism of inactivation. We can

Table 2 – Cases reported in the literature with MMR-D associated with brain tumours, including the likelyMMR-D cases found in our studies.

Family	Malignancy	Age at diagnosis	Café-au- lait spots	Affected gene	Reference
1	AML	6	Yes	MI H1	Wang et al. (1999) ⁽⁷⁴⁾
	Medulloblastoma	7	105		
7	Anaplastic	14 and 17			
	oligodendroglioma		NS	PMS2	De Rosa et al. (2000) ⁽⁷⁵⁾
	Colorectal cancer	18		-	
	Neuroblastoma	13	NS		
2	Oligodendroglioma	10	Yes	MSH6	Menko et al. (2004) ⁽⁷⁶⁾
	Rectosigmoid carcinoma	12			
3	Glioblastoma	8	Yes	MSH6	Hegde et al. (2005) ⁽⁷⁷⁾
4	Duodenal adenocarcinoma	16			
	Colonic adenoma	16	Yes	PMS2	Agostini et al. (2005) ⁽⁷⁸⁾
	Glioblastoma	17			
5	Pilocytic astrocytoma	9	Voc		
	Lymphoma	10	163	MSH6	Ostergaard et al. (2005) ⁽⁷⁹⁾
	Spinal glioblastoma	2	Yes	_	
6	Glioblastoma	4	Voc		Wagner et al. (2003) ⁽⁸⁰⁾
	Wilms tumour	4	Tes	IVILITI	Poley et al. (2007) ⁽⁸¹⁾
7	Lymphoma	4			
	Anaplastic	6	Yes	мсцер	$P_{0}(x) = (2007)^{(81)}$
	oligodendroglioma			IVISHO?	Poley et al. (2007)
	Medulloblastoma	6	Yes	-	
8	Medulloblastoma	7			
	AML	10	Yes	MSH6	Scott et al. (2007) ⁽⁸²⁾
	Colon carcinomas	13			
9	Glioblastoma	6	Yes		
	Glioblastoma	6			
	Colorectal cancer	15	Voc	DIVIC2	$Kruger et al. (2008)^{(83)}$
	Small bowel cancer	15	163	FIVIJZ	Riugel et al. (2000)
	Urotel carcinoma	15		_	
	Glioblastoma	9	Yes		
10	Glioblastoma	10	Yes	PMS2	Giunti et al. (2009) ⁽⁶²⁾
11	Glioblastoma	4	NS	MLH1	Ciupti et al. $(2000)^{(62)}$
	Glioblastoma	12	NS	NS	Giuliti et al. (2009)
12	Colorectal cancer	14	Vac	MCUD	
12	Astrocytoma WHOII	14	res	IVISH2	Toledano et al. (2009) ⁽⁸⁴⁾
-	Anaplastic astrocytoma	13	Yes	NS	
40	Medulloblastoma		Yes	DI 462	Povertal (2000) ⁽⁸⁵⁾
13	Duodenal adenocarcinoma	16		PIVISZ	koy et al. (2009)
14	Medulloblastoma	10	NS	?	Viana-Pereira et al. (2009)
15	Glioblastoma	3	Yes	MLH6?	Viana-Pereira et al. (2010)

speculate that mutations in other MMR genes can be the cause of MLH1 lack of expression, as absence of more than one protein was frequently observed (86). An alternative indirect mechanism of somatically silencing the MMR proteins has been recently described (87). Overall, it was reported that overexpression of the microRNA (miR) miR-155 significantly down-regulates MSH2, MSH6 and MLH1, explaining the loss of expression of MMR proteins in samples lacking a genetic or epigenetic cause of MMR inactivation (87). It is therefore possible that the down-regulation of MLH1 in our samples is happening through an indirect approach and this should be further evaluated.

Several genes affected by MSI have been identified in different cancers. A positive selective pressure should lead to the frequent detection of frameshift mutations at microsatellite loci in MSI-positive tumours. It is, however, not always clear which of these are "driver mutations", that truly contribute to tumourigenesis, and which are "passenger mutations" that indicate the presence of a MMR defect but have little impact on disease progression (88, 89). In theory, for these frameshift mutations to exert a maximal effect both alleles should be affected. However, mutations in the coding sequences of MSI target genes are often found to be mono-allelic, implying that inactivation of a single allele results in the production of insufficient amounts of the gene product, ultimately affecting the phenotype of the cells and promoting carcinogenesis (56). We found only few of the "classical" MSI target genes mutated on the MSI-positive brain tumours, indicating that the MSI-target genes can be tissue-specific, as previously hypothesised (90). All MSI target genes mutated in our samples are involved in different DNA repair pathways: *MBD4*, *DNAPKcs*, *MSH6* and *MRE11*. The mutations described in our studies have never been reported in brain tumours.

MBD4 was mutated in a paediatric medulloblastoma sample. A heterozygous insertion of one nucleotide in the poly(A)10 tract of exon 3 is thought to produce a truncated protein. MBD4 is member of the methyl-CpG binding protein family, involved in the repair of mismatched G-T residues at methylated CpG sites (91). *MBD4* mutations were previously described in colorectal, endometrial, pancreatic and urothelial MSI-positive tumours (92-95), but never in brain tumours. Importantly, *in vitro* studies demonstrated that truncated MBD4 has the capacity to bind to methylated DNA sites and compete with wild-type protein in a dominant negative manner, causing the accumulation of errors in the DNA (96).

152

Furthermore, *MBD4* mutations may also play a role in tumour treatment, where overexpression of truncated *MBD4* in heterozygous cell lines results in an increased sensitivity to cisplatin and the resistance to etoposide *in vitro* (97). These drugs have already been used in clinical trials with medulloblastomas presenting positive results (98).

The DNAPKcs poly(A)9/10 mutation was previously described in gastric, endometrial and colorectal tumours (90, 99, 100). Cells use two main mechanisms to repair double strand breaks (DSB), non-homologous end-joining (NHEJ) and homologous recombination (HR), depending on the phase of the cycle and the nature of the DSB ends (101). DNAPKcs plays a central role in non-homologous end joining repair leading to the recruitment and activation of end-processing enzymes (102). In subclones of the CRC cell line HCT-8 the heterozygous single nucleotide deletion in the poly(A)10 tract failed to confer additional deficiency to DNA DSB repair compared to the parental line (103). Accordingly, we found no alterations in the levels of protein in the MSI sample presenting this mutation, however additional experiments would be necessary to rule out the functional role of this mutation in gliomas.

A paediatric glioblastoma presented a homozygous single nucleotide insertion in the poly(C)8 tract of *MSH6* exon 5. This mutation results in a truncated protein and accordingly, we saw absence of protein expression in the mutated sample. Also, it is thought that *MSH6* represents a preferential target for somatic mutations in *MSH6* germline mutation carriers (104), a topic previously discussed.

MRE11 is a member of the MRE11/NBS1/RAD50 (MNR) complex, which is involved in the recognition and repair of DSB through HR or NHEJ, and so is essential for the maintenance of DNA integrity. Large mono- or biallelic deletions in the poly(T)11 of the *MRE11* intron 4 cause aberrant splicing, skipping of exon 5, introduction of a premature stop codon and generation of a truncated protein with a strong reduction or absence of MRE11 expression (105). Absence of *MRE11* leads to a functional impairment of the MRN complex and DSB repair, ultimately resulting in the development of cancer. We found a heterozygous single base insertion in the poly(T)11 tract of *MRE11* in one medulloblastoma and three glioblastoma with MSI-positivity. This alteration had been previously found in the constitutional DNA of a patient with MSI-positive, MRE11 mutated CRC (105). As the role of *MRE11* poly(T)11/12 was unclear in MSI tumours, this alteration was further studied for functional consequences. We used Daudi, a described lymphoma cell line harbouring this genotype, as a model and observed that this alteration seems to be of no consequence for DNA damage repair response. Moreover, the screen of *MRE11* poly(T)11/12 in 72 healthy blood donors revealed an incidence of 6.9%, proving to be a previously unrecognised polymorphism. Therefore, *MRE11* poly(T)11/12 rather than a "passenger mutation", represents a polymorphism, without apparent functional consequences on DSB repair, but of unknown significance in brain tumour risk.

We believe that our studies provided a major contribution to this subject, as mutations in these genes have not been extensively studied in brain tumours before, and all the mutations that we found have not been previously described in these cancers. Meanwhile, new MSI target genes in alternative pathways are being described. Recently, Melo et al. (106) identified inactivating mutations by insertion of a nucleotide in the poly(A)7 coding microsatellite repeat on exon 32 of *XPO5* in the context of MSI-positivity in colorectal, gastric and endometrial cancers. XPO5 mediates precursor miRNA (pre-miRNAs) nuclear export and consequently, inactivation of this molecule traps pre-miRNAs in the nucleus, down-regulating mature miRNA levels in the cells and promoting tumourigenesis. Moreover, genes classically involved in brain tumour development, such as EGFR, are frequently and differentially mutated in MSI tumours (107-109). We hypothesise that, in MSI-positive brain tumours, a differential target gene inactivation from that which is classically found is present. In this perspective, a bioinformatic approach for the identification of glioma-specific MSI target genes would be of major importance to the research area.

It is widely accepted that MSI-positive colorectal cancers have a better prognosis that the MSS ones, but they are still life-threatening. It is hypothesised that the high-frequency of mutations might turn MMR-deficient cells more immunogenic (110) and that a consequent robust immune reaction might decrease tumour cells' potential for invasiveness and metastasis resulting in a better prognosis of these cancers (111). On the other hand, the MMR-deficient cells were found to be resistant to certain drugs currently used in the treatment of cancer. MMR function includes the mediation of response to certain forms of DNA damage-inducing agents, including alkylating agents (112). This is of high importance for brain tumours as temozolomide is an alkylating agent and MMR deficiencies have been linked to resistance to this drug (113).

Overall, we identified the presence of MSI in a subset of medulloblastomas and paediatric high-grade gliomas associated with molecular alterations distinctive of this phenotype, suggesting a potentially new genetic pathway correlated with these brain tumours development. As MSI is associated in other tumour types to a differential response to chemotherapy, the presence of MSI even in a small subset of brain tumours may have important translational implications in these extraordinarily treatment refractory malignancies.

5.3 – References

- Yarden Y, Sliwkowski MX. Untangling the ErbB signalling network. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2001 Feb;2(2):127-37.
- (2) Gullick WJ. Prevalence of aberrant expression of the epidermal growth factor receptor in human cancers. Br Med Bull 1991 Jan;47(1):87-98.
- (3) Ohgaki H, Dessen P, Jourde B, Horstmann S, Nishikawa T, Di Patre PL, et al. Genetic pathways to glioblastoma: a population-based study. Cancer Res 2004 Oct 1;64(19):6892-9.
- (4) Watanabe K, Tachibana O, Sato K, Yonekawa Y, Kleihues P, Ohgaki H. Overexpression of the EGF receptor and *p53* mutations are mutually exclusive in the evolution of primary and secondary glioblastomas. Brain Pathol 1996 Jul;6(3):217-24.
- (5) Ekstrand AJ, Sugawa N, James CD, Collins VP. Amplified and rearranged epidermal growth factor receptor genes in human glioblastomas reveal deletions of sequences encoding portions of the N- and/or C-terminal tails. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1992 May;89(10):4309-13.
- (6) Ekstrand AJ, James CD, Cavenee WK, Seliger B, Pettersson RF, Collins VP. Genes for epidermal growth factor receptor, transforming growth factor alpha, and epidermal

growth factor and their expression in human gliomas in vivo. Cancer Res 1991 Apr 15;51(8):2164-72.

- (7) Wong AJ, Ruppert JM, Bigner SH, Grzeschik CH, Humphrey PA, Bigner DS, et al. Structural alterations of the epidermal growth factor receptor gene in human gliomas. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1992 Apr 1;89(7):2965-9.
- (8) Biernat W, Huang H, Yokoo H, Kleihues P, Ohgaki H. Predominant expression of mutant EGFR (EGFRvIII) is rare in primary glioblastomas. Brain Pathol 2004 Apr;14(2):131-6.
- (9) Huang PH, Xu AM, White FM. Oncogenic EGFR signaling networks in glioma. Sci Signal 2009 Sep 8;2(87):re6.
- (10) Nicholas MK, Lukas RV, Jafri NF, Faoro L, Salgia R. Epidermal growth factor receptor mediated signal transduction in the development and therapy of gliomas. Clin Cancer Res 2006 Dec 15;12(24):7261-70.
- (11) Huang HS, Nagane M, Klingbeil CK, Lin H, Nishikawa R, Ji XD, et al. The enhanced tumorigenic activity of a mutant epidermal growth factor receptor common in human cancers is mediated by threshold levels of constitutive tyrosine phosphorylation and unattenuated signaling. J Biol Chem 1997 Jan 31;272(5):2927-35.
- (12) Singh AB, Harris RC. Autocrine, paracrine and juxtacrine signaling by EGFR ligands. Cell Signal 2005 Oct;17(10):1183-93.
- (13) Ramnarain DB, Park S, Lee DY, Hatanpaa KJ, Scoggin SO, Otu H, et al. Differential gene expression analysis reveals generation of an autocrine loop by a mutant epidermal growth factor receptor in glioma cells. Cancer Res 2006 Jan 15;66(2):867-74.
- (14) Schober R, Bilzer T, Waha A, Reifenberger G, Wechsler W, von Deimling A, et al. The epidermal growth factor receptor in glioblastoma: genomic amplification, protein

expression, and patient survival data in a therapeutic trial. Clin Neuropathol 1995 May;14(3):169-74.

- (15) Haas-Kogan DA, Prados MD, Tihan T, Eberhard DA, Jelluma N, Arvold ND, et al. Epidermal growth factor receptor, protein kinase B/Akt, and glioma response to erlotinib. J Natl Cancer Inst 2005 Jun 15;97(12):880-7.
- (16) Shinojima N, Tada K, Shiraishi S, Kamiryo T, Kochi M, Nakamura H, et al. Prognostic value of epidermal growth factor receptor in patients with glioblastoma multiforme. Cancer Res 2003 Oct 15;63(20):6962-70.
- (17) Aldape KD, Ballman K, Furth A, Buckner JC, Giannini C, Burger PC, et al. Immunohistochemical detection of EGFRvIII in high malignancy grade astrocytomas and evaluation of prognostic significance. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 2004 Jul;63(7):700-7.
- (18) Marquez A, Wu R, Zhao J, Tao J, Shi Z. Evaluation of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) by chromogenic in situ hybridization (CISH) and immunohistochemistry (IHC) in archival gliomas using bright-field microscopy. Diagn Mol Pathol 2004 Mar;13(1):1-8.
- (19) Simmons ML, Lamborn KR, Takahashi M, Chen P, Israel MA, Berger MS, et al. Analysis of complex relationships between age, p53, epidermal growth factor receptor, and survival in glioblastoma patients. Cancer Res 2001 Feb 1;61(3):1122-8.
- (20) Reifenberger J, Reifenberger G, Ichimura K, Schmidt EE, Wechsler W, Collins VP. Epidermal growth factor receptor expression in oligodendroglial tumors. AM J Pathol 1996 Jul;149(1): 29-35.
- (21) McLendon RE, Wikstrand CJ, Matthews MR, Al-Baradei R, Bigner SH, Bigner DD. Glioma-associated antigen expression in oligodendroglial neoplasms. Tenascin and epidermal growth factor receptor. J Histochem Cytochem 2000 Aug;48(8):1103-10.

- (22) Wikstrand CJ, McLendon RE, Friedman AH, Bigner DD. Cell surface localization and density of the tumor-associated variant of the epidermal growth factor receptor, EGFRvIII. Cancer Res 1997;57(18):4130-40.
- (23) Franco-Hernandez C, Martinez-Glez V, Alonso ME, de Campos JM, Isla A, Vaquero J, et al. Gene dosage and mutational analysis of EGFR in oligodendrogliomas. Int J Oncol 2007 Jan;30(1):209-15.
- (24) Pollack IF, Hamilton RL, James CD, Finkelstein SD, Burnham J, Yates AJ, et al. Rarity of PTEN deletions and EGFR amplification in malignant gliomas of childhood: results from the Children's Cancer Group 945 cohort. J Neurosurg 2006 Nov;105(5 Suppl):418-24.
- (25) Bredel M, Pollack IF, Hamilton RL, James CD. Epidermal growth factor receptor expression and gene amplification in high-grade non-brainstem gliomas of childhood. Clin Cancer Res 1999 Jul;5(7):1786-92.
- (26) Gilbertson RJ, Hill DA, Hernan R, Kocak M, Geyer R, Olson J, et al. ERBB1 is amplified and overexpressed in high-grade diffusely infiltrative pediatric brain stem glioma. Clin Cancer Res 2003 Sep 1;9(10 Pt 1):3620-4.
- (27) Liang ML, Ma J, Ho M, Solomon L, Bouffet E, Rutka JT, et al. Tyrosine kinase expression in pediatric high grade astrocytoma. J Neurooncol 2008 May;87(3):247-53.
- (28) Korshunov A, Sycheva R, Gorelyshev S, Golanov A. Clinical utility of fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) in nonbrainstem glioblastomas of childhood. Mod Pathol 2005 Sep;18(9):1258-63.
- (29) Ding H, Shannon P, Lau N, Wu X, Roncari L, Baldwin RL, et al. Oligodendrogliomas result from the expression of an activated mutant epidermal growth factor receptor in a RAS transgenic mouse astrocytoma model. Cancer Res 2003 Mar 1;63(5):1106-13.

- (30) Holland EC, Hively WP, DePinho RA, Varmus HE. A constitutively active epidermal growth factor receptor cooperates with disruption of G_1 cell-cycle arrest pathways to induce glioma-like lesions in mice. Genes Dev 1998 Dec 1;12(23):3675-85.
- (31) Zhu H, Acquaviva J, Ramachandran P, Boskovitz A, Woolfenden S, Pfannl R, et al. Oncogenic EGFR signaling cooperates with loss of tumor suppressor gene functions in gliomagenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2009 Feb 24;106(8):2712-6.
- (32) Wang MY, Lu KV, Zhu S, Dia EQ, Vivanco I, Shackleford GM, et al. Mammalian target of rapamycin inhibition promotes response to epidermal growth factor receptor kinase inhibitors in PTEN-deficient and PTEN-intact glioblastoma cells. Cancer Res 2006 Aug 15;66(16):7864-9.
- (33) Wong KK, Tsang YTM, Chang YM, Su J, Di Franeesco AM, Meco D, et al. Genomewide allelic imbalance analysis of pediatric gliomas by single nucleotide polymorphic allele array. Cancer Res 2006 Dec 1;66(23):11172-8.
- (34) Huang PH, Mukasa A, Bonavia R, Flynn RA, Brewer ZE, Cavenee WK, et al. Quantitative analysis of EGFRvIII cellular signaling networks reveals a combinatorial therapeutic strategy for glioblastoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2007 Jul 31;104(31):12867-72.
- (35) Martinho O, Longatto-Filho A, Lambros MB, Martins A, Pinheiro C, Silva A, et al. Expression, mutation and copy number analysis of platelet-derived growth factor receptor A (PDGFRA) and its ligand PDGFA in gliomas. Br J Cancer 2009 Sep 15;101(6):973-82.
- (36) Paez JG, Janne PA, Lee JC, Tracy S, Greulich H, Gabriel S, et al. EGFR mutations in lung cancer: correlation with clinical response to gefitinib therapy. Science 2004 Jun 4;304(5676):1497-500.
- (37) Lynch TJ, Bell DW, Sordella R, Gurubhagavatula S, Okimoto RA, Brannigan BW, et al. Activating mutations in the epidermal growth factor receptor underlying

responsiveness of non-small-cell lung cancer to gefitinib. N Engl J Med 2004 May;350(21):2129-39.

- (38) Dowell JE, Minna JD. EGFR mutations and molecularly targeted therapy: a new era in the treatment of lung cancer. Nat Clin Pract Oncol 2006 Apr;3(4):170-1.
- (39) Rosell R, Moran T, Queralt C, Porta R, Cardenal F, Camps C, et al. Screening for epidermal growth factor receptor mutations in lung cancer. N Engl J Med 2009 Sep 3;361(10):958-67.
- (40) Barber TD, Vogelstein B, Kinzler KW, Velculescu VE. Somatic mutations of EGFR in colorectal cancers and glioblastomas. N Engl J Med 2004 Dec 30;351(27):2883.
- (41) Marie Y, Carpentier AF, Omuro AM, Sanson M, Thillet J, Hoang-Xuan K, et al. EGFR tyrosine kinase domain mutations in human gliomas. Neurology 2005 Apr 26;64(8):1444-5.
- (42) Lee JC, Vivanco I, Beroukhim R, Huang JHY, Feng WL, DeBiasi RM, et al. Epidermal growth factor receptor activation in glioblastoma through novel missense mutations in the extracellular domain. Plos Med 2006 Dec;3(12):2264-73.
- (43) Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network. Comprehensive genomic characterization defines human glioblastoma genes and core pathways. Nature 2008 Oct 23;455(7216):1061-8.
- (44) Mellinghoff IK, Wang MY, Vivanco I, Haas-Kogan DA, Zhu S, Dia EQ, et al. Molecular determinants of the response of glioblastomas to EGFR kinase inhibitors. N Engl J Med 2005 Nov 10;353(19):2012-24.
- (45) Friedman HS, Bigner DD. Glioblastoma multiforme and the epidermal growth factor receptor. N Engl J Med 2005 Nov 10;353(19):1997-9.
- (46) Brown PD, Krishnan S, Sarkaria JN, Wu W, Jaeckle KA, Uhm JH, et al. Phase I/II trial of erlotinib and temozolomide with radiation therapy in the treatment of newly

diagnosed glioblastoma multiforme: North Central Cancer Treatment Group Study N0177. J Clin Oncol 2008 Dec 1;26(34):5603-9.

- (47) Franceschi E, Cavallo G, Lonardi S, Magrini E, Tosoni A, Grosso D, et al. Gefitinib in patients with progressive high-grade gliomas: a multicentre phase II study by Gruppo Italiano Cooperativo di Neuro-Oncologia (GICNO). Br J Cancer 2007 Apr 10;96(7):1047-51.
- (48) Vogelbaum MA, Peereboom D, Stevens G, Barnett G, Brewer C. Phase II trial of the EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitor erlotinib for single agent therapy of recurrent Glioblastoma Multiforme: Interim results. J Clin Oncol 2004 Jul 15;22(14):121S.
- (49) Rich JN, Reardon DA, Peery T, Dowell JM, Quinn JA, Penne KL, et al. Phase II trial of gefitinib in recurrent glioblastoma. J Clin Oncol 2004 Jan 1;22(1):133-42.
- (50) Dancey JE, Chen HX. Strategies for optimizing combinations of molecularly targeted anticancer agents. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2006 Aug;5(8):649-59.
- (51) Kummar S, Chen HX, Wright J, Holbeck S, Millin MD, Tomaszewski J, et al. Utilizing targeted cancer therapeutic agents in combination: novel approaches and urgent requirements. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2010 Nov;9(11):843-56.
- (52) Ye F, Gao Q, Cai MJ. Therapeutic targeting of EGFR in malignant gliomas. Expert Opin Ther Targets 2010 Mar;14(3):303-16.
- (53) Li GM. Mechanisms and functions of DNA mismatch repair. Cell Res 2008 Jan;18(1):85-98.
- (54) Ljungman M. The DNA damage response--repair or despair? Environ Mol Mutagen 2010 Oct;51(8-9):879-89.
- (55) Loeb LA. Mutator phenotype may be required for multistage carcinogenesis. Cancer Res 1991 Jun 15;51(12):3075-9.

- (56) Marra G, Jiricny J. DNA Mismatch Repair and Colon Cancer. In: Nigg EA, editor. Genome Instability in Cancer Development.New York: Springer Science + Business Media, Inc.; 2005. p. 85-123.
- (57) Fishel R, Kolodner RD. Identification of mismatch repair genes and their role in the development of cancer. Curr Opin Genet Dev 1995 Jun;5(3):382-95.
- (58) Umar A, Boland CR, Terdiman JP, Syngal S, De La Chapelle A, Ruschoff J, et al. Revised Bethesda Guidelines for hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer (Lynch syndrome) and microsatellite instability. J Natl Cancer Inst 2004 Feb 18;96(4):261-8.
- (59) Wong YF, Cheung TH, Lo KW, Yim SF, Chan LK, Buhard O, et al. Detection of microsatellite instability in endometrial cancer: advantages of a panel of five mononucleotide repeats over the National Cancer Institute panel of markers. Carcinogenesis 2006 May;27(5):951-5.
- (60) Buhard O, Cattaneo F, Wong YF, Yim SF, Friedman E, Flejou JF, et al. Multipopulation analysis of polymorphisms in five mononucleotide repeats used to determine the microsatellite instability status of human tumors. J Clin Oncol 2006 Jan 10;24(2):241-51.
- (61) Oda S, Maehara Y, Ikeda Y, Oki E, Egashira A, Okamura Y, et al. Two modes of microsatellite instability in human cancer: differential connection of defective DNA mismatch repair to dinucleotide repeat instability. Nucleic Acids Res 2005 Mar 18;33(5):1628-36.
- (62) Giunti L, Cetica V, Ricci U, Giglio S, Sardi I, Paglierani M, et al. Type A microsatellite instability in pediatric gliomas as an indicator of Turcot syndrome. Eur J Hum Genet 2009 Jul;17(7):919-27.
- (63) Leung SY, Chan TL, Chung LP, Chan AS, Fan YW, Hung KN, et al. Microsatellite instability and mutation of DNA mismatch repair genes in gliomas. Am J Pathol 1998 Oct;153(4):1181-8.

- (64) Cheng Y, Ng HK, Zhang SF, Ding M, Pang JC, Zheng J, et al. Genetic alterations in pediatric high-grade astrocytomas. Hum Pathol 1999 Nov;30(11):1284-90.
- (65) Kanamori M, Kon H, Nobukuni T, Nomura S, Sugano K, Mashiyama S, et al. Microsatellite instability and the PTEN1 gene mutation in a subset of early onset gliomas carrying germline mutation or promoter methylation of the hMLH1 gene. Oncogene 2000 Mar 16;19(12):1564-71.
- (66) Martinez R, Schackert HK, Appelt H, Plaschke J, Baretton G, Schackert G. Low-level microsatellite instability phenotype in sporadic glioblastoma multiforme. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 2005 Feb;131(2):87-93.
- (67) Alonso M, Hamelin R, Kim M, Porwancher K, Sung T, Parhar P, et al. Microsatellite instability occurs in distinct subtypes of pediatric but not adult central nervous system tumors. Cancer Res 2001 Mar 1;61(5):2124-8.
- (68) Dams E, Van de Kelft EJ, Martin JJ, Verlooy J, Willems PJ. Instability of microsatellites in human gliomas. Cancer Res 1995;55(7):1547-9.
- (69) Amariglio N, Friedman E, Mor O, Stiebel H, Phelan C, Collins P, et al. Analysis of microsatellite repeats in pediatric brain tumors. Cancer Genet Cytogenet 1995 Oct 1;84(1):56-9.
- (70) Izumoto S, Arita N, Ohnishi T, Hiraga S, Taki T, Tomita N, et al. Microsatellite instability and mutated type II transforming growth factor-beta receptor gene in gliomas. Cancer Lett 1997 Jan 30;112(2):251-6.
- (71) Sobrido MJ, Pereira CR, Barros F, Forteza J, Carracedo A, Lema M. Low frequency of replication errors in primary nervous system tumours. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2000 Sep;69(3):369-75.
- (72) Eckert A, Kloor M, Giersch A, Ahmadi R, Herold-Mende C, Hampl JA, et al. Microsatellite instability in pediatric and adult high-grade gliomas. Brain Pathol 2007 Apr;17(2):146-50.

- (73) Vladimirova V, Denkhaus D, Soerensen N, Wagner S, Wolff JE, Pietsch T. Low level of microsatellite instability in paediatric malignant astrocytomas. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol 2007 Dec 5;34(5):547-54.
- (74) Wang Q, Lasset C, Desseigne F, Frappaz D, Bergeron C, Navarro C, et al. Neurofibromatosis and early onset of cancers in hMLH1-deficient children. Cancer Res 1999 Jan 15;59(2):294-7.
- (75) De RM, Fasano C, Panariello L, Scarano MI, Belli G, Iannelli A, et al. Evidence for a recessive inheritance of Turcot's syndrome caused by compound heterozygous mutations within the PMS2 gene. Oncogene 2000 Mar 23;19(13):1719-23.
- (76) Menko FH, Kaspers GL, Meijer GA, Claes K, van Hagen JM, Gille JJ. A homozygous MSH6 mutation in a child with cafe-au-lait spots, oligodendroglioma and rectal cancer. Fam Cancer 2004;3(2):123-7.
- (77) Hegde MR, Chong B, Blazo ME, Chin LH, Ward PA, Chintagumpala MM, et al. A homozygous mutation in MSH6 causes Turcot syndrome. Clin Cancer Res 2005 Jul 1;11(13):4689-93.
- (78) Agostini M, Tibiletti MG, Lucci-Cordisco E, Chiaravalli A, Morreau H, Furlan D, et al. Two PMS2 mutations in a Turcot syndrome family with small bowel cancers. Am J Gastroenterol 2005 Aug;100(8):1886-91.
- (79) Ostergaard JR, Sunde L, Okkels H. Neurofibromatosis von Recklinghausen type I phenotype and early onset of cancers in siblings compound heterozygous for mutations in MSH6. Am J Med Genet A 2005 Dec 1;139A(2):96-105.
- (80) Wagner A, Barrows A, Wijnen JT, van der KH, Franken PF, Verkuijlen P, et al. Molecular analysis of hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer in the United States: high mutation detection rate among clinically selected families and characterization of an American founder genomic deletion of the MSH2 gene. Am J Hum Genet 2003 May;72(5):1088-100.

- (81) Poley JW, Wagner A, Hoogmans MM, Menko FH, Tops C, Kros JM, et al. Biallelic germline mutations of mismatch-repair genes: a possible cause for multiple pediatric malignancies. Cancer 2007 Jun 1;109(11):2349-56.
- (82) Scott RH, Mansour S, Pritchard-Jones K, Kumar D, MacSweeney F, Rahman N. Medulloblastoma, acute myelocytic leukemia and colonic carcinomas in a child with biallelic MSH6 mutations. Nat Clin Pract Oncol 2007 Feb;4(2):130-4.
- (83) Kruger S, Kinzel M, Walldorf C, Gottschling S, Bier A, Tinschert S, et al. Homozygous PMS2 germline mutations in two families with early-onset haematological malignancy, brain tumours, HNPCC-associated tumours, and signs of neurofibromatosis type 1. Eur J Hum Genet 2008 Jan;16(1):62-72.
- (84) Toledano H, Goldberg Y, Kedar-Barnes I, Baris H, Porat RM, Shochat C, et al. Homozygosity of MSH2 c.1906G-->C germline mutation is associated with childhood colon cancer, astrocytoma and signs of Neurofibromatosis type I. Fam Cancer 2009;8(3):187-94.
- (85) Roy S, Raskin L, Raymond VA, Thibodeau SN, Mody RJ, Gruber SB. Pediatric Duodenal Cancer and Biallelic Mismatch Repair Gene Mutations. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2009 Jul 15;53(1):116-20.
- (86) Niessen RC, Kleibeuker JH, Westers H, Jager PO, Rozeveld D, Bos KK, et al. PMS2 involvement in patients suspected of Lynch syndrome. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 2009 Apr;48(4):322-9.
- (87) Valeri N, Gasparini P, Fabbri M, Braconi C, Veronese A, Lovat F, et al. Modulation of mismatch repair and genomic stability by miR-155. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2010 Apr 13;107(15):6982-7.
- (88) Boland CR, Goel A. Microsatellite instability in colorectal cancer. Gastroenterology 2010 Jun;138(6):2073-87.
- (89) Nigg EA, editor. Genome Instability in Cancer Development. NY: Springer Science + Business Media; 2005.

- (90) Duval A, Reperant M, Compoint A, Seruca R, Ranzani GN, Iacopetta B, et al. Target gene mutation profile differs between gastrointestinal and endometrial tumors with mismatch repair deficiency. Cancer Res 2002 Mar 15;62(6):1609-12.
- (91) Bellacosa A. Role of MED1 (MBD4) Gene in DNA repair and human cancer. J Cell Physiol 2001 May;187(2):137-44.
- (92) Riccio A, Aaltonen LA, Godwin AK, Loukola A, Percesepe A, Salovaara R, et al. The DNA repair gene MBD4 (MED1) is mutated in human carcinomas with microsatellite instability [letter]. Nat Genet 1999 Nov;23(3):266-8.
- (93) Bader S, Walker M, Hendrich B, Bird A, Bird C, Hooper M, et al. Somatic frameshift mutations in the *MBD4* gene of sporadic colon cancers with mismatch repair deficiency. Oncogene 1999 Dec 23;18(56):8044-7.
- (94) Pinto M, Wu Y, Suriano G, Mensink RGJ, Duval A, Oliveira C, et al. MBD4 mutations are rare in gastric carcinomas with microsatellite instability. Cancer Genet Cytogenet 2003 Sep;145(2):103-7.
- (95) Mongiat-Artus P, Miquel C, Van der Aa M, Buhard O, Hamelin R, Soliman H, et al. Microsatellite instability and mutation analysis of candidate genes in urothelial cell carcinomas of upper urinary tract. Oncogene 2006 Mar;25(14):2113-8.
- (96) Bader SA, Walker M, Harrison DJ. A human cancer-associated truncation of MBD4 causes dominant negative impairment of DNA repair in colon cancer cells. Br J Cancer 2007 Feb 26;96(4):660-6.
- (97) Abdel-Rahman WM, Knuutila S, Peltomaki P, Harrison DJ, Bader SA. Truncation of MBD4 predisposes to reciprocal chromosomal translocations and alters the response to therapeutic agents in colon cancer cells. DNA Repair (Amst) 2008 Feb 1;7(2):321-8.
- (98) Rossi A, Caracciolo V, Russo G, Reiss K, Giordano A. Medulloblastoma: From Molecular Pathology to Therapy. Clin Cancer Res 2008 Feb 15;14(4):971-6.

- (99) Lee HS, Choe G, Park KU, Park dJ, Yang HK, Lee BL, et al. Altered expression of DNAdependent protein kinase catalytic subunit (DNA-PKcs) during gastric carcinogenesis and its clinical implications on gastric cancer. Int J Oncol 2007 Oct;31(4):859-66.
- (100) Miquel C, Jacob S, Grandjouan S, Aime A, Viguier J, Sabourin JC, et al. Frequent alteration of DNA damage signalling and repair pathways in human colorectal cancers with microsatellite instability. Oncogene 2007 Aug 30;26(40):5919-26.
- (101) Cahill D, Connor B, Carney JP. Mechanisms of eukaryotic DNA double strand break repair. Front Biosci 2006 May 1;11:1958-76.
- (102) Meek K, Dang V, Lees-Miller SP. DNA-PK: The Means to Justify the Ends? Adv Immunol 2008;99:33-58.
- (103) Li HR, Shagisultanova EI, Yamashita K, Piao Z, Perucho M, Malkhosyan SR. Hypersensitivity of tumor cell lines with microsatellite instability to DNA double strand break producing chemotherapeutic agent bleomycin. Cancer Res 2004 Jul 15;64(14):4760-7.
- (104) de Leeuw WJF, Dierssen J, Vasen HFA, Wijnen JT, Kenter GG, Meijers-Heijboer H, et al. Prediction of a mismatch repair gene defect by microsatellite instability and immunohistochemical analysis in endometrial tumours from HNPCC patients. J Pathol 2000 Nov;192(3):328-35.
- (105) Alemayehu A, Fridrichova I. The MRE11/RAD50/NBS1 complex destabilization in Lynch-syndrome patients. Eur J Hum Genet 2007 Sep;15(9):922-9.
- (106) Melo SA, Moutinho C, Ropero S, Calin GA, Rossi S, Spizzo R, et al. A genetic defect in exportin-5 traps precursor microRNAs in the nucleus of cancer cells. Cancer Cell 2010 Oct 19;18(4):303-15.
- (107) Corso G, Velho S, Paredes J, Pedrazzani C, Martins D, Milanezi F, et al. Oncogenic mutations in gastric cancer with microsatellite instability. Eur J Cancer 2010 Oct 9; epub ahead of print.

- (108) Velho S, Corso G, Oliveira C, Seruca R. KRAS Signaling Pathway Alterations in Microsatellite Unstable Gastrointestinal Cancers. Adv Cancer Res 2010;109:123-43.
- (109) Yuan Z, Shin J, Wilson A, Goel S, Ling YH, Ahmed N, et al. An A13 repeat within the 3'untranslated region of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) is frequently mutated in microsatellite instability colon cancers and is associated with increased EGFR expression. Cancer Res 2009 Oct 1;69(19):7811-8.
- (110) Jass JR. Familial colorectal cancer: pathology and molecular characteristics. Lancet Oncol 2000 Dec;1:220-6.
- (111) Gryfe R, Kim H, Hsieh ET, Aronson MD, Holowaty EJ, Bull SB, et al. Tumor microsatellite instability and clinical outcome in young patients with colorectal cancer. N Engl J Med 2000 Jan 13;342(2):69-77.
- (112) Stojic L, Brun R, Jiricny J. Mismatch repair and DNA damage signalling. DNA Repair (Amst) 2004 Aug;3(8-9):1091-101.
- (113) Middlemas DS, Stewart CF, Kirstein MN, Poquette C, Friedman HS, Houghton PJ, et al. Biochemical correlates of temozolomide sensitivity in pediatric solid tumor xenograft models. Clin Cancer Res 2000 Mar;6(3):998-1007.

6. Appendix

Paper I

Dorine A. Bax, Suzanne E. Little, Nathalie Gaspar, Lara Perryman, Lynley Marshall, <u>Marta Viana-Pereira</u>, Tania A. Jones, Richard D. Williams, Anita Grigoriadis, Gilles Vassal, Paul Workman, Denise Sheer, Rui M. Reis, Andrew D. J. Pearson, Darren Hargrave, Chris Jones. Molecular and Phenotypic Characterization of Paediatric Glioma Cell Lines as Models for Preclinical Drug Development. *PLoS ONE* 4(4): e5209, 2009.



Molecular and Phenotypic Characterisation of Paediatric Glioma Cell Lines as Models for Preclinical Drug Development

Dorine A. Bax^{1,9}, Suzanne E. Little^{1,9}, Nathalie Gaspar^{1,2,3}, Lara Perryman¹, Lynley Marshall^{1,2,4}, Marta Viana-Pereira^{1,5}, Tania A. Jones⁶, Richard D. Williams¹, Anita Grigoriadis⁷, Gilles Vassal³, Paul Workman³, Denise Sheer⁶, Rui M. Reis⁵, Andrew D. J. Pearson^{1,4}, Darren Hargrave⁴, Chris Jones^{1*}

1 Paediatric Oncology, The Institute of Cancer Research, Sutton, United Kingdom, 2 Cancer Research UK Centre for Cancer Therapeutics, The Institute of Cancer Research, Sutton, United Kingdom, 3 Pharmacology and New Treatments of Cancer, Institut de Cancérologie Gustave Roussy, Villejuif, France, 4 Paediatric Oncology, The Royal Marsden NHS Foundation Trust, Sutton, United Kingdom, 5 Life and Health Science Research Institute (ICVS), Universidade do Minho, Braga, Portugal, 6 Neuroscience Centre, Institute of Cell and Molecular Science, Bart's and The London School of Medicine & Dentistry, London, United Kingdom, 7 Breakthrough Breast Cancer Unit, Guy's Hospital, London, United Kingdom

Abstract

Background: Although paediatric high grade gliomas resemble their adult counterparts in many ways, there appear to be distinct clinical and biological differences. One important factor hampering the development of new targeted therapies is the relative lack of cell lines derived from childhood glioma patients, as it is unclear whether the well-established adult lines commonly used are representative of the underlying molecular genetics of childhood tumours. We have carried out a detailed molecular and phenotypic characterisation of a series of paediatric high grade glioma cell lines in comparison to routinely used adult lines.

Principal Findings: All lines proliferate as adherent monolayers and express glial markers. Copy number profiling revealed complex genomes including amplification and deletions of genes known to be pivotal in core glioblastoma signalling pathways. Expression profiling identified 93 differentially expressed genes which were able to distinguish between the adult and paediatric high grade cell lines, including a number of kinases and co-ordinated sets of genes associated with DNA integrity and the immune response.

Significance: These data demonstrate that glioma cell lines derived from paediatric patients show key molecular differences to those from adults, some of which are well known, whilst others may provide novel targets for evaluation in primary tumours. We thus provide the rationale and demonstrate the practicability of using paediatric glioma cell lines for preclinical and mechanistic studies.

Citation: Bax DA, Little SE, Gaspar N, Perryman L, Marshall L, et al. (2009) Molecular and Phenotypic Characterisation of Paediatric Glioma Cell Lines as Models for Preclinical Drug Development. PLoS ONE 4(4): e5209. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0005209

Editor: Mikhail V. Blagosklonny, Ordway Research Institute, United States of America

Received January 13, 2009; Accepted March 19, 2009; Published April 14, 2009

Copyright: © 2009 Bax et al. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Funding: This research is supported by Cancer Research UK (C1178/A10294, C309/A2187, C309/A8274), the Oak Foundation (LM) and La Fondation de France (NG). We acknowledge NHS funding to the NIHR Biomedical Research Centre. Paul Workman is a Cancer Research UK Life Fellow. The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Competing Interests: The authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

* E-mail: chris.iones@icr.ac.ul

⁹ These authors contributed equally to this work.

Introduction

Paediatric high grade glioma is a clinically devastating and biologically under-studied cancer of the central nervous system. The poor clinical outcome of these children is largely due to the intrinsic drug resistance of these tumours coupled with a lack of understanding of the basic molecular pathology of the disease [1].

Unlike adults, little is known about the mechanisms of tumorigenesis of glioblastoma in children. *TP53* mutation and PDGFR α overexpression, alterations associated with secondary glioblastoma in adults, have been reported at high frequencies in paediatric cases, [2], however these tumours rarely originate from pre-existing low grade lesions [3]. Furthermore, although there are

clear morphological similarities between high grade gliomas of all ages, the WHO classification system is based upon adult cases, and may not be truly representative of the histopathological diversity of the childhood disease [4]. Firm conclusions are hampered by the limited number of studies performed on small sample sizes.

Drug treatment efficacy also differs. In adult glioblastoma, introduction of combined chemoradiotherapy of concomitant and adjuvant temozolomide (TMZ) and radiotherapy has provided a modest survival benefit [5], particularly in patients with an epigenetically silenced O⁶-methylguanine-DNA-methyltransferase (*MGMT*) gene [6]. In children, hypermethylated *MGMT* promoter predicts for response to alkylating agents [7], however the survival of children treated with adjuvant temozolomide does not appear to

1

April 2009 | Volume 4 | Issue 4 | e5209

Paper I – Molecular and Phenotypic Characterization of Paediatric Glioma Cell Lines as

Models for Preclinical Drug Development

be improved when compared with historical controls [8–11]. Similarly, the disappointing results obtained in early phase clinical trials by the use of inhibitors directed against EGFR [12] and PDGFR [13] are likely in part due to inadequate patient selection, although as yet there are no validated markers predictive of response in high grade gliomas, and it is unclear whether there are differences in the paediatric setting.

The mechanisms of drug resistance in paediatric high grade glioma are poorly understood, in part due to the limited availability of suitable models of the disease. Nearly all preclinical and functional work is carried out in a relatively small panel of adult glioblastoma cell lines *in vitro*, and it is currently unclear how representative these are of the underlying biology of paediatric lesions.

In order to begin to address these questions, we have carried out a detailed molecular and phenotypic characterisation of a series of paediatric high grade glioma cell lines in comparison to routinely used adult lines. Through an integrated profiling approach, we demonstrate that glioma cell lines derived from paediatric patients show key molecular differences to those from adults, some of which are well known, whilst others may provide novel targets for evaluation in primary tumours. We thus provide the rationale for using paediatric high grade glioma cell lines for preclinical and mechanistic studies.

Materials and Methods

Cell culture

Adult glioblastoma cell lines, A172, LN229, SF268, U87MG, U118MG and U138MG were obtained from ATCC (LGC Promochem, Middlesex, UK). Paediatric glioblastoma KNS42 cells were obtained from the JCRB [Japan Cancer Research Resources) cell bank. Paediatric SF188 cells were kindly provided by Dr Daphne Haas-Kogan (UCSF, San Francisco, CA, USA), whilst UW479, Res259 and Res186 were kindly provided by Dr Michael Bobola (University of Washington, Seattle, WA, USA). They were grown as monolayers in DMEM/F12 Ham's medium+10% FCS in 5% CO₂.

Immunohistochemistry

Cells were grown to 70–80% confluency in chambered slides (Nunc, Rochester, NY, USA) fixed in either 4% paraformaldehyde:0.5% TritonX-100 in PBS (GFAP, synaptophysin, vimentin, nestin and CD133) or ice cold methanol (S100). The cells underwent a peroxidase block (Dako, Ely, UK) followed by washes in 0.05% Tween in TBS prior to incubation with primary antibody – GFAP (clone 6F2, 1:50 dilution, Dako); synaptophysin (SY38, 1:10, Dako); vimentin (V9, 1:100, Dako), S100 (B32.1, 1:20, Abcam, Cambridge, UK), nestin (10C2, 1:400, Miltenyi Biotech, Bergisch (Gladbach, Germany), or CD133 (W6B3C1), 1:40, Miltenyi Biotech). Staining was visualised by the Envision horseradish peroxidase system (Dako) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Genomic analysis

500 ng of DNA was analysed on the Affymetrix GeneChip Human Mapping 250K Nsp and Sty arrays by the UCL Institute of Child Health Gene Microarray Centre, according to the manufacturer's protocol. The raw data were processed and genotypes called using the BRLMM method of the Affymetrix GTYPE package. Copy number ratios were calculated by the Affymetrix CNAT 4 algorithm, using quantile normalisation and a Gaussian smoothing bandwidth of 0.1 Mb. Normal references were provided by public data from an unmatched panel of 30 Caucasian female DNA samples, the Centre d'Etude du Polymorphisme Humain (CEPH) trio mothers, analysed on the

Profiling Paediatric Gliomas

same platform by The International HapMap Consortium (International HapMap Consortium 2007, http://www.hapmap. org). The copy number data set was compared to the positions of known copy number variations (CNVs) in the HapMap populations displayed on the UCSC genome browser and any copy number changes in the current data that overlapped with these CNVs were noted. LOH was inferred using the linkage disequilibrium Hidden Markov Model as implemented in dChip (http://www.dchip.org). False positives were reduced by excluding apparent LOH regions present in more than 10% of all 60 CEPH trio parents. LOH was taken as copy neutral if the copy number measured by dChip was close to diploid (1.7–2.3 copies). All data have been submitted according to MIAME guidelines [14] to the public data repository ArrayExpress (http://www.ebi.ac.uk/ arrayexpress/) with accession number E-TABM-579.

Multiplex fluorescence *in situ* hybridisation (M-FISH) analysis was performed on metaphase spreads prepared from Res259 cells using a Vysis SpectraVysion probe (Abbot Molecular, Abbott Park, IL, USA) following the manufacturer's instructions as previously described [15]. Images were captured using a Zeiss Axiophot microscope equipped for epifluorescence using cooled CCD-camera (Hamamatsu, Welwyn Garden City, UK). Image analysis was performed using SmartCapture X software (Digital Scientific, Cambridge, UK).

Fluorescent in situ hybridisation (FISH)

FISH analysis was carried out on metaphase chromosome preparations as previously described [16]. Probes directed against CDK4 (RP11-66N19,RP11-571M6), PDGFRA (RP11-231C18, RP11-626H4, RP11-117E8), and PTEN (RP11-105A10) were labelled with Cy5 (GE Healthcare, Amersham, UK), whilst commercial probes against RB1 (Abbot Molecular) and CDKN2A/B (Abbott Molecular) were SpectrumOrange-labelled. Appropriate centromeric probes were labelled with either fluorescein or SpectrumGreen. Hybridised preparations counterstained with DAPI in antifade (Vector Laboratories Inc., Burlingame, CA, USA). Images were captured using a cooled charge-coupled device camera (Photometrics, Tuscon, AZ, USA).

Methylation-specific multiplex ligation-dependent probe amplification (MS-MLPA)

Promoter methylation was assessed by kits ME001, ME002 and ME011 according to manufacturer's instructions (MRC-Holland, Amsterdam, Netherlands) [17]. Briefly, 100 ng of tumour DNA was denatured in 5 µL of Ultra-Pure Water at 98°C for 5 min and then incubated with the probe mix for 20 h at 60°C. After probe hybridization, each sample was divided into two different tubes. Half of the sample was ligated using a ligase enzyme and in the other half ligation was combined with HhaI digestion resulting in ligation of the methylated sequences only. The resulting products were amplified by PCR using a FAM-labeled primer, following manufacturer's instructions. PCR products were analyzed on ABI Prism 310 single capillary genetic analyzer (Applied Biosystems) using the GeneScan 3.7 software (Applied Biosystems). Duplicate experiments were performed for methylation analysis and average ratios were calculated. We interpreted ratios as absence of hypermethylation (0.00-0.24), mild hypermethylation (0.25-0.49), moderate hypermethylation (0.50-0.74), and extensive hypermethylation (≥ 0.75), as previously described [18].

Western blot analysis

Cells at 80% confluence were trypsinised, washed with PBS and lysed for 1 hr at 4° C in lysis buffer (Cell Signaling, Hertfordshire,

PLoS ONE | www.plosone.org

2

UK) and a complete mini protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche Diagnostics, Mannheim, Germany). Cells were then centrifuged at 11,000 rpm at 4°C for 15 min, and protein concentration determined (Pierce BCA assay, Rockford, IL, USA). Total protein extracts (30 µg/lane) were separated electrophoretically in 4–20% SDS-polyacrylamide gel and transferred to nitrocellulose membranes (Invitrogen Ltd, Paisley, UK). Immunodetection was performed using antibodies against cRAF (1:500, Santa Cruz Biotechnologies, Santa Cruz, CA, USA), phosphorylated and total Erkl/2, Akt, GSK3 β and S6 (all 1:1000, Cell Signaling), and GAPDH (1:2000, Chemicon, Hampshire, UK). Blots were revealed with peroxidase-conjugated secondary antirabbit or anti-mouse antibodies (GE Healthcare, Amersham, UK) followed by ECL chemiluminescence solution (GE Healthcare).

mRNA expression profiling

10 µg of total RNA was used to generate labelled cRNA and hybridised to U133Plus 2.0 oligonucleotide arrays (Affymetrix, Santa Clara, CA, USA) containing more than 40,000 transcripts by the UCL Institute of Child Health Gene Microarray Centre according to standard manufacturer protocols. Probe intensity data for each array was normalized to a baseline array with median signal intensity using the "invariant set" model. Modelbased expression was performed using the perfect-match/ mismatch (PM/MM) model to summarize signal intensities for each probe set. All data have been submitted according to MIAME guidelines [14] to the public data repository ArrayExpress (http://www.ebi.ac.uk/arrayexpress/) with accession number E-TABM-579. For the supervised identification of genes exhibiting differential expression between paediatric and adult high grade cell lines, expression values were subjected to a variation filter to exclude probe sets with minimal variation across the samples, and an absolute signal to noise metric of greater than 1.5 was subsequently used to identify marker probe sets using GenePattern software (http://www.broad.mit.edu/ cancer/software/genepattern/);. Differentially expressed co-ordinate sets of genes were identified using Gene Set Enrichment Analysis (GSEA, www.broad.mit.edu/gsea/) with a nominal p value cut-off of 0.001.

Real-time quantitative RT-PCR

cDNA was prepared from 1 µg of tumour or reference RNA by random primed reverse transcription using Superscript II (Invitrogen, Paisley, UK). TaqMan® Gene Expression Assays were obtained from Applied Biosystems (Warrington, UK) for

Profiling Paediatric Gliomas

LYN (Hs00176719), CRKL (Hs00178304), AXL (Hs00242357) and EPHA6 (Hs00297133). PCRs were performed in a 10 μ l reaction volume containing 5 μ l 2× buffer/enzyme mix, 0.5 μ l 20× GAPDH endogenous control assay mix (Hs9999905) and 1 μ l input cDNA. Assays were run on an Applied Biosystems 7900 Sequence Detection System and results analysed by the standard curve method. Data were normalised to Universal Human Reference RNA (Stratagene, La Jolla, California, USA).

Results

Paediatric glioma cell lines grown as monolayers in vitro express astrocytic and stem cell markers

All paediatric glioma cell lines were derived from astrocytomas of differing grades arising in patients aged 3-16 years old. They were established in vitro as monolayer cultures, with doubling times of between 24-48 hours, and demonstrated a mixture of stellate and bipolar morphologies, with some cells of polygonal, cuboidal or flattened appearance (Table 1). The astrocytic nature of the cells was confirmed in culture by immunohistochemistry with a range of glial markers (Figure 1). All cells showed some degree of GFAP-positivity, although SF188 and Res259 were only weakly expressing. All cells were strongly positive for S100 and vimentin, with the exception of UW479, which was vimentin negative. There was little synaptophysin expression, save for the occasional isolated cell in SF188 and KNS42 cultures. There was a surprisingly high level of expression of stem cell markers in the paediatric glioblastoma lines, with both SF188 and KNS42 strongly positive for nestin, and containing 7% and 4% CD133positive cells respectively.

Genomic profiling reveals numerous chromosomal abnormalities and focal amplifications/deletions

Affymetrix 500K SNP array analysis revealed all paediatric glioma cell lines to display complex genomes with numerous gross chromosomal copy number abnormalities and rearrangements. After exclusion of known copy number variants, this high-resolution copy number profiling additionally highlighted a number of focal copy number aberrations, which were confirmed by FISH on metaphase preparations (Figure 2). The glioblastoma cell line SF188 harboured high-level amplifications of several oncogenes known to be present in paediatric glioblastoma tumour samples. These included *MTC* at 8q24, *CCND1* at 11q13, *CDK4* at 12q14, all of which were due to extrachromosomal double minute formation, and overexpression of the corresponding proteins was

Table 1. Characteristics and immunophenotype of paediatric glioma cells grown as monolayers.

Cell line	WHO grade	Diagnosis	Age	Sex	Morphology	Doubling time	Immur	nohisto	chemistry			
							GFAP	S100	Vimentin	Synapto- physin	Nestin	CD133
SF188	IV	Glioblastoma multiforme	8 yrs	male	stellate, polygonal, bipolar	26 hrs	++	++	+++	++		7%
KNS42	IV	Glioblastoma multiforme	16 yrs	male	cuboidal, polygonal, bipolar	48 hrs	++++	++++	+++	++		4%
UW479	Ш	Anaplastic astrocytoma	13 yrs	female	polygonal, stellate	28 hrs	++++	++++	-	+		1%
Res259	Ш	Diffuse astrocytoma	4 yrs	female	polygonal, cuboidal, bipolar	24 hrs	+	++	++++	-		0%
Res186	1	Pilocytic astrocytoma	3 yrs	female	stellate, flattened, bipolar	46 hrs	++++	++	+++			0.1%

The astrocytic nature of the cells was confirmed in culture by immunohistochemistry with a range of glial and stem cell markers. (+++) strongly positive; (++) moderately positive; (+) weakly positive; (-) negative. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0005209.t001

Models for Preclinical Drug Development



Figure 1. Immunophenotyping of paediatric glioma cell lines. All lines were grown as monolayers and stained with a variety of glial and stem cell markers including glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), S100, vimentin, synaptophysin, nestin and CD133. H&E – haematoxylin and eosin. All images original magnification ×400. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0005209.g001

confirmed by Western blotting (data not shown). There was furthermore a focal deletion of NF1 at 17q11.2. KNS42 glioblastoma cells, by contrast, contained no genuine amplifications, but instead its highly rearranged genome harboured lowlevel copy number gains at loci such as 3q26 (PIK3CA), and hemizygous deletions at known tumour suppressor loci such as 13q14 (RBI). FISH analysis confirmed that this was due to the loss of a single copy from an otherwise triploid genome. Homozygous deletion at the CDKN2A/B locus at 9p12 was observed in the anaplastic astrocytoma UW479 line, which additionally harboured numerous high level copy number changes including 3p11-p12, 6p21, 18p11 and 19q12. CDKN2A/B deletion was also observed in Res259 astrocytoma cells, which also contained the well-described 4q12 amplicon, resulting in high level gains of the oncogenes PDGFRA and KIT, and low-level gain of a region including KDR/ VEGFR2. This was found from FISH and M-FISH analysis to be due to an unbalanced translocation between chromosomes 4 and 19, resulting in a der(19)t(4;19). Finally, Res186, originally derived from a pilocytic astrocytoma, harboured the least complex genomic profile, although was found to have an intragenic homozygous deletion of PTEN at 10q23.

Copy neutral and epigenetic events in paediatric high grade glioma cells

In addition to the copy number changes, we also observed several copy neutral loss of heterozygosity (LOH) events (Figure 2). KNS42 cells exhibited focal copy neutral LOH at 19p13 (*KLF2*) and 21q21 (*HEMK2*), whilst larger regions were observed in UW479 cells at chromosome 2q11-qter and in Res186 at 7p11-pter and 17p13 (*TP53*). Although the significance of these events is not clear, it is expected that such loci may harbour genes in which the remaining allele may harbour a point mutation, as is the case for *TP53*.

In order to explore epigenetic events in these lines we carried out methylation-specific multiplex ligation-dependent probe amplification (MS-MLPA) on 39 genes known to be hypermethylated at CpG islands in human cancer. Certain genes such as RASSF1A and ASC were found to be methylated in all cell lines tested (Table 2). There was specific promoter hypermethylation in FHIT in SF188 and Res259, HIC1 in Res259 and TP73 in Res186 cells. Interestingly, UW479 additionally harboured extensive promoter hypermethylation at a host of genes assayed including APC, CASP8, CD44, CDH13, CHFR, ESR1, GSTP1, IGSF4, MGMT, PAX5A, PAX6, and RARB. Of direct relevance to clinical resistance to alkylating agents were the observations of methylation in the mismatch repair gene MLH3 in Res259 cells, which also harboured high levels of promoter hypermethylation of MGMT, along with KNS42 cells. Low to moderate MGMT methylation was also observed in UW479 and Res186 cells.

Differential constitutive activation of PI3K, MAPK and downstream pathways

Protein expression was measured by Western blot to examine constitutive pathway activation of several key signalling transduction networks of importance in gliomagenesis (Figure 3). There was a modest activation of the MAPK pathway as determined by levels of phosphorylated Erk 1/2 in the paediatric high grade lines SF188 and UW479 as compared to KNS42 and the low grade lines (Res259, Res186). Although Akt pathway activation was seen in all paediatric cells, this was considerably lower than that observed in our panel of adult glioblastoma lines, except in the *PTEN* null line Res186, which showed high levels of phosphorAkt. Phosphorylated GSK3 β levels were low in UW479, Res259 and Res186, and almost entirely absent in the glioblastoma lines SF188 and KNS42. Although there was some degree of ribosomal protein

DLoS ONE | www.plosone.org

4

Profiling Paediatric Gliomas



DLoS ONE | www.plosone.org

5

April 2009 | Volume 4 | Issue 4 | e5209

Models for Preclinical Drug Development

Profiling Paediatric Gliomas

Figure 2. Genomic profiling of paediatric glioma cell lines. Copy number and loss of heterozygosity (LOH) profiles were generated by Affymetrix 500K SNP arrays. Log₂ ratios are plotted (y axis) for each probaset according to chromosomal location (x axis). Loss (blue) and retention (yellow) of heterozygosity is depicted in the lower portion of the plots. Fluorescent *in situ* hybridisation validation of selected copy number changes is represented with clones for *CDK4*, *RB1*, *CDKN2A/B*, *PDGFRA* and *PTEN* (ICy5/SpectrumOrange) and appropriate centromeres (fluorescein/ SpectrumGreen).

paediatric glioma lines.

glioma cell lines

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0005209.g002

Gene	SF188	KNS42	UW479	Res259	Res186
ASC	52%	66%	52%	81%	100%
APC	2%	2%	100%	1%	2%
мтм	0%	2%	1%	1%	0%
BRCA1	1%	1%	2%	3%	3%
BRCA2	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
ASP8	1%	3%	71%	1%	3%
CD44	0%	2%	48%	1%	0%
DH13	2%	24%	94%	4%	0%
CDKN1B	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
DKN2A	2%	1%	DEL	DEL	3%
CDKN2B	3%	4%	DEL	DEL	4%
CHFR	0%	1%	81%	0%	0%
DAPK1	5%	0%	0%	0%	0%
SR1	25%	51%	31%	74%	55%
ніт	62%	0%	0%	56%	2%
GATA5	10%	0%	14%	86%	94%
GSTP1	3%	5%	75%	0%	70%
HIC1	2%	2%	7%	92%	0%
GSF4	0%	0%	44%	0%	0%
AGMT	11%	79%	26%	63%	57%
NLH1	1%	1%	1%	1%	2%
/LH3	0%	0%	0%	70%	0%
NSH2	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
изнз	0%	0%	3%	5%	7%
NSH6	0%	0%	0%	7%	0%
PAX5A	43%	46%	99%	53%	100%
PAX6	0%	0%	100%	0%	0%
PMS2	0%	0%	3%	3%	0%
TEN	4%	1%	1%	2%	DEL
RARB	5%	4%	56%	2%	0%
RB1	5%	0%	0%	0%	23%
ASSF1A	95%	90%	100%	100%	100%
TK11	0%	2%	0%	0%	0%
HBS1	5%	9%	9%	10%	0%
ГІМРЗ	0%	16%	0%	1%	2%
ГР53	1%	4%	3%	1%	22%
ГР73	0%	0%	0%	0%	43%
VHL	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
WT1	0%	88%	7%	69%	21%

 Table 2. Methylation-specific multiplex ligation-dependent

 probe amplification of 39 genes in paediatric glioma cell lines.

Values give percentage methylation at CpG islands in the genes promoter. DEL = gene deletion. n.d = not done. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0005209.t002

DLoS ONE | www.plosone.org

6

April 2009 | Volume 4 | Issue 4 | e5209



S6 activation in all lines, this was particularly pronounced in

KNS42 and Res259, with very high levels of phospho-S6. Taken

together, although variable, we observed constitutive activation of one or more of these signal transduction pathways in all the

In order to investigate the differences between the paediatricand adult-derived cell lines at the gene expression level, we carried out expression profiling using Affymetrix U133 Plus2.0 arrays. For the comparison, we excluded the lines Res259 and Res186, derived from low-grade tumours, in order to avoid the possible

Expression signatures of functionally relevant genes distinguishes between high grade paediatric and adult

Figure 3. Constitutive activation of key signalling pathways in glioma cell lines. Western blots analysis of c-Raf, phospho/total Erk1/2, phospho/total Akt, phospho/total GSK3β, phospho/total S6 and GAPDH as loading control in adult (LN229, A172, U118MG, U138MG, U87MG, SF268) and paediatric (SF188, KNS42, UW479, Res259, Res186) glioma cell lines.

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0005209.g003

Profiling Paediatric Gliomas



Figure 4. Expression profiling of paediatric and adult glioblastoma cell lines. (A) Heatmap demonstrating hierarchical clustering of 93 differentially expressed genes between paediatric (SF188, KNS42, UW479) and adult (LN229, A172, U118MG, U87MG, SF268) high grade glioma cell lines. (B) Quantitative real-time (TaqMan) RT-PCR confirming differential expression of *CRKL, LYN, EPHA6* and *AXL*. Expression values are plotted relative to Universal Human Reference RNA. (C) Gene Set Enrichment Analysis highlighting co-ordinated differential expression of gene sets defined *a priori*. Enriched in paediatric high grade glioma cell lines - MORF_MSH2, GNF2_MLH1, GCM_RAD21, DNA_replication_reactome; enriched in adult lines IL6_SCAR_FIBRO_UP, CROONQUIST_IL6_RAS_UP, TGFBETA_C1_UP. Nominal p value<0.001.

confounding factors of grade. Despite the small number of lines profiled, we were able to identify 93 genes significantly differentially expressed between paediatric and adult high grade glioma cell lines (Figure 4A). The differentially expressed genes included several kinases which were validated by quantitative realtime RT-PCR (Figure 4B). These included members of the Src family kinases - LN and the adaptor molecule CRKL, highly expressed in paediatric lines, along with SRC itself and also YESI. Also upregulated in the paediatric vs adult lines were several early response genes including FOS and FOSB. Highly expressed in the adult lines were the receptor tyrosine kinases EPHA6 and AXL, and also CDK9 and ILK.

In addition, gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA) highlighted co-ordinated differentially high expression of several gene lists associated with maintenance of DNA replication and repair in paediatric *vs* adult cell lines (MORF_MSH2, GNF2_MLH1, GCM_RAD21, DNA_replication_reactome) (Figure 4C). Furthermore, gene sets representing co-ordinated regulation of extracellular matrix protein in response to cytokines were found enriched in the adult compared to the paediatric lines (IL6_SCAR_-FIBRO_UP, CROONQUIST_IL6_RAS_UP, TGFBETA_-C1_UP). Although the nominal p values of these analyses was less than 0.001, q values for estimates of the false discovery rate were all greater than 0.9, presumably due to the small sample size.

Discussion

Understanding and exploiting the similarities and differences between adult and paediatric gliomas is an important strategy for the development of new targeted therapies. The intrinsic drug resistance of high grade gliomas represents a major challenge in the clinical management of children with the disease, and efforts to

PLoS ONE | www.plosone.org

7

April 2009 | Volume 4 | Issue 4 | e5209

Models for Preclinical Drug Development

Profiling Paediatric Gliomas

understand and overcome this are hampered by a lack of mechanistic data in paediatric glioma models. We have sought to address this by collecting and carrying out a detailed molecular and phenotypic characterisation of the few available paediatric glioma cell lines, with a view to incorporating them into ongoing drug development programmes.

There is an acute clinical need to develop better treatment strategies for the refractory high grade gliomas in childhood, and having lines representative of paediatric glioblastoma (WHO grade III – SF188 and KNS42) and anaplastic astrocytoma (WHO grade III – UW479), would be extremely useful in preclinical and mechanistic studies of the disease. These lines all grew as either stellate or bipolar cells, with some polygonal features, in monolayers, and the immunophenotypes were representative of high grade glial tumours, including expression GFAP, S100 and vimentin. There were slight discrepancies with a previous publication referring to some of these lines [19], with a greater degree of S100 staining in UW479, and less GFAP in Res259 in our study, however it unclear whether this is reflective of methodological differences, culture conditions or changes in gene expression over time.

It is of considerable interest to note the relative high levels of CD133 positive cells in both SF188 (7%) and KNS42 (4%). Intrinsic drug resistance in the proportion of clinical glioblastomas comprised of tumour stem cells has been suggested to play a key role in drug resistance in this disease, and the high CD133-positive content of these cells grown as monolayers may make them particularly relevant in preclinical drug screening programmes.

All three high grade lines had highly complex genomic profiles and harboured amplifications and deletions at several known cancer genes dysregulated in paediatric glioma, including *CCND1*, *MTC*, *CDK4*, *PIK3CA*, *CDKN2A/B*, and *RB1* [2,20–23]. Although there are no molecular alterations yet described that are diagnostic for paediatric high grade glioma, these genes cover a broad spectrum of reported genomic aberrations. In addition, large scale chromosomal imbalances such as gain of chromosomes 1q and 7, and losses of 10q and 13q, reported at high frequencies in primary tumours [24], are present within these cell lines.

There were contrasting genomic profiles in the two paediatric glioblastoma lines. SF188 harboured an amplifier phenotype, with coordinated amplification of *CCND1* and *CDK4* evidence of a lack of cell cycle control by virtue of dysregulation of the RB1 pathway. By contrast, KNS42 cells achieved a similar end through direct deletion of *RB1* itself. No *RB1* hypermethylation was detected. Simultaneous abrogation of core signalling pathways in glioblastomas, as recently reported for primary tumours [25,26], are in evidence in both these cell lines, with further disruption to the p53 pathway (through point mutations of *TP53* in both lines), and the RTK/PI3K/AKT pathway via *NF1* deletion in SF188 and *PIK3CA* copy number gain in KNS42.

Interestingly, UW479 cells, as well as harbouring numerous high level amplifications, also had extensive promoter hypermethylation at a variety of epigenetically regulated genes, including APC, CASP8, CD44, CDH13, CHFR, ESR1, GSTP1, IGSF4, MGMT, PAX5A, PAX6, and RARB. They also had, in common with all the lines tested, methylated RASSF1A and TMS1 genes. RASSF1A promoter methylation is one of the most common molecular changes in cancer, and may modulate multiple apoptotic and cell cycle checkpoint pathways [27]. TMS1/ASC is an intracellular signaling molecule with proposed roles in the regulation of apoptosis, nuclear factor-KB activation, and cytokine maturation, and has been found to be hypermethylated in approximately 40% of adult glioblastoma cell lines and tumours [28]. Of potential significance in preclinical drug screening was the observation that UW479 and Res186 cells to harbour methylated GSTP1. Glutathione-S-transferase π acts to enzymatically conjugate glutathione to the reactive metabolites of alkylating agents, and up-regulation in glioblastoma tumour specimens has been correlated with resistance to BCNU [29]. Of further direct translational relevance was the observation that KNS42 cells were found to have methylation in the *MGMT* promoter, but counter to the expectation in glioblastoma cells, this did not confer a sensitivity to *in vitro* treatment with the alkylating agent temozolomide [30].

Two of the cell lines (Res259 and Res186) were reported to be diffuse astrocytoma (WHO grade II) and pilocytic astrocytoma (WHO grade I), which would make them extremely valuable in vitro models. Due to the difficulty in culturing these lesions successfully, and the relatively stable genomes reported in the human disease [31-33], it is likely that these lines may have acquired genetic alterations in culture. Interestingly, both lines harboured genetic alterations reminiscent of high grade gliomas in humans - including the archetypal 4q12 amplification spanning PDGFRA and KIT in Res259, and PTEN deletion in Res186. Despite this, their immunophenotypes more closely resembled low grade lesions, with an absence of synaptophysin expression, in contrast to the occasional positive cells seen in the high grade lines, and higher grade tumours in humans [34]. Whether or not they are truly reflective of the lesion from which they were derived, they are likely to make excellent models for the study of specific pathway modulation, i.e. that of the receptor tyrosine kinase and PI3K/PTEN systems. This is of particular importance, as the paediatric high grade lines were all PTEN wild-type, and there was significantly lower constitutive levels of phosphorylated Akt in these cells than a selection of the commonly used adult glioblastoma lines.

Similarly, constitutive activation of additional key signalling pathways would further increase the usefulness of the cell line panel for drug development. The MAPK pathway is represented in the KNS42 glioblastoma cells, which otherwise has little constitutive activation of Akt. High levels of phosphorylated S6 in both KNS42 and Res259 cells shows a significant activation of the mTOR pathway, potentially independent of upstream PI3K/Akt signalling. mTOR is emerging as a therapeutic target in human gliomas [35], and extending this to the paediatric setting will be facilitated by the use of these models for screening mTOR inhibitors, alone and in combination strategies.

Global measures of gene expression also served to highlight the differing genetic background of the paediatric lines. The differential expression of diverse kinases including *LTN*, *CRRL*, *EPHA6* and *AXL* between the high grade glioma cells derived from patients of different ages suggests a number of potential new drug targets, and provides impetus for molecular pathology investigations to confirm their presence *in vivo*. Two such observations are the overrepresentation of genes associated with DNA integrity in the paediatric cells, and underrepresentation of these areas are under intense research for the development of novel therapeutic agents in gliomas [36–40], measurement of the specific elements responsible for their modulation is needed in order to ensure the most appropriate model is utilised for mechanistic and preclinical assessment.

The paediatric lines have already proven their usefulness *in vitro* with studies identifying differential drug sensitivity and mechanisms of action/resistance [19,30,41,42]. As an adjunct to this, we are currently establishing and profiling them as *in vitro* neurosphere cultures, and *in vivo* as xenografts in immunodeprived mice. It is

Profiling Paediatric Gliomas

clear, however, that to fully represent the heterogeneity present in human glioma [25], and particularly those derived from children, additional well-characterised models will be required if we are to reliably test novel agents aimed at treating these diverse, clinically refractory tumours.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Dr Daphne Haas-Kogan (UCSF) and Dr Michael Bobola (University of Washington), for provision of the paediatric glioma cell lines; John Swansbury for provision of metaphase preparations; and Dr

References

- Reddy AT (2001) Advances in biology and treatment of childhood brain tumors. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep 1: 137–143.
- Nakamura M, Shimada K, Ishida E, Higuchi T, Nakase H, et al. (2007) Molecular pathogenesis of pediatric astrocytic tumors. Neuro Oncol 9: 113–123.
- 3. Broniscer A, Baker SJ, West AN, Fraser MM, Proko E, et al. (2007) Clinical and molecular characteristics of malignant transformation of low-grade glioma in
- children, J Clin Oncol 25: 682–689.
 Gilles FH, Brown WD, Leviton A, Tavare CJ, Adelman L, et al. (2000)
 Limitations of the World Health Organization classification of childhood
 supratentorial astrocytic tumors. Children Brain Tumor Consortium. Cancer 4. 88: 1477-1483.
- Stupp R, Mason WP, van den Bent MJ, Weller M, Fisher B, et al. (2005) Radiotherapy plus concomitz N Engl J Med 352: 987–996. comitant and adju vant temozolomide for gliobla
- Heing J RRG 592, 507 550.
 Hegi ME, Diserens AC, Gorlia T, Hamou MF, de Tribolet N, et al. (2005)
 MGMT gene silencing and benefit from temozolomide in glioblastoma.
 N Engl J Med 352: 997–1003.
 Pollack IF, Hamilton RL, Sobol RW, Burnham J, Yates AJ, et al. (2006) O6-6
- 7. methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase expression strongly correlates with outcome in childhood malignant gliomas: results from the CCG-945 Cohort. I Clin Oncol 24: 3431-3437
- 8. Broniscer A, Chintagumpala M, Fouladi M, Krasin MJ, Kocak M, et al. (2006) Temozolomide after radiotherapy for newly diagnosed high-grade glioma and unfavorable low-grade glioma in children. J Neurooncol 76: 313–319.
- Nicholson HS, Kretschmar CS, Krailo M, Bernstein M, Kadota R, et al. (2007) Phase 2 study of temozolomide in children and adolescents with recurrent central nervous system tumors: a report from the Children's Oncology Group. Cancer 110: 1542–1550.
- Ruggiero A, Cefalo G, Garre ML, Massimino M, Colosimo C, et al. (2006) 10 Phase II trial of temozolomide in children with recurrent high-grade glioma. Neurooncol 77: 89-94.
- 11. Hargrave DR, Zacharoulis S (2007) Pediatric CNS tumors: current treatment and future directions. Expert Rev Neurother 7: 1029-1042.
- 12. Rich JN, Reardon DA, Peery T, Dowell JM, Quinn JA, et al. (2004) Phase II
- trial of gefitinib in recurrent glioblastoma. J Clin Oncol 22: 133–142. 13. Wen PY, Yung WK, Lamborn KR, Dahia PL, Wang Y, et al. (2006) Phase I/II study of imatinib mesylate for recurrent malignant gliomas: North American Brain Tumor Consortium Study 99-08. Clin Cancer Res 12: 4899–4907.
- Brazma A, Hingamp P, Quackenbush J, Sherlock G, Spellman P, et al. (2001) Minimum information about a microarray experiment (MIAME)-toward standards for microarray data. Nat Genet 29: 365–371. 14.
- 5. Eils R, Uhrig S, Saracoglu K, Satzler K, Bolzer A, et al. (1998) An optimized, fully automated system for fast and accurate identification of chromosomal rearrangements by multiplex-FISH (M-FISH). Cytogenet Cell Genet 82: 160 - 171
- 16. Lambros MB, Simpson PT, Jones C, Natrajan R, Westbury C, et al. (2006) Unlocking pathology archives for molecular genetic studies: a reliable method to generate probes for chromogenic and fluorescent in situ hybridization. Lab Invest 86: 398–408.
- Nygren AO, Ameziane N, Duarte HM, Vijzelaar RN, Waisfisz Q, et al. (2005) Methylation-specific MLPA (MS-MLPA): simultaneous detection of CpG methylation and copy number changes of up to 40 sequences. Nucleic Acids Res 33: e128.
- Jeuken JW, Cornelissen SJ, Vriezen M, Dekkers MM, Errami A, et al. (2007) MS-MLPA: an attractive alternative laboratory assay for robust, reliable, and semiquantitative detection of MGMT promoter hypermethylation in gliomas Lab Invest 87: 1055–1065.
- Bobola MS, Silber JR, Ellenbogen RG, Geyer JR, Blank A, et al. (2005) O6-methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase, O6-benzylguanine, and resistance to clinical alkylators in pediatric primary brain tumor cell lines. Clin Cancer Res 11: 2747-2755.
- Cheng Y, Ng HK, Zhang SF, Ding M, Pang JC, et al. (1999) Genetic alterations in pediatric high-grade astrocytomas. Hum Pathol 30: 1284–1290.

Michael Hubank (Institute of Child Health, University College London) for assistance with the Affymetrix profiling.

Author Contributions

Conceived and designed the experiments: PW DH CJ. Performed the experiments: DB SL NG LP LM MVP TJ RW. Analyzed the data: DB SL NG LP LM MVP TJ RW AG GV PW DS RR AP CJ. Contributed reagents/materials/analysis tools: GV PW DS RR AP DH. Wrote the paper: CJ.

- Faury D, Nantel A, Dunn SE, Guiot MC, Haque T, et al. (2007) Molecular profiling identifies prognostic subgroups of pediatric glioblastoma and shows increased YB-1 expression in tumors. J Clin Oncol 25: 1196–1208.
 Rickert CH, Strater R, Kaatsch P, Wassmann H, Jurgens H, et al. (2001) Provide the strategy of the strategy of
- Pediatric high-grade astrocytomas show chromosomal imbalances distinct from adult cases. Am J Pathol 158: 1525–1532. 23. Wasson JC, Saylors RL 3rd, Zeltzer P, Friedman HS, Bigner SH, et al. (1990)
- Oncogene amplification in pediatric brain tumors. Cancer Res 50: 2987–2990. Wong KK, Tsang YT, Chang YM, Su J, Di Francesco AM, et al. (2006)
- Genome-wide allelic imbalance analysis of pediatric gliomas by single nucleotide polymorphic allele array. Cancer Res 66: 11172–11178.
 McLendon R, Friedman A, Bigner D, Van Meir EG, Brat DJ, et al. (2008)
- Comprehensive genomic characterization defines human glioblastoma genes and core pathways. Nature.
- Parsons DW, Jones S, Zhang X, Lin JC, Leary RJ, et al. (2008) An integrated genomic analysis of human glioblastoma multiforme. Science 321: 1807–1812.
 Donninger H, Vos MD, Clark GJ (2007) The RASSF1A tumor suppressor. J Cell
- Sci 120: 3163-3172
- Sci 120: 3103-3172. Stone AR, Bobo W, Brat DJ, Devi NS, Van Meir EG, et al. (2004) Aberrant methylation and down-regulation of TMS1/ASC in human glioblastoma. 28. Am J Pathol 165: 1151–1161.
 Fruehauf JP, Brem H, Brem S, Sloan A, Barger G, et al. (2006) In vitro drug
- response and molecular markers associated with drug resistance in malignant gliomas. Clin Cancer Res 12: 4523–4532.
- Gaspar N, Bax DA, Marshall L, Viana-Pereira M, Little SE, et al. (submitted) Differential mechanisms of temozolomide resistance in paediatric glioma cell 30
- 31. Bar EE, Lin A, Tihan T, Burger PC, Eberhart CG (2008) Frequent gains at chromosome 7q34 involving BRAF in pilocytic astrocytoma. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 67: 878–887.
- Potter N, Karakoula A, Phipps KP, Harkness W, Hayward R, et al. (2008) 32. Genomic deletions correlate with underexpression of novel candidate genes at six loci in pediatric pilocytic astrocytoma. Neoplasia 10: 757–772.
- Krupp W, Geiger K, Schober R, Siegert G, Froster UG (2004) Cytogenetic and molecular cytogenetic analyses in diffuse astrocytomas. Cancer Genet Cytogenet 153: 32-38
- Rebetz J, Tian D, Persson A, Widegren B, Salford LG, et al. (2008) Glial progenitor-like phenotype in low-grade glioma and enhanced CD133-expression and neuronal lineage differentiation potential in high-grade glioma. PLoS ONE 3: e1936.
- 35. Cloughesy TF, Yoshimoto K, Nghiemphu P, Brown K, Dang J, et al. (2008) Antitumor activity of rapamycin in a Phase I trial for patients with recurrent PTEN-deficient glioblastoma. PLoS Med 5: e8.
- Tchirkov A, Khalil T, Chautard E, Mokhtari K, Veronese L, et al. (2007) Interleukin-6 gene amplification and shortened survival in glioblastoma patients. Br J Cancer 96: 474–476. 36.
- Wick W, Naumann U, Weller M (2006) Transforming growth factor-beta: a molecular target for the future therapy of glioblastoma. Curr Pharm Des 12: 341-349.
- 38. Parkinson JF, Wheeler HT, McDonald KL (2008) Contribution of DNA repair mechanisms to determining chemotherapy response in high-grade glioma. J Clin Neurosci 15: 1-8.
- Johannessen TC, Bjerkvig R, Tysnes BB (2008) DNA repair and cancer stem-39. like cells - Potential partners in glioma drug resistance? Cancer Treat Rev 34: 58-567
- Brantley EC, Benveniste EN (2008) Signal transducer and activator of transcription-3: a molecular hub for signaling pathways in gliomas. Mol Cancer Res 6: 675-684.
- Gaspar N, Sharp S, Pacey S, Jones C, Walton M, et al. (2009) Acquired resistance to 17-allylamino-17-demethoxygeldanamycin (17-AAG, tanespimycin) in glioblastoma cell lines. Cancer Res 69: 1966–1975. 42. Ma J, Murphy M, O'Dwyer PJ, Berman E, Reed K, et al. (2002) Biochemical
- changes associated with a multidrug-resistant phenotype of a human glioma cell line with temozolomide-acquired resistance. Biochem Pharmacol 63: 1219–1228.

April 2009 | Volume 4 | Issue 4 | e5209
Paper II

Dorine A. Bax, Alan Mackay, Suzanne E. Little, Diana Carvalho, <u>Marta Viana-Pereira</u>, Narinder Tamber, Anita E. Grigoriadis, Alan Ashworth, Rui M. Reis, David W. Ellison, Safa Al-Sarraj, Darren Hargrave, Chris Jones. A distinct spectrum of copy number aberrations in pediatric high-grade gliomas. *Clinical Cancer Research* 16(13): 3368-77, 2010.

Published OnlineFirst on June 22, 2010 as 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-0438

Human Cancer Biology

Clinical Cancer Research

A Distinct Spectrum of Copy Number Aberrations in Pediatric High-Grade Gliomas

Dorine A. Bax¹, Alan Mackay³, Suzanne E. Little¹, Diana Carvalho^{1,6,7}, Marta Viana-Pereira^{1,6}, Narinder Tamber³, Anita E. Grigoriadis⁴, Alan Ashworth³, Rui M. Reis⁶, David W. Ellison⁸, Safa Al-Sarraj⁵, Darren Hargrave², and Chris Jones^{1,2}

Abstract

Purpose: As genome-scale technologies begin to unravel the complexity of the equivalent tumors in adults, we can attempt detailed characterization of high-grade gliomas in children, that have until recently been lacking. Toward this end, we sought to validate and extend investigations of the differences between pediatric and adult tumors.

Experimental Design: We carried out copy number profiling by array comparative genomic hybridization using a 32K bacterial artificial chromosome platform on 63 formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded cases of high-grade glioma arising in children and young people (<23 years).

Results: The genomic profiles of these tumors could be subclassified into four categories: those with stable genomes, which were associated with a better prognosis; those with aneuploid and those with highly rearranged genomes; and those with an amplifier genotype, which had a significantly worse clinical outcome. Independent of this was a clear segregation of cases with 1q gain (more common in children) from those with concurrent 7 gain/10q loss (a defining feature of adults). Detailed mapping of all the amplification and deletion events revealed numerous low-frequency amplifications, including *IGF1R*, *PDGFRB*, *PIK3CA*, *CDK6*, *CCND1*, and *CCNE1*, and novel homozygous deletions encompassing unknown genes, including those at 5q35, 10q25, and 22q13. Despite this, aberrations targeting the "core signaling pathways" in adult glioblastomas are significantly underrepresented in the pediatric setting.

Conclusions: These data highlight that although there are overlaps in the genomic events driving gliomagenesis of all ages, the pediatric disease harbors a distinct spectrum of copy number aberrations compared with adults. *Clin Cancer Res;* 16(13); 3368–77. ©2010 AACR.

The use of genome-scale profiling techniques to identify the key genetic aberrations underlying various tumor types has led to fundamental discoveries about the drivers of oncogenesis, and provides the rationale for specific targeted therapies in these lesions. Until recently, the application of such studies to the fields of high-grade glioma specifically,

Authors' Affiliations: ¹Section of Paediatric Oncology, The Institute of Cancer Research, and ²Paediatric Oncology, Royal Marsden Hospital, Sutton, United Kingdom; ³Breakthrough Breast Cancer Research Centre, The Institute of Cancer Research, and ⁴Breakthrough Breast Cancer Unit and ⁶Clinical Neuropathology, Kings College Hospital, London, United Kingdom; ⁶Life and Health Sciences Research Institute, University do Minho, Braga, Portugal; ⁷Center for Neuroscience and Cell Biology, University of Coimbra, Coimbra, Portugal; and ⁸St Jude Children's Research Hospital, Memphis, Tennessee

Note: Supplementary data for this article are available at Clinical Cancer Research Online (http://clincancerres.aacrjournals.org/).

D.A. Bax and A. Mackay contributed equally to this work

Corresponding Author: Chris Jones, Section of Paediatric Oncology, Institute of Cancer Research, Sutton, Surrey, SM2 SNG, United Kingdom. Phone: 44-0-20-8722-4416; Fax: 44-0-20-8722-4321; E-mail: chris.jones@ icr.ac.uk.

doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-0438

©2010 American Association for Cancer Research.

and childhood tumors in general, have lagged behind the adult epithelial cancers. This is now rapidly changing, with large screens of adult glioblastoma through collaborative networks (1) or single institutions (2) joining an increasing number of smaller independent studies (3–7) in comprehensively mapping the glioblastoma genome.

There are also beginning to emerge genomic studies specifically addressing childhood cancers, and there is mounting evidence that the pediatric high-grade glioma genome has certain key differences with that of histologically similar adult tumors. An early study using metaphase comparative genomic hybridization (CGH; ref. 8) highlighted distinct chromosomal changes in 23 childhood cases, a result borne out in a later 10K single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) array study of a further 14 highgrade tumors (9), and more recent studies of 18 pediatric glioblastoma on Illumina 100K arrays (10), and 20 highgrade tumors using molecular inversion probes (11). Most recently, we participated in a collaborative effort to carry out molecular profiling of 78 pediatric high-grade gliomas by Affymetrix 500K SNP and U133 Plus2.0 expression arrays (12). From all these studies, it seems clear that although there are many large-scale chromosomal and

3368 Clin Cancer Res; 16(13) July 1, 2010

AC American Association for Cancer Research

Translational Relevance

Pediatric high-grade gliomas represent clinically devastating and biologically understudied tumors of the central nervous system. Little is known about the key genomic alterations that arise in childhood cases, nor of the specific differences between these and the adult disease. We present the copy number profiling of a large series of these rare tumors, and identify numerous low-frequency events previously unreported in pediatric high-grade glioma, including the potential therapeutic target IGF1R. Tumors could be classified into distinct genomic subtypes, with marked differences in clinical outcome, and an idealized PDGFRA^{amp} 1q+, 16q-genotype was considerably enriched in pediatric cases, in contrast to the EGFRamp, 7+, 10q- cases more commonly associated with adults. We further highlight the importance of platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) signaling in this context, through the most commonly observed genomic amplification of PDGFRA, as well as a unique amplification of PDGFRB, providing strong rationale for clinically targeting this pathway in children with this disease.

specific genetic amplification/deletion events common to tumors from patients of all ages, there are certain events found at significantly different frequencies in pediatric versus adult lesions.

One of the most immediately apparent differences was the high frequency of chromosome 1 q gains and 16 q losses, and the lower frequency of (often concurrent) gain of chromosome 7 and loss of 10 q in childhood cases compared with adults. Although there were numerous low-frequency amplifications and deletions such as *MYC/MYCN*, *CCND2*, *KRAS*, and *CDKN2C*, which seemed to show the pediatric high-grade glioma genome to be similar to clinical secondary adult glioblastomas (13, 14), a lack of *IDH1* mutations in the childhood setting showed the distinct biological pathways active during pathogenesis (12).

The most common amplification in the pediatric cases was at 4q12, with shortest region of overlap (SRO) and expression analyses identifying the amplicon driver to be PDGFRA (12). This was present in up to 17% of primary pediatric glioblastoma, and 29% of diffuse intrinsic pontine glioma, and was also found in 50% of cases of highgrade glioma arising as a secondary malignancy after cranio-spinal radiation (post-IR). Many cases without PDGFRA amplification were still found to show overexpression of a specific PDGFRA-associated gene signature, which was itself distinct from that observed in adult cases with the 4q12 amplification. Taken together, platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF)-driven signaling seems to be preferentially activated in the majority of pediatric tumors, in contrast to adults, where epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) is implicated as the predominant target (12).

Array CGH of Pediatric High-Grade Glioma

Although these studies are beginning to unravel the key features of the pediatric high-grade glioma genome, the total number of cases studied remains considerably smaller than for adult tumors. This is of particular importance given the lower frequency of the majority of genetic aberrations detected in childhood cases. Validating these low-frequency events in independent cohorts as being recurrent abnormalities, as well as the likely identification of novel isolated copy number changes will aid our understanding of the key pathways underlying the diversity of high-grade gliomas in children. To this end we carried out an array CGH study of 63 cases of pediatric high-grade glioma from formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded (FFPE) archival pathology specimens on a 32K tiling-path bacterial artificial chromosome (BAC) platform.

Materials and Methods

Samples and DNA extraction

High-grade glioma samples from 63 patients (<23 years old) treated at the Royal Marsden Hospital (RMH), Sutton, and the Newcastle Royal Infirmary, United Kingdom, were obtained after approval by local and multicenter ethical review committees. The collection consisted of 37 glioblastoma multiforme, 14 anaplastic astrocytomas, 4 anaplastic oligodendrogliomas, 4 diffuse intrinsic (brain stem) gliomas, 2 astroblastoma, 1 oligoastrocytoma, and 1 gliosarcoma. All cases were archival FFPE tissues. The presence of tumor tissue in these samples and the tumor type were verified on a H&E-stained section independently by two neuropathologists (DWE and SA-S). Nine of the cases were previously profiled from a frozen tumor specimen in the collaborative SNP study (12). DNA was extracted using the DNeasy Tissue Kit (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's protocol and quantitated on a NanoDrop spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific).

Array CGH

All raw and processed data have been deposited in Array Express (http://www.ebi.ac.uk/microarray-as/ae/; E-TABM-857). The array CGH platform used in this study was constructed at the Breakthrough Breast Cancer Research Centre and comprises 31,619 overlapping BAC probes covering the human genome at an approximate resolution of 50 kb (A-MEXP-1734). Hybridizations were carried out as previously described (15) and slides were scanned using an Axon 4000B scanner (Axon Instruments) with images analyzed using Genepix Pro 4.1 software (Axon Instruments). The median localized background slide signal for each clone was subtracted and each clone Cy5/Cy3 ratio was normalized by local regression (loess) against fluorescence intensity and spatial location. Clones overlapping known copy number variants were removed for statistical and visualization purposes, but not for mapping of specific amplifications

Bax et al.

and deletions, which was done according to the March 2006 build of the human genome sequence (hg18).

Data analysis

All data transformation and statistical analysis were carried out in R 2.9.0 (http://www.r-project.org/) and Bio-Conductor 2.4 (http://www.bioconductor.org/), making extensive use of modified versions of the package aCGH in particular (15). For identification of DNA copy number alterations, data were smoothed using a local polynomial adaptive weights procedure for regression problems with additive errors, with thresholds for assigning "gain" and "loss" set at 0.1 (3 × SD of control hybridizations). For visualization purposes, the processed log₂ ratios were colored green (gain) or red (loss) after segmentation and copy number determination.

To assess the significance of the genomic alterations, we applied an algorithm similar to those previously described, namely, Genomic Identification of Significant Targets in Cancer (GISTIC; ref. 13) and Genome Topography Scanning (GTS; ref. 16), taking into account the frequency, amplitude, and focality of the observed amplifications (\log_2 ratio >1.0) and deletions (\log_2 ratio <-0.75). This was calculated as the product of the absolute \log_2 ratio, the number of clones in each segment, and the frequency within the entire cohort, scaled to the absolute maximum for amplifications/deletions separately, and overplotted on the frequency histogram for gains and losses described above.

Fluorescent in situ hybridization

Fluorescent in situ hybridization (FISH) analysis was carried out on FFPE sections as previously described (17). Probes directed against MYCN (pool of clones RP11-1183P10, RP11-674F13 and RP11-754G14), PIK3CA (RP11-4B14, RP11-642A13, RP11-379M20), PDGFRA (RP11-819D11, RP11-58C6), SKP2 (RP11-749P08, CTD-2010F22), PDGFRB (RP11-211F05, RP11-21I20), MYC (RP11-440N18, RP11-237F24, CTD-2034C18), CDK4 (RP11-66N19, RP11-277A02, RP11-672O16), MDM2 (RP11-611O02, RP13-618A08, CTD-2067J14), and IGF1R (CTD-2015I17, RP11-203H14, RP11-189B22) were labeled with Cy3 (GE Healthcare), whereas chromosomespecific control probes at loci of no copy number change were labeled with fluorescein (GE Healthcare). Hybridized preparations were counterstained with 4', 6-diamidino-2phenylindole in antifade (Vector Laboratories Inc.). Images were captured using a cooled charge-coupled device camera (Photometrics).

Statistics

All statistical tests were done in R2.9.0. Correlations between categorical values were done using the χ^2 and Fisher's exact tests. Correlations between continuous variables were done using Student's *t* test or the Mann-Whitney *U* test. Cumulative survival probabilities were calculated using the Kaplan-Meier method on uniformly treated patients within our cohort from the same institution (RMH), with differences between survival rates analyzed with the log-rank test. Important prognostic information (including extent of resection, Karnofsky performance score) was not available for all cases in this retrospective study, so multivariate analysis could not be done. All tests were two-tailed, with a confidence interval of 95%. *P* values of <0.05 were considered statistically significant.

Results

Distinct patterns of copy number change in the pediatric high-grade glioma genome

Previously we utilized whole genome amplification strategies for array CGH studies of tumors extracted from FFPE specimens (18). In this study, however, we were able to utilize a cohort of samples for which sufficient material was available to avoid the previous approach. We were able to generate high-quality copy number profiles from an unselected series of 63 pediatric high-grade gliomas using 32K tiling-path BAC arrays from which the tumor cell purity could be verified as >90% without the need for additional steps.

We observed a mean number of large-scale (whole chromosome or chromosomal arms) gains and losses of 5.8 per sample (median, 4; range, 0-22), with more losses (mean, 3.5; median, 3; range, 0-14) than gains (mean, 2.3; median, 2; range, 0-11). There was a further mean of 1.8 focal amplifications/deletions per sample (median, 1; range, 0-11), again with a slightly increased number of deletions (mean, 1.0; median, 0; range, 0-8) compared with amplifications (mean, 0.8; median, 0; range, 0-4). The list of observed alterations is given for the full dataset in Supplementary Table S1.

We were able to subtype the samples into four groups based upon the pattern of their genomic profiles. First was a group of tumors that had a very stable genome, with few (<3), low-level, focal changes. This subtype comprised 13 of 63 (20.6%) cases, and included 8 tumors (12.7%) that harbored no detectable copy number alterations on our 32K BAC platform (Fig. 1A). The second type contained only large, single copy alterations involving whole chromosomes or chromosomal arms, resulting in aneuploidy in the absence of any high-level amplifications in 22 of 63 (34.9%) cases, the largest subgroup we observed (Fig. 1B). The third type harbored numerous, low-level, intrachromosomal breaks resulting in multiple gains and losses and a highly rearranged genome. This group was also defined for this purpose by exclusion of cases with bona fide amplicons, and comprised 11 of 63 (17.5%) of the cohort (Fig. 1C). Finally, we considered those tumors with single or multiple highlevel (log₂ ratio >1.0) amplifications, regardless of the genomic background, as belonging to the fourth, "amplifier" subtype. This group consisted of 17 of 63 (27.0%) of cases (Fig. 1D).

There were no significant correlations between genomic subtype and WHO grade or histology (P > 0.05, Fisher's exact test), with glioblastomas, anaplastic astrocytomas,

Clinical Cancer Research



Array CGH of Pediatric High-Grade Glioma

Fig. 1. Pediatric high-grade gliomas comprise different subtypes of copy number profiles. Sample genome plots are given for stable (A), aneuploid (B), rearranged (C), and amplifier (D) genomes within our sample cohort. Log₂ ratios for each clone (Y-axis) are plotted according to chromosomal location (X-axis). Vertical lines, centromeres; green points, gains; red points, losses.

and anaplastic oligodendrogliomas spread across all subtypes. Of note, there were no "stable" genomic cases among the series of five patients that were treated for a previous malignancy by cranio-spinal radiation (post-IR; Supplementary Table S1). There was also no association of copy number profiles with age at diagnosis (P > 0.05, Mann-Whitney U test), although the amplifier group did not include any infant tumors (<3 years). However, when we investigated the overall survival of the patients treated at a single institution (RMH), we detected significant differences by retrospective univariate analysis in the clinical outcome of cases according to the genomic profile of the tumor. The stable genome cases showed a trend towards better prognosis when compared with all other cases (P = 0.0755, log-rank test), whereas the samples with an amplifier genome had a significantly shorter time to death

Fig. 2. Genomic subtypes of pediatric high-grade glioma have prognostic relevance. Kaplan-Meier plot for overall survival of pediatric high-grade gliomas treated at a single institution stratified according to genomic subtype. The stable genome cases showed a trend towards better prognosis when compared with all other cases (P = 0.0755, log-rank test), whereas the samples with an amplifier genome had a significantly shorter time to death (P = 0.00214, log-rank test).



www.aacrjournals.org

Clin Cancer Res; 16(13) July 1, 2010 3371





Fig. 3. Summary and significance of genomic aberrations in pediatric high-grade glioma. The proportion of tumors in which each clone is gained or lost is plotted in grey (Y-axis) for each BAC clone according to genomic location (X-axis). A measure of the frequency, amplitude, and focality of high-level events was calculated for each affected clone and was overplotted for amplifications (green) and deletions (red), scaled to the absolute maximum for each.

(P = 0.00214, log-rank test; Fig. 2). The aneuploid and rearranged cases fell in between, and were representative of the survival characteristics of the cohort as a whole, suggesting that they may need to be considered together as falling between the extremes of the other two groups.

One of the defining features of pediatric high-grade glioma is the frequent gain of chromosome 1q (12 of 63, or 19.0%, versus 17 of 189, or 9.0%, of adult cases; ref. 1; P = 0.039, Fisher's exact test) and loss of 16q (11 of 63, or 17.5%, versus 14 of 189, of 7.4%; P = 0.028, Fisher's exact test); in contrast to adult glioblastoma cases, in which gains of chromosome 7 (12 of 63, or 19.0%, versus 140 of 189, or 74.1%; P < 0.0001, Fisher's exact test) and losses of 10q (10 of 63, or 15.9%, versus 152 of 189, or 80.4%; P < 0.0001. Fisher's exact test) predominate. In our FFPE cohort, we noticed a clear distinction of 1q gain cases from those with concurrent 7 gain/10q loss (7+/10q-, 8 of 63, or 12.7%), with only a single case harboring both abnormalities. Neither event was significantly associated with any clinicopathologic parameters, although there was a trend towards shorter survival in the 1q+ cases (P = 0.0865, log-rank test). Neither abnormality was seen in any infant cases.

Mapping of focal amplifications and deletions to known oncogenes and novel loci

As we had with large-scale alterations, we observed numerous focal amplifications and deletions. In summary, we identified 47 unique amplification and 32 unique deletions. All these events are detailed in full in Supplementary Table S2 (amplifications) and Supplementary Table S3 (deletions).

The most common amplicon was at 4q12 (10 of 63, or 15.9%), and deletion at 9p21 (10 of 63, or 15.9%, consisting of 8 homozygous, 2 hemizygous). Mapping the SRO in these cases narrowed these regions specifically to

PDGFRA and CDKN2A, respectively, confirming the initial observations that these are by far the most common amplifications/deletions in pediatric high-grade glioma (12). Other common events included amplification of MYCN at 2p24 (3 of 63, or 4.7%) or MYC at 8q24 (2 of 63, or 3.2%), together giving a frequency of 7.9% (5 of 63) of cases with genomic MYC family dysregulation; and 3 of 63 (4.7%) EGFR amplification at 7p12 – a lower frequency than observed in our recent chromogenic in situ hybridization study of a larger cohort of which this series is a subset, reflecting the focal nature of the amplification event in a small number of tumors identified by molecular pathology (19).

For the remaining aberrations, we highlighted the SROs where they were found to be recurrent. However, as most were present only in a single case, and we were unable to narrow down gained/lost regions, the result was that we identified a total of 1,026 amplified and 1,243 deleted genes across our series. To facilitate the identification of key oncogenic events in pediatric high-grade glioma, we sought to assign significance to the genomic aberrations we observed. Inspired by algorithms such as GISTIC (13) and GTS (16), we developed a simple measure based upon three key features of our data for each clone on the array: (a) frequency of high-level amplification/homozygous deletion, (b) absolute magnitude of the change, and (c) focality of the segmented copy number change. This amplitude/focality measure was then scaled to the maximum and minimum for amplifications/deletions, respectively, and plotted over the frequency of low-level gains and losses on the same histogram (Fig. 3).

As well as *PDGFRA* (the highest scoring gene) and *CDKN2A*, this analysis highlighted the importance of several known oncogenes, amplified at low frequency in our series, but at high magnitude, and in a focally restricted

Clinical Cancer Research

manner. These included *PIK3CA* (3q26), *CDK6* (7q21), and *CDK4* (12q14), the first two previously reported in adult glioblastoma, but not in pediatric cases, and present here in a single case. We also identified amplifications of two additional receptor tyrosine kinases: *IGF1R* at 15q26 (Fig. 4A) and *PDGFRB* at 5q33 (Fig. 4B). Such an approach further highlighted the potential significance of known deletions targeting *PARK2* at 6q6 and *MGMT*, *PTPRE*, and others at 10q26, as well as unique events for which the candidate gene is unknown at 10q25 (Fig. 4C) and 11q14 (Fig. 4D).

We were able to validate nine of these lower-frequency amplification events by carrying out FISH on our FFPE sections using specific probes against MYCN, PIK3CA, PDGFRA, SKP2, PDGFRB, MYC, CDK4, MDM2, and IGF1R (Fig. 5).

Glioblastoma core signaling pathways are not commonly activated by copy number changes in pediatric patients

One of the most important findings from recent largescale genomic profiling studies of adult glioblastoma was the identification of three core signaling pathways that were abrogated by amplification, deletion, and/or mutations of key genes in the vast majority of cases. Considering only the copy number data from these studies, 59%, 70%, and 66% of cases were found to have at least one genetic event targeting the receptor tyrosine kinase/ phosphoinositide 3-kinase (RTK/PI3K), p53, or RB pathways, respectively (1, 2).

We mapped the copy number changes in our pediatric cases to the same pathways, which included many of the genes described above, as well as others described in adult



Fig. 4. Novel low-frequency amplifications and fine-mapping focal deletions in pediatric high-grade glioma. Chromosome plots for chromosome 15, targeting *IGF1R* (A); chromosome 5, targeting *PDGFRB/CSF1R* (B); chromosome 10, mapping a deletion at 10q25.2-q25.3 (C); and chromosome 11, resolving a deletion at 11q14 to *ODZ4* and hsa-mir-708 (D). Log₂ ratios for each clone are plotted (Y-axis) for each BAC clone according to location (X-axis) along the length of the chromosome, with genes and microRNA within the minimal regions plotted underneath according to positional information from the UCSC Genome Browser (hg18).

www.aacrjournals.org

Clin Cancer Res; 16(13) July 1, 2010 3373

Bax	et	al



Fig. 5. FISH validation of low-frequency amplifications in pediatric high-grade glioma. Specific probes for MYCN, PIK3CA, PDGFRA, SKP2, PDGFRB, MYC, CDK4, MDM2, and IGF1R were labeled with Cy3 (red) and cohybridized to interphase nuclei on FFPE specimens with chromosome-specific control probes labeled with fluoroscein.

glioblastoma, including *MET*, *KRAS*, and *AKT2* (RTK/ PI3K), *MDM2* (p53), and *CCND2* (RB). Despite this, we observed a significantly lower frequency of pathway dysregulation compared with that reported in adults: 16 of 63 (25%) RTK/PI3K, 12 of 63 (19%) p53, and 14 of 63 (22%) RB (all P < 0.0001, Fisher's exact test; Fig. 6). Even after removing the stable genome subtype from this analysis, it is apparent that pediatric tumors show targeting of these core pathways by copy number alterations in less than half as many instances than in adults.

To explore whether other canonical pathways may be activated by this mechanism preferentially in childhood tumors, we mapped amplified/deleted genes in those tumors without core pathway targeting via GenMAPP. Although there were isolated cases with clear genomic events linked to activation of the Sonic Hedgehog (*GL12* amplification, *HHIP* deletion) and Notch (*DLL3* amplification, *DLK1* deletion)

pathway activation, there was no consistently targeted pathway in these cases, nor was there specific enrichment of any additional pathway across the entire cohort.

Discussion

We were previously part of a collaborative study setting out to comprehensively map the copy number alterations present in the pediatric high-grade glioma genome, in which we used Affymetrix 500K SNP arrays on a series of 78 cases available as frozen tumor samples (12). Those data revealed an overlapping, but distinct, underlying molecular genetics of the childhood disease when compared with recent large-scale genomic analyses of adult high-grade glioma (1, 2). Along with the common amplification/deletion targets of *PDGFRA* and *CDKN2A/B*, there were numerous low-frequency events targeting both well-recognized

Clinical Cancer Research

Array CGH of Pediatric High-Grade Glioma

oncogenes and novel loci. The present study had three purposes: (*a*) to validate the high-frequency events in an independent set of samples, analyzed on an independent microarray platform; (*b*) to extend the sample set to provide evidence of recurrence of the low-frequency events previously reported; and (*c*) to identify novel low-frequency events, which by their nature may have been missed in the earlier study.

The most frequent focal events were *PDGFRA* amplification and *CDKN2A/B* deletion, and the most common largescale gains and losses included chromosomes 1q and 16q, respectively. The *PDGFRA*^{amp}, 1q+, 16q- events were significantly more common in the childhood setting (10, 11, 20), although it is important to note that they are present in a proportion of adult tumors. Similarly, we observed a group of tumors in our cohort containing aberrations more commonly associated with the adult disease, namely $EGFR^{amp}$, 7+, 10q-, albeit at significantly reduced frequencies. That they tended towards exclusivity suggests they represent archetypes for different ends of the spectrum of the disease.

One of the most intriguing differences observed in the pediatric setting was the presence of a proportion of cases of high-grade tumors with very few, or even no detectable copy number alterations. This was true on both BAC



Fig. 6. Glioblastoma core signaling pathways are dysregulated by copy number changes less frequently in pediatric than in adult tumors. Signaling pathway heatmap of interactions defined by the cancer genome atlas (1). Red, genes with amplifications; blue, genes with focal deletion. The overall frequency of copy number alteration in pediatric high-grade glioma for each pathway is listed, and is significantly lower than in adults (25% RTK/PI3K, 19% p53, and 22% RB versus 59%, 70%, and 66% for adult glioblastoma, respectively).

www.aacrjournals.org

Clin Cancer Res; 16(13) July 1, 2010 3375

Bax et al.

(approximately 32,000 probes, 100 kb resolution) and SNP (approximately 500,000 probes, 6 kb resolution) platforms (12), and is in direct contrast to data from adult tumors (1, 2). This stable genomic profile is independent of histologic grade or type, and seems to convey an improved survival in patients with high-grade glioma, in contrast to those patients with an amplifier genomic profile, who do significantly worse.

Another of the defining features of the pediatric highgrade glioma genome is the numerous low-frequency amplifications and deletions present only in isolated cases in any given study. By nearly doubling the number of these rare tumors for which we have genomic data, we have been able to ascertain aberrations as recurrent across 132 cases. These include amplifications of known oncogenes within the core signaling pathways described in adult glioblastoma, such as CDK6 (10), MET, and CCND2, as well as novel targets. These include ID2 at 2p25, previously found in association with the MYCN amplicon at 2p24, possibly part of a single event, identified here as an independent target in its own right. ID2 is a helix-loop-helix transcription factor that has previously been shown to be widely expressed in astrocytic tumors (21, 22), and may play a role in negatively regulating cell differentiation and promoting cell survival (23, 24). Another amplicon at 17q22 was also confirmed in the FFPE series, with a SRO analysis identifying RNF43 as the most likely target. RNF43 is a ubiquitin ligase that promotes cell growth and is upregulated in colon cancer (25, 26), but has not previously been implicated in gliomagenesis.

Homozygous deletions now apparent as recurrent lesions include those at 14q32, encompassing a large number of microRNAs, as well as the gene DLK1. DLK1 is a δ -like homolog that acts to inhibit Notch signaling through specific binding interactions with the receptor (27), and may play diverse roles in cellular transformation and differentiation (28). Although we have now observed two cases of homozygous deletion, other mechanisms of downregulation may be active, as DLK1 is present at an imprinted locus, with increased methylation upstream of GTL2 leading to reduced expression in other tumor types (29). Other deletions may have a more complicated role in gliomagenesis such as those on chromosome 16q. The SNP study identified a large deletion in a single tumor that is present as two separate events at 16q12 and 16q21 in two independent cases here, targeting numerous candidates including clusters of Iroquois homeobox genes, metallothioneins, and coiled-coil domain containing genes. By contrast, a homozygous deletion observed in the present study overlaps two independent loci previously reported at 11q14 to target a single microRNA, hsa-mir-708, and a single gene, ODZ4. Although little seems known about mir-708, the odd Oz/ten-m homolog 4 is expressed in the developing and adult central nervous system, and seems to act as an important transcriptional regulator associated with neurodevelopment (30, 31).

Finally, we were also able to identify several novel amplifications and deletions, the significance of many of which is not yet clear. There were some genes identified that were also present in adult glioblastoma studies which had not previously been reported in pediatric high-grade glioma, such as *AKT2*, *CCNE1*, *GLI2*, *MDM2*, *PARK2*, and *PIK3CA*. There were other previously unreported genes that may be associated with specific glioblastoma- related signaling pathways such as AKTIP (16q12), an Akt-interacting protein that acts as an activator of the PI3K pathway (32), and *PIK3C3* (18q12), also known as Vps34, a member of the PI3K family associated with autophagy (33). There were numerous others with potential functional relevance unknown.

We also noted rare amplifications at receptor tyrosine kinases considered less likely to be driven by copy number gain. Firstly was a very high level gain of *IGF1R* at 15q26 (11). Insulin-like growth factor (IGF) signaling has previously been implicated in gliomagenesis, primarily on the basis of high levels of the ligand *IGF2* in glioblastoma specimens (34). The growth-promoting effects of IGF2 that were shown were mediated via IGF1R and the P13K regulatory subunit PIK3R3. Of particular relevance to the childhood setting was the observation of a mutual exclusivity between *IGF2*-associated tumors and *EGFR*-driven cases, suggesting that the IGF pathway may play a prominent role in pediatric tumors, possibly in concert with PDGF receptor (PDGFR)-related signaling.

Secondly was an amplicon at 5q33 which included PDGFRB (and another receptor tyrosine kinase CSF1R). Given the clear importance of PDGFR signaling on pediatric high-grade gliomas, it is perhaps unsurprising that there may be multiple mechanisms active in driving tumorigenesis through a common pathway. To this end, we also observed recurrent amplification of the ligand PDGFB (22q13) in the previous SNP study (12), and here further observed focal copy number gain at 7p22 encompassing PDGFA. That these unique genomic events have thus far been found to be restricted to pediatric tumors adds further evidence to a distinct underlying genetics driving archetypal high-grade gliomas in children, one that is largely PDGF-driven, and forms a discrete pole within the diversity of glioma biology. Understanding the most appropriate ways of efficaciously targeting these pathways in the most appropriate patient populations will hopefully overcome the disappointing early-phase clinical trials observed thus far with PDGFR inhibitors.

Disclosure of Potential Conflicts of Interest

No potential conflicts of interest were disclosed.

Grant Support

We acknowledge National Health Service funding to the NIHR Biomedical Research Centre. This work was supported by The Royal Marsden Children's Department Fund, Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia, Portugal, and Breakthrough Breast Cancer.

The costs of publication of this article were defrayed in part by the payment of page charges. This article must therefore be hereby marked *advertisement* in accordance with 18 U.S.C. Section 1734 solely to indicate this fact.

Received 02/18/2010; revised 03/31/2010; accepted 04/26/2010; published OnlineFirst 06/22/2010.

Array CGH of Pediatric High-Grade Glioma

References

- McLendon R, Friedman A, Bigner D, et al. Comprehensive genomic characterization defines human glioblastoma genes and core pathways. Nature 2008;455:1061–8.
- Parsons DW, Jones S, Zhang X, et al. An integrated genomic analysis of human glioblastoma multiforme. Science 2008;321:1807–12.
 Rao SK, Edwards J, Joshi AD, Siu IM, Riggins GJ. A survey of glio-
- Rao SK, Edwards J, Joshi AD, Siu IM, Riggins GJ. A survey of glioblastoma genomic amplifications and deletions. J Neurooncol 2010; 96:169–79.
- Gardina PJ, Lo KC, Lee W, Cowell JK, Turpaz Y. Ploidy status and copy number aberrations in primary glioblastomas defined by integrated analysis of allelic ratios, signal ratios and loss of heterozygosity using 500K SNP Mapping Arrays. BMC Genomics 2008;9:489.
- de Tayrac M, Etcheverry A, Aubry M, et al. Integrative genome-wide analysis reveals a robust genomic glioblastoma signature associated with copy number driving changes in gene expression. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 2009;48:55–68.
- Ruano Y, Mollejo M, Ribalta T, et al. Identification of novel candidate target genes in amplicons of Glioblastoma multiforme tumors detected by expression and CGH microarray profiling. Mol Cancer 2006;5:39.
- Korshunov A, Sycheva R, Golanov A. Genetically distinct and clinically relevant subtypes of glioblastoma defined by array-based comparative genomic hybridization (array-CGH). Acta Neuropathol 2006; 111:465–74.
- Rickert CH, Strater R, Kaatsch P, et al. Pediatric high-grade astrocytomas show chromosomal imbalances distinct from adult cases. Am J Pathol 2001;158:1525–32.
- Wong KK, Tsang YT, Chang YM, et al. Genome-wide allelic imbalance analysis of pediatric gliomas by single nucleotide polymorphic allele array. Cancer Res 2006;66:11172–8.
- Qu HQ, Jacob K, Fatet S, et al. Genome-wide profiling using singlenucleotide polymorphism arrays identifies novel chromosomal imbalances in pediatric glioblastomas. Neuro-oncol 2010;12:153–63.
- Schiffman JD, Hodgson JG, VandenBerg SR, et al. Oncogenic BRAF mutation with CDKN2A inactivation is characteristic of a subset of pediatric malignant astrocytomas. Cancer Res 2010;70:512–9.
- Paugh BS, Qu C, Jones C, et al. Integrated molecular profiling of pediatric high grade gliomas reveals key differences with the adult disease. J Clin Oncol 2010 May 17.
- Beroukhim R, Getz G, Nghiemphu L, et al. Assessing the significance of chromosomal aberrations in cancer: methodology and application to glioma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2007;104:20007–12.
- Maher EA, Brennan C, Wen PY, et al. Marked genomic differences characterize primary and secondary glioblastoma subtypes and identify two distinct molecular and clinical secondary glioblastoma entities. Cancer Res 2006;66:11502–13.
- Natrajan R, Williams RD, Hing SN, et al. Array CGH profiling of favourable histology Wilms tumours reveals novel gains and losses associated with relapse. J Pathol 2006;210:49–58.
- Wiedemeyer R, Brennan C, Heffernan TP, et al. Feedback circuit among INK4 tumor suppressors constrains human glioblastoma development. Cancer Cell 2008;13:355–64.
- Lambros MB, Simpson PT, Jones C, et al. Unlocking pathology archives for molecular genetic studies: a reliable method to generate probes for chromogenic and fluorescent *in situ* hybridization. Lab Invest 2006;86:398–408.

- Vuononvirta R, Sebire NJ, Dallosso AR, et al. Perilobar nephrogenic rests are nonobligate molecular genetic precursor lesions of insulinlike growth factor-II-associated Wilms tumors. Clin Cancer Res 2008; 14:7635–44.
- Bax DA, Gaspar N, Little SE, et al. EGFRvIII deletion mutations in pediatric high-grade glioma and response to targeted therapy in pediatric glioma cell lines. Clin Cancer Res 2009;15:5753–61.
- 20. Zarghooni M, Bartels U, Lee E, et al. Whole-genome profiling of pediatric diffuse intrinsic pontine gliomas highlights platelet-derived growth factor receptor {a} and poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase as potential therapeutic targets. J Clin Oncol 2010;28:1337–44.
- Mikami S, Hirose Y, Yoshida K, et al. Predominant expression of OLIG2 over ID2 in oligodendroglial tumors. Virchows Arch 2007; 450:575–84.
- Vandeputte DA, Troost D, Leenstra S, et al. Expression and distribution of id helix-loop-helix proteins in human astrocytic tumors. Glia 2002;38:329–38.
- Gray MJ, Dallas NA, Van Buren G, et al. Therapeutic targeting of Id2 reduces growth of human colorectal carcinoma in the murine liver. Oncogene 2008;27:7192–200.
- Obayashi S, Tabunoki H, Kim SU, Satoh J. Gene expression profiling of human neural progenitor cells following the serum-induced astrocyte differentiation. Cell Mol Neurobiol 2009;29:423–38.
- Sugiura T, Yamaguchi A, Miyamoto K. A cancer-associated RING finger protein, RNF43, is a ubiquitin ligase that interacts with a nuclear protein, HAP95. Exp Cell Res 2008;314:1519–28.
- Yagyu R, Furukawa Y, Lin YM, Shimokawa T, Yamamura T, Nakamura Y. A novel oncoprotein RNF43 functions in an autocrine manner in colorectal cancer. Int J Oncol 2004;25:1343–8.
- Nueda ML, Baladron V, Sanchez-Solana B, Ballesteros MA, Laborda J. The EGF-like protein dlk1 inhibits notch signaling and potentiates adipogenesis of mesenchymal cells. J Mol Biol 2007;367: 1281–93.
- Espina AG, Mendez-Vidal C, Moreno-Mateos MA, et al. Induction of Dlk1 by PTTG1 inhibits adipocyte differentiation and correlates with malignant transformation. Mol Biol Cell 2009;20:3353–62.
- 29. Kawakami T, Chano T, Minami K, Okabe H, Okada Y, Okamoto K. Imprinted DLK1 is a putative tumor suppressor gene and inactivated by epimutation at the region upstream of GTL2 in human renal cell carcinoma. Hum Mol Genet 2006;15:821–30.
- Tucker RP, Chiquet-Ehrismann R. Teneurins: a conserved family of transmembrane proteins involved in intercellular signaling during development. Dev Biol 2006;290:237–45.
- Zhou XH, Brandau O, Feng K, et al. The murine Ten-m/Odz genes show distinct but overlapping expression patterns during development and in adult brain. Gene Expr Patterns 2003;3:397–405.
- Remy I, Michnick SW. Regulation of apoptosis by the Ft1 protein, a new modulator of protein kinase B/Akt. Mol Cell Biol 2004;24: 1493–504.
- Simonsen A, Tooze SA. Coordination of membrane events during autophagy by multiple class III PI3-kinase complexes. J Cell Biol 2009;186:773–82.
- 34. Soroceanu L, Kharbanda S, Chen R, et al. Identification of IGF2 signaling through phosphoinositide-3-kinase regulatory subunit 3 as a growth-promoting axis in glioblastoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2007;104:3466–71.

www.aacrjournals.org

Clin Cancer Res; 16(13) July 1, 2010 3377

Paper III

Dorine A. Bax, Suzanne E. Little, Nathalie Gaspar, Lara Perryman, Lynley Marshall, <u>Marta Viana-Pereira</u>, Tania A. Jones, Richard D. Williams, Anita Grigoriadis, Gilles Vassal, Paul Workman, Denise Sheer, Rui M. Reis, Andrew D. J. Pearson, Darren Hargrave, Chris Jones. MGMT-Independent Temozolomide Resistance in Pediatric Glioblastoma Cells Associated with a PI3-Kinase-Mediated HOX/Stem Cell Gene Signature. *Cancer Research* 70(22): 9243-52, 2010.

Published OnlineFirst on November 2, 2010 as 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-1250

Therapeutics, Targets, and Chemical Biology

Cancer Research

MGMT-Independent Temozolomide Resistance in Pediatric Glioblastoma Cells Associated with a PI3-Kinase–Mediated HOX/Stem Cell Gene Signature

Nathalie Gaspar^{1,2,3}, Lynley Marshall^{1,2,4}, Lara Perryman¹, Dorine A. Bax¹, Suzanne E. Little¹, Marta Viana-Pereira^{1,5}, Swee Y. Sharp², Gilles Vassal⁴, Andrew D.J. Pearson^{1,3}, Rui M. Reis⁵, Darren Hargrave³, Paul Workman², and Chris Jones¹

Abstract

Sensitivity to temozolomide is restricted to a subset of glioblastoma patients, with the major determinant of resistance being a lack of promoter methylation of the gene encoding the repair protein DNA methyltransferase MGMT, although other mechanisms are thought to be active. There are, however, limited preclinical data in model systems derived from pediatric glioma patients. We screened a series of cell lines for temozolomide efficacy *in vitro*, and investigated the differential mechanisms of resistance involved. In the majority of cell lines, a lack of *MGMT* promoter methylation and subsequent protein overexpression were linked to temozolomide resistance. An exception was the pediatric glioblastoma line KNS42. Expression profiling data revealed a coordinated upregulation of *HOX* gene expression in resistant lines, especially KNS42, which was reversed by phosphoinositide 3-kinase pathway inhibition. High levels of *HOXA9/HOXA10* gene expression were associated with a shorter survival in pediatric high-grade glioma patient samples. Combination treatment *in vitro* of pathway inhibition and temozolomide resulted in a highly synergistic interaction in KNS42 cells. The resistance gene signature further included contiguous genes within the 12q13-q14 amplicon, including the Akt enhancer PIKE, significantly overexpressed in the KNS42 line. These cells were also highly enriched for CD133 and other stem cell markers. We have thus shown an *in vitro* link between phosphoinositide 3-kinase–mediated *HOXA9/HOXA10* expression, and a drug-resistant, progenitor cell phenotype in MGMT-independent pediatric glioblastoma. *Cancer Res; 70(22); OF1–10.* @2010 AACR.

Introduction

Glioblastoma is the most common tumor of the central nervous system, affecting patients of all ages, and being essentially refractory to treatment; the clinical outcome remains dismal regardless of age at diagnosis. The median survival of a patient with glioblastoma is 15 months, and this has improved little in the last four decades (1). The mainstays of treatment during this time have been surgical resection and radiotherapy, often with nitrosurea-based chemotherapy. The use of adjuvant temozolomide has more recently emerged as a new standard of care in glioblastoma, with concurrent and sequential treatment in the initial therapy of patients resulting in a modest improvement in median survival (2).

Corresponding Author: Chris Jones, Paediatric Oncology, The Institute of Cancer Research, 15 Cotswold Road, Sutton, Surrey, SM2 5NG, United Kingdom. Phone: 44-0-20-8722-4416; Fax: 44-0-20-8722-4321; E-mail: chris.jones@icr.ac.uk.

doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-1250

©2010 American Association for Cancer Research.

www.aacrjournals.org

Temozolomide is a DNA methylating agent that is orally bioavailable, crosses the blood:brain barrier, and exhibits schedule-dependent antitumor activity (3). The improved survival benefits in glioblastoma are largely restricted to the subset of patients lacking expression of the DNA repair enzyme O⁶-methylguanine-DNA-methyl-transferase (MGMT; ref. 4). Temozolomide induces cytotoxic O⁶-guanine methyl adducts that are removed directly by functional MGMT, thereby producing drug resistance. Downregulation of MGMT usually occurs in tumors by gene promoter hypermethylation, in which >50% methylation has been shown to silence gene expression (5).

Deficiencies in DNA mismatch repair (MMR) are also linked to resistance to alkylating agents such as temozolomide (6), as are elevated levels of Ape1/Ref-1, a major component of the base excision repair (BER; ref. 7) system, with attempts to enhance temozolomide-induced cytotoxicity by disrupting BER by means of inhibition of poly-(ADP-ribose)-polymerase (PARP) proving effective *in vitro* and *in vivo* (8).

The vast majority of the above work has taken place in adult glioblastoma and preclinical models derived from adult patients. In the pediatric setting, *MGMT* promoter hypermethylation predicts for response to alkylating agents (9); however, the survival of children treated with adjuvant temozolomide does not seem to be improved when compared with historical controls (10–14). The mechanisms of drug resistance in

Authors' Affiliations: ¹Paediatric Oncology, and ²Cancer Research UK Centre for Cancer Therapeutics, The Institute of Cancer Research, and ³Paediatric Oncology, The Royal Marsden NHS Foundation Trust, Sutton, United Kingdom; ⁴Pharmacology and New Treatments of Cancer, Institut de Cancérologie Gustav Roussy, Villejuif, France; and ⁵Life and Health Science Research Institute (ICVS), Universidade do Minho, Braga, Portugal

Associated with a PI3-Kinase-Mediated HOX/Stem Cell Gene Signature

Gaspar et al.

pediatric high-grade glioma are poorly understood, in part due to the lack of availability of suitable models of the disease. We screened a series of pediatric and adult glioma cell lines for temozolomide efficacy *in vitro*, and investigated the differential mechanisms of resistance involved, highlighting the involvement in pediatric cells of processes outside of the usual MGMT/MMR/BER axis.

Materials and Methods

Cell culture

Adult glioblastoma cell lines A172, LN229, SF268, U87MG, U118MG, and U138MG, and pediatric glioma cell lines SF188, KNS42, UW479, Res259, and Res186 were obtained and cul-

tured as previously described (15). For the spheroid formation assay, cells were grown in neurosphere medium, which consisted of NDiff RHB-A medium (Stem Cell Sciences) supplemented with epidermal growth factor and fibroblast growth factor 2, each at 20 ng/mL.

Growth inhibition studies

Temozolomide was obtained from Apin Chemicals, O^6 benzylguanine from Calbiochem, and PI-103 from Piramed Pharma or synthesized in-house. Growth inhibition was determined using the sulforhodamine B (16) or MTS (17) assay as previously described. To attempt reversion of resistance to temozolomide, O^6 -benzylguanine was added at the highest nontoxic concentration (10–15% of cell growth inhibition,



Figure 1. Sensitivity of pediatric and adult glioma cell lines to temozolomide and relationship to MGMT status. A, adult (LN229, A172, U118MG, U138MG, U87MG, SF268) and pediatric (SF188, KNS42, UW479, Res186, Res259) glioma cells were treated with temozolomide. and cytotoxicity was assessed by the sulforhodamine B assay. IC₅₀ values are plotted on a log10 scale. B, Western blot for MGMT protein expression correlated with extent of promoter methylation as assessed by MS-PCR and MS-MLPA. In most cases expression correlates with temozolomide resistance, with the exception of U87MG and KNS42 cells, which are hypermethylated, do not express the protein, and are resistant to temozolomide. C. SF188 and KNS42 cells were treated with MGMT substrate analogue O6-benzylguanine, showing the MGMT-dependent nature of temozolomide (TMZ) resistance in SF188, but not KNS42 cells. Growth inhibition was determined by the sulforhodamine B assay. Concentration of temozolomide is on a log10 scale.

OF2 Cancer Res; 70(22) November 15, 2010

Cancer Research





Figure 2. Assessment of DNA MMR and BER pathways in pediatric and adult glioma cell lines. Western blot for proteins involved in MMR (A) and BER (B). Although deficiencies in MSH3 are noted in U138MG, UW479, and Res186, and there is some variability in PARP and XRCC1 expression, U87MG and KNS42 have normal expression of proteins involved in both pathways. *, temozolomide-resistant cell lines.

 $20 \ \mu mol/L$). For the assessment of combination effects, cells were treated with increasing concentrations of drugs either alone or concurrently at their equipotent molar ratio and combination indices were calculated by the method of Chou and Talalay (18). All values are given as mean \pm SD of at least three independent experiments.

Promoter methylation analysis

Cell line DNA was treated with sodium bisulphite using the Epitect kit (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Methylation-specific (MS) PCR for the *MGMT* promoter was performed as described previously (19). MS-multiplex ligation-dependent probe amplification (MLPA) was carried out as previously reported (15) according to the manufacturer's instructions (MRC-Holland; ref. 20). *HOXA9/HOXA10* methylation was assessed by comparing expression profiles of 5-Aza-2'-deoxycytidine-treated cells with vehicle-treated controls on Illumina Human-6 v2 Expression BeadChips (Illumina Inc.), ArrayExpress accession number E-TABM-858.

Western blot analysis

Immunodetection was performed as previously described (15) using antibodies against MGMT (1:500; Zymed), MLH1 (1:500; Pharmingen), MLH3 (1:500; Santa Cruz Biotechnologies), MSH2 (1:500; Calbiochem), MSH3 (1:250; BD Bioscience), MSH6, PMS2 (both 1:500; BD Bioscience), PARP1/2 (1:1,000; Cell Signaling), XRCC1 (1:500; Cell Signaling), APE1 (Novus Biochemicals), p85, p110 α (Cell Signaling), p110 β , p110 δ (Santa Cruz), PIKE-A/PIKE-L (all 1:1,000; Abcam), phospho-Akt^{Ser473}, Akt (both 1:1,000; Cell Signaling), and GAPDH (1:2,000; Chemicon).

mRNA expression profiling analysis

Cell line expression profiling by Affymetrix U133 oligonucleotide arrays has been previously described (ref. 15; ArrayExpress accession number E-TABM-579). Supervised analysis was performed using an absolute signal-to-noise metric of >1.5 in GenePattern software (http://www.broad.mit.edu/cancer/ software/genepattern/). Coordinate gene regulation was identified using gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA; www.broad. mit.edu/gsea/), with a nominal P value cutoff of 0.001. "Core enriched" genes are defined as belonging to the leading-edge subset within the gene set, and thus contribute the most to the enrichment result. Assessment of HOX gene expression after 24-hour treatment with PI-103 at $5 \times IC_{50}$ was carried out using Illumina HT-12 BeadChips (ArrayExpress accession number E-TABM-890). Affymetrix U133 expression data from The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) glioblastoma study (21) was assessed for cross-correlations of probesets corresponding to HOXA9 by calculating Pearson's correlation coefficients in R. GSEA and clinical correlations were further carried out on a published dataset (22) of Affymetrix U133 expression array profiling of 78 pediatric high-grade gliomas (Gene Expression Omnibus accession number GSE19578; http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/geo/).

Immunofluorescence and flow cytometry

CD133 protein expression was measured by both flow cytometry using a BD fluorescence-activated cell sorting Vantage SEDiVa system (BD Biosciences) and immunofluorescence on cytospin preparations, using anti-CD133 antibody (AC133/1, Miltenyi Biotec) at 1:50 and 1:100 dilution, respectively. Cells were costained with nestin (196908, R & D Systems) and visualized with 4', 6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI; Vector Laboratories Inc.). Cell cycle analysis was also carried out by flow cytometry.

Results

Sensitivity of glioma cell lines to temozolomide *in vitro* is largely but not exclusively dependent on *MGMT* promoter methylation and lack of protein expression

We first determined the response to temozolomide *in vitro* of our panel of five pediatric (SF188, KNS42, UW479, Res259, Res186) and six adult (A172, LN229, SF268, U87MG, U118MG, U138MG) glioma cell lines. Four lines (A172, LN229, SF268, Res259) were classed as temozolomide sensitive, with IC₅₀ values of between 10 and 20 µmol/L (Fig. 1A). The remaining cells were resistant to treatment with the alkylating agent, with IC₅₀ values of >500 µmol/L.

We assessed *MGMT* promoter methylation by methylationspecific PCR and MLPA, and protein expression by Western

205

Paper III – MGMT-Independent Temozolomide Resistance in Paediatric Glioblastoma Cells Associated with a PI3-Kinase-Mediated HOX/Stem Cell Gene Signature





Cancer Research

blot (Fig. 1B). Extensive methylation resulted in an absence of MGMT protein expression in LN229, A172, U87MG, SF268, Res259, and KNS42 cells. There was, for the most part, a direct correlation between MGMT methylation/lack of expression and temozolomide sensitivity. An exception to this was the pediatric glioblastoma KNS42 cell line, which displayed insensitivity in the absence of MGMT protein, implying that alternate mechanisms of resistance must be operative. To confirm this, we treated pediatric glioblastoma SF188 and KNS42 cells with temozolomide in the presence of the substrate analogue O⁶-benzyl guanine (O⁶BeG), which depletes the enzyme and increases cytotoxicity (ref. 23; Fig. 1C). Treatment with $20\;\mu mol/L\;O^6BeG$ increased the efficacy of temozolomide in SF188 cells nearly 40-fold (IC₅₀ without $O^{6}BeG = 194 \mu mol/L$; IC_{50} in the presence of $O^{6}BeG = 5 \mu mol/L$), thus confirming the dependence of these cells on MGMT in conferring temozolomide resistance. By contrast, no such effect was seen in KNS42 cells, showing the MGMT-independent nature of the insensitivity.

Dysregulation of MMR and BER proteins do not explain resistance to temozolomide in MGMT-deficient KNS42 cells

Enzymes involved in DNA MMR (MLH1, MLH3, MSH2, MSH3, MSH6, PMS2) were evaluated by Western blot (Fig. 2A). Although we identified three temozolomideresistant lines with abrogated expression of MSH3 (U138MG, UW479, and Res186), there was no deficiency in KNS42 or U87MG cells. These data correlated well with levels of promoter methylation assessed by MS-MLPA (15). We further investigated components of the BER pathway, including PARP1/2, XRCC1, and APE1. Although temozolomide-resistant UW479 and Res186 seemed to lack PARP1/2 and XRCC1 expression, there were no apparent alterations in other glioma lines, including KNS42 or U87MG (Fig. 2B).

Identification of a *HOX*/stem cell gene expression signature associated with temozolomide resistance in pediatric glioblastoma cells

Using expression microarrays, we identified 135 genes differentially expressed between sensitive and resistant glioma cell lines (Fig. 3A). Included in this list were *MGMT* and *PARP2*, despite these enzymes not explaining the resistance in all cell lines. Also included were several kinases, including *MAPK9* and *CDK6*, which may prove suitable targets for pharmacologic modulation; *PIK3C3* (Vps34), suggesting a possible link to the autophagic response (24); and genes encoding elements of the immune response such as *IL10* and *IL16*. When we applied GSEA to our data, we observed coordinated differential expression of the HOX_GENES set (MSigDB C2:curated gene sets) in resistant versus sensitive cell lines (Fig. 3B), with an enrichment score of 0.54 [nominal P = 0.01; false discovery rate (FDR) q = 0.403]. Furthermore, the HOX_GENES list was also identified as significant using a GSEA "Preranked" analysis based on differentially expressed genes between KNS42 alone and temozolomide-sensitive cell lines (Fig. 3C). In these analyses, the genes in both coreenriched lists, which contribute to the leading-edge subset within the gene set (25), included HOXA9, HOXA10, HOXB13, HOXC4, HOXC10, HOXC11, HOXC13, HOXD1, and GBX2.

As coordinated expression of HOX genes had recently been noted in glioblastoma clinical samples (26), and was reported as evidence of a "self-renewal" signature as it included the stem cell marker PROM1 (CD133), we sought further evidence for this in a published glioblastoma dataset and our cell line models. When we investigated TCGA expression profiles of 163 glioblastomas for genes that correlated with the top-ranking HOX gene in our KNS42 GSEA list, HOXA9, we noted a remarkable parallel expression of numerous other homeobox genes (Fig. 4A). Of the top 47 genes by this analysis, 18 were homeobox genes found at 9 distinct genomic loci, and 7 were included in the self-renewal signature of Murat and colleagues (26). These latter genes included PROM1. Intriguingly, the vast majority of the non-homeobox genes identified by this analysis are contiguous genes found commonly amplified in glioblastoma at the genomic locus 12q13-q14.

To determine whether an enrichment of the stem cell marker CD133 may be playing a role in the resistance of KNS42 cells to temozolomide, we assessed the levels of mRNA expression relative to the other cell lines (Fig. 4B), and noted considerably higher levels of PROM1 in KNS42 cells than in any other line in our panel. Of note, the only other two cell lines to express PROM1 at above background levels were the similarly temozolomide-resistant U87MG and SF188. This was visualized by immunofluorescent staining for CD133, colabeled with nestin (Fig. 4C). We had previously reported the relatively high levels of stem cell markers in SF188 and KNS42 by immunocytochemistry (15), and to more accurately quantify this, we used the more sensitive flow cytometry analysis to reveal an usually high degree of expression in KNS42, with 17.0% of cells positive for CD133. There were also high levels of CD133-positive cells in the SF188 line (4.8%) compared with 0.0% to 0.02% in other cell lines. KNS42 cells grown as monolavers also expressed by far the greatest levels of other stem cell markers such as nestin, SOX2, and musashi-1 (Affymetrix U133, data

Figure 3. Expression profiling reveals a HOX/stem cell signature–associated temozolomide resistance in glioma cell lines. A, heatmap showing hierarchical clustering of 135 differentially expressed genes between resistant (UW479, Res186, KNS42, SF188, U87MG, U118MG; gray highlight) and sensitive (Res259, SF268, A172, LN229; yellow highlight) high-grade glioma cell lines. B, GSEA highlighting coordinated differential expression of gene sets defined a *priori*. Enriched in temozolomide-resistant cell lines were the HOX_GENES set (enrichment score = 0.54, nominal P = 0.01; FDR q = 0.403). C, ranked genes derived from GSEA of KNS42 versus temozolomide-sensitive cell lines, and all temozolomide-resistant versus sensitive lines. Genes are provided along with their rank in the total gene list and rank enrichment metric, and running enrichment scores are provided for both analyses. Gray highlight, genes present within the core enrichment signature; green highlight, genes present in both analyses; bold, genes also present in the *HOX* gene signature in Murat and colleagues (26), *HOXA9* and *HOXA10*.

Associated with a PI3-Kinase-Mediated HOX/Stem Cell Gene Signature

Gaspar et al.

not shown). Consistent with the cancer stem/progenitor cellassociated gene expression profile, neurosphere formation assays showed that KNS42 cells form tight three-dimensional spheroids, which may be serially passaged and undergo selfrenewal. In contrast, SF188 cells form smaller, more loosely packed spheres, whereas U87MG grow as cell aggregates rather than neurospheres per se. Neither UW479, Res259, nor Res186 formed spheres under these conditions. Taken together, KNS42 cells seem to have a significant cancer stem/progenitor cell– associated gene expression signature and biological phenotype.

Expression of *HOXA9/HOXA10* is a result of phosphoinositide 3-kinase-mediated demethylation, inhibition of which synergistically interacts with temozolomide in KNS42 cells

Treatment with the demethylating agent 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine resulted in highly differential levels of expression of HOXA9 and HOXA10 in all pediatric cell lines with the exception of KNS42, in which no changes were observed, indicative of a lack of methylation in the untreated cells (Fig. 5A). As a recent study has proposed a mechanism for this observation whereby transcriptional activation of the HOXA cluster is reversible by a phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) inhibitor through an epigenetic mechanism involving histone H3K27 trimethylation (27), we sought to investigate whether this mechanism was active in our system. Treatment for 1, 8, and 24 hours with the dual PI3K/mTOR inhibitor PI-103 (28-30) at $5 \times IC_{50}$ resulted in significantly reduced expression of both HOXA9 and HOXA10 in KNS42 cells in a time-dependent manner (Fig. 5B). These effects were not due to fluctuations in HOX gene expression with the cell cycle, as diminished HOXA9/HOXA10 was observed as early as one hour posttreatment, at which time there was no evidence of G1 arrest (Fig. 5C), despite inhibition of PI3K as seen by reduced phospho-Akt levels (Fig. 5D).

Symbol	Description	Locus	Pearson's	в	CD133, 204304 s at
HOXA9	homeobox A9	7p15.2	1.00000	- -	co 100/201001_0_ut
HOXA10	homeobox A10	7p15.2	0.70014		§ 9 -
HOXA11	homeobox A11	7p15.2	0.59852		
PITX2	paired-like homeodomain 2	4925	0.53848		e 2 -
MARS	methionyl-tRNA synthetase	12q13.3	0.45091		ê, o
HOXA5	homeobox A5	7p15.2	0.45028		8 - 1
HOXA7	homeobox A7	7015.2	0.43855		19 21 -
HOXA4	homeobox A4	7015.2	0.42156		i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i
HOXA2	homeobox A2	7015.2	0.42034		
DCTN2	dynactin 2 (n50)	12013.3	0.41982		WI AT BAN TAN ENDER BUSA WAT STORED
HOYB2	homeobox B2	170213	0.40741		1. P. Do. 2. 2. 4. D. 40. 60.
MBD6	methyl-CoG binding domain protein 6	120133	0 38467		
DOITS	DNA-damage-inducible transcript 2	12013.3	0.38407		
HOYAL	boweebow A1	7015.3	0.30323		
CRYA	nomeobox A1	7p13.2	0.37123	С	KNS42
GBAZ	gastrulation brain nomeobox 2	2037.2	0.36978		
TSPAN31	tetraspanin 31	12014.1	0.36542		1 M 1 M 1 M 1 M 1 M 1 M 1 M 1 M 1 M 1 M
ISEM	Is translation elongation factor, mitochondrial	12014.1	0.36104		
HOXC4	homeobox C4	12q13.13	0.35593		
METTLI	methyltransferase like 1	12q13.3	0.35468		
TAC3	tachykinin 3	12q13.3	0.35157		
GLI1	glioma-associated oncogene homolog 1	12q13.3	0.34899		
EN1	engrailed homeobox 1	2q14.2	0.34718		
DTX3	deltex 3 homolog (Drosophila)	12q13.3	0.34376		CD133 Ne
NHLH1	nescient helix loop helix 1	1q23.2	0.34337		
CDK4	cyclin-dependent kinase 4	12q14.1	0.34251		
HOXB5	homeobox B5	17q21.3	0.33571		
CYP27B1	cytochrome P450, family 27, subfamily B, polypeptide 1	12q14.1	0.32771		
SKAP2	src kinase associated phosphoprotein 2	7p15.2	0.32518		
CYP3A5	cytochrome P450, family 3, subfamily A, polypeptide 5	7q22.1	0.32294		
PROM1	prominin 1, CD133	4p15.32	0.32291		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
HOXC10	homeobox C10	12q13.13	0.32249		
ZNF588	zinc finger protein 107, ZNF588	7q11.2	0.32087		DAPI
FAM119B	family with sequence similarity 119, member B	12014.1	0.32020	30	
DUS4L	dihydrouridine synthase 4-like	7022.3	0.31964		
OS9	amplified in osteosarcoma	12a14.1	0.31780		
PIP5K2C	phosphatidylinositol-5-phosphate 4-kinase, type II, gamma	12013.3	0.31688	D	Neurosub and formation
POL 838	polymerase (RNA) III (DNA directed) polypeptide B	120233	0.31651	D	Neurosphere formation
BCI 11A	B-cell (11 //vmphoma 11A (zinc finger protein)	20161	0 31591		The second secon
SMARCE1	SWI/SNE related matrix associated regulator of chromatin E1	17021.2	0.31507	- 1	118
FOYAR	forthead how A2	2001121	0.31306	- 1	The state of the second
HOYCE	homoshou C6	120011.21	0.31200	- 1	A TOP IN COMPANY A COMPANY
TEADOR	nomedbox co	12013.13	0.31139	- 1	GEZP
HOYDII	hamaahay D11	20212.3	0.31033		087MG 5F188 KN
RUADIT	nomeobox DTT	2031.1	0.30950		
BAGALNIT	beta-1,4-N-acetyl-galactosaminyl transferase 1	12014.1	0.30785		
EN2	engralled homeobox 2	/q36.3	0.30633		1 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
DLXS	distal-less nomeobox 5	/q21.3	0.30581		
PRDM13	PR domain containing 13	6q16.3	0.30225		UNATO PortED Des
RARB	retinoic acid receptor, beta	3p24.2	0.30152		044479 Re5239 Re5

Figure 4. Coordinated upregulation of *HOX* genes in primary glioblastomas and a striking degree of CD133 positivity on KNS42 cells. A, genes coordinately expressed with *HOXA9* from the TCGA dataset (21) were determined by calculating Pearson's correlation coefficients. All genes with values >0.3 are listed, in rank order. Yellow highlight, homeobox genes; orange highlight, genes also present in the *HOX* gene/self-renewal signature of Murat and colleagues (26), including *PROM1* (CD133; box); gray highlight, genes found within the 12q13-q14 amplicon. B, Affymetrix expression analysis of *PROM1* (CD133; box); gray highlight, plotted as relative log₂ expression. C, immunofluorescence assay showing extensive expression of stem cell markers CD133 (green) and nestin (red) in KNS42 cells grown as a monolayer. D, neurosphere formation assay highlighting the tight three-dimensional spheroids formed by KNS42 cells in contrast to the other cell lines studied.

OF6 Cancer Res; 70(22) November 15, 2010

Cancer Research



Figure 5. HOXA9/HOXA10 expression in KNS42 cells is driven by a lack of promoter methylation in a PI3K-dependent manner. A, relative mRNA expression levels of HOXA9 and HOXA10 before and after treatment with 5-Aza-2'-deoxycytidine in pediatric glioma cell lines. An absence of expression changes after 5-Aza-2'-deoxycytidine treatment in KNS42 cells is indicative of an absence of constitutive promoter methylation. B, HOXA9/HOXA10 expression is reduced by treatment with PI-103 in KNS42 cells in a time-dependent manner. Treatment with the dual PI3K/mTOR inhibitor PI-103 at 5 × IC₅₀ for 1, 8, and 24 hours. Inhibitor of PI3K signaling is observed at the earliest time point. D, cell cycle analysis of KNS42 cells after treatment with PI-103 at 5 × IC₅₀ for 1, 8, and 24 hours. Inhibition of PI3K signaling is observed at the earliest time point. D, cell cycle analysis of KNS42 cells after treatment with PI-103 at 5 × IC₅₀ for 1, 8, and 24 hours. There was no G₁ arrest evident at the early time points at which reduced HOXA9/HOXA10 expression was observed. E, Western blot analysis of PI3K regulatory and catalytic subunits and enhancers in pediatric glioma cells. Expression of PI-103 and temozolomide [TMZ]. Correatment with PI-103 and temozolomide resulted in a high degree of synergy in MGMT-independent KNS42 cells (combination index = 0.43) as calculated by the median effect analysis. By contrast, SF188 cells showed an antagonistic interaction (combination index = 1.401).

Next we sought to determine whether there was any specific dysregulation of the PI3K/PTEN system in KNS42 cells that may be responsible for the *HOX* gene overexpression. Mutation screening for *PTEN*, *PIK3CA*, *PIK3R1*, and *PIK3R3* did not identify any sequence variations (data not shown), and Western blot analysis confirmed a lack of overexpression of PI3K regulatory and catalytic subunits (Fig. 5E). By contrast, there were significantly elevated levels of the enhancer proteins PIKE-A and especially PIKE-L in KNS42 cells in comparison with the other lines. Both PIKE proteins are encoded by the *CENTG1* (*AGAP2*) gene found within the 12q13q14 amplicon coordinately upregulated in association with the *HOX* cluster, and likely represent a significant target for this genomic event in human glioblastoma.

Finally, we investigated the efficacy of targeting PI3K as a strategy for overcoming temozolomide resistance in our pediatric glioma cells. Combination treatment *in vitro* of temozolomide with the dual PI3K/mTOR inhibitor PI-103 resulted in a highly synergistic interaction in KNS42 as measured by median effect analysis (combination index = 0.43; Fig. 5F). By contrast, in SF188 cells an antagonistic response was observed with the same combination (combination index = 1.40).

HOXA9/HOXA10 expression is associated with shorter survival in pediatric high-grade glioma patients

To assess the translational relevance of HOX gene expression in pediatric high-grade glioma patient samples, we examined published data detailing expression profiles of 78 tumors arising in childhood (22). Although the number of long-term (>3 years) survivors is small, we identified 49 genes that were differentially expressed between patients with long and short (<1 year) overall survival (Fig. 6A). Included in this list were HOXA2, HOXA5, HOX7, and HOXA9. By applying GSEA to the dataset, we identified coordinated upregulation in the short-term survivors of genes at the chromosome 7p15 cytoband, with an enrichment score of 0.68 (nominal P < 0.001) albeit with a high false discovery rate value (FDR q = 0.930). With the HOXA cluster found at this locus, running GSEA on the HOXA gene list itself gave a highly significant enrichment score of 0.90 (nominal *P* < 0.001, FDR *q* < 0.001; Fig. 6B). There was considerable correlation between gene expression of all members of the HOXA family in the pediatric samples (Pearson's correlation coefficients 0.03-0.90). Taking the values of HOXA9 and HOXA10, and segregating samples into "high" and "low" expressers (combined expression greater or less than the 75th percentile of all values, respectively), we showed a

Paper III – MGMT-Independent Temozolomide Resistance in Paediatric Glioblastoma Cells Associated with a PI3-Kinase-Mediated HOX/Stem Cell Gene Signature





Figure 6. High levels of HOXA gene expression are associated with shorter survival in pediatric high-grade glioma patients. A, heatmap representing differentially expressed genes between short (<1 year; yellow highlight) and long-term (>3 years; gray highlight) survivors. WHO grade IV (black) and III (green) tumors are indicated. Light blue, HOXA genes. B, GSEA analysis showing significant enrichment of genes at the chromosome 7p15 locus (enrichment score = 0.68, nominal P < 0.001, FDR q = 0.930), and of HOXA genes in particular (enrichment score = 0.90, nominal P < 0.001, FDR q < 0.001), upregulated in short-term survivors. C, Kaplan-Meier plot showing a significantly shorter survival of patients with high levels of HOXA9/HOXA10 gene expression (P = 0.0453, log-rank test).

significantly reduced overall survival of pediatric high-grade glioma patients with high *HOXA9/HOXA10* expression (log-rank test, P = 0.0453; Fig. 6C) independent of the WHO grade of the tumor (P = 0.635, Fisher's exact test).

Discussion

Promoter methylation of the *MGMT* gene is generally accepted as the major determinant of sensitivity to the alkylating agent temozolomide in glioblastoma cells, and as such has major significance in the treatment of these patients. We identified the pediatric glioblastoma cell line KNS42 to be resistant to temozolomide *in vitro* despite an absence of MGMT expression, a competent MMR system, and an intact double-strand break repair pathway. Clues as to the mechanism of resistance in these cells may help in identifying factors that contribute to childhood glioblastoma patients who remain refractory to temozolomide treatment.

Gene expression profiling of a panel of pediatric and adult glioma cell lines highlighted coordinated expression of numerous *HOX* genes in the resistant cell lines, most especially KNS42, and provided *in vitro* model system evidence in support of data from temozolomide-treated adult glioblastoma patients (26). Using a similar expression profiling and GSEA approach, Murat and coworkers identified a *HOX*-dominated gene cluster as an independent predictive factor of resistance. Integrating the core gene lists of the present study to that dataset highlights *HOXA9* and *HOXA10* as the key effectors in both systems. This converges with a recent study identifying the *HOXA* cluster, and *HOXA9* in particular, to be independent negative prognostic markers in adult glioblastoma (27). Herein we provide evidence for an additional prognostic role in pediatric high-grade glioma.

HOX genes are essential in axis determination during embryonic development and are known to be involved in cancer, including glioblastomas (31, 32); it is not immediately apparent, however, what role they may play in resistance to

OF8 Cancer Res; 70(22) November 15, 2010

alkylating agents. Costa and colleagues propose that *HOXA9* exerts antiapoptotic and proproliferative effects after upregulation via an epigenetic mechanism controlled by PI3K and independent of mTOR (27). Our findings confirm this observation, and add to previous evidence showing the synergistic interactions of temozolomide and PI3K pathway inhibitors in *in vitro* and *in vivo* models of adult glioblastoma (33); this combination may therefore also be beneficial in glioblastoma patients with a MGMT-independent *HOX* gene signature-associated mechanism of resistance to temozolomide.

Murat and colleagues suggested strong HOXA10 expression in glioblastoma-derived neurospheres to be in line with a role of HOX genes in the glioma stem-like cell compartment, and showed that the resistance signature as a whole is evocative of self-renewal (26). Of note is the presence of a high proportion (17.0%) of CD133-positive cells present in our KNS42 cell monolayer cultures, with additional expression of other stem cell markers in coordination with the HOX gene signature. Such a HOX/stem cell signature was also found to be tightly regulated in an analysis of TCGA glioblastoma expression data (21). The pediatric glioblastoma cell line KNS42 may be an excellent experimental model for investigating such interactions with MGMT-independent treatment failure.

We also found a remarkable link between the *HOX*/stem cell signature and coordinated overexpression of genes within the CDK4 amplicon at 12q13-q14 in glioblastoma patient samples. This association was also present, and correlated with poor response to temozolomide chemoradiotherapy, in the Murat and colleagues dataset (26). Here we provide a possible mechanism for this coexpression of *HOX* and 12q13-q14 genes in the form of overexpression of the Akt enhancer PIKE (*CENTG1, AGAP2*), also present at very high levels in the unamplified KNS42 cells, which may drive the changes in H3K27 methylation of the *HOXA* cluster mediated via PI3K pathway signaling (27).

References

- Mrugala MM, Chamberlain MC. Mechanisms of disease: temozolomide and glioblastoma-look to the future. Nat Clin Pract Oncol 2008; 5:476–86.
- Stupp R, Mason WP, van den Bent MJ, et al. Radiotherapy plus concomitant and adjuvant temozolomide for glioblastoma. N Engl J Med 2005;352:987–96.
- Newlands ES, Blackledge GR, Slack JA, et al. Phase I trial of temozolomide (CCRG 81045: M&B 39831: NSC 362856). Br J Cancer 1992;65:287–91.
- Hegi ME, Diserens AC, Gorlia T, et al. MGMT gene silencing and benefit from temozolomide in glioblastoma. N Engl J Med 2005;352: 997–1003.
- Esteller M, Garcia-Foncillas J, Andion E, et al. Inactivation of the DNA-repair gene MGMT and the clinical response of gliomas to alkylating agents. N Engl J Med 2000;343:1350–4.
- Middlemas DS, Stewart CF, Kirstein MN, et al. Biochemical correlates of temozolomide sensitivity in pediatric solid tumor xenograft models. Clin Cancer Res 2000;6:998–1007.
- Silber JR, Bobola MS, Blank A, et al. The apurinic/apyrimidinic endonuclease activity of Ape1/Ref-1 contributes to human glioma cell resistance to alkylating agents and is elevated by oxidative stress. Clin Cancer Res 2002;8:3008–18.

It is apparent that a variety of processes, not all involving repair or tolerance of alkyl lesions, may promote alkylator resistance (23). Along with providing therapeutic guidance for those patients whose tumors are intrinsically resistant to treatment, characterization of additional determinants of resistance is necessary to develop new targets for therapy in tumors that acquire resistance to temozolomide *in vivo* in the presence of hypermethylated MGMT.

Disclosure of Potential Conflicts of Interest

N. Gaspar, L. Marshall, L. Perryman, D.A. Bax, S.E. Little, M. Viana-Pereira, S.Y. Sharp, A.D.J. Pearson, P. Workman, and C. Jones are or were employees of The Institute of Cancer Research, which has a commercial interest in the development of P13K inhibitors and operates a rewards-to-inventors scheme. P. Workman and his team have been involved in a commercial collaboration with Yamanouchi (now Astellas Pharma) and with Piramed Pharma, and intellectual property arising from the program has been licensed to Genentech. P. Workman was a founder of, consultant to, Scientific Advisory Board member of, and stockholder in Piramed Pharma, which was acquired by Roche.

Acknowledgments

We thank Dr. Daphne Haas-Kogan (University of California, San Francisco) and Dr. Michael Bobola (University of Washington) for provision of the pediatric glioma cell lines, and Dr. Michael Hubank (Institute of Child Health, University College London) for assistance with the expression profiling.

Grant Support

Cancer Research UK (C1178/A10294, C309/A2187, C309/A8274), the Oak Foundation (L. Marshall), and La Fondation de France (N. Gaspar). We acknowledge NHS funding to the NIHR Biomedical Research Centre. P. Workman is a Cancer Research UK Life Fellow. The costs of publication of this article were defrayed in part by the payment

The costs of publication of this article were defrayed in part by the payment of page charges. This article must therefore be hereby marked *advertisement* in accordance with 18 U.S.C. Section 1734 solely to indicate this fact.

Received 04/09/2010; revised 09/14/2010; accepted 09/17/2010; published OnlineFirst 10/08/2010.

- Cheng CL, Johnson SP, Keir ST, et al. Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase-1 inhibition reverses temozolomide resistance in a DNA mismatch repair-deficient malignant glioma xenograft. Mol Cancer Ther 2005; 4:1364–8.
- Pollack IF, Hamilton RL, Sobol RW, et al. O6-methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase expression strongly correlates with outcome in childhood malignant gliomas: results from the CCG-945 Cohort. J Clin Oncol 2006;24:3431–7.
- Broniscer A, Chintagumpala M, Fouladi M, et al. Temozolomide after radiotherapy for newly diagnosed high-grade glioma and unfavorable low-grade glioma in children. J Neurooncol 2006;76:313–9.
- Nicholson HS, Kretschmar CS, Krailo M, et al. Phase 2 study of temozolomide in children and adolescents with recurrent central nervous system tumors: a report from the Children's Oncology Group. Cancer 2007;110:1542–50.
- Ruggiero A, Cefalo G, Garre ML, et al. Phase II trial of temozolomide in children with recurrent high-grade glioma. J Neurooncol 2006;77: 89–94.
- Hargrave DR, Zacharoulis S. Pediatric CNS tumors: current treatment and future directions. Expert Rev Neurother 2007;7:1029–42.
- Lashford LS, Thiesse P, Jouvet A, et al. Temozolomide in malignant gliomas of childhood: a United Kingdom Children's Cancer Study

Associated with a PI3-Kinase-Mediated HOX/Stem Cell Gene Signature

Gaspar et al.

Group and French Society for Pediatric Oncology Intergroup Study. J Clin Oncol 2002;20:4684–91.

- Bax DA, Little SE, Gaspar N, et al. Molecular and phenotypic characterisation of paediatric glioma cell lines as models for preclinical drug development. PLoS ONE 2009;4:e5209.
- Skehan P, Storeng R, Scudiero D, et al. New colorimetric cytotoxicity assay for anticancer-drug screening. J Natl Cancer Inst 1990;82:1107–12.
- Cory AH, Owen TC, Barltrop JA, Cory JG. Use of an aqueous soluble tetrazolium/formazan assay for cell growth assays in culture. Cancer Commun 1991;3:207–12.
- Chou TC, Talaly P. A simple generalized equation for the analysis of multiple inhibitions of Michaelis-Menten kinetic systems. J Biol Chem 1977;252:6438–42.
- Esteller M, Hamilton SR, Burger PC, Baylin SB, Herman JG. Inactivation of the DNA repair gene O6-methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase by promoter hypermethylation is a common event in primary human neoplasia. Cancer Res 1999;59:793–7.
- Nygren AO, Ameziane N, Duarte HM, et al. Methylation-specific MLPA (MS-MLPA): simultaneous detection of CpG methylation and copy number changes of up to 40 sequences. Nucleic Acids Res 2005;33:e128.
- McLendon R, Friedman A, Bigner D, et al. Comprehensive genomic characterization defines human glioblastoma genes and core pathways. Nature 2008;455:1061–8.
- Paugh BS, Qu C, Jones C, et al. Integrated molecular profiling of pediatric high grade gliomas reveals key differences with the adult disease. J Clin Oncol 2010;28:3061–8.
- Bobola MS, Silber JR, Ellenbogen RG, Geyer JR, Blank A, Goff RD. O6-methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase, O6-benzylguanine, and resistance to clinical alkylators in pediatric primary brain tumor cell lines. Clin Cancer Res 2005;11:2747–55.

- Workman P, van Montfort RL. Unveiling the secrets of the ancestral PI3 kinase Vps34. Cancer Cell 2010;17:421–3.
 Subramanian A, Tamayo P, Mootha VK, et al. Gene set enrichment
- Subramanian A, Tamayo P, Mootha VK, et al. Gene set enrichment analysis: a knowledge-based approach for interpreting genomewide expression profiles. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2005;102: 15545–50.
- Murat A, Migliavacca E, Gorlia T, et al. Stem cell-related "self-renewal" signature and high epidermal growth factor receptor expression associated with resistance to concomitant chemoradiotherapy in glioblastoma. J Clin Oncol 2008;26:3015–24.
- Costa BM, Smith JS, Chen Y, et al. Reversing HOXA9 oncogene activation by PI3K inhibition: epigenetic mechanism and prognostic significance in human glioblastoma. Cancer Res 2010;70: 453–62.
- Hayakawa M, Kaizawa H, Moritomo H, et al. Synthesis and biological evaluation of pyrido[3',2':4,5]furo[3,2-d]pyrimidine derivatives as novel PI3 kinase p1100apha inhibitors. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 2007;17:2438–42.
- Raynaud FI, Eccles S, Clarke PA, et al. Pharmacologic characterization of a potent inhibitor of class I phosphatidylinositide 3-kinases. Cancer Res 2007;67:5840–50.
- Workman P, Collins I. Probing the probes: fitness factors for small molecule tools. Chem Biol 2010;17:561–77.
- Abate-Shen C. Deregulated homeobox gene expression in cancer: cause or consequence?. Nat Rev Cancer 2002;2:777–85.
- Abdel-Fattah R, Xiao A, Bomgardner D, Pease CS, Lopes MB, Hussaini IM. Differential expression of HOX genes in neoplastic and non-neoplastic human astrocytes. J Pathol 2006;209:15–24.
- Guillard S, Clarke PA, Te Poele R, et al. Molecular pharmacology of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase inhibition in human glioma. Cell Cycle 2009;8:443–53.